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fable of C o m  

GLOSSARY OF TERMS 

Our industry uses many terms and acronyms that may not be familiar to you. To assist you in reading this daEument. we have provided below definitions 
of some of these terms. 

Acmss Lines. Telephone lines reaching hrn the customer’s premises to r tconndon with the public switched telephone rtetwork. When we refer to 
our access lines we mean all our mass matkets, wholesale and business access lines, including thme uxed by us andour affiliates. 

Aqmckmnuus Transfer Mode {ATM. A bmadhnd, network transport service utilizing data switches that provides a fasl, efficient way to move large 
quantities of information. 

Comptitive Local Exchange Curriers (CLECS). Telecommunications providers that compete with us in providing focal voice services in OUT local 
service area. 

- CUS~OW Rremiw3 Equipwed (CPE). Telecommunications equipment sold io a customa, which may be sold in oonnectim with our providing 
telecommunications services to that customer. 

Frame Re@ A high sped data switching technology primarily used to interwnnact multiple lmal networks. 

’ ImmbenI Local Exchange Carrier (IEC). A traditional telecommunications provider, such as our subsidiary, Qwest Corporalion, that, prior to the 
Telecommunications Act of 1996, had the exclusive rigbt and responsibility for providing local telecommunications services in its local service a m .  

9 Inregrat& Setvices Digital N e h &  (7SDN). A telwxlmmunicationa standard that uses digital msmission technology to support voice, v idm and 
data cornmummiom applications over regular telephone lines. 

l n t e m c h g e  Curriem (7Xfi). Telecommunications providers fiat provide long-distance services to end-users by handling calls that extend beyond 
a customer’s I d  exdrsnge service area 

- InlerLATA long-dirtonce services. Telecommunications services, inchding “ROO” service% that cross LATA boundaries. 

Inremet Did Access. Provides ISPs and business customen with a comprehensive, reliable and coseeffective dial-up network infrasbucture. 

Inlem@i Pmtocol(7P). Those protocols hi facilitate transferring information in packets of data and that enable each packet in a transmission to ”tell” 
the data switches it encounten w h m  it is headed and enables the computers on each end to confirm that message has been accurately transmitted and 
received. 

. Internet Service f r o v i d m  (7SPs). Businesses that provide internet access to retail customers. 

- IntruLATA lopeg-distance services. These senices include calls that terminate outside a caller’s local calling area but within their LATA, including 
wide area telecommunications service or “800” services for customers with geographidly highly concentrated demand. 

. Local Access Tp.nwpoft Area (LATA). A geographical arm associated with the provision of telecommunications sewioes by local exchange and long 
distance carriers. There are 163 LATAs in the United States, of which 27 are in ow 14 state local service area. 

- Local Calling A r e a  A gaographic~l area, usually smalIer than a LATA, within which a customex can d e  telephone calls without incurring 
long-distance charges. Multiple Iml  calling meas genemlly make up a LATA. 

* Privuk Lhm. Direct circuits or channefs specifically dedicated to the use of an en&user organization for the purpose of directly connecting hvo or 
more sites. 

- PublicSwilched Telephone Nerwork (fSTN). The worldwide voice telephone network that is accessible to every person with a telephone equipped 
with dial tone. 
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- U n h d k d  Nemrk Ekmenb (LINES) Plu@om (UNE-P). Discrete elements of our network that are sold or leased to competitive 
!elecomrnunications providers and hat  may be combined to provide their retail telecommunications services. 

Yirhral Priwte Network (VPN]. A private network that operates securely within a public network (such as the Internet) by means of enclypting 
eansmipsions. 

. 

- voice over Internet Protocol {i’oIP). An application that provides real-fim, iwo-way voice capability onghatkg in the Internet protom1 Over it 
bmadband conmtion. 

- Web Hosting. The providing of space, power and bandwidth in data centers for hosting of customers’ Internet equipment 88 well as related seruices. 

Wide Arm Network (WAN). A communications network that covers a wide geographic area, such as a state or country. A WAN typically extends a 
local area network outside the building. over telephone common carrier lines to link to other 1-1 area networks in remote locations, such as branch 
offica or at-home workers and teleoommutew. 
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SIand-alOne basis. 

PART I 

ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

which consists of the 14-tate region of Arizona, Colorado, Idaho, low& Minnemta, Montana, Ne- New Mexico, North Dakota, Owon, South 
Utah, Washington and Wyoming. We also provide rehab[+ xEalable and secure broadband data and voice (including loncdistance) communications services 
outside om local service area as well as globally. 

Colorado 80202, telephone number (303) 992-1400. 

the 14 s t a h  in which we offered these services. In September 2003, we sold the directory publishing business in the remaining states. As a a~nsequen~e, the 
results of operatioms of OUT dimtory publishing businass are included in inoome from discontinued operations in our consolidated statements Of Opt ions .  

Itgal maem, see “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report. 

Financia! Condition 
The below table provides B summary of m e  of our key financial metrics. This information should h read in conjunction with, and is qualified by 

reference to, our consolidated financial statements and now there10 in Item 8 of th is  report and ‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operations” in Item 7 of this q n r t .  

We provide l a d  telecommunications and relatad services, long-distance services and wireless, data and v i h  services within our !d service area. 

We were incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware in 1997. Our principal executive offices are located at 1801 California Sheet, Dmvcr, 

We previously pmvided directory publishing services in our local service area. In Novemkr 2002, we sold our directory publishing business in xvm of 

For a discussion ofcerhin risks applicable to our business, financial condition and results of a~~rations, including risks asgociated with out outstanding 

Years Ended Decembtr 31, 

Balance Sheet Data: 
Total debt 
Working capital deficit* 
Accumulated deficit 

$13,903 $13,809 $14,288 
13,048 14,097 14542 

(757) (1,794) (1,313) 
(779) (1;79$) 1212 

* 

Operatioms 

Working capital deficit is the amount by which our current Iiabitities exceed o u r c m t  me&. 

We currently operak in three segments: ( I )  wireline services; (2) wireless services; and (3) other services. We aIs0 maintained, until September 2003, a 
fourth segment consisting of our dimtory publishing business. The sale of our directwy publishing business was cmnpteted in September 2003, as discussed 
above. As B result, for purposes of rralculating the percentages of revenue of our segments pmvided below, we have excluded ihe impact 
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uku!uk& 
of revenue from our directory publishing bushes, which is ammmted for as disconthud operations in OUT oonsolidated statement o f o v i o n s  for fh” Y W  
ended Dwember 3 I ,  2003. For additional financial information about our segments see “Management’s Discdon  and Analysis of Rnancd Conhtion and 
Results of Operations” in Item 7 of this report and Note I M g r n e n t  Informafirm to our consolidated financial statements in Item g of this repod. 

Our revenue by segment, including a breakdown of our revenue by major product category. is as folIows: 

Yews Ended December31, Percwtpge of Revenue 

Wireline m v h  
Voice services 
Data and Internet swvica 

Total opedting revenue 

2605 2003 

(Doltam Ir mtllloms) 

$ 9,2239 $ 9,423 $ 9,882 
4,096 3,832 3,765 

13,335 13255 13,647 
527 514 598 
41 40 43 

$13,903 $13.809 $14288 

--- 

- - -- 
- - -- 

200s 

66.5 % 
29.4% 

95.9% 
3.8% 
0.3 % 

100% 

2004 

68.2% 
27.8% 

46.0% 
3.7% 
0.3% 

I 00% 

2003 

69.29; 
26.3% 

95.5% 
4.2% 
0.3% 

1 o c w d  

We market and sell our products and services to mass markets and business customas. In general, our mass markets customers include consumers a d  
small businesses, and our business customers include local, nationat and global businesses, governmental entities, and public and private educational institutions. 
We distribute our products and services to these customers through a variety ofdwmels, including direct sales, telemarketing and arrangements with h i m  
agents. We also provide our products and services to other t e l w o m m u n ~ ~ s  providers who purchase our products and swvioes on a wholesale basis. We 
disiribute our wholesale pmductr and services through direct sales. 

Wmbe ProdYcLF and S e r v k  

offered through our telwmmunications network, a portion of which is located within our local service area (referred to as our in-region network) and a portion 
ofwhich is located outside of our local mice area (referred to as our out-of-region network). Our in-region network consists of all equipment (k., voice and 
data switches) required to process telecommunications within our local service area and forms a portion of the Public Switched Telephone Netwok. Our 
imegion network is made up of both copper cables and fiber optic broadband cables and serves approximstely 14.7 million access lines in 14 states. 

and enables longdistance voice sewices and data and Internet services. We rely on our out-of-region network, metropolitan ma network fiber rings and 
in-building righb-ofway to expand service to existing customers and provide service to new customers who have locations on or neara fiber ring OF in L 
building where we have a ri&t-Fway or a physical presen~.  Our fiber rings allow us to provide customers purchasing our bmsdhnd data servicw with 
end-tn-end connectivity to large and multi-location enterprises and other telecommunications carriers in key United States rnempolitan markets. E n d - e n d  
00meCtiVity provides cwtorners with the ability to transmit and receive information at hlgh speed through the entire connection path. 

We offer wiretine products and services in a variety of caiegories that help people artd businesses wmmunicate. Our wireline products and Services are 

Our out%-on network consists pFimarily of data s w i t c h  and fiber optic brmdband cables, extending approximately 13R.000 m i l a  to major cities, 

The follwring reflects the key categories of our wireline products and services. 

Vdce Services 
Local voice servlces-mm nukeis. b w i m  and wholesale. k u g h  ow in-region network, we originate, iransport and terrni- local voice services 

within 1ocal exchange service territories as defined by state regutators. Through this network, we provide: 

basic 1 ~ ~ x 1  exchange services provided through access lines connected to our portion of ihe Public Switched Telepbone Network; 
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- 
switching services for customers' communications through facilities that we own; 

various custom calling features such as Caller ID, Call Waiting, Call Return and 3-Way Calling; 

enhanced voice senices, such as voice maib 

- payphone and operator services, including directory assistance; 

voice customer premises equipment; and 

. collocation services, or the hosting of another provider's tetmrnmunications equipment in our facilities. 

On B wholesale basis we provide network transport, billing services and BCCRSS to ow inregion network to other telecommmidon providers and 
wireless carrim. These services allow other telecommunimtions mpmies to provide telecommunications services that originate or terminate on our irrregon 
network. We also sell UNEs, which allow our local whotde  customers to use our network or acombmtion of our network and their own networks to provide 
local voice and data w i c B  to their custormes. 

Longdistance voice services--mrsss rpnmRets ruad business. We provide three types of loncdistance oommunications services to our rnass markets and 
business customers: 

1ntraLATA long-distance services to our customers nationwide including within our iml service area; 

- InterLATA fonflistance services nationwide; and 

. International longdistance services for voice calls that terminate or originate with our customers in the United States. 

Long-distance voicesem-whkmle. We a h  provide the same three types of longdistance services listed above to our wholade customers. These 

Access services--wholesale. We also provide services !o other data and telecommunications providers to connect their customers to their networks 80 that 

Data and Internet Services-Mats Markets, Bndnms and Wholcsslle 
We offer a broad mge of products and professional services to enable our customers to bansport voice, data and video telecommunications at speeds up to 

customers are other carriers and reselters who buy services ~ r n  us in large quaniities and provide these services to their customers. 

they can provide longdistance, trSnspoG data, wireless and inkmet services. 

12 gigabits per second Our customers use these praducts and services in a variety of ways. Our business customers make internal and external data 
transmissions, such as bansferring files from one !-ion to another. Our mass markets customers access email and the Internet using a variety of connection 
speeds and pricing packages. Our w h o l d e  customers use our kilities for collmtion and use our private line services to connect their customers and their 
networks to our network. 

We provide our data and Internet services in our local service area, nationaily and internationally. Some of our data and Internet services are described 
below. 

9 High-sped Internet, which w i t s  existing mas markets and business customer telephone lines to operate at higher speeds necessary for Video and 
high-speed data communications to the Internet or private network. SubstmtiaIly all of our high-& Intemet customers are located within OUT 
1 4  service area. 

Private lines, which are direct circuits or channels specifically dedicatd to the use of rtn end-user organization for the purpose of directly connecting 
two or more sites. Private lines offer a secure solution for frequent communication of large amounts of data between sites. 
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UMUtmmm 
ISDN, which uses digital transmission technology to support voice, video and data communications applications oyer regular telephone lines. 

- Internet dial amxs, which provides ISPs and business customers with a comprehensive, reliable and co+effective did-up network mfrasmrcture. 

Web hosting, which provides data center servica. In its most basic form, web hosting includes pbiding spw, pwer and bandwidth. We also offer 
a variety o f s g e r  and application management and ptofessiorutl web design services. We currently operate ten web hosting centers, or 
cybercentm . 

Professional services, which include network management, the sale, instaliation and maintenance of data equipment and the building of proprietary 
fi beroptic broadband networks for our governmental and other business customers. 

- DataSPE, which includes modems and routers. carrie~-claps WAN switches and IP telephony equipment. 

ISP, which provides Internet and World Wide Web awes to customers. 

- Video, which provides video programming services. 

- WAN. which provides high-prformance, siteto-site, remote access and inhsncVextranet services. Our WAN portfolio includes the following 
pIVdllct9: 

Frame relay, which i s  a high sped data switching technolw that aliows data to travel in individual packets of variable length. The key 
advantage to this approach is &at a frame relay network can accommadate data packers of various sizes a s d a t e d  with virtually m y  data 
protoool. 

A m ,  which is a broadband, network transport senice utilizing data switches that provides a Fast, efficient way to move large quantities of 
information over our highly reliable, scalable and secure fiber optic h- network. 

iQ Networking, which is a secure, managed, fully inbropetable and scalable suite of global wide mea networking smiws. 

* VPN, which allows businesses with multiple l d o n s  to create a private network accessible only by their various offices. VPN provides 
businesses with a cos-tffective alternative IO meet their communications ne&. 

Also included in our data and Internet services are our VoIP serviws, w h i  we began offering over the past two years to bushes and mass market 
customers. However, our VolP offerinp remain new, and, although we consider thm to be strategic products with significant growth potential, we do not expect 
to recognize a significant amount of revenue from them in 2006. 

wkek6s M U C &  aRd Se& 
In August 2003, we entered into a services agreement with a thi- provider that allows us to resell wireless swvices, including access to its 

nationwide PCS wireless network. to mass markets and business customers, primarily within our local smvice area. We began ofking these services under our 
brand name in March 2004 and provide the services through the thirkparty provider’s network. Prior to that date, we offered wireless services over our own 
network We market our wireless p d u c t s  and services through OUT website, partnership relationships, retail stowlkiosks and OUT saIedcall centers. We offer 
mass markets and business customers 3 b d  range of wireless plans. as well as a variety of cutom and enhanced features, such as Call Waiting, Caller ID, 
3-Way Calling, Voice Messaging, Enhanced Voice Calling and Two-way Text Messaging. We also offer an integrated service, which enables customers to use 
the game telephone number and voice mailbox for their wireless phone as for their home or busmess phone. 
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Other S e d  

other properties. The majority of these properties are locatad in our 1-1 service area. 

Importance, Duration and Effect of Patents, Trademark and Copyrfghts 

necessary to the conduct of our business. We do not Mieve that the expiration of any of our intellectual property rights, or the non-renewal of those rights. 
wwld materially affect ow resuSts of operations. 

Competition 

technological advances over the p a t  few yms have i m m d  opporhmities for alternative communications service providers. which in tun have increased 
competitive pressures on our hwiiness. These alternate providers often face fpwer regulations and have lower cost s W r e s  than we do. In addition, the 
telecornmmications industry is experiencing an ongoing trend towards msol i t ion ,  and wed of our competitors have w ~ l i d a t d  with other 
telecomrnuniclitions providers. The resulting oonsolida~ companies are g ~ l e r a l t y  larger, have more h m c d  and business resources and have gre&r 
geographical reach than we do. 

wireless, in-region Iondistanoe, high-speed Internet, video and VoIP, bundling of expanded feature-rich products and improving the quality of our customer 
setvice. We increased our marketing and advertising spending Iweb in 2005 and have s m  increased des of our bundle and package offerings. The success of 
these offerings has resulted in increased long-distance and high-speed lnternst access revenue (as customers add more products), which partially offsets lower 
revenue due to access line losses. While bundle discounts result in lower average revenue for ourprcdu~ts, we M i e v e  they improve customer retention. 

W m h e  Sewices 

We provide other services that primarily involve the sublease of same of our unused real estate, such as space in ow offiw buildings, warehow and 

Either d i m l y  or through our subsidiaries, we own or have licenses to various patents, trademarks, trade names, copyrights and other intellectual proFfiy 

We compete in a rapidly evolving and highly competitive mm and we expect competition to continue to intensify. Regulatoly developments and 

Our on-going response to industry competition includes initiatives to retain and wh-back customers by rolling out new or expanded services such as 

Local Voice Servires 
Ajthwgh our status 88 an incumbent local exchange carrier helps make us the leader in providing voice & c a  in our local service area, oompeiition in 

this market is continually increasing. We continue to compete with hditional telecommunications providers, such as national carriers, smaller regional 
PrOViders, CLECs and independent telephone mpanies. Suhtitution of wireless, cable and internet-bad senices for traditional wireline services also 
continues to i rmasa  AS a result, we face grtater competition from wireless providers (including ourselves) and broadband service providers, such as &le and 
Internet companies including VoIP providers. 

billing and timely response to service calls. We believe customers are incnasingly looking to *e all of their telephone, television and lntemet services Fmm 
one provider, and BS such we and ow competitors continue to develop and deploy more innovative product bundling and 00mbine.d billing options in an effort to 
retain and gain customers. 

Competition is b a d  primarily on pricing, packaging of serrioes and quality of service and on meeting customer care needs such as simplified 

Many ofour competitors are subject to fewer regulations than we are., which affords them competitive advantages against us. Under fdecal regulations. 
eaditional telewmmunication providers are able to interconnact their networks with om, resell our I d  services or lease separate prts of our network (UNIEs) 
in 
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mkaalwk 
order to provide competitive local voice services. We generally have been required to provide these functions and services at wholesale rates, which allows our 
competitors to sell their services at lower prices. However. these rules have been and continue to be under review by state and federal regulators. In connmtion 
with rule changes, we have entered into agreements with many of our UNE purchasers, which agreements generally provide for wholwale prices above 
previously imposed UNE ratm Despite these developments, the ongoing obligation to provide UNEs continltes to reduoe our overall revenue and margin. For a 
d e l e d  discussion of regulations affixling our businws, s8e %eguIation’’ below. In addition, wireless and bmadhnd service providers generally are subject to 
less or no regulation, which allows them IO operate with lower costs than we are able to operate. 

LoncDitance Volce Servkes 
In providing longdistanoe services, we compete primarily with national telecommunications providers, such ar AT&T Inc. (formerly SBC 

Communications Inc. and AT&T Corp.), Sprint Nextel Corporation and Vedzon Communimtions Inc. (formerly Verizon and MCI, Inc.), and increasingly with 
wireless providers and broadband service providers, such as cable and Internet wmpnies, inciuding VoiP providers. 

Competition in the long-distance market is based primarily on price, customer service, quality and reliabiliv. In addition, wrnpetitim for businesg 
customers is also based on the ability to pmvide nationwide service. md competition for w h o l d e  customers is also based on availabIe capacity. The national 
telecommunications providers and wirelees and broadh id  service providers with which we compete ofken have significant name recognition in the national 
lonfplistance markets and as such have bem able to retain andlor gain market share. These competitors also have substantid financial and tachnologics1 
resources that allow them to compete more effectively against us. As these competitors have consolidated to form larger companies, their name recognition and 
financial and technological resources have increased as well. 

Data and Internet Sprvkes 
In providing dataand Internet services to our mas markets customers, we compete primarily with broadband service providers, including cable providers 

and national telecommunications providers. In providing data and Internet smioes to our business customq we compete primarily with national 
te~eoomrnunidons providers and smaller regional providers. We also compete with large integrators which are increasingly providing ClLStomers with WAN 
services, which take intw-site traftic off of o w  network. 

the same regulatory requirements as we are and therefore are able to avoid s igni fmt  regulatory coets and obligations, such as the obliptions to make UNEs 
available to competitm and to provide competitive access. 

WireQS&n&3 
The 

well Bs regional Carriers. We expect competition in this market to continue to increase as additional spectnrm is made available within our Iml service area. This 
may attract new competilols to the market and may allow current competitors the opportunity to increase their coverage areas and servioe quatity. In 2004 we 
began offering our wirelaps on a resale basis through a service agreement with a third-party provider. Our future competitive position will depend on 
ouraklity to retain and gain subscribers through the bundling of these wireless services with ow other products and swvices. 

Competition is based on price, coverage area, services, htures, handsets, technical quality and customer service. 

Competition i s  based on network reach, rps well as qualify, reliability, customer service and price. Many of our cornpetitow in this marfcet are not subject to 

for wimless services is highly competitive. We compete with national carrim, such as Verizon, Cingular Wireless LLC and Sprint Nextel. as 
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Re gu 1 a ti o n 

Act of 1934, as amended, or the Communications Act ag modified in part by the Telecommunications Act of 1996, or the Telecommunications Act, State utility 
laws, and the rules aad policies of the Federal Communications Commission, or FCC. state teguliitors and other governmental entities. Federal laws and FCC 
regulations generally apply to regulated interstate telecommunications (including international telecommunications that Originate  or terminate in the United 
States), while state regulatory authoritk generally have jurisdiction over regulated telecommuniwkions services that are intrastate in nature. The l0c;tl 
cornpetition aspects of the Tclmommunidms Act are subject to FCC rulemakkg, but the state regulatory authonh play a significant role in implementing 
some FCC rules. Generally, we must obtain and maintain certificates of authoriry from regulatory bodies in most states where we offer regulated m i c a  and 
must obtain prior regulatory approvd of rates, t m n s  and conditions for our i n h t a i e  services, where rquird. 

This siructilre of public utility regulation generally prescribes the rates, terms and conditions of our regulated wholesale and retail products and services 
(including those sold or leased to CLECs). While there is some commonality among the resulatwy frameworks from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, each State has its 
own unique set of constitutional provisions, statutes, regutations, stipulations and practices that impose restrictions or limitations on the regulated entities’ 
activities. For example, in varying degrees, jurisdictions may provide limited restrictions on the manner in which a regulated entity can interact with affiliates. 
bansfer assets, issue debt and engage in other business activities. 

I r l t e r c o n ~ m l  
The FCC is continuing to interpret the obligations of ILECs under the Telecommunications Act to interwnnect their networks with and make UNEs 

available to other telemmmunications providers. These decisions establish our obligations in our local service arc3 and a m  our ability io oompete outside Of 
our local service mrrea. On Februay 5,2005, the FCC issued new unbundling rules to replace the unbundling rules that earlier were vacated by the D.C. Circuit 
Court of Appeals. The new ruleq among other things: (i) require lLEcs to provide unbundled access to certain medium to high capacity tt;mspwt Senices in the 
a t  majority of their wire centers; and (ii) allow CLEXs to convect certain medium to high capacity hamport services to UPlEs or combinlitions ofUNk, 85 

long as the CLECs meet applicable qualification requirements. These rules require somewhat less unbundling than the unbundlhg rules they replaced. QClI and 
other regional bell operating companies filed a petition for review of this order with the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals, aserting h a t  the FCC’s new unbundling 
ruls  are overly broad. Petitions for review filed by othw parties claim that the FCC should have adopted more extensive unbundling requirements. Briefing of 
the appeals has been completed, and om1 argument is scldded for March 2 1,2006. A decision is expected mid- 2006. Similarly, the FCC provided us 
additional limited unbundling relief in our Omaha, Nebraska service area in response to a petition for forbearance we filed. 

w i c e a  to UNEs when the conversion request is made by the companies resulting from the recent mergers of AT&T with SBC and MCl with Verimn. The FCC 
is currently seeking comment on Qwest’s petition. A grant o f  Qwest’s petition would ensure that a large portion of Qwcst’s medium to high capacity transport 
service will not be mnverted ia UNEs. which provide approximately half the revenue as medium to high capacity transport senices. A decision from the FCC is 
expected in late 2006 or early 2007. 

priced and on how tk discounts to CLECs are established for their intended resale of our services. In prticdar, the FCC indicated that i! wilI reemhate  the 
rules and pkciples m m d i n g  Total Element Long Run Incremental Cost, which i s  the basis upon which UNE prices are set. The outcome of this rulemaking 
could have a material effect on the revenue and margins assaciahl with our provision of WNEs to CLECs. 

As a general matfer, we are subject to sipificsnt state and federal regulation, including requirwnmts and restrictions arising under the Communications 

On &IObw4,2005, Qwest filed a petition asking the FCC to forbear from enforcing the ILECs’ obligation to convert medium to high capcity bmsprt 

Qn S w b r  15,2003, the FCC relmsed a notice of proposed rulemaking, instituting a comprehensive review of the d e s  pursuant to which UNEs &re 

9 



- 
Intmartfer C o m p e d o n  and Amem Ming  

purchase from other carriers. In 2005, the FCC released a further notice of proposed rulemaking in the pending intercarrier compensation docket, and @eS filed 
comments addressing issues raised in the FCC notice and various industry group proposals for revising the intercanier compensation e m .  The rules 
emanating from this rutemaking could result in fundamental changes in the charges we collect from otbercarriers and our end-users. This pmmding has not yet 
been completed, and, because of its complexity and economic signifiwe. may not be completed for some time. This complexity is due in part to the advent of 
new types of tmffic (such as VOW) for which accurate billing is difticult to assure or verify (sometimes referred to as ')hantom baffic"). The WT m y  address 
dix:rcte intercarriw compehnation issues, such as compensation for phantom traffic, prior to completing comprehensive reform. A h ,  there has been a national 
trend toward reducing the amounts charged for use of our networks to terminate all type3 of calls, with a corresponding shift of costs to end users. From time to 
time, the state reguhtors that regulate intrastate = c a s  charges conduct proceedings that may affect the rates and &barges for access services. 

On October 18,2004, in a related docket the FCC relased an Order deciding to f o r k  from applying certain ISP reciprocal compensation interim r u k ~  
adopted in an April 27,2001 Order. Those particular interim rules dated to the cap on the number of mi- of use and the requirement that carriers exchange 
ISP-bound traffic m a bill-and-keep basis if dmse carriers were not exchanging traffic pursuant b inierconndm agreements prior to adoption of the A M I  27, 
200 1 Order. This order is currently pending appeal before the D.C. Circuit Court of Appeals. The effect of this Order, and resolution of the pending appeals, m y  
be to increase significantly our payments of m i p d  compensation. In some instances, existing state rulw regarding recipwal compensation and applicable 
interconnection agreements h i t  the effat of this Order. 

services should be curtailed. Reply comments in this proceeding were filed on July 29,2005. This proceeding is pending kfore the FCC. 

Voice Owr lnlemet ProtocoI and B r o d n d  IMtermzc AELW Swvikes 

Public Utilitieg Commission imposing regulations applicable to providers of telephone service on Vonage's Digitalvoice. an 1P h e d  voice service sold to retail 
customers. On November 12,2004, the FCC released its unanimous decision finding that preemption of state telecommunication service regulation was 
Consistent with federal law and policies intended to promote the continued development of the Internet, broadband and interactive services. The FCC further 
m ~ l u d e d  that divergent state rules, regulations and licensing requirements could impede the rollout of such services that benefit consumers by providing them 
with more choice, competition and inrmvation. An appeal of the FCC's order is currently pending before the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals. 

addressing m y  issues related to VolP and other Internet serviaes. This rulemaking miises issues that overlap, to a d e w ,  with the r u l ~ g s  concerning 
ILEC Broadhnd Telmmmunications Sewices and Intercarrier Compensation. There are a number of issues that have been presented to the FCC that mcem 
VOW and that could affect intercarrier compensation quirements and other f&rat or state requirements, such as those that impose a fee to support "universal 
m%x* and pr~gnm'ts that support the extension of telaommunimtions and Internet facilities to rural areas and to public schools and facilities in inner cities. 
The FCC has also stated that the question of whether such IP based sewices h l d  be classified as BII unregulated ''information service" under the 
Communications Act or as klecmunications services will be addressed in this proceeding. The FCC will also address in this pmeeding whether VOW 
providers must p y  canier access charges or intercarrier compensatim, whether they must mnbibute to the universal m i c e  fun& and other issues involving 
JPenabled services, including a~ces5 by disabled persons, applicability of law enforcement statutes and the provision of emergency (91 I )  services. This docket 
remains 

The FCC has initiated over the past five years a number of pmeedings that do, and will, affect the rates and charges for ~ c o e s 8  services that we sell to or 

On 31,2005, the FCC initiated a p r o d i n g  to a t n i n e  whether ILEC special access rates should be reduced and pricing flexibility for those 

On September 22.2003, Vonage Holdings Corporation tiled a petition for declaratory ruling requesting that the FCC preempt an order of the Minnesota 

On March 10,2004, the FCC issued its notice of propoml rulemaking instituting a formal rulemaking proceeding, or the IP-Enabled Services Proceeding 



I&bmwn& 
pending. In a separate, but related, rulemaking the FCC has issued rules requiring all VoIP providers to offer 91 i setvice in con$mction with their VolP SeMCeS. 
We sre following these developments closely, as our network is capable of VolP transport and other combinations of voice and data in an IP-addwsd packet 
format. VoIP offerings are likely to grow as the technofogy matures and the regulatory situation is clarified, and such growth in VOW could contribute to further 
&lines in our sales of traditional Imf exchange access lines or Id exchange services. 

subject to tariffing obligations. We have notified the FCC that we are eliminating these offerings from our fedem! tariffs, which will allow us to tailor our 
wireline broadband Interne! w s s  offerings to specific customer ne&. A petition for review of the FCC's order is currently pending before the Third circuit 
Court of Appeals. 

On September 23,2005, the FCC issued an order reclassifying certain ILEC wireline broadband Internet access offerings as information services no longer 

VHhtSd SWVk 
The FCC maintains a n u m b  of "univmal seruice" programs that are intended to ensure affordable telephone m i c e  for all Americans inctuding 

lowincome consumers and those living in rural areas that are costly to serve, and mure MC~SS to advanced teleEommUnications services for schools, librrvies, 
and nrral health m e  providers. Thwe programs, which c u m t l y  tohl over $6 billion annually, are h d e d  through conhibutions by inttrstate 
telecommunications carriers, which me generally passed through to thir  end Mom. Currently, universal sexvice wntributions are assessed at a rate of 
approximately 10 percent of interstate and international end user telecommunications revenues. The FCC is actively considering a new conhbution methodology 
based on telephone numbers, which could significantly increase our universal service contributions, and potentially affect the demand for certain 
tekommunications services. If a telephone number contribution methodology is adopted it will likely appiy to all wireline, wireless and VoIP service providers. 

libmies, and rural he& care programs). The FCC is actively considering changes in the structure and distribution methodology of its universal m i c e  
p~ogrruns. The resolution of these proceedings ultimately m l d  affect the amount of universal service support we w i v e .  

Employees 

Qwest is also currently the recipient of over $80 million annually in federal universal service subsidies (excluding amounts received through the schools, 

As of December 3 1.2005, we employed approximately 38,000 people. 

Apgro~imately 23,000 of o w  employees are represented by collective bargaining agreements with the &mmunications Workers of America, or CWA, 
and the I n f e d o n a l  ~ r o t h h o o d  of Electrical Workers, or IBEW. In August 2005, we reached ~greements with the CWA and the IBEW on new t h e y c a r  
labor agreements. Each of these agreemen& was I;ltified by union members and expires on August 16,2008. 

Piomdal Information shut Geographic Areas 

customem; however, our inkmationally-bad customen do not result in amaterid amount of revenue to us. 

Website Acms 

may obtain free electronic copies of our annual reports on Form IO-K, q d y  reports on Form l w ,  current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to 
those reports at our investor relations website, www.qweslcodah~nw~or/, under the heading "SEC Filings." These reports are available on our investor 
relations website as soon BS reasonably practicable after we electronidly file them with the Sacurities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. 

We provide I variety of telwvlrnmunications senices on a domestic and international h i s  to business, government, IILBSS markets and wholesale 

Our website address is www.qwesr.coRI. The information mntained on, or that may be accessed through. our website is not part of this annual report. You 
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Iam&ahb 
We have adopted writkn codes of c o n d d  that serve as the code of ethics applicable to our directoFs, officers and employees, including principal 

exmti~e  o&er and senior financial officers. in accordance with Section 406 of the Sarbanes-Oxiey Act of 2002, the rubs of !he Sa promulgatad thereunder 
and the New York Stock Exchange rules. In tb event that we make any changes to, or provide any waivers from, the provisions of our codes of conduct, we 
intend to disclose these events on ow website or in a report on Form 8-K within four business days of such event. 

h m  resources committee and nominating and governartEe committee, are available on our website at www.qwRFf.roRs/a8ouf/ lnveslor/gover~~ or in print to 
any stockholder who requests them by sending a written reqm to ow Corporate Secretary at %est Communications International Inc., 1801 California S m  
Denver, Colorado RQ202. 

Special. Note Regarding ForwarcFLooking Statemenix 

statements include, among others: 

These d e s  of conduct, as well as copies of our guidelines on significant governance issues and the charters of our audit committee, compensation and 

This Form I&K aontains or incorporates by reference forward-looking statements about our financial condition, results of operations and businass. The% 

’ statements concerning the benefits that we expect will result from our business activities and certain hanudons we have completed, such BS 
increased revenue, decreased expenses and avoided expenm and expenditures; and 

- statements of our expectations, beliefs, future plans and m g i e s ,  anticipated developments and d h e r  matters that are- not historical facts. 

These statemenu may be made expressly in this document or may be irtcorporated by reference to other documents we have filed or will file with the SEC. 
You Can find many of these statements by looking for word5 such as “may,” “would.” “could:’ %odd,‘‘ “plan,” “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” 
“estimates,” or similar expressions used in this dmurnent or documents incorporated by reference in this document. 

These forwar&looking statements are subject to numemus assumptions, risks and uncertainties that may cause our wtud results to be materially different 
from any future results expressed or implied by us in Ulose statements. Some ofthese risks are described in “Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this report. 

These risk factors should be considered in conneEtion with any subsequent wrinen or mI forward-looking statemennts that we or persons acting on our 
behalf m y  issue. Given these uncertainties, we caution investors not to unduly rely on our forwar&looking statements. We do not undertake any obligation to 
review Or wnfirm analysts’ ex-tions or estimats or to releae publicly any revisions to any forwar&looking statements to reflect events or circutnstmccs 
a f k  the date of this document or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated wems. Further, the i n f o d o n  about our intentions contained in this document is a 
statement of our intention as- of the date of this document and is based upon, m g  other things, the existing regulatory environment, industq conditions, mar!& 
conditions and prices, the economy in genera[ and our assumptions 85 of such date. We may change our intentions, at any time and without notice, based upon 
any changes in such factors, in our amnnptions or otherwise. 

ITlEM I A .  RISK FACTORS 
Risks A f f d n g  Our Business 
InCMWkg wq&on, inddhgproducl substhhwq m m u m  to cause access tihe losses, which codd &verse& @e& ow opemhg res& und$mntcial 

we compete in a rapidly evolving and highly competitive market, and we expect competition to continue to intensify. We are facing greater mpet i t ion  in 
m m -  

our 
leasing parts of our 

]mal business from able companies. wireless providers (including ourselves), Facilities-based providers using their own networks as well as those 
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network (UNEs), and resellws. As a mlterof wireless services, we face risks that facility h e d  wireless pmViders do not have. In addition. Efiabv 
developmeats ova the past few years have generally increased wmptitive pressures on our business. Due to these and other Fnctors, we continue to lose 
lines and are experiencing pressure om profit margins. 

wireless, video and VolP, bundling of expanded Falurerich products and improving the quaiity of our customer service. However, we may not be suc~essfu~ 
these efforts. We may not have sufficient m u m s  to distinguish our service levels from those of our competitors, and we my not be successful in integrating 
our product offwings. especiaily p d u c t s  For which we act as a reseller, such as wimlesx services and saleltite video swvices. Even if we are succwsful, these 
initiatives may not be sufficient to offset our continuing lass of m s s  lines. If these initiatives are unsuccessful or insufficient and our revenue declines 
significantly without companding cost reductions, this will cause a significant deterioration to our resulrs of operations and financial condition and adversely 
affect our ability b service debt md pay other obligations. 

Chmt&ia&m umngpa- in the tekvmmumkahns industy itmy &w our compe~$&m to mmpe& more e f l i b  ag- US, which cowW 
a - 4  #flat o w  OPetariRg rest& rurd f m n c i a i p e r f o ~  

telecommunications providers. This trend may result in competitors that are larger and better financed and may afford our oompetitors increased mwes and 
greater geographiml reach, thereby enabling such competitors to compete more effectively against us. We have begun to experience and expect further increased 
pressure3 86 a result of this irend and in turn have bzen and m y  continue to be forced to mpond with lower profit margin product offering and priEing plaw in 
an effort to retain and atbact customers. ’Ihese p m m m  could adversely affact our opmting results and f m c i a l  performance. 

m d  changes in techndqp a d  markea muM requik s n b s t d  eqmdtlure offinand d &her m o m  in -s of con&- lewis, atad m y  
inaMi@ to respo#d to lhmree changes could reduce our market share. 

upon ourabiliry to develop and deploy new products and services, such as broadband data, wire lm,  video and VoIP services. The development and deployment 
of new products and services could q u i r e  substantial expenditure of financial and other mourns in excess of contemplated levels. If we are not able to dmelop 
new products and services to keep pace with technologid advances, or if such products and services are not widely accepted by customers, our ability to 
compete muld be advewly affected and our market share could decline. Any inability to keep up with changes in technology and markets could also adversely 
affect the trrlding price of our securities and ow ability to service our  deb^ 

third pa^ mqs ckrka we infrhgc apm their inhAkctwlprop?rty Wts, and&fen&ng 

We seek to distinguish ourselves from our competitors by providing new or expanded services such as iTredon long-distanoe, high-spd Internet, 

The telecommunications industry is experiencing an ongoing trend towards consolidation, and several of our competitors have consolidated with other 

The telecommunications industry is experiencing significant tachnologiwl changes, and our ability to execute our business plans and compete depends 

these dnims couid &me& @ect ourpmfil ma&m and 

From time to time, we receive notic= h r n  third prth claiming we have or are infringing upon their intellectual property rights. We may receive similar 
notices in the future. Responding to these claims may require us to expend significant time and money defending our use of afkcted technology, may require us 
to enter into myaity or licensing agreements on less favorable terms than we could otherwise obtain or may require us to pay damages. If we arc qumd to take 
one or more of these actions, our profit margins may decline. In addition, in rcspnding to these claims, we may be required !a stop selling or 
more of our products or services, which could significantly and adversely affect the way we conduct business. 

O W  E M @ ’  do COndrrEl bU.&@S 

one or 
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I a u E m m m  
Risks Reladng to Legal and Regulatoy Matters 

Any adverse outcome of the i l p w s r g h  czwren@ behg cmdaclerl by the DOJ or the 
rouM have a materiatudwme impaci OR ow- m&n and operaihg resuk~, un the mdingpdce of our debt and q u i @  securiries an8 on our 
a8i@ to access the capW murkek 

The DOJ investigation and the remaining securities actions described in “Legal procaedings“ in Item 3 of this report present materid and sipificant risks 
to us. In the aggregate, the plaintiffs in the remaining securities actions seek billions of dollars in damages, and the outcome ofone or mom of these actions or the 
DOJ investigation cwld have a negative impact on the outcwnes of the other actions. Further, the sue, scope and mime of the restatements of our c~ns~lidated 
financial statements for 2001 and 2000, which are described in our Annual Repwt on Form 1WWA for the fiscal year ended December 31,2002, affect the risks 
prasented by these actions and the IH3J investigation, as thest ma- involve, among other things, our prior mmting practices and related ~ ~ S C ~ O S W .  
Plaintiffs in c a i n  of the sacunties actions have alleged our restatement of items in support of their claims. We continue to defend against the remaining 
SeEurities actions vigorously and are currently unable to provide any estimate as io the timing of their resolution. 

We can give no aggllranEe as to the impacts on OUT financial results or fmncial mdition that may ultimately result from dl of these matters. We have 
rewW reserves in our financial statements representing the minimum estimated amount of loss we believe is probable with respect to the securities &~.Ction~. 
However, the ultimate outcomes of these matters are still uncertain and the amount of loss we ultimately incur muld be substantially more than the reserves we 
have providd. I f  the recorded reserves are insufficient, we will need to racord additional charges to our consolidated statement of operations in hture periods. In 
addition, any settlement of or judgment in one or mom of these actions substantially in excess of our recarded reserves muld have a significant impact on us, and 
we can give no wmmnce that we will have tbe resources available to pay any such judgment. The magnitude of any settlement or judgment resulting fmm these 
matters could materially and adversely affect our abiliiy to meet our debt obligations and our finmcid condition, potentially impacting our credit ratings. our 
ability to access colpital markets and ow compliance with debt covenants. In addition, the magnitude of any settlement or judgment may cause us to draw down 
significantly on our cash balances, which might fom us to obtain additional financing or explore other methods to generate cash. Such methdds could include 
issuing additional securities or selling assets. 

outoome, may Rave a material adverse e f k t  on our f i m i a f  pition. Thus we m give no murances as to the impcts on our financial results or fmancial 
wnditon as a result of these mattws. 

Cwrent orfitnm civil or erimhal a d o m  a m  our former o@m d e m j d o p s  wu# r e h ~  thaw? m@nw and caw the f*arfirrgp&e for ow 
sccntik deciim 

As a result of our past accounting issues, invastor confidence in us has suffered and could suffw further. Although we have consummated a settlement with 
the SEC ooncerning its investigation of us, in March 2005, the SEC fild suit against our former chief executive officer, Joseph NacEhio, two of ow former chief 
financial officers, Robert W&ff and Robin Szeliga, and other former officers and employees. In December 2005, a criminal indictment was filed against 
Mr. Naochio charging him with 42 counts of insider trading. In July 2005, Ms. Szeliga pleaded guilty to a criminal charge of insider bading In December 2005, 
Marc Weiskrg, a former Qwest executive, pleaded guilty to a criminal charge of wire fraud. Other former ofXiaea or employees have entered into settlements 
with the SEC involving civil fraud or other claims in which they neither abnitkd nor denied the allegations against them. 

Evidence i n d u d  at such trials and in other matters may result in 

lingaiioA perrding agmkd us, k d h g  the securihs action% 

F d w ,  there exist other m a r i a [  proceedings pending against I L ~  as described in “Legal Prooeedings” in Item 3 of this report, which, depending on their 

A hial could take place in the pending SEC lawsuit against Mr. Nacchio and others and in mnnaction witb the criminal charges against M. Nacchio. 
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further sautiny by governmmtal authorities and otters. The existence of this heightened scrutiny muld adversely affect investor confidence and cause h e  
trading price for our securities to decline. 

We ope& in a higkly regulated hfumy, and are therq-ot~ EXPO& do mtrichns on our manner of hing businas and u wrie& of c b h s  h & g  do such 
regvkrfion 

Our operations are subjtct to significant federal regulation, including the Cornmutications Act and FCC regulations thereunder. We are also subject to the 
applicable laws and rcgula~ons of various stateq including regulation by PUG and other state agencies. Fedend Iaws and FCC regulations generally appIy tD 
regulated interstate telecommuniEations (including international telecommnications that originate or terminate in the United states), while State regulatory 
authorities generally have jurisdiction over regulated telecommunications service that are intrastak in natura The I o d  competition aspects of the 
Teleoomunications Act are subject to FCC rulemaking, but the state regulatory authorities play a significant role in implementing those FCC des. Ge.ndly,  
we mwt obtain and maintain certifiartes of authority from regulatory bodies in mosi states where we offer regdated Senices and must obtain prior regulatory 
approval of rates, terms and conditions for our infrastaie services, where required. Our businesses are subjKt to numerous, and often quite detailed, requirements 
under federal, state and local laws, rulw and regulations. Aacordingly, we cannot ensure that we are always in compliance with all these requirements at any 
single point in time.. The agencies responsible for the enforcement of these laws, rules and regulations may initiate inquiries or actions based on their own 
perceptions of our conduct, or basad on customer complaints. See “Business-Regulation” in Item 1 of this report for further information about tegulations 
affecting our business. 

Regutation of the teleEommUnications industry is changing rapidly, and the regulatory environment varies substsniially from state to state. ’Recently a 
number of state legislatures and state PUCs adopted whced or modified forms of regulation for retail services. This is generally beneficial to us h a u s e  i t  
reduces regutatory costs and regulatory filing and reporting requirements. These changes also generally allow more flexibility for new product intduction and 
enhance our ability to respond to competition. At the m e  time, some of the chanw, occurring at both the state and federd level, may have the potential & e t  
of reducing some regulatory protectionq including having FCC-approvad tariffs that iraCl& ratas, terms and conditions. These changes may necGssitate the need 
for customerspecific mntmcts to address matters previously covered in our tariffs. Despite these regulaory changes, a substantid portion of ow Iwal voice 
services revenue remains subject to FCC a d  state PUC pricing regulation, which wuld expose us to unanticipated price declines. There m h no a s s u m  that 
Wre regulatory. judicial or legishive activities will not have a material adverse effect on our operations, or that regulators or third parties will not raise material 
issues with regard to our compliance or noncompliance with applicable regulations. 

fadera, state and lwal regulations governing the discharge and disposal of hazardous and environmentally sensitive materials, including the emission of 
electromagnetic radiation. Although we believe that we are in compliance with such regulations, any such discharge, d i s p a l  or emission might expose us to 
claims or actions that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. 

Risk5 A W n g  Our Llqddlty 
Our high &bt Ievelspose &S Eo our viW&@ and may make us more VlJnernQIe to adverse economk and coqiwtihe cottdiXm, ae well m odker adverse 
h h p -  

We are highly leveraged. As of December 31,200s. our total deb! was approximately $15.5 billion. Approximately $2.1 billion of our debt obligations 
comes due over the next three years. While we currently believe we will have the financial resources to meet our obligations when t k y  mme due, we cannot 
mmticipte what our future condition will be. We may have unexpmied wts and liabilitia and we m a y  have limited BOCM to financing. 

All of our opwations me also subject to a variety of envimnmantal, safety, health and other governmental regulations. We monitor our compliance with 
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we may PdOdicaUv need io obtain financing in order to meet our debt obligations as they come due. We may also need to obtain additional financing or 

investigate o&r methods k generate cash (such as-further cost reductions or the &le of assets) if revenue and cash provided by operations ddh% if economic 
conditions weaken, if competitive pressurn increase or if we become subject to significant judgments, settlements and/or tax payments as further discussed in 
“Legal F’roWngs” in Item 3 of this report and in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulls of Operations-Liquidity and 
Capital Resources“ in Item 7 of this report. We give no assurance that such additional financing will be available on terms that are acceptable. A h  we my 
be impacted by factors relating to or affecting our liquidity and capital nwrcs due 10 pemption in the marke~ i m w s  on ow credit racings 01 provisions in 
our financing agreemats that may reslricl our flexibility under certain conditions. 

a new fiveyear $850 million revolving credit facility (referred to as the ZOOS QSC Credil Facility). The facility is currently undrawn. The 2005 QSC Credit 
Facility has a cross payment default provision, and the 2005 QSC Credit Facility and certain ofour othcr debt issues have cross acceleration provisions. When 
pE6e.W such provisions could have a wider impad on liquidity than might otherwise arise h r n  a default or acceleration of a single debt instrument. Any such 
event could advenely affect our ability IO conduct busines or awes the capiul markeLc and could adversely impact our credit ratings. In addition. the 2005 QSC 
Credit Facility contains various limitations, including a restriction on using any proceeds from the facility to pay settlements or judgments relating 10 the DOJ 
investigation and securities actions discussed in “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this repxi. 

consequences, including the following: 

In October 2005, our wholly owned subsidiary. Qwest Service3 Corporation. replaced its preexisting three-year $750 million revolving credit facility with 

Our high debt levels could adversely impact our credit ratings. Additionally, the degree to which we m leveraged may have other important limiting 

placing us at a competitive disadvantage as compared with our less leveraged competitors; 

9 making us more vulnerable to downturns in general economic conditions or in my  of our businesses; 

- limiting our flexibility in planning for, M reacting to, changes in our businegg and the industry in which we operate; and 

impairing our rtbility to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures or g e n d  00Fporate purposes. 

We m y  be lurnbk i% sigmjiin@ reduce ihe s u r i c r l  ropiuJ reqniremem or y e m h g  apnses mecessq to conhue to wate our bushm, d i c k  
may in turn aflect our Operr*ing m s u k  

yeas. Al!Aough we have miuced our capihil expenditures and operating expenses over the past year, we may be unable to further significantly reduce these 
o ~ s t s ,  even if revenue is decreasing. While we believe that our current level of capital expenditurn will meet both our maintenance and our core growth 
raquiments going forward, this may not bz the case if circumstances underlying our expectations change. 

Deches in ~e valne of quaiifwdpmion plan awe& or SvllirVonrQle changes h laus or regulahns Ld govern p e m h  p h n  funding, could require US 1 
provide signifccanr amoun& of fulrding for our qrdifiedpenslon plan 

While we do not expect to be required to make material cash contributions to our qualified M n e d  benefit p s i o n  plan in tbe near term based upon 
current actuarial analyses and forecasts, a signifiwnt decline in the value of qualified pension plan assets in the future or unfavorable changes in laws or 
regulations that govern pension plan funding could mateMlly change the timing and amount of required pension funding. As a result, we may be required to fund 
our qualified defined benefit pension plan with Eash from operations, perhaps by a material momt. Also, recognition of an additional minimum liability causd  
by changes in pension plan 11ssets 

The indusky in which we operate is capital intensive, and as such we anticipte that our capital requirements will continue to be significant in the coming 
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or measurement of the accumulated benefit obligation could have a material impact on our consolidated balance sheet. As an example, if our accumulated benefit 
obligation exceeds pension plan assets in the future, the impact would k to eliminate our p m i d  pension wet, which w a  $1.165 billion 
2005, and record a pension liabiliiy for the mount that our accumulated benefit obligation exceeds pension plan assets with B corresponding charge to other 
mprehensive loss, thereby increasing stockholden’ deficit. Alternatively, we could make a voluntary codbution to the plan so thal the qualified pension plan 
assets exceed the accumulated benefit obligation. As of December 31,2005,our qualified pension plan as& exceed our accumulated benefit obligation by 
$596 million. 

Oar &bt a p e n u m  SUOW us # hcw signim@ more && whick C O I I M ~ C ~ T ~  h other r&ks descrhd herein 

adequately responB to competition, to oomply with regulatory requirements related to our service obligations or for f m c i a l  reasons alone. Incremental 
borrowings or borrowings at m h t y  on terms that impose additional finand risks to our various efforts to improve OUT financial condition and results of 
openuions could exacerbate the 0th risks described herein. 

I l ~ p u m n e  and we imohdin m y  businas Tmbiudons, o n r f i n u ~ d  d i & m  eouM k a d w e  &@hi 

beneficial. As a result, we may be involved in negotiations or discussions that, if they were to result in a iransaction, could have a material effect on our financia1 
condition (including sho+-term or longtern liquidity) or short-term or lon@mn results of operations. 

Sboutd we make an error in judgment when identifying an acquisition candidate, or should we Fail to successfully integrate acquired operations, we will 
likely fail to realize the benefits we intended to derive from the acquisition and may suffer other adverse consequences. Acquisitions involve a numkr of other 
risks, inctuding: 

of December 3 1, 

The terms of our debt instnrments permit us to incur additional indebtednegg Such additional debt m y  be necessary for many m o m ,  including to 

On I rrgularand ongoing Wis, we review and evaluate other businesses and oppmlmitics for business combinations that would be strategically 

- incurrence of substantial hamaction cos& 

diversion of management’s attention from operating our existing businm; 

- charges to earnings in the event of any writedown or writeoff of goodwili recorded in connec!ion with acquisitions; 

- depletion of our cash resources or incurrence ofadditional indebtedness to fund acquisitions; 

an adverse impact on our tax position; and 

assumption of liabilitiw of an acquired business (including unforeseen liabilities). 

We can give no assurance that we will be able !o succegsllly cmnplete and inkgrate strategic acquisitions. 

Other Risks Relatlng to Qwest 
If c o d t h s  or as.wnpdons d w r  fmm ihe judjpents, awunqnhns or e x h a t e s  used in our c r M  accounringp&cies, the accuracy of our furancid 
statetnetu rulH related dkchnres muid be affmkd 

The preparation of financial statements and related disctosum in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United Sates. or W A P ,  
requires management to make judgments, assumptions and estimatm that af€ect the amounts reported in OUT consolidated financial sWermnts md acompanying 
notes. Our critical accounting policies, which are descrikd in this documen4 dmribe those significant accounting policies and m e t h d  wed in the PreparMh 
ofour consolidated f i m i a l  statements that are consided “critical” because they q u i r e  judgments. assumptions and estimates that materially impact our 
consolidated financial 
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statements and relatad disclosures. As a result, if fiture events differ signifiwmtly from the judgmen& mumptions and estimates in OUT critical accounting 
policies, such events or assurnpaions couId have a matwid impact on our collgolidaied financial statements and related disclosures. 

T-mthwities may &&mike we owe &onnlhmes M M n g  IO Vardoas ma&m, NkiEk corrldudv@m& ~ @ X I o u r ~ r r m ~ l u h  
As a significant taxpayer, we are subjact to frequent and regular audits from the Internal Revenue Service, OT IRS, as well BS from St& and I d  tax 

authorities. T h e  audits could subject us to risks due to adverss positions that may be taken by these tax authorities. Please see “ L e  hooeedings” in Item 3 Of 
this report for examples of legal p e a d i n g s  involving some of these adverse positions. For exampfe, io the fourth quarter of 2OW, Q w a t  received notices of 
pmposed adjustments on wed significant issues for the 19998-2001 audit cycle. Certain of these p m p o d  adjustments we hefore the Appeslls Offioe of ttte 
IRS. There is no assurance that we and the IRS will achieve settlements on these issues or that, if we do achieve Wements, the terms will be favorable to US. 
Additiondly, the IRS indicated in January 2005 that it is reviewing Qwwt’s tax treatment of the sale of its DW directory publishing business in the 2002-2003 
audit cycle. 

Because prior to 1999 west was a m m h  of affiliated groups filing consolidated U.S. federal income tax returns, we could k severally liable for tax 
examinations and adjustments not directly applicable to current members of the Qwest affiliated group. Tax sharing agrements have been e x w t e d  between 
and previous affiliates, and we believe the liabilities, if any, arising from adjustments to tax liability would be tome by the affiliated group member determined 
to have a deficiency under the terms and conditions of such agreements and applicable tax law. We have not provided in our financial statements for any liability 
of former affiliated members or for claims they have asserted or may assert against us. 

While we believe our tax reseryes sdqmkly  provide for the associated tax contingencies, Qwest’s tax audits and examinations may result in tax Iiabilitk 
that differ materially h m  those we have recorded in ow consoiidated financial statements. Also, the ultimate outoomes of all of these matters are uncertain, and 
we can give no assumme as to whethther an adverse result horn one or more of them will have a matwid effect on our f m i a l  mdts, including potentially 
ofFsetting a significant portion of our existing net opting Ioppes. 

If we faiI to EX@ or wneg&e our c d k d v e  *ai+ 
wew lo engage in a s m  or otber work stop- our Bus- d o p d g  res& c o d  be matehlg h a r d  

reached agreements with the CWA and the IBEW on three-ym labor agreements. Each of these agreements was ratified by union members and expires on 
August 16,2008. Although we believe that our relations with our employees sre satisfactory, no assurance can be given that we wit1 be able to suocessfully 
extend or renegotiate our collective bargaining agreements as they expire from time to time. The impact of future negotiations, including changes in wages and 
benefit levels, could have a material impact on our Anmcial results. Also, if we fail to extend or renegotiate our collective bargaining agteements, if disputes with 
owt unions arise, or ifour unionized workers engage in a strike or other work stoppage, we could incur higher ongoing labor costs or experience a significant 
disruption of o p t i o n s ,  which could have a material d v e m  effect on our business. 

The tmdngprice of our Secvriries could & ddik 

fluctuate m y .  The haling price of our m i t i e s  may be significantly affected by various factors, including: 

wiik our Mor unbm as they -ire from time IO &e, or v o w  unionkd empi#- 

We B T ~  a party to collective bargaining agreements with our i a lm unions, which represent a significant number of our employees. In Augus! 2005, we 

In -nt years, the capital markets have experiend extreme price and volume fluctuations. The overall markH and the trading price of our securities may 

quarterly fluctuations in our operating results; 

9 changes in investors’ and amtysts’ perception of the business risks and conditions of our business; 



- generat wnomic  or politid conditions; 

acquisitions and financings including the issuance of substantial number of shares of our mmmon stmk as consideration in acquisitions; 

sale of a sulxtantial number of shares held by the existing shareholdets in the public market, including shares issued upon exercise of Outstandkg 
options or upon the mnvwsion of our oonvertible notes; and 

g e n d  conditions in the teleoommunications industFy. 

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS 
None. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

property, plant and equipment consisted of the following as of December 31,2005 and 2004: 
Our principl properties do not lend themselves to simple description by character and location. The pemtage allocation of our gmss investment in 

Land and buildings 
Communications equipment 
Othsrnetwarkequlpmcnt 
General-purpose computers and other 

Total 

8% 
43% 
43% 
6% 

m?4 
- 

- 
Land and buildings consist of hd, land improvements, central office and certain administrative ofice building. Communications equipment primarily 

consists of switches, routers and transmission electronics. Other network equipment primarily includes conduit and cable. General-purpose computers and OthW 
conskt principally of computers, off= equipment, vehicles and other general support equipment. We own substantially aII of our telecommunicalims equipment 
required for our business. Total grow investment in pmperty, plant and equipment was approximately $46.0 billion and $45.4 billion at December 31,2005 and 
2004, respectively, before deducting accumulated depreciation. 

IWed 
primarily in buildings that we own at various l d o n s  in geographic areas that we serve. Substantially all of the installations of ocotral ofice equipment for OW 
local service business are lwated in buildings and on land that we own. Our out-of-region network is generally located in real property pursuant to an agreement 
with the property owner or a n o h  person with righu to the property. It is possible that we may h e  our rights under one or more of such agreements, due to 
their termination or their expimtion. In addition, s w d  putative class actions have been filed against us disputing our use of certain of such r ightsn~hay.  For a 
description of these actions, see “Legal h e e d m g s ”  in rm 3 of this report If we Im any such rights-of-way or are unable to renew ahem, we may find it 
necapsary to move or replace the affected portions of the network However, we do noi expat any material adverse impacts as a result of the lm of any such 
rights. For additional information, please see Note &Property, Plan! and Equipment to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report. 

We own and lease sales oflices in major metropolitan locations hth in the United States and internationally. Our network manage~~mt  enters 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
Throughout this section, when we refer to a class action as “putative” it is bxause a class has been al legd but not certified in that matter. Until and unless 

a class has been certified by the court, it has not been established 
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that the named plaintiffs represent the class of plaintiffs they purport to represent. To the extent appropriate, we have providad reserves for each of the matters 
descrikd below. 

settlement o f  Consolidated Securities Actlon 

have been oonsolidated into a consolidated secdtie action pending in federal district court in Colorado. The first of these actions was filed on Jdy 27,1001. 
Plaintiffs alkge, among other things, that defendants issued false and misleading financia[ results and made f& statements about our business and investments, 
including making materially fake statements in certain of our registration statements. The most recent complaint in this matter seeks unspecified campenstory 
damages and other relief. However. oounsel for plaintiffs indicated that the putative class wwld seek damages in the tens of billions of dollars. The SPA action 
described below has also been wnsolidated with the comlidated securities action. 

Twelve putative class actions purportedly brought MI behalf of purchasers of our publicly traded securities lxtween May 24,1999 and FebruaFy 14,2002 

On November 23,2005, we, certain other defendants, and the putative class representatjves entered into and filed with the federal district court in Colorado 
a Stipulation of Partial Settlement that, if implemented, will settle the msolidated securities action spinst  us and certain other defendants. On J a n ~ a r y  5,20006, 
the federal district court in Colorado issued an order (1) preliminarily approving the proposed settlement, (2) setting a hearing for May 19,2006 to consider f d  
approvat of the propsed settlement, and (3) certifying a c lm,  for settlement purposes only, on behalf of purchasers of our publicly Wed securities belween 
May 24,1999 and July 28,2002. 

Under the proposed settlement agreement, we would pay a total of $400 million in c&$lOO million of which was paid 30 days after preliminary 
approval ofthe proposed settlement by the federal distn’ct court in Colorado, $100 million of which would be paid 30 days a h  final approval of the settlement 
by the court, and $200 million of which would be paid on January 15,2007, plus interest a6 3.75% per annum on the $200 million between the date of final 
approval by the court and the date of payment. 

If approved, the propsed settlement agwement will settle the individual claims of the class representatives and the claims of the class they represent 
against US and all defendants in the cohwlidakd xcur i tks  nciion, except Joseph Naochio, our Former chief executive officer, and Robert Woodruff, OUT former 
chief financial of iw .  (The nm-class action brought by SPA that is consolidated for oertain purposes with the consolidated muritia action is not prt of he 
settlement.) As part of the propmed settlement, we would receive $10 million from Arthur Andersen LLP. which would a h  be released by the class 
EpreSentlltives and the clarss they represent. which will offset $10 million of the $400 million that would be payable by us. 

The proposed settlement agtement is subject to a numbr  of conditions and fume contingencies. Among athem, it ti) requires final court approval; 
(ii) provides plaintiffs with the right to terminate the settlement if the $250 million we previously paid to the SEC in settlement of i$ investigation a@nst us is 
not distributed b the class members: (iii) provides us with the right to terminate the settIement if class membm representing more than a specified amount of 
alleged securities losses elect to opt out of the settlement; (iv) provides LIS with the right to terminate the settlement if we do not receive adequate protections For 
claims relating to substantive liabilities of non-senling defendants; and (v) is subject to review on appeal even if the district court were 6 d i y  to approve it. Any 
lawsuits that may be brought by parties opting out of the settlement will k vigorously defended regardless of whether the settlement dwribed herein is 
consummated. No parties admit any wrongdoing as prt of the p r o p o d  settlement. 

DOJ Investigation and Remsining Securities Actions 

nature of the mtatett~ents of our consotidated financial stakments for 2001 and 2000, which are described in our previously issued consolidated financial 
statements for the year 

The Department of Justice, or DOJ, investigation and the securities actions descrikd below p m n t  material and sigmfwt risks to us. The size, “ope and 
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ended December 3 I ,  2002, or our 2002 Financial Statements, affect the risks presented by this investigation and these actions, 85 these matters involve, among 
other things our prior accounting p m t i c a  and related &sclo$ures. Plamtifi in certain of the securities d o n s  have alleged our restatement O f  items in Support 
of their claims. We can give no assurance as to the impacts on OUT financial results or financial condition that may ultimately result from all of these matters. 

We have a m e  worded in OUT financial statements of approximately $105 million relating to the remaining sxwitia d o n s  dwcribed below, which 
amount represents the minimum estimated amount of h s  we believe is probable with respect to tRes8 mattem. We have recorded our estimate of the minimum 
liability of these matters b a s e  no estimate of probable loss for these matters is s better &hate tban any other amount. If the reoMded reserve i s  insufficient to 
cover these matten, we will n e d  to record additional charges to om msol ida td  statement of operations in future periods. Additionally, we are unable itt this 
time to provik a reasomable estimate of the upper end of the range of loss associated with these matters due to their complex n a W  and current w, and, 3 

result, the amount we have reserved for these matters is our estimate of the lowest end of the possibIe range of loss. The ultimate outcoma of these mmttterS are 
still uncertain and the amount of loss we may ultimately incur could be substantially more than the reserve we have provided. 

We believe that it is probable that a portion of the m r d e d  reserve for the mmaining securiiiwr actions described b l o w  and the consolidated securitiw 
action desctibad above will be recoverable from B portion ofthe insurance proceeds that were p l d  in a mt to oo~erow losses and fhe losses of individual 
insureds following our November 2003 settlement of disputes with certain of our insurance carriers Elated to, m n g  other things, the DOJ investigation and 
securities actions. The insurance proceeds are subject to claims by us and other insureds for, among other things. the costs of defending certain mattws and, as a 
result, such prweeds are being depleted over time. In any event, the terms and conditions of applicable bylaws, certificates or articles of incorporation, 
agreements or applicable law may obligate us to indemnify our current and f o m r  directors, officers and emptoyees with respect to certain liabilities, and we 
have been advancing legal fees and costs to many current and former directors, officers and employees in connection with the DOJ i n v e h g a h ,  securities 
d o n s  and cwtain other matters. 

We continue io defend against the murititx actions described M o w  vigorously and are currently unable to provide any estimate E? to the timing of the 
r e s o l u h  of these actions. Any settlement of or judgment in one or more of these actions substantiatly in excess of our recorded =ewes cwld have a significant 
impact on us, and we m give no Bssurance that we win have the rps~urces available to pay any such judgment The magnitude of any settlement or j u d p e n t  
resulting h m  these actions could matwially and adversely affect ow a b i l i  to meet our debt obligations and ow financial condition, potentially impacting our 
credit ratings, our abifity to access capital markets and ourcornplianae with debt covenants. In addition, the magnilude ofany such settlement or judgment may 
muse us to draw down significantly on our cash balances, which might force us to obtain additional financing or explore other mehods to generate cash. Such 
meihods could include issuing additional securities or selling assets. 

DOJ / R W I i ! g d R  

On July 9,2002, we were informed by the U.S. Attorney’s Offce for the District of Colorado of rcriminal investigation of our business. We Mieve the 
U.S. Attorney’s Ofice has investigated various matters that include transactions related to the various adjus!ments and restatements desxibd in our 2002 
Financial Statements, transactions between us and certain of our vendors and certain investments in the securities of those vendors by individuals associated with 
Us. 4 certain prior disclosures made by us. We are continuing in our efforts to cooperate l l l y  wifi the U.S. Attorney’s Ofice in its investigation. However, we 
cannot predtct the outcome of this investigation or the timing of its resolution. 

Remaining SecwWs A&m 

and state se~uritiea laws, engaged in hud, civil conspiracy 
We are a defendant in the securities actions described beIow. PMntifi in these actions have variously alleged, among other things, that we violatad federal 
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and negligent misrepresentation, and breached 6dilciary duties owed to investors and current and fomter employees. Other defendants in one or more of these 
actions klude current and former directors of Q w e s ~  f-t officers and employees of Qwmt, M u r  Andersen LLP, c& investment banks and others. 

ERISA actions. Swen putative class actions purportedly brought on &half of d l  pwticipts  and beneficiaries of the Qwest Savings and Investment 
Plan and predecessor plans, or the Plan, from March 7,1999 until January 12,2004 have k e n  consolidated into a consolidated action in federal 
district court in Colorado. These suits also purport to seek reliefon behalf of the Plan. The first of these actions WEIS filed in March 2002. Plaintiffs 
assert breach of fiduciary duty claims against us and others under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, alleging, 
among other things, various improprieties in managing holdings of ow stock in the Plan. Plaintiffs seek damages. equitable and declaratory relief, 
along witb attorneys’ fees and costs and restitution. Counsel for plaintiffs has indicated ihat the putative class will seek billions of dollars o f  damages. 
A nowclass d o n  alleging similar claims w a  filed in the federal district court in Montana in June 2003 and was later transfed tu federal district 
court in Colorado. 

- Colorado sction. A putative class d o n  purportedly brought on behalf of purchasers of our stock between June 28,2000 and June 27,2002 and 
owners of U S WEST, h c .  stock on June 28,2000 is pending in Colorado in the DistFict Court for the County of Boulder. This action w filed on 
June 27,2002. Plaintiffs allege, among other things, that the defendants imed false and misleading statements and e n p g d  in improper accounting 
p t i c c s  in order fo awomplish the U S WESTIQwest merger, which we refer to 11s the Merger, to make us appear succwsfid and to inflate the value 
of ow stock. Plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary damages, disgorgement of illegal gains and other relief. 

New Jersey action. An action by the State of New Jersey (Treasury Deparhnemt, Division of Investment), or New Jersey, is pending in the New 
jersey Superior Court, Mercer County. This action was !led on November 27,2002. New Jersey alieges, among other things, that defendants c a u d  
our stock to trade at artificially inflated prices by employing improper accounting practices and by issuing false statements about our business. 
revenue and profits, and contends that it incurred hundreds of millions of dollars in losses. Among other requested relief, New Jmey seeks from the 
defendants, jointly and severally, compensatory, consequential, incidental and punitive damages. 

-sTR!3 action. An action by the California State T e a c W  Retirement System, or CatSTRS, is pending in the Supdor Court of the State of 
California in and for the County of San Francisco. This action was filed on December IO, 2002. CalSTRS alleges, among other thinp, that defendants 
engaged in a scheme that falsely inflated our revenues and k m s e d  OUT expenses $0 tha~ we would appear more succe.essful than we actually were 
during the pwiod in which CdSTRS purchased our securities, and CalSTRS asserts that defendants’ actions d it to lose in excess of $150 million 
invested in our equity and debt securities. Plaintiff seeks compensatory, special and punitive damages, dUtiOn, prejudgment interest and costs. 

- SURSI wtion. An action by the State Universities Retirement System of Illinois, or SURSI, is pending in the Circuit Court of Cmk County, Illinois. 
This action was filed on January IO, 2003. SURSI alleges, among other thing, that defendants engaged in a scheme to Falsely inflate our revenue and 
decrease our expenses by improper conduct related to hansaEtions with various customers and suppliers and claims that its loses from investments in 
OUT securities are in excess of $12.5 million. SURSI seeks, among other things, compensatory and punitivc damages, costs, equitable relief, including 
an injunction to f- or prevent disposition of the defendants’ assets, and disgorgement, 

SPA action. An action by Stichting Pensioenfonds ABP, or SPA, is pending in federal district court in Colorado. This action was t i l 4  on Febmmy 9, 
2004. SPA allegw, among other things, that defendants created a false pwoeptim of OUT revenue and growth prospects and that its lossw from 
investmen& in our securities me in excegs of%lOO million. SPA seeks, among other things, ~ o m p a t o i y  and punitive damages, mission or 
missionary damages, prejdgment interest, a t b m y s ’  fees and casts. 
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SHC action. An action by Shriners Hospital for Children, or SHC, is pending in fedml district court in Colorado. This action was filed on March 22. 
2004. SHC a l l e p ,  among other things, that defendants issued false and misleading financial reports about us. SHC alleges compensatory dMMgeS of 
approximately $17 million. SHC seeks compensatory and punitive damages. interestt. costs and attorneys’ fees. 

. TRSL action. An action by the Teachers’ Retirement System of Louisiana, or TRSL, is pendmg in federal diskict court in Colorado. This action WBS 
filed on or about March 30,2004. TRSL alleges, among ohm things, that defendants issued false and misleading fmncial reports about US. TRSL 
alleges ~ ~ p e n s a t o r y  damages ofappmximately $23 million. TRSL seeks compensatory and punitive damages, inbest, mts and attorneys’ fees. 

- NYC Funds action. An action by a number of New York City pension and retirwnent h&, or NYC Funds, is @ing in faded  district court in 
Colorado. This action was filed on September 22,2004. NYC Funds allege, among otherthings, that defendants created a fake perception of our 
revenue and growh prospects and that their losses from inveshents in our securities are in excess of $300 million. WYC Funds seek among Other 
things, oompensatory and punitive d m ,  rescission or rescissionary damages. prejudgment interest, attorneys’ fees and costs. 

KFNQwest Litigatiw/Investigatioo 

also on the supervisory lxiard of KPNQwest, N.V. (of which we were a major shareholder), and others. This lawsuit was initially filed on October4,2002. Tk 
current complaint alleges, on behalf of certain purchasers of KPNQwest securities, that, among other things, defendants engaged in a fraudulent scheme and 
deceptive mum of business in order to inflate KPNQwest’s revenue and the mtue of KPNQwest securities. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damap a d o r  
rescission as appmpriate against defendants, as well as an award of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs. On February 3,2006, we, certain other defendants and 
the putative class representative in this action executed 8113 ageanent to settle the C B S ~  against us and cwtain other defendants. Under the settlement agreement. 
we will pay $ 5 5  million in cash to the senlement fmdno later than 30 days following preliminary court approval, and M later than 30 days following f i  
approval by the court, we will issue shares of our stock to the settlement fund then valued at $5.5 million as additional msideration for the settlement. The 
settlement agrement would settle the individual claims of the putative class repmentative and the claims of the class he purports to repmerit against us and all 
defendants except Koninklijke KPN N.V. &a Royal KPN N.V., WilIem Ackwmans, Eelm Blok, Jwp Drechsel, Martin Pieters, and Rhea Williams. The 
settlement agreement is subject to a number of conditions and future contingencies. Among others, it (i) raquires both preliminary and final mud approval; 
(ii) provides us with the right to terminate the sett lmnt if class members repmmting more than a specified mount of alleged sEcurities Iwes elect to opt out 
of the settlement; (iii) provides us with the right to terminate the settlement if we do not receive adequate protections for c!aimS relating to substantive liabilities 
of non-settling defendants; and (iv) is subject to rwiew on appeal even if !tie district court were finally to approve it Any lawsuits that may be brought by 

opting out of the settlement will be vigornusly defended regardless of whether the settlement described herein i s  consummated. No parties admit 
wrongdoing BS a part of the settlement agrement. 

On October3 I .  2002, Richard and Marcia Grand, EO-hustees of the R.M. Grand Revocable Living Trust, dated January 25,1991, filed a Iawsuit in 
Arizoma Superior Court which, as amended, allege4 among other things. that the defendants violated state and f e M  securities laws and bmched their RduEiary 
duty in connection with investments by plaintif& in securities of KPNQwest. We are a defendant in this lawsuit along with Qwest B.V. (one of our subsidiaries), 
Joseph Nacchio, our former Chairman and Chief Executive Mcer, and John McMaster, the former President and Chief Executive Officer of KPNQwest. 
Plahtifi claim to have lost approximately $10 million in their investments in KPNQwd The cowt granted defendants’ motion for parbal summary judgment 
With reSpect to a substantial portion of plaintifk’ claims. The oourt entered judgment for defendants on thw claims and dismissed tbe remaining claims without 
prejudice. We have entered into a 
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tolling Wement with plaintiffs that allows them to refile these remaining claims following their appeal of the court’s order granting summary judgment LO 
defendants on a substrurtial portion of plaintiffs’ claims. Plaintif% have filed such an appeal with the Arizona Court of Appeals. 

in the fedem] district cow for the District of New Jersey alleging violations of the Racketem Influenced and Comrpt Organizations Act, and breach of fiduciary 
duty and mimnagemmt under Dutch law. We are a defendant in this lawsuit along with Joseph N d i o ,  Robert S. Woodruff, our former Chief Financial 
Officer, and John McMaster. Plaintiffs allege, among other thing, that defendants’ actions were a cause of the bankruptcy of KPNQwest and the bankruptcy 
deficit of KPNQwest was in excess of%3 billion. Plaintiffs seek compensatory, treble and punitive damages, as well as an award of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and 
costs. 

On June 25,2004, J.C. van Apeldoom and ET. Meger, in their mpacities as trustaes in the outch bankruptEy proceeding for KPNQwest, filed a complaint 

On June 17,2005, Appalwsa Investment Limited Partnership 1, Palomino Fund Ltd., and Appaloosa Management L.P. filed acomplaht in the fdd 
district court for the Southern District of New Yo& against us, Joseph Wacchio. John McMasterand Koninklijke KPN N.V.. or KPN. The complaint allega that 
defendants violated Federal securities laws in connection with the purchase by plaintiffs of certain KPNQwest debt xcurities. Plaintiffs seek compensatory 
damages, as well as an award ofplaintiffs‘ attorneys’ fees and oasts. 

to file legal claims in connection with the origination ola credit facility and subsequent borrowings made by KPNQwest of appproximately~300 million under 
that facility. They have indicated that we would be a defendant in this threatened lawsuit along with Joseph Nacchio, John McMaster, Drake Tempest, our former 
General Counsel, KPN and other former mployees of Qwcst, KPN or KPNQwest. 

On August 23,2005, the Dutch Shareholders Association (Vmniging van Effectenbezittm, or VEB) filed apetition for inquiry with the Enterprise 
Chamber of the Amterdam COW o f  Appeals, located in the Netherlands, with regard to KpNQwest. VEB seeeks am inquhy into the poticies and wume of 
business at KPNQwest that are alleged to have caused the bankruptcy of KPNQwest in May 2002, and an investigation into alleged mismanagtmwt of 
KPNQwest by its executive management, superuisory board members. joint venture entitias (us and KFN), and KPNQwest’s outside auditors and accountants. 

Other than the putative class action in which we have entered into P proposed settlement (and for which we have recorded a reserve of % I  I million in 
connection with the proposed settlement), we will continue to defend against the pending KPNQwest litigation matters vigorously and will likewise defend 
against any cIaim asserted by KFNQwest’s former lendm if litigation is filed. 

Regulatory Matter 

meet a commitment that we made in 2001 to invest in communications infrastnmc!ure in New Mexico through March 2006 pursuant to an Alternative Form of 
Regulalion plan, or AFOR. The AFOR ~ y s ,  in that ‘ w e s t  commits to devote a substantial budget to infrastruchre investment, with the goal of achieving 
the purposes of this Plan. Specifically, Qw& will make capital expenditures of not Iess than $78g million over the tenn of this Plan. This level of investment is 
necessary to meet the commitments made in this Plan to increase Qwwt’s invesiment and improve its senice quality in New Mexico.” Multiple parties fiied 
comments in that proceeding and variously argued that we should be subject to a range of reqkments including au escrow acoount for capital spending, new 
investment obligations. and cwimner credits or price reductions. 

On ApriI 14,2005, the Commission issued its Final Order in connection with this investigation. In this Final Order, the Commission ruled that the 
evidence in the record indicates we will not be in compliance with the 

Various former lenders to KPNQwest or their assignees, including Citibank, N.A., Deutsche Bank AG London and others. have notified us of their intent 

On July 15,2004, the New Mexico state regulatory commission opned a proceeding to investigate whether we are in compliance with or are likely to 
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investment oomtnitment at the conclusion of the AFOR in March 2006, and if the current trend in our capital expendihres continues, h e  will be a shortfau of 
$200 million or more by the end of the AFOR The Commission also concluded that we have an unconditional cohnmhnent to invest $788 miIlion oyer the life of 
the AEOR. Finally, the Commission ruled that if we fail to satisfy this investment cornmilmat, my shortfall must be credited or refunded to our New Mexico 
customers. The Commission also opened an enforcement and implementation docket to review our inveshmnts and consider the structure and si= o f w  refunds 
or credits to be issued to customers. On May 12 and 13.2005, we filed appeais in federal district court md in the New Mexico State Supreme Court, resptively. 
challenging the lawfulnes of the Commission’s Final Order. On May 31,2005. the Commission issued an order, in respotrse to a report we filed 
2005, designating a hearing examiner to conduct proceedings addressing whether customer credits and refunds should be i w d  on us based on our investment 
levels as ofJune 30,2005, and prior to the expimiation of the AFOR in March 2006. 

we have met ail service quality and service deployment obligations under the AFOR; that, in light of this, we should not be held to a specific amount Of 
investment; and that the Commission has failed to include all eligible investments in tbe calculation of how much we have a ~ b d l y  invested. Nevertheless, we 
k l i w e  it is unlikely the Commission will reverse its determination that we have an unconditional obligation to invest $788 million. In addition, we have arguad 
3ud will continue to argue, that customer credits or refimds are an impermissible and illegal form of relief for the Comndssion to order in the event there i s  an 
inv-ent shortfall. On January 30,2006, Qwest filed with the New Mexico Commission an Offer of Settlement and to Revise AFOR. This Offer proposes to 
extend the time period for %est to complete $7S8 million in investments to three yerus following the approval of the mer. Under the O f k ,  Qwwt has included 
within the $788 million of total investments a propad to invest $85 million in projects approved by the Commission. In an ordu  dated February 7,2006, the 
Commission rejected the Offer on technical grounds. ruling that it was impsoper as to form. In this order, the &mission also e n w g e d  Qwest and the other 
Mia to continue settlement negotiations. 

we wouid otherwise make in the normal course of business. These expenditures or payments could take the form of  one or more of the following: penalties, 
Capital investment, basic service rate reductions and customer refunds or credits. At this lime. however. we are not able to reasonably estimate the amount of 
these expenditures or payments and, accordingly, have not reserved any amount for such potential liability. Any final resolution of this matter muld be material. 

Other Mattera 

various dates and in Various courts in Cdifomia, Colorado, Georgia, lllinois, Indiana, Kansns, Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina, Oregon, Sou& Carolina, 
Tennessee and Texas. For the most part, the complaints challenge our right to install our fik optic cable in railroad nghtsof-way. Complaints in Colorado, 
Illinois and Texas, also challenge our right to install fiber optic cable in utility and pipeline rights-of-way. The complaints allege that the railroads, utilities and 
pipeline companies own a limited propertr righ-f-way that did not include the right to permit us to install our fiber optic cable in the right-ofway without the 
Plaintiffs’ consent. Most actions (California, Colorado, Georgia, Kansas, Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, North Carolina, Oregon, South Carolina, Tennwsee 
and Texas) purport to be h g h t  on behalf of state-wi& classes in the named plsintifi’ respective states. Several actions purport to be brought on bchalf of 
multi-state classes. The llhois state court action purports to be on behalf of landowners in Illinois, Iowa, Kentucky, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, Ohio and 
Wisconsin. The Illinois federal court action purporits to be on behalf of l a n d m ~ w  in Arkansas, California, Florida, Illinois, Indiana, Miwuri ,  Nevada, New 
Mexico, Montana and Oregon. The Indiana action purports to be on behalf of a national class of landowners adjacent io railmad rights-of-way over which our 
nehvork passes. The complaints seek damages on theories of  trespass and mjust enrichment. as well as punitive damages. 

May 20. 

We have vigorously argued, among other things, that the underlying purposes of the investment commitment set forth in the AFOR have beem met in that 

We believe there is a substantial l ike l ihd  that the ultimate outcome of this matter will result in us having to make expenditures or payments beyond those 

Sweral putative class actions relating to the installation of fiber optic cable in certain rights-ofW3y were filed against us on behalf of Imdowners on 
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The IRS proposed a tax adjustment for tax years 1994 through 1996. The principal issue involves the allocation of costs between l o n e t e m  contracts with 

customers for the iktalIation of Eonduit or fiber optic cable and additional conduit or fiber optic a b l e  retained by us. The IRS dispuh the allocation of the costs 
between us and third parties. Similar claims have been asserted against us with respect to the 1997 to 1998 and the 1998 to 2001 audit p ~ d .  The 1994-1996 
claim is currently king litigatd in the Tax Cow and we do not believe the IRS will be successful, although the ultimate outcome is uncertain. If we were to 
lose this issue for Ihe tax yean 1994 thmugh 1998, we &mate that we would have to pay approximafely $57 million in tax plus approximately $43 million in 
interest pursuant to tax sharing agreemmts with the Anschm Company relating to those time periods. 

In 2004, we recorded income tax experm of $1 58 million related to a change in the expected timing of deducrions related to our tax strategy, referred to 
the Contested Liability P\oce.leration Strategy, or CLAS, which we implemented in 2000. CLAS is a strategy that seta aside assets to provide for the satisfaction 
of asserted liabilities assmiaid with litigation in atax emcient manner. CLAS accelerated deductions for contested liabilities by placing as- for potential 
litigation liabilities out of the conk01 of the company and into mannged by a third-party trustse. In 2004, we w m  formally notified by the IRS that it was 
contesting the CLAS tax stratew. Also in 2004 as 8 result of a Swies of notices on CLAS s-gies issued by the IRS and the receipt of legal advice with respect 
thereto, we adjusted our accounting for CLAS as required by Statement of Financial Amun!ing Stan-, or SFAS, No. 109, “Accounting for income Taxes,” 
or SFAS No. 109. The change in expected timing of deductions caused an increase in our liability for uncertain tax positions and a corresponding increw in our 
net operating loss carry-forwards, or N o h .  Because we are not currently forecasting future taxable inwme sufficient to realize the benefits of this increase in 
our NOLs, we recorded an increase in our valuation allowance on deferred tax asset5 as requid  by SFAS No. 109. Additionally, in 2004 the IRS proposed a 
penalty of $37 million on this strategy. We believe that the imposition of a penalty is not appropriate as we acted in g o d  faith in implementing this tax strategy 
in reliance on rW0 contwnporaneous tax opinions and adequately d i s c i d  this transaction to the IRS in our initial and subsequent taw returns. We intend to 
vigorously defend our position on this and other tax matters. 

We have o m  tax related ma- pending apinst us, certain of which in addition to CLAS, are before the Appeals Office of the 1RS. We believe we have 
adequlrtely provided for these miters. 

Matters Resolved la the Fourth Quarter of 2005 
Regn&&y Ma- 

Seginning in 2002, formal p m e d i n p  against us were initiated with t te  public utilities commissions in several states alleging, among other things, that 
we, in contravention of federal and state law, Gled to file interconnection agreemenis with the state commissions and that we therefore allegedly discriminated 
against various CLECs. The complainants sought fines, penalties d o r  carrier &$. Most of these cases were previmly resolved. Two mminjng state 
commission pmedings were resolved as follows: 

Minnesoh. On Febmry 14,2002, the Minnesota DepWnent of Commerce filed a f o r d  camplaint against us with the Minnesota Public Utilities 
Commission. On November 1,2002, the Minnesota Commission issued a written order finding against us. The Minnesota Commission’s final, written 
decision was issued on May 21,2003 and would q u i r e  a penalty payment to the state of approximately $26 million and payments of carrier credits 
of approxima~ely $18 million. Of the $18 million, abut  $3 m i h n  has been released by the carriers in bankruptcy pmxedings. The Minnesota 
Commision, the carriers and Qwest each appealed portions of the decision to the federal district mulf in Minnesota, and the district court upheld the 
penalty and vacated the carrier credits. The Minnmta Commision, the carrien and Qwcsh eaEh appealed to the Eighth Circuit Court of Appds. On 
Novembw I ,  2005, the Court of Appeals issued its opinion a h i n g  the district court order, thereby upholding the penalty and vacating the carrier 
credits. On November 15,2005, Q w d  petitioned the Cwrt of Appeals for rehearing on the penalty issue. On Decmkr 20,2005, the Court of 
Appeals denied Qwest’s petition for rehearing 
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Based upon newly-dmovered evidence, on August 24,2005, Qwest fiIed a motion requesthg that the federal district court vacate the penalty based 
om our assertion that the underlying Minnesotacommission order is invalid On November 30,2005, the district court denied Qwest’s motion to 
vacate, and it denid @est’s request for recwsideration. @est also r e q d  the Minnesota Cornision to investigate the newlydiscovered 
evidence that relates to the validity of orders bd in this and other Minnesota Commission proceedings, and on October 7,2005, the MiMesota 
Comrnigsion o p e d  an investigation into the matter. The outcome of this investigation could lead to action by the Minnesota Commission that 
ultimately results in a reduction of the $26 million peoalty Bsmmmt. 

Colorado. On Dwmber 20,2005, the Colorado Commission issued an order approving a proposed settlement between Qwest, the Commission 
StafT, the Office of Consumw Counsel, AT&T, and C o d  that requires Qwest to pay $7.5 million in mntributions to stak telemmmunidom 
programs and that offers CLECs credits that could total approximrrteIy $6.5 million. 

mer ildauer 

parent OT subsidiaiy companies (collectively referred to as KMC). Subsequently, we filed an amended complaint to name additional defendants, including 
General Electric Capital Corporation, or GECC, one of KMC’s lenders, and GECC filed a complaint in intervention. We were seeking a declaration that a series 
o f a g m e n t s  with KMC and its lenders were not effective because conditions precedent were not satisfied and to recoup other damages and attmneys’ fees and 
costs. G E  and KMC bad asserted 0ounte.rclaims for declaratory judgment and anticipatory breach of contnrct. GECC and KMC sought a declaration that the 
re.[-t agreements are in effect and claimed monetary damages for anticipatory breach of the agreements and thkr attorneys’ fees and costs. In NovemberZOO5, 
we entered into a settlement agrmnent with KMC and GECC regarding this lawsuit and also various other disputes and obligations between the parties. Under 
the terms of the settlement, we paid $998 million in order to resolve the lawsuit and all other disputes and obligations b e e n  and among us, KMC and GECC. 
As a result of the settlement, we have emed our relationship with KMC in its entirety. 

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MAmM TO A VOTE O f  SECURITY HOLDERS 

On January 20,2004, we filed a camptaint in the DisCrict Court for the City and County of Denver against KMC Telecom LLC and several of its related 

NO rmlttws were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quartet of 2005. 
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PART 11 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUlTY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES 
OF EQUlTY SECURITIES 

Market for @est Common Stock 

appr0ximatelY 370.000 stockholders of record. The following table sets forth !he high and low sales prices per share ofour common stock for the periods 
indicated. 

The United States market for trading in our common stock is the New York Stock Exchange. As of February 1,2006, our m m o n  stock was held by 

2004 
First quarter 
Second QuaFteF 
Third quarter 
Fourth quarter 
2005 
First quarter 
Second quarter 
Third quarter 
Fourth quarter 

MarkttPrice 

$5.00 $3.50 
4.40 3.51 
4.00 2.56 
4.61 3.25 

$4.86 $3.50 
3.94 3.30 
423 3.58 
5.95 3.92 

We did not pay any cash dividends on ow common stock in 2005 w 2 W .  Some of our debt i o s ~ m t s  Contain restrictions on the amount of dividends 
we can pay (sae Node &Borrowings to our msolidatad financial statements in Itern 8 of this report). The most Festrictke covenant currently is undtr the 2005 
QSC Credit Fadity, which is currently undrawn. The 2005 QSC C d i t  facility c m d y  allows us to pay dividends up to $1.7 billion, and the $1.7 billion may 
be increased with cumulative net income and net proc&s from the isuance of o ~ n m o n  stock. In addition, iike other companies that are incorporated in 
Dehware, we are also limited by Delaware law in the amount of dividends we can pay. 

Recenl Sdes of Unregismed Sec&ri&s 
On October 6,2005. we issued an aggregate of 33,626 additional shares of our wmmon stock upon the exercise of warrants at an aggregate exercise price 

of $1,441. The warrants were issued by lCON CMT Corp. in 1997 to one of its consuItants and were assumed by UB in connection with our acquisition of lCON 
CMT Cop. in 1999. The shares were issued in reliance on the exemption from registration provided by Section 3(a)(9) of the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended. No underwriters were involved, and TH) sal= commission or other remuneration was paid in connection with the issuance. 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

statements and notes thereto in Item 8 of this report and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Item 7 Of 
this report. Certain prior year amounts have been redwified to conform to currentyear presentation. 

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with, and are qualified by reference to, the mnsoiidated financial 

operatingmvenlse 
Operating expenses 
Loss fFomcwtinuhg opmtions 
Net (loss) income( 1) 
Basic and diluted ( 1 0 s )  inoollle pet sfiare: 

Loss from continuing operations 
Net (loss) income per share 

Basic and diluted weightad average shares 

Other data: 

outstanding 
Dividm&3peromnmon~ 

c*wshprov~byaptratingactivicias 
Cash used for invtsting activities 
Chsb (wed fat) pwviiEtd by h c i n g  aciivitits 
Capital expenditures 

Years EJed h r n b e r  31, 

ms nrw Z D W  2w ZOO1 

(Dollm In mWnns, shires 1 1  thensands except par shrre  smomts) 
$ 13,903 $ 13,809 $ 142% $ 15,371 S 16330 

13,048 14,087 14,542 34,288 18,W 
( 1 , W  W U )  (17,618) (6,113 

$ (757) (779) $ (1,794) $ 1.512 $ (38,4681 $ (5,603) 

$ (0.41) s (!.OOj $ (0.76) $ (10.48) $ (3.68) 
$ ~ 2 )  s (1.00) $ 0.87 $ (22.87) $ (3.37) 

1,836.374 1,801,405 1,738,766 1,682,056 1,66 1, I33 
f 0.00 9 0.00 $ 0.00 $ 0 . a  $ 0.0s 

S 2,313 s 1,84& 0 2,175 I 2,388 $ 3,001 
(459 ) (1,905) (2,7301 (2.738) (8,1521 

4 m  
8,042 

E7891 
2,764 

(2,154) om CM) 
1,613 1,73 I 2,088 

As of December 31, 

2OOS zew 2003 2002 2OWl 

Total assets s 21,497 $ 24,324 iE 26.343 $ 29,473 $ 72290 
Total M ( 2 )  15,480 17,2S6 17,508 22,540 25,037 
Total debt to total apital da3) 12623% 117.80% 106.16% 114.36% 4 I .42% 

(1) Amouncg ihaf follow in this footnote are an an aftertax h i s .  
2005.2005 net loss includes a net loss of $462 million ($0.25 per basic and diluted share) relating to the early retirement of debt, a charge o f  $22 million 
(SO.01 per basic and diluted share) resulting fiorn adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, IntwpreWm, or FM, No. 47, 
“Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations,” or FIN 47, relating to accounting for mditional as& retirement obligarions, a charge of 
$1 14 million ($0.06 per basic and diluted share) for realignment and severance related costs, which is includwl in OUT selling, general and administrative 
expenses; and a gain of $263 million ($0.14 per k i c  and diluted share) in cmnection with wireless as& d e s  of PCS h m s s  and related wireless 
network assets. 
2004.2004 net loss includes a charge of $550 miltion ($0.31 per basic and dilutedshare) for litigation related losm; a net charge of $211 million ($0.12 
per basic and diluted share) for restructuring, realignment and severance related costs which is included in our selling, general and administrative 
expenses; a charge of $ 1  13 million ($0.06 per basic and diluted share) for an impairment of as& consisting primarily of excess network supplies, 
network facilities, payphone operations and abandoned l o n ~ t e r m  capacity routes and a benefit of approximately S50 million ($0.03 per basic and dilutd 
sham) relating to favorable customer bankruptcy settlements. 
2003.2003 net income includes a charge of $140 million ($0.08 per basic and diluted share) for an impairment of assets (primarily cell sites, switches, 
related tools and equipment inventory and certain 
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information technology systems supporting the wireless network), a net gain of $206 million ($0.12 per basic and diluted share) resulting from the 
adoohn of SFAS No. 143. *AccountinE for Asset Retirement Obli~ationsP [H SFAS No. 143. relating to the reversal of net removal costs where there 
was not a legal removal obligation, a net charge of $241 million ($<I4 p& basic and ddukd share) &ulting from the termination of sewices mWen& 
with Calpoint and another service provider, i net charge of $b9 million ($0.04 per basic and diluted share) for restrucauing charges, a net charge of 
$61 million ($0.04 per basic and diluted share) for lihgshon relatd l o m ,  a net gain of $23 million ($0.01 per basic and diluted share) relahg to the earb 
retirement of debt and a net gain on sale o f  discontinued operations of $2.619 billion ($1.51 per basic and diluted share). 
2002.2002 net loss includes a charge of $22.800 billion ($13.55 per basic and diluted share) for ahmsitional impairment from the w o n  of a change in 
accounting for podwill and othw intangible we&. c b m g ~  aggregating $14.927 billion (%8.S7 per b i c  and diluted share) for additional W i I l  and 
anset impairments, a net charge of %I 12 million ($0.07 per basic and diluted share) for Mergerrelated, restructuring and other charges, P charge of 
$1.190 billion ($0.7 1 per basic and diluted share) for the loem and impairment of investment in KPNQwest, a gain of $1.122 billion ($0.67 per basic and 
diluted share) relating to the gain on the early retirement of debt and income from and gain on sale of diswntinud operations of $1.950 billion ($1 -1 6 per 
basic and diluted share). 
2001.2001 net loss includes charges aggregating $697 million ($0.42 per diluted share) for Mergerrelated, restructuring and other charges, a charge of 
$3.300 billion ($1.99 per basic and diluted share) for the losses and impairment of investment in K P N Q w e s t ,  a charge of $1 36 million ($0.08 per basic and 
diluted share) for a depreciation adjustment on access lines darned to service, a charge of $163 million (M.10 per basic and diluted share) for investment 
~ k - d o w n s ,  a charge of $154 million ($0.09 per basic and diluted share) for awe$ impairments, a charge of $45 million ($O.o$ per h i c  and diluted 
share) for the early retirement of debt and a gain of $31 mitlion ($0.02 per basic and dilutd share) for the d e  of ml exchanges. 

Amounts exclude future purchase comrnjiments, operating leases and gumrteS. At December 3 I, 2005, the amount of those future purchase 
oommitments, operating leases, lettm of credit and guaranm WBS approximately $3.4 billion. 2001 amount includes outstanding commercial paper 
borrowings of $3.165 billion. There were no commercial mper bmnvings outstanding as of D a m b  3 I ,  2005,2004,2003 and 2002. 

Tbe total debt to btal capital ratio is a measure of the amount of total debt in IIUI capihlization. The ratio is calculated by dividing 
capital. Total debt includes current borrowings and long-term borrowings BS reflected on our consolidated M m c e  sheets. Total capital is the sum ofdebt 
and total stockholdws’ (deficit) equity. 

debt by total 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FmANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Certain statements set forth k l o w  under this caption constitute forward-looking statements. See “Business--Special Note R e w n g  Forward-hk% 
Statm~ents” in Item 1 of this report for additional factnrs relating to such staiements, and see “Risk Factors” in Item I A of this r e p ~ t t  for a discussion of certain 
risk factors applicable to ow businas, financial condition and results of operations. 

Business Uvwvim and Presenulh 
We provide local telecommunications and related services, long-distance services and wireless. data and vi& services within our lml $emice a m .  

which consists of the l k t a t e  reg1011 of Arizona, Colorado, Idaho, Iowa, Minnesota, Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, Notth Dakota, Oregon. South Dakota. 
Utah, Washington and Wyoming. We also provide reliable, scalable and secure b d b a n d  data and voice (including long-distance) communications outside Our 

service arm as well as globally. 

We previously provided directory publishing services in our local service In November 2002, we sold our directory publishing business in seven of 
the 14 states in which we offered thcse services. In September 2003, we sold the diFectory publiishibusiness in the rwnaining states. As a c~msquerb%, the 
r e d &  of operations of our directory publishing business are included in income from disoontinuwl opemtions in our consolidatd statements of operations. 

However, this discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements in ltem 8 of this repwt. including the notes thereto. Our 
operating revenue is generated from our wireline services, wireless s e s v i w  and other services segments. An overview of the segment results is provided in 
Note I-gment I n f o d o n  to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this repH. Segment discussions refled the way we currently report our 
segment results to our Chief Operating Decision Maker, or CODM, and include revenue results for each of our customw channels within the wireline services 
segment: busines, mass markets and wholesale. In order to better Serve the similar needs of our smatl business and consumer c~~shners,  in 2005 we combinad 
these customers into a new channel, which we refer to as ‘kw markets:’ and have reclassified our small business customers for all periods presented. Certain 
prior year revenue and expense amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentations. 

B m s h m  TmMk 
Our financial results mtinue to be i rnpckd by swed significant bends, which are described below: 

Our analysis presentd below i s  organized to provide the information we believe will be instructive for understanding the relevant trends going forward. 

Access line lmes.  Our ~ m u e  has h e n ,  and we expect it to continue to be, adversely affected by mess line losses. Iricreasd competition including 
p d c t  substhth~,  continues to bt the Primary reason for our access line losses. For example, consumers are increasingly substituting cable and 
wireless telewmmunications services for traditional telecommuoicatjons senices, which ha9 in& the number and type of competitors within WT 
industry and decreased our market share. P d w t  bundling, as dewibd  more fully hiow, has been one of our mponses to OUT declining revenue 
due to access line l o s s .  

- Product burding. We believe consumers increasingly value the convenience of meiving multiple services from a single provider. As such, we 
increased our marketing and advertising spending levels in 2005 focusing on p d c t  bundling and packaging. Product bundles and packaga 
represent combinations of pmducls and services. such lls local voice. higb-speed Internet and wireless, and features and services, such as t h r e m y  
calling and call forwarding related to an access line. As a result of these offerings, we have seen increased sales (primarily of our long-distancc and 
high-spd lntemet products and services). 

Variable T m e s .  Expenses associated with higher grow!% products, such as long-distance, high-speed Internet and wirelcs senices, tend to be 
more variable in nature. While m traditional 
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telecommunications services tend to rely u p n  our fixed cost structure, the mix of p d u c t s  we exp& to sell, combined with regulatory and market 
pricing forces, will continue to pressure operating margins. In addition, facility costs (described below) am not always reduced proportionally with 
revenue fluctuations due to oonhactud cost commitments. 

. F a d @  msis. Facility costs are third* tcleoommunications expmsa we incur to connect our customers to networks or to end-user product 
platforms not owned by us. We have benefited in this area h m  the renegotiation, termination or settlement of various service arrangements, from 
network optimization initiatives and from regulatory approvds allowing us to provide longdistance services in OUT local service mea using OUT own 
network, thereby decreasing our r e l i m  on third-party providers. However, thex benefits have been offset in varying degrees by increased cats due 
to increased Iondistance traffic and data and Internet volumes and by new wireless fxility costs due to our use of a third-parly wireless provider. 

Oprdhrrul e-ciencies. We have continued to evaluak our operating struchte and focus, and we continue to riight-size our workforce in respon% io 
changes in the teleoornmmications industry. Through targeted restructuring plans in prior years. focused improvements in operational efficiency, 
process improvements through automation and normal employee attrition, we have reduced wr workforce and employemhted costs while 
achieving operational gals. 

While these trends are important to understanding and evaluating our financial results, the other transactions, events and trends discussed in "Risk Factors" 
in Item 1 A of this report may also materially impact our business operations and financial results. 

Resuh of qDei-anS 
overvim 

pay m up-front or monthly fee, a usage charge or a wrnbination of these. 
We generate revenue from our wireline services, wirelm services and other services. Ikpmdmg on the productg or &ca purchmed, a customer m y  

- W i r e h e  $ m i c a .  The wireline services segment uses our network to provide voice services and data and Internet seMces to mass markets (which 
include m m w  and small business cust~ners), business and wholale customers. Our wireline senices include 

* Voice services. Voice smvices revenue includes lwi voice servicwr, long-distance voice services and access services. Local voice servics 
rcvenue includes revenue from h i c  local excbange services. switching services, custom calling features, enhanced voice services, operator 
h c e s .  collocation Senices and related equipment. Local voice services revenue d S 0  includes revenue fmm the provision of network 
transpofl, billing senices and access to our Iml network on EI wholesale &is. Long-distanae voice s e M c s  revenue includes revenue from 
InterLATA and IntraLATA long-distance sem-vices. Accms su-vices revenue includes fees charge$ to other data and telecornmunidons 
pmviders to connect their customers and their network to our network. 

- Daiu and Inletnet services. Data and Internet services revenue includes data mices (such as iraditiod private lines, w h o l d e  private lines, 
frame relay, ATM and related equipment) and lntemet services (such as high-spd Internet, ISDN, VPN, web hosting, professional services 
and related equipment). 

Wirekss seruiees. We offer wireless services and equipment to residential and business customers, providing them the ability to use the same 
telephone number for their wireless phone as for their home or business phone. In August 2003. we e n k d  into a services agreement with a 
third-party provider thai allows us to resell wireless services, including access to its nationwide PCS wireless network, to mass markets and business 
customers, primarily in the states within our local service a m .  

Other services. Other services revenue is pradominantly derived from the sublease of some of our real est&, such as s p w  in our office buildings, 
wmhouxes and other properties. 
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The following table swnmirkes our results of operations for the years e n h l  ZOOS, 2004 and 2003: 

Operating revenue 
Operating expenses, excluding asset impirment charges 
Asset impirme.nt charges 
Other expense--net 

Loss before income taxes, d i e d  o p t i m  and curd&e eff& 

1 ncome tax benefit (expense) 
of changes in accopmnting priwiptes 

h s f r m n ~ ~ g ~ m  
Income from and gain on d e  of discontinued o p e r a t i w e t  o f  taxes 
&am) income before cumulative effect of changes in acoodng 

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles-net of taxes 

Net (lass) income 

Basic and diluted (Iws) income per share 

principles 

Years Ended December 31, hawse((IkwUa5e) 

X W V  p ( I w Y  

2093 m 200.3 2w 2083 

(Wlm In millions, except per shire nmounls) 
613,903 $13,809 $14288 $ 94 $ (479) 

13,WS 13,984 14,312 (936) (328) 
- 113 230 (113) (117) 

1,615 1,418 1,578 197 (160) 

---- 

- - - - -  

$ (0.42) $ (1.00) $ 0.87 $ 0.58 $ (1.87) 
---I- - 

I %  (3)% 
(7)% ( 2 ) x  

nm ($I)% 
14% (IO)% 

55% 7% 
nm nm 

58% (37)K 
nm nm 

58% nm 
nm nm 

57?h nrn 

58% nm 

nm--ptrctntages greaterthan 2Wh and oomparisons from positive to negative duesor  to zem values are considered not meaningful. 
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hkldamm 
Operating Revenue 
2005 COMPARED TO 2004 

The following table campam our operating revenue by segment including the detail of customer channels within our wireline seruicw segmmt: 

Years Ended 
DefembEF 31, 

Wi&hstnicesreYeIlw 
Voice services 

b a l  Voipe 
Business 
Massmarkets 
Wholesale 

20115 

$ 1,074 
4,527 

747 

Total local voice 
Long-distance 

Business 
Mass markets 
Wholesale 

T d  long-distance 
Aocess services 

Total voice S e W i C B  

Data and Internet services: 
Busintss 
Mass mrrrkets 
Whotesale 

Total data and Internet 

Total wireline services revenue 
Wireless services revenue 
othes services rweaw 

fllo4 

(Dollars In millimn) 

$ 1,140 
4,723 
783 

6,@6 

450 
607 

i ,03 I 

2,088 
689 

9239 9,423 

2,086 
74s 

I ,26S 

4,096 

13,335 
527 
41 

Total OpeFating rWerme $13,903 

1,962 
5& 

1,284 

3,832 

13,255 
514 
40 

S 13,809 

264 

80 
13 

I 

Wirelioe Selv im Revenue 
Voice Servica 
Locd voice seruicex. The decrease in Iocal voice services revenue in our bushes and mass markets channels was primarily due to mess line losses from 

competitive pressures including technology substitution, partially offset by an increase in Universal Service Fund, or USF, revenue due to lomistance revenue 
growth and USF rate increases. In our mass markets channel we have Seen a stowing of access line losses, and this, combined with rate increases in this channel, 
has d e c d  our rate of revenue decline from 10% in 2004 to 4% in 2005. The deem in our wholesale channel was primarily due to ihe sale of a large 
portion of our Payphone business in August 2004 partially o f k t  by LINE increases, including our nowtariff producl. In addition, wholesale access lines 
deem& along with sales of UNEs and related operator and billing services to local competitors aa an increasing prcentage of competition in our local area is 
coming from facilities-based competition, including wireless and cable companies. 
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The following table shows our access lines by channel as of lkcmh 31,2005 and 2004: 

M a s  marlcets 
Business 
Wholesale 

Total 

We may modify the channel classification ofow accm lines from time to time in our efforts to better approximate tbe related revenue channels and better 
reflect how we manage ow b u k .  

Long-d*kmEe services. The increase in m s  markets long-distance services revenue was primarily due to (i) s 6% increase in in-region lon&stance 
sub?.ctt%er~ (adding 270,000 subscribers in ZOOS) (ii) increased minutes of use, (iii) inc- in our monthly recltrring charges, and (iv) increased &cipahl in 
our unlimited plan. These inmasea were priially offset by o u h f  region &lines in both mass markets and busin=. The wholesale revenue in- was 
driven by volume and domestic rate increases ptially offspt by decreased international volume and rates. 

p e t d o n  into in-region long-distance (as we bexme a competitor to our B E ~ S  services customers). The decrease in total access services was partially offset 
by favorable settlements of customer billing disputes during 2005. 

Access sewfcm. Access services revenue continues to be negatively affected by n w s  markets and b i n e s  access line losses, 88 well as OUT increasing 

Dum and In&n& Servkes 
The increase in business data and Internet sewices revenue was driven by the recognition of $70 million in revenue fmm a large government CPE and 

other data services arrangement and increased revenue related to WAN (including IQ and UPN) and Private Line services, partially offset by a decrease in Frame 
Relay revenue. We anticipate thai the laqe government CPE and other data sewices arrangement will continue to positively impact our revenue growth, although 
to a lesser extent, for the next few quatters as this contract is mmpleted. 

The increase in mass markets data and Internet services revenue was primarily driven by a 43% increase in dw number of high-speed Internet subscribers 
M we srpnded our hlghapeed Intemet service a m  to 7% of our local senice area in 2005 from 67% in 2004. This growth came from continued expansion of 
service availability and increased p-on of highpeed Internet w h  setvice is available. We believe this growth was supported by our expanded 
matkdng efforts. 

The decline in our wholesale channel w88 due to the termination of ow w h o l d e  modern seMces product in April 2005 partially offset by inmass in 

Wlrdeao Servloes Revenue 
Wireless services revenue increased primarily due to increased price plan and airtime rates for new subscribers resulting in higher average revenue per 

Frame Relay, Private Line and dedicated lntemet access revenue. 

subscriber. Although the average number of subscribers for 2005 declined as compared to 2004, total subscribers as of Decembx 3 1,2005 increased 2% from 
December 3 1,2004. 
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Table of C o m  
2004 COMPARED TO 2(103 

The following table c o m p m  our opemting revenue by segment including the detail of customerchanrtels within our wirehe services w e n t :  

Wireline micq revenue 
Voice services 

Local voicx 
Business 
MassmarkeEs 
Wholesale 

Total local voice 
Long-distance 

B h  
Mansmarkets 
wllol~ale 

T d  hg-d is tmce  
Access services 

Total voice services 

Yesrs E d t d  I d  
December 31, @ennse) 

2004V 
mu 2003 2003 

(Dollars in millions) 

$ 1,204 
5 3 8  

801 

7,263 

43Q 
569 
865 

2,088 
689 

1,864 
755 

9,423 9,882 

Data and Internet services: 
Business 
Massmarkets 
Wholesale 

Total data and Internet 

1,962 
586 
1284 

3,832 
-- 

13255 
514 
40 

Total opaating revenue 

1,888 
556 

1,321 

3,765 

13.647 
598 
43 

$ 13,809 $ 14,288 

Z O W V  
m 

WIrellne Services Revenue 
Yoke Services 
Local voice services. The decrease in our I d  voice services mvenue WBF primarily due 10 itccess line losses from competitive PESSW~S including 

techrtology substitution and was also impacted by our custwnm rnigmhg to out pckage offerings, which peral ly  offer lower pricing than our Stara&ahe 
produrn. In particular, in 2OW and 2003, a significant portion of the losses of our nurss markets and busimgp access lines was a&ibutable to the CLECs’ use Of 
UNE-P and m b d d  local loops to deIiver voice services. Thlhese losses were @ally offset by corresponding increases in our wholesale access lines (where 
UNEs are reflected) in our wholesale dmnel. However, the reguIated price structure of UNEs applied downward pmsure on our revenue. 

The following table shows our access lines by channel as of December 31,2004 and 2003: 

Mass mar%ets 
Business 
Wbolmle 

Years Ended 
De#mber 31. 

ZDW ZOO3 - - 
(In thuusamds) 

I1,osl 11,773 
2,562 2,748 
1,879 1,688 

15,522 16,2209 
- - 

- - 

Percentage 
Cbsmge 

2004V 
m 

(6)% 
(71% 
11% 

(487) (4W 
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* We may modify the c h e l  classification of our mess lines from time to time in our efforts to better approximate the related revenue channels and better 
reflect how we manage our bwsiness. 

Long-distance services. The decrease in local voice service revenue was priially o&t by an increase in long distanm services revenue. In 
January 2003, we began to receive regulatoty approval to offer long-distance service in each state within our I4-state region. In the fourth quarter of 2003, we 
received regulatory approval for the last of our I4 in-region states. As we received reguiatory approval in each of the states, we began to increase the marketing 
and promotion of InterLATA longdistance senice to our customers, wlt ing  in growth of in-region long-distance m i c a  revenue. In total, 2.4 million and 
2.2 million long distance subscn'ks were added in our t 4 3 t a t e  region in 2004 and 2003, mpectiveiy. In contfast, out-of-region iongilistance mass markets 
and business revenue k l i n d  due to continuing competitive pressures, including pricing pressures. Wholesale long-distanoe revenue increased due to increased 
intmnationd and domestic long-distance call volume, partially offset by lower rates. 

Access servica. The decrease in a o x s  senioes was primarily due to lower volumes resulting from our m h - y  into in-region long distance (as we 
became B competitor to our access services customers) and access line losses. 

m a  a d  Imkrttet S e h  
Data and Internet servicw revenue increasad due to increases in our higlr-sped Internet, Internet hosting and VPN offerings, and broadband services 

continued to be expanded geographically to make our high-sped Internet service available to more customers. The number of mass markets high-speed Internet 
subscribers grew by 62%. and we expnded our higJm.ped Internet service area to 67% of our I d  service area in 2004; howewer, the impact of increases in 
mass markets high-speed lnternet subscribers and related revenue was offset in part by decreases in wholesile data and Internet services re~emue. 

Wireless Servkrs Revenue 
The decrease in our wireless revenue is primarily attributable to a net loss of 1 16,000. or 13% of subscribers in 2004. A portion of the 2004 loss of 

subscribers murred in connection with tho migration, completed in 2005, ofour customers to a thir&party network and tightened credit pdicies. 

Operating Expenses 
This ~ection should be read in conjunction with our business trends discussed above. 
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2005 COMPARED TO 24304 

The following table provides firther detail regarding our operating expenses: 

Operating expenses: 
Cost of sales 

Facility ccsts 
Network expenses 
Ernpl-lated costs 
Other non-employee related costs 

Total cost of d e s  
Selling, genemi and administrative 

Propertyd~thwtaxcs 
Bad debt 
Restructwhg rdigtaneot 4 swmt-tce related costs 
Employemlated costs 

~ othanon-cmgloyeerela~& 

TbfaI selling gmml and amnini&at,ive 
Depreciation 
Capitaiizad d w r e  and other kimgible assets amortizati on 
Asset impairment charges 

Totd operaiing expenses 

Y e m  Ended 
December 31, 

2 M S  20w4 

(Ddlm in miWons) 

$ 2,692 $ 2,728 
266 262 

1,593 1,706 
1,285 1,194 

5,836 5,890 

353 386 
173 1% 
114 211 

1,623 1,729 
1,884 2451 

4,147 497 I 
2,612 2,626 

453 497 
- 113 

$ 13,048 $ 14,097 

iun-percentages greater than 200% and cornprisons from positive to negative values or to zero values are considered not meaningful. 

c o s t  OfSSkS 
Cost of sales includes ernploy- cos&. such a salaries, wages and h e f i t s  directly attributable to products or seervices. network ex-, facility 

costs and other non-employee related oosb such as real &ate, USF charges, call termination fees, materials and supplies, cmtmckd engineering services, 
computer system support and the cost of CPE mold. 

described below. 
Cost of d e s  as a percentage of revenue decreasd from 43% in 2004 to 42% in 2005 primarily due to decreased facility and employerelated costs as 

Facility costs decreased largely due to ccwt savings primarily from network optimization efforts including the renegotiation, termination or settlement of 
service arrangements. These benefits were partially offset by approximately $220 million in increases associated with reselling wireless through a third parZy as 
opposed to operating and maintaining our own wireless netwok and higher long distance volumes. 

Employ-lated costs decreased primarily due to a 5% employee duction h r n  our prior year resirucming plans as well as a continued focus on 
cmtaining our empioyemlated costs and productivity improvements. 

Other non-employe related costs increased primarily h e  ta nomecurring costs associated with the large government CPE and 0 t h  data services 
arrangement described above. The remaining fluctuation is primarily due to increased call termination feB related primarily to a favorable settlement in 2004. 
and USF rate increases, offget by W e d  equipment wb related to our wireless and high-speed Internet products. 
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Selling, General and AdmioLtraHve 
Selling, general and administrative, or %&A, expenses include emptoyeerelale.d wts such as salaties, wages and benefits not d k d y  athibutable to 

products or services, seve~ance related costs, sales commissions, bad debt charges and other non-employee related costs such BS property ma, real estate E m ,  
advertising, professional service fees and computer systems support. 

SG&A expenses as a percentage of revmue decreased from 36% in 2004 to 343% in 2005 primarily due to $550 million of resews worded in 2004 
related to litigation matters and employeerelated 00sQ primarily due to prior year restructuring as desribed below. 

Our propaty and other taxes decreased primarily due to favorable property tax seUkments in 2005 in excess of property tax sdemmts in MW. 

Bad debt expense decreased primarily due to the continued trend of improved wireline colldons resulting in reduced days’ sales O u W n g ,  @ally 
0- by favorable had &bt settlements in 20W. 

Restructuring, realignment and severam m h t d  costs decreased due to a charge of $128 million in the second quarter of 2004 resulting from a planned 
workforce reduction. EmployeereIated costs decreased primarily due to employee reductions from our restructuring efforts, normal attrition and productivity 
improvements. 

litigation matters and reductions in legal and other oosts in 2005. This decrease was partially offset by kcrased marketing and advertising coats. 

Posl-retitement benefit plans for current and c e ~ n  future retirees include healthcare and life insurance coverage. 

a reduction in the expected return on assets of $78 million related primarily to the five year smoothin$ convention used for reDognizing pins and Iosm on the 
pension plan assets, completion of the amortization of $63 million for the transition asset in the pension plan in 2004, d recognition of $42 miltion in higher 
a m a r i d  lows. Offsetting decreases io expense were due to %I 5 million in lower service costs due to reduced hadcount and fwer eligible participants, redwed 
interest costs of $1 1 I million due to lower discount rates, c b g a  in participant demographics and assumption changes and $9 milIion due to plan design 
changa affecting prior service costs. 

$210 million, respectively. Difference between expected and actual rates of return on assets, discount rates applid to the pension and post-retirement plan 
obligations, expectad benefit from Medicare Part D reimbwsenaents and healthcare claims experience are the primary components of the net unrecognized 
actuarial (gain) loss. 

umgnized net actuarial (gain) loss. Lower than expted earnings create lases and higher than expected earnings create gains. Simihly, the diffkrence 
between the discount rate at tho beginning of h e  year and the discount rate at the end of the yar is defemd at the end of the year and chsified as an 
mrecopa net actuarial (gain) loss. Lower than expected discount rate create losses and h e r  than expected disoount ram create gains. Unrecognized net 
actuarial losses are similar to deferred coats and are mortid to expense over 9 to 1 1 years Wed on the average remaining seryioe perid of  the employees 
expected to receive benefits in accordance with pension and pos~retirwnent benefit accounting mIes. Tht i m p t  of recognizing mwtization of the net actuarial 
losses increased the net cost included in current 
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Other nm-employee related costs decressed for the year ended December 3 I ,  2005 primarily due to $550 million of mrves recorded in 2W related to 

Pension andpost-retirmnl benefu. We sponsor nomconhibutory defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of our employees. Our 

Our 2005 pension and post-r&rememt benefit expense of $236 mitlion i n c d  from the 2004 expense of %la miltion. hreases in expense were due io 

At December 31,2005 and 2004 the net unmognizd actuarial loss related to the pension and post-retirement benefit plans d s - 4  by M34 million and 

The difference created beheen the expected return on assets and the actual net earnings on the assets is deferred at the end of the year& classified as an 



- 
earnings by $136 million, $94 million and $101 million for ttte y m  ended December 31,2005,2004 and 2003, respectively. Net unre~0gnk.d actuarial ~OSWS 
increase the arenaid m s i o n  asset a d  lower the mst-retirement liabiliw reoorded in the financial statements while net unrecognized actuarial gains deem the 
prepaid penshias& and increase the -&tent tiability. A sipnikmt & m e  in net unrecognized actuarial i m w  is more likely to OOC& 88 a rpsult Of 
changes in the debt and equity markets than through amortidon. 

this report. 
For additional information on our pension and posFretiremeni plans see Note 1 I-Employee Benefits to our consotidated financial statemts in lbm 8 of 

Operatiag Expenses by Segment 
Segment expenses include employaerelated oosts, facility costs, network expenses and other norremployee related cos& such as customer support. 

colI&ons and marketing. We manage indirect administrative services costs such as finance, information technology, real estate and legal centrally; 
conseqwtiy, these costs are included in the oaer services segment. We evaluate depreciation, amortidon, h e m t  expense, interest income, and other income 
(expense) on 3 total company basis. A5 a result, these charges are not assipd to any segment. Similarly, we do not include impairment charges in the %pmt 
d t s .  Our CODM re.gularly reviews the results of operations at a segment level to evaluate the performaooe of each w e n t  and allocate resouK%S based 0t-1 
segmem income. 

wmm S e w h  sqwmf & ? e m  
The following table provides further financial detail regarding our wireline services segment for the years ended December 3 1,2005 and 2M)4: 

(Dollars in millions) 

$ 2,386 $ 2,5584 $ (198) 
258 242 16 
122 157 (35) 
33 102 W) 

2,397 2395 (198) 
1,313 BI 1 tlw 

$6,600 $6,993 $ (393) 
- 

- - - 

2 w  Y 

ZOO4 

Wireline services operating expenses decreased primarily due to deMeased facility mts achieved through network optimization initiatives and the 
renegotiation, termination or settlemnt of services arrangements, savings in employeerelated msts as a result of our restructuring and reduced mtntc!uring and 
s%emnce related costs, offset by the cost associated with the large dm CPE mngement mentioned above. 
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W h k s  Servhs Segmetti Eqwnses 
The following table provides detail regding our wireless services segment for the years ended December 31,2005 and 2004: 

Wirelesssavices expw 
Facility costs 
Wireless equipment 
Bad debt 
Employee-relittad c&s 
Othernon-employee elated mts 

Total wireless services expenses 

5 305 
107 
51 
39 
96 

$ 598 - 

113% $ 143 $ 162 (91% 

76% 
117 (10) 
29 22 
34 5 15% 

178 (82) (46)% 
- 
$ 501 $ 97 - - 19% 

Wireless services opffating expenses increased primarily dw to facility cogts ilssociated with our customers whu previously received their services on our 
network and w h m  services we now provide through a third-party. As a result of this transition, beginning in the third quarter of 2004, we realized savings in 
dcpwWon and other non-employee related mts such as real estate costs, network costs and professional faes. In addition, othw norremployee related msts 
demeased due to dmemed marketing and advertising directly attributable to ow wireless product+ We expect our fkility costs as a peroentage ofwireless 
revenue to remain relatively constant subject to certain volume discounts as volumes increase. Wireless bad debt incrca4 due to a change in the application of 
our credit policy md a decline in collections. 

Other Services Segment E q e m e s  
Other services expenses include corporate expenses for services such as finance, information technology, legal, marketing services and human resour~ek 

which we ceneally manage and are not assigned to the wireline or widess  services segments. The following table se$ forth additional expense information to 
provide greater detail as to the composition of the other services segment for the years ended December 3 1 . 2 W  and 2004: 

Other sentices expenses: 
Property and other taxes 
RealextateEoBts 
Restructuring, reatignment and severance related cmts 
Employe€-mlated costs 
Other non-emplgree related costs 

Total other services expemes 

I 351 
422 

80 
78rl 

1,148 

$ 2,785 

The decrease in 0th services expense was primarily driven by $550 million in litigatim merves reoorded in 2004, partdly o k t  by iacreased marketing 
expensex. Restructuring, realignment and severance related & decreased due to significant restructuring charges recarded in 2004, which wc0eede.d 2005 
employee realignment costs i n c d  as we continued to right-size our workforce. 
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2004 COMPARED TO 2003 

The following table provides firrther detail reggarding our operating expehses: 

2w4 

Operating expenses: 
cost of sales 

Fslciliiy costs 
Network expenses 
ErnployeemW casts 
mer non-employee dated costs 

s 2 3 %  
262 

1,706 
1,194 

TOM mst of sales 
Selling general and administrative 

Propeltyandothertm3 
Bad debt 
Restruchmng realignmml and s e m  related wsts 
Employeerelated costs 
other non-employee related casts 

Total selling, g e n d  and administrative 
Depreciatim 
Capitalized softwm and other intangible mets amortisation 
Asset impairment charges 

Total operating ex- 

$ 3,220 
30 I 

I $W 
1,130 

5,890 

386 
194 
211 

1,729 
2,45 1 

4,97 I 
2,626 
497 
113 

-- 

6,455 

452 
3w 
112 

1,801 
2,021 

4.690 
2,739 

428 
230 

S 14,097 S 14,542 

U 1 0 4 V  
2oD3 

(is)% 
( I3)% 
(SFJ  
6% 

(9Yo 

(15)Oh 
(36)”h 
88% 
(4)% 
21% 

6% 
(4)YO 
16% 
(SI y o  

(3 )% 

cost of sales 
Cost of sales includes employeerelated wsts. such as salaries, wages and benefits directly attributable to products or services, network expenses, facility 

wts and other non-employee related cc& such as real &ate, USF charges, call termination fees, materials and supplies contracted engheeflng SenriOes, 
computer system support and the Cost of CPE sold. 

klow. 
Cost of sales as a percentage of revenue decreased from 45% in 2003 to 43% in 2004 due to decreased facility and employee-related wsts as described 

Facility costs decreased primarily due to the renegotiation, termination or settlement of  service arrangements and network optimization initiatives. These 
activities resulted in savings during the p d o d  of over $675 million, of which approximately %400 million were caused by onedime termination chargw in 2003. 
Additionally, we experienced a decreaue of approximately $260 million as a result of reduction in our reliance on &ird party facility providers. These additional * were more than ofkt  by (i) intwnationat, mas6 markets and wholesale long-&stance volume increases, (i i)  facility wsb associated with the increase 
in longdistanEe revenue in our local service area and (iii) commencement of usslge of a third-party wireless network as we migrated our wireless customers. 

The decrease in network costs was primarily due to improved maintenance and right-of-way costa relaid to our out-of-rqgon nehrlorlr. 

Thc decrease in employee related wsts was primarily due to employee reductions h m  our rwtructuring efforts, normal attrition and productivity 
improvements. 
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Other non-employee related costs increased primarily due to i d  equipment casts for high-speed Internet modems rn a result of subscriber m h  

and for wirelea handsets &s a result ofthe transition of ot,u~tomn to a third-party wireless nelwork, and inrrerlsed voiceldata CPE mts. The higtrer 
equipment costs were pi%ally ofit by favorable Call khTIhiMtiOn fees, reduced materials purchases and e ~ t e d  wmmissions. 

Selling, General and Admfulsbah 
SG&A expenses include employae-related wsts such as salaries, wages and benefits not directly attributable to products or services. severance related 

costs, sales commissions, bad debt charges and other nowemployee related casts such as property taxes, real estate costs, advertising, professional service fees 
and computer systems support. 

SG&A expenses as 3 percentage of revenue increased from 33% in 2003 to 36% in 2004 primarily due to increased litigation expensw and restnrcturing, 
realignment and severance costs as described below. 

The decrease in property and other taxes was primarily due to reduced property values as a mult of our impairments and favorable settlements in 2004. 

The deciease in bad debt expense was prh-mily dm to a favorabk settlement of approximately 150 million in the second quarter 2004 from customers 

The increase in restructuring, realignment and severance related costs W&F primarily due to our 2004 restructlrring plan p u m t  to which we reduced 

emerging from lmknrpicy, and improved credit policies and collection p m m s .  

4,000 employees in certain job functions, including informath techrmlogy, network ~miruction, customer installations, sales and back-office areas, in 
response to continued declines in revenue and our plans for improved operational efficiencies. $28 million of the increase in restructuring costs WBS due to 
changes in subleare projections for idle ml estate properties. 

The decrease in employee related expenses was due to employee reductions related to the above mentioned mmcluring plans. 

The increase in other rwn-employee related costs was primarily attributable to the $550 million of charges recorded in ZOW and the $100 million recorded 
in 2003 for litigation matters that are further discussed in “Legal Pmeedings” in ltem 3 of this report. 

Pensiwr undpst-retirment benqftr. Our 2004 pension and poseFetiment benefit expense of $188 million decreased h m  the 2003 expense of 
$209 million. D 8 c - t ~ ~  in expense were due to recognition of $7 million in lower muarial lows ptial ly  due to the recognition of h e  Medicare Part D knefit, 
$10 million in lower swVice costs due to reduced headcount and fewer covered participants, a reduction in interest costs of $69 million due to lowerdiscolmt 
rates and a reduction of $32 million due to plan design changes affecting prior mice costs. These k r e a e s  are partially o fkt  by increases in expense due to a 
reduction in the expectfd rehm on aspets of $89 million relrmtad primarily due to tfre reduction in the expected l o n ~ t m n  rate of return on plan assets h m  9.00% 
to 8.50%~ and lower amortization of $8 million due to the completion of the m&tion for the transition asset in the pension plan in 2 W .  

Operating Expens= by Segment 
Segment expenses indude employeerelated costs, h i l i l y  wsts, network expenses and other non-employee related costs such 88 customw support, 

cokt ions  and marketing. We manage indirect administrative s d c e s  cmts such as finance, information technology, d estate and legal centrally; 
consequently, these co& are 
(expense) on a total wmpany basis. As a re.sult, these charges are not included in my segment. 

to the 0 t h  services segment. We evaluate depreciation. amortization, interest expense, interest income, and other income 
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Similarly, we do nod include impairment charges in the segment results. Our CODM regularly reviews the results of operations at a segment level to evaluate the 
performance of each segment and allocate capital resources based on segment income. 

W k h e  Servhs S e p e n t  Expenses 
The following table provides further financial detail regarding our wireline services segment for the years ended December 31,2004 and 2003: 

Wireline SmJim expmnscs: 
Faciliiy costs 
Network axpenses 
Bad debt 
Resatwing,  realignment and severafloe related costs 
Employee-related costs 
0th rmn-employee related mts 

Total wireline services expenses 

$ 2,584 $ 3,178 $ (594) (1 9)% 
(91% 
(37)% 
52OA 

2,595 2,673 (78) (3 1% 
1,313 1,391 (78) (61% 

242 267 (25) 
157 250 (93) 
102 67 35 

- 
$ 6,893 $ 7.826 f (833) - - - (llyh 

The decrease in wireline operating e x p s e s  was primarily due to he reductions in facility costs discussed ahve. 

W ~ h v k 3 S e g r r r e n l ~ n S e s  
The following table provides detail regardjng OUT wireless SerViEw m p n t  for the yeacs ended Wembw 31,2004 and 2003: 

Total wireless services expenses 

Increasd 
Decembe~31, ( h m w  

Years Ended 

W V  

2004 2Do3 2003 

(Ddlars In millions) 

0 143 $ 40 $ 103 
117 98 19 
29 50 (21) 
34 29 5 

178 134 44 

$501 $ 3 5 1  $ 150 

- - 

- - 

Peroemtsge 
Change 

nm-percentages greater than 2W/, and compmhns b m  positive to negative values or to zem values are considered not meaningful. 

third-party provider. These facility and network costs inctuded usage and roaming costs associated with our use of the thid-m provider’s network and 
development costs associated with the migration of our customers to the third-w provider’s network. Other non-employee related costs i n c d  due to 
additional marketing and advertising mts as we aggressively marketed our new wireless prcducts. 

Wiretass Operating expenses increased, primarily due to tkility and nefwork costs assoEiatei with the costs of bmsitioning wireless services to L 
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olker&&esSe~&penxeg 
The following table sets forth additional expense information to provide greater detail as to the composition of the other seMces m m t  for the 

ended D m b e r  3 1,2004 and 2003: 

Otherservicessxpe: 
Property and other taxes 
Real esm costs 
Restructuring, realignment and severance related costs 
E ~ l o y d ~ w s t s  
Other non-employee related casts 

W . a t h e r s e r v i c e S B x ~  

Years Ended lncreasd 
December31, (Dwrerse) 

2004 Y 
2 o M  2003 2083 

@oUars In millions) 

5 385 $ 451 S (66) 

- - 

415 434 (19)  

807 905 (98) 

S3J57 $ 2 *  $ 3 6  

107 45 62 

1,653 1,133 520 - - 
- - -- 

( I S ) %  

138% 

46% 

(41% 

(Il)% 

13% 

The increase in other m i c a  expense is primarily due to increased other mn-employee related costs attributable to the $550 million o f  cbargeS Rcorded 
in 2004 comjmed to the $1 00 million recorded in 2003 for litigation maiten that are further discussed in more detail above in “Operating expens-2004 
Compared to 2003--~elling, general and administmtive” expenses and an increase in professional few related to tho outsourcing of our information kdinology 
services. This increase WBS partially offset by lower hardware, software and mainienance costs resulting from such outsouKing 

overtime related to our agreement to outsource &n information technology services snd lower property and other taxes due to changes in property tax 
estimates and a o n d i m e  $28 million expense &tion from a suoxsful property tax appxl. 

Partially offsetting the increase in other non-employee rehted costs were lower employeerelated costs, attri bubble to decreases in salaries and wages and 

Non-Segment Operating Expenses 

Depreciation 
Capitalized software and other intangible wets amortization 
Asset impairment C h g a  

(Dollars in mitllona) 
$2,612 $2.626 $2,739 $ (14) %(113) (l)% (4)% 

453 497 428 (44) 69 (9)% 16% 
- l t 3  230 (1t3) 1117) nm (Sl>sc, 

nm-percentages grater than 200% and mrnparisom from positive to negative values or to zero values are considered not meaningful. 

Drprtaahn 
The decreases in depreciation were primwily the resuli ofreduced capita! expenditures beginning in 2002 as well as asset impairment charges, recorded in 

2004 and 2003, which resulted in decreases in the depeeciablebasis of our fwed assets. The level of depreciation in dl three years is lower than in previous years 
due to our impirment of assets in 2002. 

CapiMkedSo$tmmre nnd Ulkerlnikm@ble Amod&on 
The increase in amortization expare from 2003 to 2004 was attributable to the increase in total capitalid software. The decmse fim 20W to 2005 was 

primarily due to the completion of amortization for a number of intangible assets. 
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Asset I@rmemt Charges 
In conjunction with our efforts to sell certain assels during 2004, we determined that the wrying amounts of those assets were in excess of our expected 

sdes p r w e d s .  Thk, in addition to the abandonment of various leased long-term network capaciw routes, resulted in an asset irnpahnent charge of $1 13 million 
in 2004. 

The 2003 asset impairment ch- of $230 million were due to the anticipated decrease in usage of out wirelass network following the transition ofour 

For more information on our asset impairment charges, please see Note 4-Property, Want and Equipment to our consolidated financial statements in 

Other Coomlidated Results 
Tho following tabIe provides further detail regarding other expense-net, income tax bwrefit (expense) and cumulative effect of changes in accounting 

customers onto a third-party network. 

Item 8 of this report. 

principles--net of taxes: 

UloS 

otherexpense+Iet: 

lntwest expense-net 
h &ah) on early retkment of deb&-tlet 
Other inme-net 
Gain on sale of assets 

$1,6l5 

I m t n e t a K b e a e f i t ( ~ ~  

Cumulative effect o f  changes in accounting principl-et of taxes 

2c#v 
2004 2w UIW 

(Dollars i m  millions) 

- - -  

$1,531 $1,757 $ (48) 
1 (38) 461 

(106) (141) 39 
(8) - (255) - - -  

$ (88) $ 519 S 91 

$ - $ 206 f (22) 

2 4 W Y  

2003 
2 W 5 V  

zoar - 

(31% 

37% 
nm 

nm 

14% 

mn 
nm 

2#4V 
2003 - 

(13)% 
nm 
25% 
nm 

(lo)% 

nm 

nm 

nm-prcentages greater than 200% and comparisons from positive to negative values or to m values are wnsidered not meaningful. 

Otber - m e t  
Other experm-net includes interestmpense. net of capitalized interest; investment writedowns; gains and losses on the sales of investments and fixed 

apset; gains and tosses on early retirement of debt declines in market values of warrants to purchase securities in other entities; and our share of the investees' 
income or losses for investments accounted for under the equity method of accuunting. 

fntewt expem-t. Interest expense d e c d  fmm 200$ to 2005 primarily due to the expensing of unamortized debt issue oosh assOCiatd with the 
early kn-niwttion of a previous d i t  facility in 2004 and from 2003 to 2004 primarily due io the significant paydown of debt in 2003 using cash pm~eeds h o r n  
ahe sale of our directory business. We expect that our interest expense will decline by approximately $300 million in 2006 as a result of our debt reshvhring 
activity. See Note &Borrowings to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of i h i  repoat for  further information. 

.hs(guin) OR early retirement ofdebt-net. The 2005 loss on early retirement of debt was primarily due to the payment of premium asaociatd with the 
extinguishment of ceMn of our higher coupon debt. The gin in 2003 was primarily attributable to a $44 million gain due to the exchange of debt for shiues of 
our common stock in 2003. 
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Other imme--nr#.  The decrease from 2004 to 2005 was primarily due to $80 million in gains in 2004 from the senlment of customers emerging from 

bankruptcy and termination of indefeasibte rights of use, or IRU, agreements, offset in part by P $50 million increase in interest income from higher interest rates 
and an increase in cash and investment balances. The decrease from 2003 to 2004 was primarily due to gains reMd to the early termination of services Contracts 
and IRU agreements. which were 520 million higher in 2003. 

network assets. 
Guin on suk ofme&. The gain on the sale of mrssets in 2005 was due to the sale of all of our PCS Iicenw and substantdly all of our r d a t d  wireless 

Income Tax &I¶@ 

Our continuing operations effective t8x benefit (expense) rate was 0.4%, (S.l)%, and 28.3% in 2005,2004 and 2003, respectively. The inc- from 2004 
to 2005 was primarily due ta expenses recopid during 2004 for uncertain uu: positions. The decrease in OUT income tax benefit from 2003 to 200$ was 
p r i M l y  due to a net charge to tax e x p s e  of $88 million in 2004, which was primarily due to the $158 million increase to our859et valuation allowance for 
CLAS. This increase was offset primarily by a duct ion in ow liability for other uncertain tax positions. This and other related tax matters could require 
significant cash outlays if they ace not guccessfully defended See Note 14-Incomt Taxes to our consolidated finmcid statements in Item 8 of this report for 
further informatian. 

C~dative Efl?dof C h a n p  m Accourhg P&cijde+Net of Thr 
In 2005. we recognized a charge of $22 million from the cumulative effect of adopting FIN No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement 

Obligations.” In 2003, we mgnized a gain of $206 million (net of $131 million of taxes) from the cumulative effect of adopting SFAS No. 143. See 
Note 2 4 u m m a r y  of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements in Item S of this report for further information. 

L i q d *  and Caphi Resources 
Nesr-Tem View 

December 3 1,2005 and 2004. respectively. The increase in our working capital deficit was primarily caused by our use of cash to fund our tender offer for high 
debt in the quarter ended Deoember 3 I, 2005, which more than offset the working capital generated by our opwations net of capital expenditures. 

We believe that our cash on hand together with o w  short-term investments, our currently udmwn revolver and om cash flows from o p t i o n s  shauld be 
sufficient to meet our cash needs through the next twelve months. However, if we -me subject to significant judgments, set~Iements andlor tax payments, 85 
further discussed in “Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report, we could be required to d e  significant payments that we may not h e  the resources to mab. 
The magnitude of any settlements or judgmemts resulting from these d o n s  could materially and adversely affect our ability to meet our debt obligations and our 
financial condition, potentially impacting our d i t  ra t ing ,  our ability to access capital markets and our compliance with debt covenants. In addition, the 
magnitude of any sedements or judgments may cause us to draw down significantly on our cash balances, which might force us to obtain additional financing or 
explom other m & d s  to generate cash. Such methods could inchde issuing additional securities or selling assets. 

To the extent that our EBITDA (as defined in our deM covenants) is reduced by cash j u d p e n b  settlements and/or tax payments, our debt to consolidated 
BBlTDA ratios under certain debt agreements will be adversely afkcted. This could d u e  our liquidity and flexibility due to potential restrictions on drawing 
on our line of d t  and potential restrictions on incurring additional debt under certain provisions of our debt agreements. 

Our working capital deficit, or the amount by which our current liabilities exceed our c u m t  assets, was $1,071 million and $68 million as of 
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relating to the invdgation d securities actions discussed in “L@ P d g s ”  in Item 3 of this report 

The 2005 QSC Credit Facility contains various limitations, inc ludi  a restriction on using any pro& from the facility to pay settlements or judgments 

The wireline servicas segment p m v i h  over 95% of our total operating revenue with the balance attributed to our wireless ~ M c ~ s  and other services 
segments and the wireline services segment also provides all of the oonsolidated cash flows fmm operations. Cash flows used in operations of our wireless 
services segment are not expected to be significant in the near term. Cash flows used in operations of our other services segment are signiftutnt; however, we 
expect that the cash flows provided by the wireline services segment will be sufficient to fund these operations in the near term. 

We expect that our 2006 capital expenditure3 will be slightly higher than our ZOOS levels, with the majority being used in our wireline SeniEeS Segment. 

During the year ended December 31,2005, we completed several transactions to improve our n e t e m  financial p i t i on ,  including regktered exchange 
offers, cash tender offers and consent solicitations with respxt to our high coupon debt, issuances of new debt and convertible notes and debFforequity 
exchanges. For a more dehiled description of these activities, see Note 8-Borrowings to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report. 

statemeni filed with the SEC in August 2005. Due to changes in the federal securities laws effective in D m k r  2005, we will not issue any additional 
muriiks under that registration statement. In Deownber 2005, we filed a new universal shelf repmiion sMenm-~t, under which we may issue up to $1.235 
billion of securities in one or more offerings. Our ability and willingness to issue securities pursuant to this registration staiernentwill depend on market 
conditions at the time of any such d m i d  offering. 

In November 2005, WlI sold $1.265 billion aggregate principal amount of 3.50% Convertibie Senior N o h  due 2025 under EI universal shelf registration 

As a m l t  of the various debt offerings, exchmgcs and paputis in 2005, we expect that our interest expense will decline by approximately $300 million 
in 2006. 

Long-Term View 

capital deficit in the future. We b e l i e  that cash provided by operations and our c d y  undrawn revolver, c o r n b i d  with our current cash position and 
continued %cess to capital markets to refinance our current portion of debt, should allow us to meet our cash requirements for the foresmable future. 

We may periodically need to obtain financing in order to meet OUT debt obligations as they wrne due. We m a y  also need to obtain additional financing or 
investigate other methods to generate cash (such as Further mi reductions or the sale o f  assets) if revenue and cash provided by opetations decline, if economic 
conditions weaken, if competitive pressures increase or if we become subject to significant judgments, settlements andlor tar payments as further discussed in 
“Legal Proceedings” in Item 3 of this report. In the event ofan adverse outcome in cine or more of  thm mtkrs, we could be required to make significant 
payments that we do not have the resouws to make. The magnitude of any settlements or judgmeats resulting from these actions could materially and adversely 
affect our ability to meet our debt obligations and our financial condition, potentially impacting OUT d t  ratinp, our abiliiy ta access capital markets and our 
~0mpliaOce with debt covenants. In addition, the magnitude of any settlements or judgments may cause us to draw down signifiantty on our cash balances, 
which might force us to obtain additional financing or explore other m h d s  to generate cash. Such methods could include issuing additional securities or selling 
asssets. 

We have historically operated with a worhng capital deficit as a result of our highly leveraged p i t i on ,  and it is likely that we will operate with a workmg 

The 2005 QSC Credit Fadie makes available to us $850 million of additional credit subject to certain restrictions as described betow, and i s  currently 
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this facility and certain other debt issues also have cms8 acceleration provisions. When present, such provisions wuld have I greater impact on liquidity than 
might o t h d s e  arise from a default or acceleration of a single debt instrument. These provisions generally provide that a cross default d e r  these debt 

. we fail to pay my indebtedness when due in an aggregate principal amount greater than $100 million; 

any indebtedness is accelerated in an aggregate principal amount greater than SI00 million ($25 million in the case of one of the debt instruments); or 

- judicial proceedings are mmmenced to foreclose on any of our =sets that secure indebtedness in an aggregate primipd mount greater than 
$1 00 million. 

Upon such a cmss default, the crediton of a rnatwiat amount of our debt may elect to declare that a default has marred under their debt instruments and 
to accelerate the principal amounts due such craditors. Cross acceleration provisions are similar to CWS default provisions, but permit a default in a second debt 
instnrment to be declared only if in addition to a default occurring under the first debt instrument, the indebtedna due under the fiest debt instrument is actually 
accelerated In addition, the 2005 QSC Credit Faciliiy contains various limitations, including I restriction on using any proceeds from the facility to pay 
settlements or judgments relating to the investigation and securities actions discussed in *Legal Proceedings" in Item 3 of this report. 

Payment Obligniions and Contingemla 
Rapem ObligrrtioRs 
The following table summarizes OUT future conhactual cash obligations as of December 31,2005: 

Paymena Due by Period 

htwe Coohctual Obljgatlons:[l) 
Long-term debt 
Inteaest on d W 2 )  
Capital lease and other obligations 
operating teases 

Subtotal 
Purchsse wmmltrnent obllgstions:(3)(5) 

TdCCOWlWliWh & W ( d )  

MY-gand- 
IRU optxating and maintenance obligations 

Sel-ViWS 

Total pwclmw. cOmmitment obligations 

Total h~i~~reconhciual obilgatimfi 

( 1) The table does not include: 

$ 495 
1,114 

35 
289 

1,933 

166 
17 
37 
12 

232 

$2,165 

- 

-- 

-- 

-- 

Z e n 7  

$ 9 9 6  
1,047 

33 
26 1 

2,337 
- 

a7 
17 
32 
10 

146 

$2,483 - 

SDOB 2(109 2810 --- 
(aoarnra in mlllloms) 

$ 595 $1,315 $ 927 
1,001 907 847 

30 21 8 
233 213 182 

1,859 2,456 1,984 

66 IO - 
17 17 17 
31 31 31 

6 1 1 

t20 59 49 

$1,979 Q,SI5 $2,013 

--- 

--- 
--- 
--- 

2011 amd 
rheresffw T a l  

$ 11,264 
6,888 

45 
1,125 

$15,592 
11,804 

I72 
2.303 

19322 

- 
I 95 
174 
- 

369 

29,871 

329 
2 80 
336 
30 

975 

$ 19,691 $39846 

our open purchase orden as of D e m h  31,2005. Thesc purchase orders are generally at fair value, are generally cancelable wiihwt penalty and %re 
pan of normal opemtions; 

a~coutlls payable of $773 million, accrued expensa and other current liabilities of $2.3 billion, and other long-term liabilities of %I .5 billion, all of 
which me recorded on our DBEember 3 1,2005 consolidated balance sheet; and 

. any amounts related to the legal contingencies described in Note I 7 4 m i t m e n t ~  and Contingencies to OUT cohwlidated financial statements in 
Item 8 of this report. 
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interest expense in all years m y  differ due to future refinancing of debt. Interest on our floating rate debt was calculated for all years using the rates 
effective as of December 3 1,2005. 

We have various l o n ~ t e r m ,  nowcancelable purchase commitments for advertising and promotion services, including advertising and marketing at Sports 
a m  and other venues and events. We also have senice related commitments with various vendors for data processing, technical and s o h  rmpport. 
Future pymmts under certain swviocs contracts will wry depending on our actual usage.. In the table above we estimated payments for these service 
Oonbcts based on the level of services we expact to receive. 

In the ordinary course of businm and in order to optimize our cast structure, we enter into wn~actual obligations to utilize network fscilitieg from Id 
exchange carriers with terms greater than one year. Since the contracts generally have no minimum volume requirements and are based on 
interrelationship of volumes and discounted rates, we assessed our minimum commitment based on the termination fees to exit the contraE&, assuming we 
exited the contracts on December 3 I, 2005. At D e c e m h  31,2005 the termination fees that would have been i n d  to exit all such contracts would have 
been approximately $382 million. These termination fees arc excluded from the above table as the fees would not be paid in every yair and the timing of 
such payments, if any, is uncertain. We believe that the payment of these few is remote in the future under normal business conditions. 

We calculated the minimum obligation for certain agreements ta purchase goods or senices based on termination fees that may have to be paid to exit the 
contracf. If we elect to exit these oontracts, termination fees for all such cDntraCtf could be approximately $228 million in 2006. These termination fees are 
excluded from the above table as the fees would not be paid in wery year and the timing of such payments, if any, is uncertain. We Mieve that the 
payment of these fees is remote in the f h r e  under normal business conditions. 

Employee Ben& P h .  We offer pension, non-qualified, poskretirement healthcare and life i n s u m e  benefits to cerhin current and future retirees, 
some of which are due under conbxciual agreements. Pension and oertain occupational posh-etirement benefits are paid through trusts and therefore are nw 
included in &is table as we are not able to reliably estimate fuhre required contributions to the busts, if any. As of Decem& 31,2005, OW qualified defined 
h e f i t  pension plan was fully funded. As of Dexmber 3 I ,  2005, we had a liability reoorded on our balance sheet of $3.459 billion for non-quditkd penshn, 
poshetknent healthcare and life insurance and other @-employment benefit obligations. Tho liability is impacted by various actuarial assumptions and wilt 
differ from the sum of the future value of actuarially estimated payments. Sm further discussion of our benefit plms in Note 1 1-Employee Benefits to our 
consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of th is  report 

Olf-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

“Consolidation of V ~ a b l c  Interest Entities,” or FIN 46& Both relatiomhips are with entities that provide or provided Internet port accm and services IO their 
customers. In November2005, we entered into a settlement agrsement with one of the entities, which terminated any potential variable interests and any 
consolidation requirements under FIN 46R We do not currently have suficiwt information about the other entity to CompIete ow analysis under FIN 46R, even 
though until t h i s  entity d doing business we continuously requested such information. Unless further information h m e s  available to us about this entity, 
which we believe is unlikely beclwse the entity has ceased doing business, we are unabIe to come to any mclusion regarding consolidation under FIN 46R We 
previously recorded a liability and charge ~ s o c i a t d  with OUT relationship with the s m n d  entity, and as a result, we believe that our exposure fo loss, excluding 
interest aretion, has been reflected in our consolidated financial statements. 

financing, liquidity, or market or credit risk support, and we do not engage in leasing, hedging, m h  and development services, or other relationships that 
expme us to liability that i s  not reflected on the face of the financial statements. 

In 2004, we identified two relationships that may k subject to consolidation by us under the accounting guidance in FIN No. 46 (revised December 2003), 

Other than this entity and the operating leases k r i b e d  above, we have no special purpose or limited pume entities that provide ofFbalance sheet 
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I&bsmas  
Letters of Credit 

credit of approximately $144 million. 

Bistorkrl View 

We maintain letter of credit arrangements with various financial institutions for up to $147 million. At D m b e r  3 1,2005, we had outstanding letters Of 

The following table summarizes the decrease in our cash and cash equivalents for the y m  ended Deumb% 3 1,2005,2004 and 2003: 

Cash flows: 
Provided by operating activities 
Used Cor investing activities 
Used for financing activities 

1acreaSeI -tag0 Y e m  Ea&d 
Dmember31, m-1 Cbange 

2005 Y m v  2 w 5 v  zw V 
2W5 u104 3003 2004 2003 2004 2lw13 - - - - - -  - 

(Dollars in dllious) 

$2,313 $1,848 $2,175 $ 465 $ (327) 25% (IS)% 

(2,159) (158) (4,856) (2,001) 4,698 nm 97% 
(459) (1,905) (2,730) 1,446 823 76% 30% 

- - - - -  

nn+percentagcs greater than 200% and cornpaisoons b e e n  positive and negative values or to zero d u e s  are considered not meaningful. 

Qwruling Aciiv- 
Our primary source of funds is cash generated From operating activities. During 2005 cash from operating activitks improved as income increased due to 

our continued efforts to wduoe costs and maintain or gmw revenue. Changes in opedng assets and liabilities caused a use of funds in 2005 due in large part to 
payments made on our contracts with KMC and our second and final payment of $ I25 million relatad to our 2 W  settlement with the SEC. These uses were 
offset by additional improvements in working Wital management from credit, collections and payment initiatives. In 2004, changes in operating assets and 
liabilities caused I source of funds largely due to a lepl mwve of $550 million and tax reserves, reduced by our first payment of $125 milli00 related to the 
abovementioned settlement with the SEC. Cash pr0vide.d by operating activities decreased from 2003 to 2004 as large settlement, tax and mtruCtUring 
payments wwe ofkt by improvements in OUT working capital accounts. 

In~es&~gA&Ws 
Cash used for investing activities decreased in 2005 primarily as a result of liquidating short-term investments in order to pay down debt and reduced 

capital expenditure levels. We believe that o w c m t  level of capital expendihves will sustain our business at misting levels and support ow anticipated m e  
growth r e q u h t s  in areas such as high-speed Internet, long-d~stance and VoIP products. 

F h c h g  Act idks  
Cash used for financing activities increased from 2004 to 2005 primarily due IO debt repayments and associated early r e t i m t  of debt costs, and 

decreased from 2003 to 2004 primarily due to the payment of debt in 2003 with proceeds from the sale of our directory publishing businm. 

At December 3 I ,  2005, we were in mmpliance with all provisions or covenants of our borrowings. See Note &Borrowings to our consolidated financial 
statements in Item 8 of this report for more information on our 2005 and historical financing activiiies as well BS additional information regarding the Cr)vmts  
of our existing debt instruments. We paid no dividends in 2005. 
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credit Rnihgs 

The tabie below summarizes our long-term debt ratings at December 31,2005 and 2004: 

December 31.2005 Demnk 31,2004 

1Waody’s s&P Fltch moodyc !?&P FikL 

B1 3B- NR B2 m- 
Ba3 BB BB+ Ba3 BB- BB 
NR NR B+ WR NR B 
33 B B+ caa2 B B  
BuB3 B B W  3 3 A h l l W  B B+/B 

- -  - - -  

NR = Not rated 
= QCIl nota have various ratings 

raised its ratings on west and i t s  affiliates as reflected in the table above.. In addition, Mmdy’s assigned I I31 rating to the 2005 QSC Credit Facility. On 
November 15,2005, Fitch raised i ts  dings on Qwest and its affiliata BF reflected in the table above. At the same time, Fikh also assigned a BB+ rating to the 
2005 QSC M i t  Facility. 

Often the protection of interest and principal payments may be very rndemte.+ and thereby not well safeguarded during both good and bad times. The “1,2.3” 
modifiers show relative standing witbin the major Categories, I being the highest, or best, modifier in terms of credit qualiiy. 

With respect to SWP, any rating below BBB indicates that the security i s  speculative in nab~re. A 3B rating indicates that the issuer currently has the 
capacity to me.et its financial commitment on the obligation; howwet, it facis mjor ongoing mcemkties or exposure to adverse businas, financial or economic 
oonditions, which could 1 4  to the obligor’s inadequate capacity to meet its  fmncial commitment on the obligation. An obligation rated B is more vulnerable to 
nonpayment than obligations r a d  BB, but the obligor currently has c a p i t y  to meet its financial commibnent on the obligation. Adverse business, financial, OT 
economic conditions will likely impair the obligor’s mpacity or willingness b meet its financial commitment on the obligation. The plus and minus symbols 
show relative standing within the major categories. 

With r e s p t  to Fitch, any rating below BBB is considered speculative in nature. A BB rating indica& that there is a possibility of credit risk developing, 
@cularly as the result of adverse economic change over time; however. business or financial alternatives may be avaihble to allow financial commitments to 
be met. A B rating indicates that signifimnt e d i t  risk is present, but a limited w i n  of safety remains. Financial commitments me currently being met; 
however, capacity for continued payment is contingent upon a sustained, favorable business and economic environment. The plus and minus symbols show 
relative standing within major categories. 

lower h g s  mult in higher borrowing costs andlor impaired abiiity to borrow. A security rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell, or hold seamities and 
may be subject to revision or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating organization. 

On Octohr 20,2005, S&P raised its ratings on QC to 3B and assigned a BB rating to the 2005 QSC Credit Facility. On November 1.2005, M m ’ s  

With regpect to Moody’s, a Ba rating is judged to have speculative elmmi%, meaning that the future of the issuer cannot lx considered to be well-assured. 

Debt wings by the various mting agencies reflect each agency’s opinion of the ability of the issuers to repay debt obligations as they cow due. In  general, 

Given our current credit ratings, as noied almve, our ability to raise additional capital under aoEegtable terms and conditions may be negatively impacted. 

We have identified the policies and estimates below as critical to our business operations and the understanding of our results of operation% either past or 
C @ i c a l A c c o ~ P o k k h l U D d M ~  

pme~ent. For a &ailad discussion on the application of 
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these and other significant accounting policies. see the nofes to our consolidated financial statements in Item 8 of this report. These policies and estimates are 
considered ‘Wtical” because they either had a material impact or they have the potential to have a materia[ impact on our financial statements. and because they 
require significant judgments. assumptions or estimstes. Note that our preparation of this annual report on Form IO-K requires us to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the ~ e p o r t d  amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our consolidated finmcial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expensas durh3 the reporling period. We believe that the estimates, judgments and assumptions made when 
mun t ing  for items and matters such as future usage under l o n ~ c r m  contracts, customer retention patterns, collectibility of womts receivable, expected 
economic duration of assets to be depreciated or amortized, asset valuations, internal tabor capitalization 
held for employee benefits, timing and amounts of future employee -fit pyments, uncertain tax positions, reserves and other provisions and contingencies are 
reasonable, based on information available at the time they are made. However, there can be no a s m c e  that d results will not differ from tho% estimate& 

recoverability of wets.  rates of refurn on assets 

Lass Contingench and Lltlgation Reserves 
We me involved in several material legal proceedings, as described in more detail in “Legal hocedings“ in Item 3 of this repott. We potential 

!asses in relation to these and other pending or threatened legal and tax matters. For matters n0t rehkd to income taxes, if a loss is considered probable and the 
mount can be rmonably estimated, we rmmgnize an expense for the estimated lw. If a loss is considered possible md the amount can be reasonably estimated 
we disclose it ifrn&rial. For income tax related matters, we record a liability computed at the statutoly income tax rate if we determine ahat (i) we do not believe 
that we are more likely than not to prevail on an uncertainty related to the timing of mognition for an item, or (ii) we do not believe that it is probable that we 
will prevail and the uncertainty is not related to the timing of recognition. The overall tax liability also considers the anticipated utilization of any applicable tax 
credits and net operating losses. To the extent these estimates are more or I e s  than the actual liability resulting from the resolution of such matters, our earnings 
will be increasd or decreased accordingly and if the differences are material, our consolidat%d financial statements could be materially impacted. 

Revenue Reoognition and Related Reserves 
Revenue from services is recognized when the services me provided U r h n t  fm received primarily activation fees and installation charges, as we11 85 

the associated customer acquisition costs, are deferred and recognized over the expected life of the product, gerrerally one to five years. Payments received in 
advance are defmed until the service is provided. Customer ammgffnents that include b t h  equipment and sewices are evaluated to determine whether the 
elemcnts are separable based on objective evidence. If the e l e m  are deemed scpeparable, total consideration is allocated to a c h  element h e d  on the dat ive 
fair values of the separate elemcnts and the revenue a9sociate.d with each element is recognized as earned If the elements are not deemed sepluable, total 
consideration is deferred and recognized ratably over the Ionger of the contractual period or the expected customer relationship perid. We believe that the 
accounting estimaw related to estimated lives and to the assessment of wh&er bundled elements are separable are “critical mtcoounting estimates’’ because: 
(i) they q u k  management to make assumptions about how long we will retain cl~4tomers; (ii) the assessment of whether bundled elements are separable i s  
subjective; (iii) the impact of &an- in actual retention periods yersu8 these estimateg on the revenue amounts reported in our consoliditted statmeats of 
operations could be materi$ and (iv) the assessment of whether bundled elements are separable may result in revenue king repwted in different periods than 
significant portions of the related mts. 

Internet-hed services, OW estimated customer relationship @Oa could derrem and we will accelerate the recognition of deferred revenue and related costs 
over a shorter estimated customer relatiwship period. 

AS the felecommunicatims market experiences greater Competition and customers shift from traditional land based telephony services to wireless and 
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Rmtructudng and RaMgomeuts 
Periodically, we commit io exit certain businesg activities, eliminate ofice or hcility locations andlor reduce our number of employees. The amount we 

m r d  for such a charge depends upon various assumphons, including fitme severance payments, sublase income, length of time on market for abandoned 
rented facilities and conbactual termination costs. Such estimates are inherentty jddgmental and may change materialty based upon mtual e~pefienCe Thc 
estimate of future losses on sublease income and disposal activity generally involves the most significant judgment. Dm to the estimate3 aod judgments involved 
m the application of each of these accounting policies, changes in our plans and these estimates and market conditions could materially impact our financial 
condition or d t s  of operations. 

Economic Lives of A w t s  to be Depreciated or Amortized 
Due to rapid changes in technology and the competitive environment, selecting the estimated economic life of teleoommunimtions plmt, q u i p m t  and 

software requires a significant amount ofjudgment. We regularly review data on utilization of equipmenf asset retirements and salvage values to determine 
adjustments to our depreciation rates. The effect of a one year increase or decrease in the estimated useful livcs of our property. plant and equipment would have 
been decreased depreciation of approximately $370 mil1ion or increased depreciation of approximately $520 million, rwpectively. 7’bc effect of a one year 
kwease or decrease in !he astimaaed useful lives of our intangibte assets with finite lives would have been decreased amortization of approximately $80 million 
or increased amortization of approximately $130 million, respectively. 

Pension and Post-Retimmenf Benefit5 
Pension and post-retirement healthcam and life insurance benefits athibuted to employees’ SeniCG during the year, 11s well as interest on projeckd benefit 

obligations, are accrued currently. Prior service costs and credits resulting from changes in plan benefits are amortized over the average remaining service pmod 
of the employees expected to receive benefits or over the term of the colIective bargaining agreement. as applicable. Pension and p o s t - r e h n t  costs are 
recognized overthe p m d  in which the employee rendma service and becomes eligible to receive benefits as determined using the projected unit credit method 

In computing the pension and pos-retirement healthcare arrd life insurance benetit costs, we must & numerous assumptions about such things as 
discount rates, expected rate o f  return on plan assets, employee mortality and turnover, salary and wage increases, expected fume cast inc-, healthcare 
claims experience and negotiated caw on reimbursable costs. These items generally have the mst significant impact on the level of mi: the discount rate, the 
expected rate of return on plan assets and the terms of our post-tiremmt plan hefi ts  covered by collective bargaining agreements as negotiated with our 
employees’ unions. 

Annually, we set our discount rate primarily based upon the yields on high-quality fixedincome investments availatrle at the measurement date and 
WrpeCkd to be available during the period to maturity of the pension and otherpoeretirement benefits. In making this determination. we use a simple average of 
four specific indices of high quality m p d e  bond yields that would generate the necessary cash flows to pay our projected benefits when due. 

The expectad nte of reiurn on plan assets is the long-term me of rem we expect to earn on the plans’ assets. The rate of realm is determined by the 
investment composition of the plan assets and the long-term risk and return forecast for each asset category. The Eorecasts for a h  asset class are generated 
using historical information as we.U as an analysis of m e n t  and ex- marketconditims. The expacted Fisk arad retum characteristics for each asset class are 
reviewed annually a d  revised, as necessary, to reflect 

benefit p h  as negotiabd with our employees’ unions. In making this determination we consider the exchange of benefits between us and our employees that 
occurs as part ofthe negotiations. 

in the f m i d  markets. 

The estimate of the accumulated benefit obligation (“ABO’Y for our ocmpationaI (union) post-retirement plan benefits is k e d  on the terms of our written 
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We have anoncontributory qualified defined bend3 pension plan, or the pmsion plan, for substantially all management and o~cu@md (unim) 

employees. Ow pos-retirwnent benefit plans for certain current and future retirees include healthcare and life insurance benefits. To campUte the ex- 
return on p i o n  and post-retirement benefit plan assets, we apply an expected rate of return to the m a r k e e l a i d  w~et  value of the pension plan and to the fair 
value of po-mment plan assets. The mrket-related asset value is a computed value ahat r e c o m  changes in fair value of pension plm equity wets Over 
a pried of time, not to exceed five years. The five year weighted average gains and losses related to the equiiy assets are added to the fair value of bonds and 
other assets at yewend to arrive at the markekrelated asset value. In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions;” we elected to 
remgnizc actual returns on our pension plan assets ratably over a five year period when computing ow markeVrelated value of pension plan assets. This method 
has the effect ofrsducing the impact on expense from annual market volatility that may k eqdenced from year to year. 

Changes in any of the assumptions we made in computing the pension and @-retirement healthcare and life insurance h e f i t  costs could have a 
material impact on various components that comprise these expenses. Factors to be considered include the skengtb or &ess of the investment markets, 
changes in the coqwition of the mplayee base, fluctuations in interest rates, significant employee hiring or downsizings, medical a t  trends and changes in 
our collactive bargaining agmcnts. Changes in any of these factors could impact cost of sales and SG&A in the consolidated statement of operations 85 well as 
the value of the asset or liabiliq on our consolidated balance sheet. If our assumed expected rate of return of 8.5% for 2005 were 100 basis points lower, the 
impact would have bsm to increm the pension and pt-muem + ent expense by $97 million. If our assumed b u n f  me of 5.75% for 2005 were 100 basis 

lower, the impact would have been to increme the net expense by $77 million. If h e  caps on reimbursement of post-retirement health costs for Certain 
plan Participants that are eRextive January 1,2009, were not substantive, the impact would have been to increase our AB0 approximately $2.3 billion. 

n e  pension plan A B 0  represents the actuarial pmmt d u e  of benefi~~ based on employee senice and compensation as of a certain date and does not 
include an assumption about future compnsation levels. If the AB0 exceeds plan assets and at least this amount has not been d, an additional minimum 
liability must be recognized. Annually, we evaluaie the funded status of our pension plan to determine whether any additional minimum liability is required to be 
mgnizad. 

Recoverability of Lmpl lved Assets 
Due to our ongoing losses, we perioaidly @om evaluations of the recoverability of the carrying value of our l o n ~ l i v d  assets using gmss 

undiscounted cash flow projections. Thm evaluations require identification of the towest level of identifiable, largely independent, cash flows for purposes of 
v y i n g  assets and liabilities subject to review. The cash flow projections include L o ~ t e x r n  forecasts of revenue growth, poss margins and capital 
expenditures. All of these items require significant judgment and awrnptions. We believe our &tna&s are reasonable, based on information available at the 
time fifiq, were made. However, if our estimates of our future cash flows had b different. we m y  have concluded that some of ow lonrlived assets were not 
mverable, which would likely have c a w d  us to record a matepid impairment chge. Also, if our Mure m h  flows are significantly lower than our projections 
we may determine at some future date. that m e  of our long-lived assets are not mvembIe. 

lmpaiments of Cong-fived Assets 
~rsuarii to the 2003 services agreement with a third-party provider thl allows us to resell wireless services, our wireless customers who were wviced 

through our proprietary wireless network were kmsitiomed onto the third+ provider’s network. Due to the anticipated decrease in usage of our own wireless 
network following the transition of our mtomers onto this network, in the third quarter of ZOO3 we performed an evaluation of the recoverability of the mrrying 
value of our longlived wireless network assets. 
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We compared gms undiscountd cash flow projections to the carrying value of the lon~llived wireless network assets and d e t m i n d  that certain =et 

groups were not expected to be recovered through future projected cash flows. For those asset groups h t  were not mverable ,  we then estimated the fair value 
using estimates of market pries far similarassets, Cell si-, switch=, related tools and equipment inventory and certain information technology systems that 
support the wireless network were determined to be impaired by $230 million. 

Estimating the fair value of the asset groups involved significant judgment and a variety of assumptions. Cornparathe market data was obtained by 
reviewing recent sales of similar asset types. The price allocated to these 
ultimate proceeds from the sile of the as?& d i f l d  fmm mu estimate by an immaterial amount. 

in our subsequent ag~eement to sell the assets to Verizon indicated that the 

h e i  Retirement Obligations 
We have netwok wts located in leased properties such as equipment rooms, central offices, and Wireless sites. For certain of these leases, we are k@y 

obligated to remove our equipment when the lease expires. As required by SFAS No. 143, we reoMd a liability for the eshmated current fair value ofthe casts 
associated with these removal obligations. We &mate our removal liabilities using historical cost iufotmatim, industry factors, and current engineering 
estimates. We then estimate the present WILE ofthese costs by dimtinting the future e x p t d  cash payout to c u m t  fair value b e d  on our incremental 
borrowing rate. To the extent there are material differences between our estimated and actual removal costs and OUT estimated and actual discount rate% we could 
be requmd to adjust ow recorded liabilities at that time. Thee estimates were critical factors in b i n i n g  the net income impact of $206 million u p  the 
adoption of SFAS No. 143 in 2003. 

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements and Cumulative Effect of Adoptloa 
In December 2005, we adopted FIN 47, which is an interpretation of SFAS No. 143 and requim us to recognize asget retirement &tigations that are 

conditional on a future event, such as the obligation to safely dispwe of askstos when a building is demolished or under certain circumstances, renovated. Upon 
adoption of FIN 47, we determined that we have conditional asset tetirement obligations to propaly dispose of or encapsulate asbestw in several of our buildings 
and to close fuel storage tanks and dispose of other ptmtially hazardous materials. We morded a cumulative effect of a change in .coounting principfe charge 
lrpon adoption of F M  47 of $22 million (liability of $26 million net of an asset of $4 million) in 2005. Had FM 47 been adopted prior to 2003, our liabilities 
m c i a t e d  with asset retirement obligations would have increaxd by $25 million both at D m k  3 1,2004 and 2003. Had we adopted FIN 47 prior to 2003, 
our o p d g  results for the years ending k m b e r  3 1,2005,2004 and 2003 would not have changed materially. 

In Deoember 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, %changes of Non-Monebry Assets,” or SFAS No. 153, which we adopted in July 2005. Prior to 
the adaption of SFAS No. 153, we were required to measure the vdue of certain assets exchar~ged in nmnnonetmy traneactims by using !hz net book value of 
the asset relinquished. Under SFAS No. 153, we now measure assets exchanged at fair value, as long ag the transaction has commerchl substance and the fair 
vaIm ofthe assets exchanged is determinable within reasonable limits. A non-monetary exchange has commercial substance if the f h r e  cash flows of the entity 
are expect.8d IO change sjgnificantly as a result of the exchange. The adoption of SFAS No. 153 has not had a material effect on our financial position or results 
of operations for the year ended December 3 1,2005. 

is required. These criteria are: (i) whether the entity is a variable interest entity; (ii) whether the company holds a variable interest in the entity; and (iii) whether 
the cmwny is the primary beneficiary of the entity. If all three of these criteria are met, co~ l ida t ion  is required. 

upon adoption of FIN 46R, we identified two relationships that may be s u b j d  to consolidation by us under the provisions of FIN 46R. Both relatiwhips 
are with groups of entities that provide Internet port access and 

We adopted the provisions of FIN 46R in the Rrst  quarter of 2004. FIN 46R requires an evduation of h e  additional criteria to determine if consolidation 
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services to their customers. The first relationship was with entities owned by KlwC Telecom Holdings, IW. As digcussad in “ L e  Procaedings-IMatters 
Resolved in the Fourth Quarter of 2M5” in Item 3 of this report, in Novernkr 2005 we enterad into a settlement agmment with KMC and one of its lenders to 
m l v e  all outstanding disputes and obligatiws between and mmg us, KMC and the lender, Ass result of the settlement, we have severed our relationship with 
KMC in its entirety and terminated any potential variable inkrests and any consolidation requirements under FlN 46R. 

We p i o u s l y  recorded i liability and charge amciated with our relationship with tk sepond entity. We do not currently have sufficient i n f o d o n  
abut this entity to complete our mlysis under FIN 46R, even though until this entity ceased doing business we had continuously requested such information. 
Unless further infomiation k a m e s  available to us a b u t  this entity, which we believe is  unlikely because the entity has ceased doing mi-, we me unable to 
come to any conclusion regarding conso l i~ ion  under FIN 46R As a result of previously Fecording a liability and charge misted with this relationship, we 
believe that our exposure to loss, excluding interest accretion, has k e n  reflected in our financial statements. 

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Medicare Act”) became law in the United states. 
The Medicare Act introduces a prescription drug benefit under Medicare as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree healthcare benefit plans that provide a 
benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to the Medicare benefit. We adopted the provisions of FASB Staff Position NO. 1 6 2  ( T S P  NO. 106-2’), 
“Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare PFescrjption Drug, Imgrovemed and Modemimtion Act of 2003.” Accounting for the 
government subsidy provided under the Act d m d  our aarumulated post-retirement benefit obligakion by $235 million. The Medicare Act r e d d  the 
pmcription drug expense component of our 2005 and 2004 @-retirement b e f i t  expenses by $38 million and $33 million, respectively. During 2005, the 
Center for Medicare and Medicaid Services i s d  and clarified rules for implementing the Medicare Act. We have revised OUT acbmriil estimate of the federal 
subsidy and using our December 3 I ,  2005 measurement date, the total &tion in our AB0 was $5 10 million. This reduction was worded as an unrecognized 
amaria1 
further reduce OUT prescription benefit ccd in 2006. See Note 1 ILEmployee Benefits to our owsolidatd financial statements in Item 8 of &is report. 

Recently Ismed Accounting Pronouncements 
In May W O S ,  the FASB. as part of an effort to conform to intWnational munt ing standards, issued SFAS No. 154, “Accounhg Changes and Error 

bmhm,” (K SFAS No. 154, which was e f f d v e  for us beg.inning on January 1,2006. SFAS No. 154 requires that all voluntary changes in accounting 
principles are mhspectiveiy applied to prior financial statements as if &at principle had always becn used, d e s  it is impractiable to do so. When it  is 
impracticable to calculate the e- on all prior periods, SFAS No. 154 requires that the new principle be applied to the earliest period practicable. Currently, we 
do not mticiW any voluntary changes in accounting principles that. upon the adophon of SFAS No. I S4, would have a material effect on our financial position 
or results of operations. 

as of the interim reporting period beginning January I ,  2006. SFAS No. 123R requires that mpensation cast relating to share-based payment transactions be 
recognized in the financial statements based on the fair value of the equity or liability instnrments issued. SFAS No. 123R covers awide range of sharebad  
compensation arrangements including share options, restricted share p h ,  performance-hami awards, share appreciation rights and employee share purchase 
plans. We do not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS No. 123R will have a material impact on our financial position or results of operations. However, 
depending on valuation factors such as the price of our common stock, if we grant s t o c k b a d  awards at similar volume to what was granted in prior years. then 
the a p p l U o a  of SFAS No. I23R could have I m e r i a l  impct on ow results of operations in future pi&. 

s7 

which will be amortized to expense. The issuance and clarification ofthe rulw for implementing the Medicare Act during 2005 me expected to 

In April 2005, the SEC delayed the effective dale of SFAS No. 123R, “Share Basmi Payments:’ or SFAS No. 123R SFAS No. 123R was effective for us 
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and volatility of our interest expense. We may employ derivative financial instruments to m a g e  our interest rate risk exposure. We may also employ financial 
derivatives to hedge foreign currency exposures associated with particular debt. 

Approximately $2.0 billion of floating-rate debt was exposed to changes in inter& rates as of December 3 1,2005 and December 3 I ,  2 W .  This exposure 
is linked to LIBOR A hypothetical increase of I00 basis points in LIBOR would have increased annual prptax interest expense by $20 million in 2005. As of 
December 3 i .  2005 and December 31,2004. we had approximately $0.5 billion and $0.6 billion, respectively, of long-term fixed rate debt obligations maturing 
in the subsequent 12 m o n k .  We are exposed to changes in interest rates at any time that we choose to refinme this debt. A hypothetical increase of 100 or 200 
basis points in the interest r a b  on any refinancing of the current portion of long-term debt would not have a naaterial effect on our earnings. 

As of December 3 1,2005, we had $737 million invested in money mket instruments and $60 million invested in auction rate securities. As interest rates 
change, sa will the interest income derived from !hew imtmments. Assuming that these in-st balances were to remain constant, a hypothetical increase of 
IO0 basis points in money market rates would be immaterial. 

ITEM 7 k  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

Item 7 of this report is incorporated herein by reference. 

We are exposad to market risks arising from changes in inbest rates. The objective of our interest We risk management program is to manage the level 

The information under the caption “Risk Management” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in 
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ITEM 8. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMNTARY DATA 

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The B d  of Directors and Stwkholders 
@est CMmnunications International Inc.: 

We have audited the a w o m p y i n g  consolidated balance shmts of Qwe.si Communications International Inc. and subidimk as of December 3 1,2005 
d 2004, and the related consolidated statemmts of o p t i o n s ,  stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the y m  in the threeyear pwbd ended 
December 3 I ,  2005. These consolidated f m i a l  statwnents lire the responsibility of the Cwnpany ’s magement. Our responsibility is b expms an opinion on 
these c o n s o l i i  financial statements b a d  on our adits. 

that we plan and perfom the a d i t  to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are h e  of material misstatement. An audit includes 
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportkg the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the mounting prinEipleS 
u88d and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fimncial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 
rtasomable basis for our opinion. 

We conducted our audits in axordance with the standards of the Public Company Accouoting Oversight Baami (Unitad States). Those standards require 

In our opinion, the consolidated finmcial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respacts, the financial position of Qwest 
Communications lnternational Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31,2005 and 2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the 
years in the three-yar period ended December 3 I, 2005, in conformity with U S .  generally accepted amunting principles. 

AS discussad in note 2 to the accompanying cowlidated financial statements, effective Decwnber 31,2005, the Company adopted FASB lnterprehtion 
NO. 47, Accountingfor Condi#ioml A m i  Retirement Oblignriow. Atso, as discussed in note 2, effective January 1,2003. the Company adopted Statemmt of 
Financial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligation$. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovmight B d  (United States), the effectiveness of Qw& 
~ u n i d m  Internrltional Inc.’~ internal control over financial repoaing a o f  December 3 1,2005, based on criteria mstablished in Intcmd 
%troCInk@ed Framework issued by the Comitke of Spnsoring Organizations of the Treadway C o m m ~ o o  (COSO), and our report d a d  February 16, 
2006 e ~ p m s # l  an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the emctive opedon of, internal control ovet financial repOrting. 

KPMG U P  

Denver, Colorado 
February 16,2006 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

O ~ g m e n u e  
operating expenses: 

Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and amortization) 
Selling, general and administrative 
Depreciation 
Capitalized software and other intangible ~ssetg amortization 
. 4 m i m p i n n 6 n t c ~  

Total operating expenses 

Total otherexpense--net 

Loss before income taxes, discontinued operations and cumulative effect of changm in 

I m m e  fax bmefit (expense) 

Loss h m  cmtinuing operations 
Income from and gain on sale of discontinued operations, net of taxes of $0, $0 and $1,658, 

accounting principles 

mspactively 

(Loss) income before cumulative effact o f b e  m acwunting principh 
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, net of taxes of $0, $0 and $13 1, 

respectively 

Net (loss) mcome 

BE& and Muted (104 income per share: 
Loss from continuing opefations 
Discontinued operatiot~, net of taxes 

(Loss) income before cur~~ulativt effect of chirngas in aocountirtg principle9 
Cumulative e m  of changes in accounting principles, net of taxes 

b i e  a d  diluted (b) W p r  share 

Y m  E n d d  Deumkr 31, 

2005 2w 2003 

(Dollam in millions except per sbire  
amounts, sbarea in tbmspllb) 

$ 13,903 

5,836 
4,147 
2,612 

453 - 

$ 13,& 

5,m 
4,97 I 
2,626 

497 
113 

13,048 14,097 

(1571 

- 

1,418 

$ (0.41) - 

(0.41 1 
(0.0 1 ) 

$ 14,288 

6,455 
4,690 
2,739 

428 
230 

14542 

-- 

-- 

1,75 7 
(38) 

(141) - 
1,578 -- 

(1,832 
519 

( I  -3 13) 

2,619 

1,306 

206 

$ 1,512 
-7 

$ (0.76) 
1.51 

0.75 
0.12 

I- 

$ 0.87 

1,836,374 1,738,766 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these mnsolidatd financial statements. 
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QWFST COMMUNICATIONS MTERNATIONAL MC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

Decembw 31, 

ASSETS 

$ 8 4 6  
101 

11525 
692 

% 1,151 
764 

1 5% 
709 

$164 
15,568 

1 ,m 
1,165 

5 93 

4,218 

16,853 
1,179 
1,192 

882 

Total assets S 21,497 $ 24,324 

LlABlLFTIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT 
Cumni liabilities: 

#tmiboFwWings 

A o c d  -3xpmf3 and other current liiilities 
Accounts payable 

Deferred revenue and advance bitlings 

Total current liabilities 
Longterm borrowings (net: of unsmortized debt discount of $22 1 and $32, respectively) 
PosFretkmmt awl other post-employment benefit obligations 
Deferred revenue 
Other long-term liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Commitments a d  contingencies (Note 17) 
Stockholders’ deficit: 

Prefemed stock--%l .OO par value, 200 million shares authorized, none hued or ouWmdimg 
Common stock%o.Ol patdue, 5 bilIion sham adhark& 1,867,422 and 1,817,494 issued, reqechwly 
Additional paid-in capital 

Accumulated deficit 
Ammudated other comprehensive loss 

TreasUry Stock-I,MZmd i,IOS e ~ l y  (inrrladin$62 168 W v e l y ,  hdd k d b i  W t )  

513 
773 

2,317 
633 

$ 5% 
73 1 
2290 
669 

4235 
14,968 
3,459 

522 
1,530 

24,714 

4286 

3,428 
16.690 

559 
1,973 

26,936 

- 
ia  

43,111 
(20) 

(45,72 1) 

Total sockhold& M c i t  

Total liabilities and stmkholdws’ deficit $ 21,497 $ 24,324 

The accompanying notes are an integral p r t  of these consolidated financial statements. 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH PLOWS 

OPKRATING ACWITIES 
Net (loss) income 
A d j ~ ~ t o ~ ~ n e t ~ d s s ) ~ w n e b R e t E a g h p r o v i d e d b y o p e r a t i n g ~ t i ~  

Income from and gain on sale of discontinued operation-et of taxes 
Depreciation and amortization 
Provision for h d  debts-net 
Cumulative effect of changts in mmmting principl-t of taxa 
Asset impairment charges 
Gain on sale of assets 
Deferred income taxa 
Coss (gain) on w l y  retirement of deb- 
Other non-cash charge-et 

Accwnts receivable 
Prepaid and 0th currwt wets  
Accounts payable and accrud expenses 
D e f e r r e d r c v e n w d a d v ~ b b i l ~  
Other nMrmrrent assets and liabilities 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Cash provided by operating activities 

INVESTING ACTIVITW 
Expenditures for property, piant a d  equipment and intangible assets 
Prcceds from sale of property and equipment 
P m e d s  frum sale of investment securities 
Purchase of investment securities 
other 

Cask u s d  for financing activities 

CASH AND CASH EQIJIVALEEITS 
DeErease in cash and cash equivalents 
Net cash merated by discontinuad operations (operating activities) 
Pro=& from d e  of directory publishing busines (investing activiiy) 
Beginning balance 

Eldingbitlance 

The accompanying notes are m integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' DEFICIT 

s 43,309 

S (1.7771 

2 
7 

33 

144 

1 
(4 1 

(2) 

S (9 1 

The accompanying notes are an integral pri  of these consotidated financial statements. 
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QWEST COMMUNlCATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the Years Ended December 31,2005,2004 and too3 

“usT” the “cO?&pm!Y and “our” d e r  Io -1 &t?I~Ui7iCatiOW 

Infernational Inc. utad its consolidu&sub&aries. References in thiq report to “ Q C I I ”  refir io pWst Coinmnlcations Internaihnal Inch on M ummoliduiedb 
stad-alone basis. 

Note 1: Business and Background 

which consists of the 14state region of Arizona, Colwado, Idaho, lowa, tvlinnesota, Montana, Nebraska, New Mexico, Worth Dakota, Oregon, South Dakota, 
Utah, Washington and Wyoming. We also provide reliable, scalable and secure broadband data and voice (including long-distance) services outside our lmal 
service area as well as globally. 

the 14 states in which we offered these services. In September 2003, we sold the directory publishing business in the remaining sW. As a consequence, the 
results of operations of our directory publishing busines are included in income from discontinued operations in our consolidated staWents of opwations. 

Variable Interest Entities” rFIN 46R’Y in the first quarter of 2004. Upon adoption of FIN 46R, we identified two relationships that may be subjact to 
consolidation by us. Both relationships arc with entities that provide or provided Internet prt a c m a  and services to their Mlstomers. In November 2005, we 
entered into B settlement agreement with one of the entities, which terminated any ptential variable interests and any consolidation requirements under FIN 46R. 
We do not currently have sufficient information about the other entity to complek our analysis under FIN 46R. Until further informaiion is available to US a b u t  
this entity, which we believe is unlikely because this entity c a s e d  doing business, we are unable to came b any conclusion regarding consolidation under FIN 
46R. 

Note 2: Summary of Significnat Accounthg Policim 

h lms the conlexl requires oihemise, r&e?m in h i s  report la “@%?st, ‘I %@, 

We provide local telacommunications mnd related services, longdistance services and wireless, data a d  video services within our local service area, 

We previously provided directory publishing mioes in ow local seervice area. In November 2002, we sold our dimtory publishing business in seven of 

We adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB’Y Lntupretation (“FW’) No. 46 (revised Deoember 2003), “Cmconsolidation of 

Signifiant AEcorurrirpg P o I k s  
Basis ofpresen#u#h The accompanying consolidated financial statements include our accounts and the acoounts of our subsidiaries over which we 

exercise control. All interoompny amounts and transactions with our consolidated subsidiaries have been eliminated 

Use o f e d m e s .  Our consolidated financial statements are p r e p d  in accordam% with accounting principles generalIy accepfed in the United States of 
America (“GAAp“). These acoounting principles require us to make cwtain estimates,@gmenis and asumptions. We Mieve that the estirnata, judgments and 
assumptions made whtn aocmting for items and m a m  such as ?ong-term contracts, customer retention patterns, ltllowanoe for bad debts, depreciation, 
amortization, asset valuations, internal labor capitalization rates, recoverability of ass&, impairment assessments, employee benefits, taxes, mmes and other 
provisims and contingencies are reasonable, k e d  on information available at the time they are made. T h a  estimates, judgments and assumptions can affect 
the reporkd amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial siatements, as weli as the reported amounts of revenue and expenses 
during the periods presented. We also ~ K S S  potential losses in reration to threatened or pending legal and tax matters. For matters not related to income taxes, if 
a loss is considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, we recognize m expense for the estimated toss. For income tax related matters, we 
m r d  a liability computed at the statutory income tax rate if we determine that (i) we do not Mieve that we are more likely than not to prevail on an uncertainly 
related to the timing of recognition for an item, or (ii) we do not believe that it is protmbte that we will prevail and the uncertainty is not dated  to the timing of 
recognition. Actual results could di!Ter from these estimates. 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FlNANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Contlnaed) 

For the Years Ended December 31,2005,2004 and 2003 

ReClasiJcafions. We have reclassified our investments in auction mte securities of $619 million m of December 31, 2004 from ash and cash equivalents 
into shoptern investments in our consolidated balance sheets. We invest in auction rate securities as part of wr cash management strategy. Thes,e investments 
are highly liquid, variablerate debt SeEurities. While the underlying security typically has a stated maturity of 20 to 30 years, the interest rate is reset through 
dutch auctions that are typically held every 7,28 or 35 days, creating a highly liquid, short-term insbnnnent. The writks trade a& par and are callable at par on 
any interest payment date at the option of the issuer. Inter& is paid at the end of each auction period. We have reclassified the purChXs and sd- Of thew 
auction rate secwities in our consolidated statm~mts of cash flows, increasing cash usd for investing activities by $229 million from $1,676 million to 
$1.905 million for the year ended December 3 I ,  2004 and incre&sing cash WEXI for investing activities by $390 million from $2,340 million to $2.730 million for 
the year ended December 3 1,2003. This reclassifidon has no impact on previously reported todal current ansets, total assets, working capital position, results of 
opwatims or debt covenants and does not affect previously reported cash flows from opemhg or f m i n g  activities. 

Other short-term investments of $ I45 million as oFDeoemlm 3 1,2004 have also been reclassified to short-term investments from prepaid and other 

Certain other prior year hlances h v e  bzen reclassified to conform to the cumnt year pmen!dion. 

Revenue recognition. Revenue for services is recognized when he related services are provided. Payments received in advawe are deferred until the 

aggetg. 

service is provided Up-front fees received, primarily activation fees and installation charges, as wet1 as the associated customer acquisition casts, are deferd 
and recognized over the expected customer relationship period, which ranges from one to five years. The amount of customer acquisition costs which are 
defemed is less than or equal to the amount of up-front fees deferred. 
Expeckd customer relationship periods are estima!ed using historical dah of actoat product patterns. Termination k s  or other fees on existing Eontracts that are 
negotiated in conjunction with new contracts are deferred and recognizad oyer the new contract term. 

indefeasible rights of use, commonly r e f d  to as IRUs, which me the exclusive right to we a sp i f iad  amount of capaciiy or fiber for a specified term, 
typically 20 years. W e  account for the consideration received on transfers of optical capacity assets for cash and on dl ofthe other elements deliverable under rn 
I W  85 revenue ratably over the term of the agreement. We do not mogniize revenue on contemporaneous exchanges of our optical capcity assets for other 
optical capacity assets. 

Revenue related to equipment sales i s  reoognized upon acceptance by the customer and when all the conditions for revenue recognition have been 
satisfied. Customer arrangements that include both equipment and services are evaluated to determine whether the elements are separable based on objective 
evidence. If  the elements are separable and separate earnings proceses exist, tohI consideration is allocated to each element based on the relative fair values of 
the separate elements a d  the revenue associatd with each dement is recognized as earned. If separate earnings procwsw do not exist, total consideration is 
deferred and recognized ratably over the longer of the contmchml period or the expacted customer relationship period. 

the m e n d e d  Deoernbw 3 1,2005,2004 and 2003, rqmtively, and is included in selling, general and administrative on our consolidated statements of 
operarions. 

Income tam.  The provision for income taxes consists of an amount for taxes currently payable and an amount for tax c m q u e n c a  deferred to future 
periods, and adjustments to our liabilities for uncertain tax psitiom. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities %re rewgnized for the future tax mmquewes 
ahbutable to 

in excess of up-front fees are d e d  as an expense in the perid i n c d .  

We have periadically transfed optical capacity as& on our network to other telecommunjcations service carriers. These tmnsactions are shuctured as 

Adwdsing cmi%. Costs related to advertising are expensed as incurred. AdvwtiSing expense was M30 million; $362 million and $335 million for 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL 1NC. 
NOTES Tb CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT!&+ConCinued) 

For the Years Ended December 33,2005,2004 m d  2003 

the differences b e e n  the financial statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities as well as for operating ices and tax credit carryforwards using enacted tax 
rates e x p c t d  to apply in the year in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. The effact on deferred income- tax mrssets and liabilities of a 
change in tax rate is rw0gnk.d in operations in the perid that includes the enactment date.. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce 
defend income tax assets to the amunts expected to be recovered. 

transitional investment fax credits earned after the repeal, as wel! as investment tax c d t s  earned in certain state4. We amortize these credits ratably over the 
estimated senice lives of the related assets 85 a credit to our income tax provision in our consolidsted statement of operations. 

Cash andcash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or Iws that are readily 
convertible into cash and are not subject to significant risk from fluctuations in interest rates. As a result, the carrying amount o f  cash and cash equivalents 
~proxinaates fair value. To preserve capital and maintain liquidity, we invest with financial institutions we deem to lx of sound financial condition and in hi& 
quality and relatively risk-free investment pddu~ts.  Our cash investment policy limits the concentration of investments with specific financial institutions or 
m n g  certain products and includes criteria related to credit worthiness of any particular financial institution. 

A l l o w ~ c ~ S w d ~ b t a ~ o ~ ~ .  The allowance for doubtful munts receivable reflects our best estimate of probable losses inberent in our receivable 
portfolio determined on the basis of historical experience, specific allowances for known troubled accounts and other cumently available evidence. 

Assets hddfor sale and disconlinaredopemfiom. As- to be dispsed of that m& all of the criteria io be classified as held for d e  are repied at the 
lower of their carrying amounts or fair values less cost to sell. Assets are not depreciated white they are classified as held for sale. Assets held for sale that are 
significant and have operations and cash flows that can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purpses, frwn the wt of our assets are 
reported in d i s d n u e d  operations when (a) it is determined that the operations and cash flows of the assetf wilt be eliminated from our ongoing operations and 
(b) we will not have any significant continuing involvement in the o p d o n s  of the assets after the disposal tmwtction. 

Property. plant and equipment are depreciated primarily using the straighHine group method. Under the straight-line group method assets dedicated to 
providing telecommunications swviws (which comprise the majority of our property, plant and equipment) ttaat have similar physical chamcteristics, use and 
expected useful lives are categorizad in the year acquired on the basis of equal life groups for purpow of depreciation and tracking. Generally, under the 
straight-line group method, when am asset is sold or retired, the cast is deducted from property, plant and equipment and charged to accumdated depreciation 
without recognition of a gain or toss. A gain or Icws is recognized in our consolidated staiements of operations onty if a disposal is abnormal or unusual or when a 
sale involves land or &wets associated with the sale of customer mntmcts. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the useful lives of the as& 
or the h e  term. Expendihms for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. lnterest is capitalized during the construction phase of network and other 
intemaIllse wital prnjects. Employeerelated mts directly related to mnstruction of internal use assets are also capitalized during the construction phme. 
Property, plant and equipmentsupplies used i n t d l y  are carried at avemge oost, except for significant individual items for which cast is based on specific 

We me the deferral methd of accounting for federal investment tax credits m e d  prior to the repeal of such credits in 1986. We also defer certain 

Properw. plant rusdeQuipmerll. Property, plant and equipment are carried ai cost, plus the estimated value of any mciated legal rei~reinent obligations. 

identifidon. 

We have asset retirement obligations asmiatd with the removal of a limited group ofprop*, p h t  and equipment assets from Id properties, and the 
disposal of oertain hazardous materials present in our owned 
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Q W W  COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENWConHnud) 

For the Yeam Ended December 31,2005,2004 and 2003 

properties. When an asset retirement obligation is identified, usually in asociation with the aoquisition of tk asset, we record the fair vatue of the obligation 
liability. The fair d u e  of the oblignfion is also capitalized as properly, plant and equipment and then amortized over the estimated remaining useful life of the 
asmiated asset. Where the removal obligation is not le$ally binding, the net cost to remove assets is expensed in the p & d  in which the GO& are actudh 
incurred. 

a 

Our policy for asgt retirement obligations was changed at December 3 I, 2005 to include accruals for the estimated disposal costs of oertain hazardous 
materials present in our owned properties, pursuant to our adoption of FIN 47. See further discussion below in the section entitled Recently odopredaccoitnting 
prormrmncemefs. Our policy for %set retirement obligations was also changed in 2003 with the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 
(..SFAS-) No. 143, ‘Accounting for Asset Retirement O b l i o n s ”  (“SPAS No. 143”). mior to 2003, we included estimated net removal costs (removal casts 
less salvage) in our group depreciation rates, including those asset retirement obligations that were not legally binding. These costs had been refracted in the 
cdculatbn o f  depreciation expense and, therefore, were racognized in accumulat~ depreciation. The change in policy in 2003 required us to record a cumulative 
effect of a change in m u n h g  principle benefit of $365 million before taxes, The total nd income impact of ~e 2003 change in policy was $206 million 
($365 million less an asset retirement obligation of $43 million, net of an inrrementd adjustment I% the historical cost of the undertying assets of $I 5 million, net 
of i m e  taxes of $1 3 I million). 

Impuimerpr ofhg-hedmse#s. We review lonrlived assets, other than goodwill and d e r  intangible assets with indefinite h e x ,  for irnNnnent 
whenever facts and circumstanCas indicate that the carrying amounts of the asgets may not be reooverable.. An impairment loss is reoognized only if the carrying 
amount of the asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair vahe. Recoverability of assets to bz held and used i s  measured by comparing the wrying amount Of 
an asset to the estimated undiscounbd future net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the m e t ’ s  carrying value i s  not recoverable, an i m p a h a t  
charge is recognized for the amount by whicb the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value. We determine fair values by using B combination of 
comparabk market values and discounted cash flows. as appropriate. 

Capituhedsoftware, gaolhvill adofher intungible awe&. lnternally used sofiware, whether purchased or developed, is capitalized and amortized using 
the straight-line group method over an estimated useful life of 18 months to five years. In accordanoe with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer So- Developed or Obtained for Internal Use: we capitalize certain custs associated 
with software such as c a t s  of employees devoting time to the projects and external direct costs for materials and services. Costs associated with intwnally 
developed s o b r e  to be used internally sre expensed untit the pint at which the project hax mched the development stage. Subsequent additions, 
modifications or upgrades to intwnal-use software are capitalized only to the extent that they allow the software to perform B task it previously did not perform. 
Software maintenance and training casts are expensed in the pzrid in which they are incutred. The capitalization of software q u i r e s  judgment in dete-hg 
when a project has reached the development stage and the period over which we expect to benefit from the use of that software. 

Other intangible a& not arising from business combinafionq such as capitahzed software, are initially reoorded at cost. 

would reasonably firnit the useful life of an intangible asset. we classify the intangibte asset as Indefinite lived and such intangible assets are not amortized. 

Intangible assets arising from busines combinations, such as godwill, customer lists, trademarks and trade names, are initialIy recorded at fair value. 

Intangible assetr with f i n k  lives are amortized on a sb-aighkline basis over that life. Where there are no legal, regulatory, contractual M othw factors that 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Connnued) 

For the Years Ended December 31,2N, 2004 and 2003 

hpairment ofgodwill and oiher in&7nite-livedintmgible assets. Goodwill and other IongIived intangible assets with indefinite lives, Such BS 
trademarks, W e  names and wireless spectnrm licenses, are reviewed for impairment annually or whenever an event mxun or circumstances change that would 
more likely than not reduce fair value helow carrying d w .  These assets are cartied at historical cost if their estimated fair value is greeaterthan their carrying 
amounts. However, if their estimated fair value is lass than the carrying amount, gwdwill and other indefinite lived intangible =Bets 
estimated fair value through au impairment charge to our cor~solidated statements of opmtim. 

Invmtmenis. Investments where we exercise significant influence, but do not control the investee are mounted for under the qU;w metRod O f g M m W  
Under the equity method, investments are recorded at initial cost and are adjusted for mtributim, distributions and our share of the investee’s inoome or lases 
as well as impairrncmt writedowns for otherthawtempmy declines in value. 

Equity investments where we cannot exercise signifimt influence over the invesiee are carried at cost or, if the &ty is publicly ad. at fairmarket 
value. For publicly traded sacurities, unrealized gains or losses, net of taxes, are included in other oomp&msive income (loss) until realized upon sale Or 0 t h  
disposition of the securities. Realized gains and losses on securities and other-tharr+mporary declines in value are determined on the s p i f i c  identification 
method and are mlassified fmm other comprehensive income (loss) and included in the determination of net income (loss). 

Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized mt, adjusted for amortization of pmiums and accretion of discounts to maturity. 

in the fair values of derivative insirurnem that do not qualify as hedges and/or any ineffective portion of hdgw are recognized as a gah or 1 0 s  in our 
consalidated statement of operations in other incorn-I in the current perid. Chmga in the fair values of derivative instruments used effectively M Edir 
hedges me recognized in earnings (losses). dong wiih the change in the d u e  of the hedged item. changes in the fair value of the effective portions of casb flow 
hedges me qmtd in other comprehensive income (!os$ arrd recognized in earnings (losses) when the hedged item is recognized in earnings ( 1 0 s ~ ) .  

reduce our number of employees. At the time a resbucturing plan is w r o v d  we record a charge to our consolidated statement of operations for our estimated 
costs associated with the plan. We also record a charge when we pnnmmtly cease use of a leased location. Charge$ arpo~iated with these exits OT resttuchrring 
plans incorporate various  estimate.^, including severance COB$, sublease income and costs, disposal costs, length of time on market for abandoned rented facilities 
and contractual termination costs. bimates  of charges asmiatad with abandoned operating leasas, some of which entail long-term lease obligations, are based 
on existing market conditions and net amounts that we estimate we will pay in the future. In accordance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for CosU Associated 
with Exit or D i s p a l  Activities” rSFAS No. IW), charges w c i a t e d  with a b d o n d  operating leases recorded under ratructuring plans in 2003 and 
subsequently were measured using the prasent value of the estimated net mounts we will pay, while charges recorded prior to 2003 were measured on gn 
undiscounted basis. 

r e d u d  to their 

Marketable debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity when we have both the intent and the ability to hold the securities to mitturity. 

DerivulIve irtsmrnents. All &rivatives are measwed at hir value and recognized as either assets or liabilitia in our c o ~ l i d a t e d  balance sheets. Changes 

Resbwciuring churges. Periodically, we commit to exit certain business activities, eliminate administrative and network locations and/or significantly 

Fair value 0f.numiuI insshrtnents. Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents, acoounts receivable, investments, accounts payable, 
borrowings and interest rate swap agreements. The carrying values of 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT~-(CO~~~IIUHI) 

For the Years Ended December 3I,2005,2004 and 2003 

cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, auction rate securities, &etable debt securities, accounts payable and short-term borrowings approximate their 
fair values because of their short-term n a w .  Our publicly traded marketable debt securities in~estinents classified as beld-to-mahty are reoofded at 
morhd MS~, not at fair value. The fair value of these investments based on quoted market prices was 541 million and $189 m i l h  at DeDember 31,2005 and 
2004, m p d v e l y .  Our long-term borrowings had a fair value of approximately SI 6. I billion and $18.4 billion at D e c e m h  3 1,2005 and 2004, Ks@Vely. 
We did not have any interat rate swap agreements in effect at Deoember 3 1, ZOOS, Our interest rate swap agreements had a fair value of $5 million at 
December 3 1.2W. The fair values of our long-term borrowings are based on quoted market prim where available or, if not available, b a d  on discount4 
f h r e  cash flows using current market interest ram. 

Stock-bused compensation. We m m t  for our smock-based compensation arrangements under the intrinsicvalue recognition and measllment 
principles of Aacounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Under the intrinsimlue methad, no compensation 
expense is recognized for options granted to emptoyees when the strike price ofthose options equals or exceeds the value of the underlying security on the 
measurement date. Any excess of the stock price on the measurement date over the exercise price is recorded as deferred compnsation and amortized over the 
service period during which the stock option award vests using the accelerated methad described in FIN No. 28, “Accounting for Stock Appreciuion Rights and 
other Variable Stock Option or Award Plans.” 

Had compensation COSI for our stock-basad compensation plans ken determined under tho fairvalue method in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 
No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-&sed Cornpensation” (“SFAS No. 123’7, our net loss and Wic and diluted loss per ahare wodd have been changed to the pro 
forma amounts indicated below: 

Years Ended December 31. 

Earnings (b) per S I m X  
As reprted-bz& and diluted 
Pro f o m ~ c  aad diluted 

%(0.42) 0 (1.00) $ 0.87 
R0.52) $ (1.09) $ 0.83 

The pm forma amounts reflected above may not be representative of the effects on our reported net income or loss in future years because the number of 
future sham to be issued under these plans is not known and the assumptions wed to determine the kir value can vary significantly. See “Recently issued 
accounting pronouncements” below for further discussion of SFAS No. l23R, “Share Based Payments” (“SFAS No. 123R”). 

On August 18,2005, the Compensation and Human Resources Committee of our Board of Directors accelerated the vesting of all outstanding and 
unveskd stock options that have an exercise price equal to or greater than $3.79, which was the closing market price of Qwest’s common stock on such date. AS 
3 result of the a c c e l d o n ,  50.4 million stock options, of which 10.5 million stock options were held by our executive officws, 
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became exercisable on August 18,2005. The impact of the acceleration an net floss) income as shown in the above table was an increase in p d O m  
stock-bad oompensation expense of approximately $103 million in 2005. Aside from the acceleration of the vesting date, he terms and mditim of the stock 
option agreements governing the underlying stock options remain unchanged. 

The purpose of the acceleration was to avoid recognizing future compensation expense associated with the accelemted options upon the adoption of SFAS 
No. l23R SFAS No. 123R sets forth accounting requirements for"share-b&d" compensation to employees and q u i r e s  companies to recognize in their 
income statements the grant-date fair value ofstmk options and other equ i ty -bd  compensation. We estimate that future compensation expense will be 
redud by approximately $80 million over the remaining vcsting period of the options as a result of the accelmtion. 

Refem@ Ado+ AEcovrrdkg h m u n c e m 1 ~ 3  

NO. 143 and requim us to recognize asset retirement obligations that are conditional on a future event, such as the obligation to safely dispose of asbastos When a 
building is remodeld or demolished. Upon adoption of FZN 47, we determined that we have conditioml asset retirement obligations to propedy dispose of or 
encapsulate asb- in several of our buildings and to dispose of fuel storage tanka and other similar potentially hazardous items. We recorded a cumulative 
effect ofa change in acmunting principle charge upon adoption of FIN 47 of K!2 million (liability of $26 million net of an asset of $4 million) in 2005. Had FTN 
47 been adopted prior to 2003, our liabilities w0ciate.d with asset retirement obligations would have increased by $25 million both at Dsccmbzr 3 I ,  2004 and 
2003. Had we adopted FIN 47 prior to 2003, our operating results for the years ending December 31,2005,2004 and 2003 would not have changed materially. 

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, "Exchanges oFNon-Monetary Assets"("SFAS No. lS3"), which we adopted on July 1.2005. Prior 
to the adoption of SFAS No. 153, we were required to measure the value of certain assets exchanged in n o m n e t m y  bansactions by using thc net book value 
of the asset relinquished. Under SFAS No. 153, we now measure assets exchanged at fair valw, as long as the transaction has commercial substance and the fair 
value of the assets exchanged is determinable within reasonable limits. A non-monetary exchange has commercial substance if the future cash flows of the entity 
are ex- to 
of operations for the year ended December 3 I ,  2005. 

RecenW Issued A c c o d g  prOnontmmem& 
In May 2005, the FASS, 88 prt ofan effort to conform to international accounting standards, issued SFAS No. 154, "Accounting Changes and Error 

Corre~tions" ( W A S  No. 154'7, which was effective for us beginning on January 1,2006. SFAS No. 154 requires that all voluntary changes in arccounting 
principles k rmspectively applied to prior financial statements as if that principle had always been used, unless it is irnpmdable to do so. When it is 
impracticable to calculate the effects on dl prior periods, SFAS No. 154 q u i r e s  that the new principle be applied IO the earliest period practicable. Currently, we 
do not atkipate any voluntary changes in accounting principles that, upon the adoption of SFAS No. 154, would have amaterial effect on our financial p i t i o n  
or results of operations. 

the interim reporting period beginning January I, 2006. SPAS No. I23R requires that compensation cost relating to share-bad payment transactions be 
recognized in the financia[ statements based on the fair value of the equity or liability instruments issued. SFAS No. L23R covers 3 

In December 2005, we adopted FIN No. 47, "Acoounting for Conditional A m  Retirement Obligations" ("FIN 47"). FIN 47 is an interpretation of SFAS 

significantly as a result of the exchange. The adoption of SFAS No. 153 has not had a matwial effect on our financial position or results 

In April 2005, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC'') delayed the effective date of SFAS No. 123R. SFAS No. 123R is effective for us as of 
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wide range of s h m h e d  compensation mgements including share options, reskicted share plans, performance-kd awards, share appreciation rights and 
employee share purchase plans. Based on the unvcsted st&+ased awards outstanding at December 3 1,2005, we do not anticipate that the adoption of SFAS 
No. 123R will have a material impct on our financial position or results of operations. However, depending on valuation frmctors such as the price of our 
common stock, if we grant stock-based awards at a similar volume to what was panted in prior yean, then the application of SFAS No. 123R could have a 
material impact on our resuits of o p a t i m  in fume periods. 

Note 3: Accounts Receivable 
The following table presents details of our accounts receivable balances: 

Tmde mei~ablm 
Earned and unbilled receivables 
Purchased meivabla 
Other receivables 

Total ~~LCCDI@$ receivabia 
Cess: Allowance for bad debts 

hcember 31, 

2005 2004 

(Dollsrs 

$ 1,197 $ 1,239 
352 357 
65 83 
78 93 

in m0llors) 

We are exposed to concentrations of credit risk from customers within our Iml service area and from other telecommunications service providers. We 
generally do not require collateral to secure ourreoeivable balances. We have agreements with other telacommunications service providers whereby we agree to 
bill and collect on their behalf for services rendered by those providers to our customers within our local service area. We purchase acxwnts receivable from 
other telecommunications service providers on a recome basis and include these amounts in our mum receivable balance. We have not experienced any 
significant Imm related to thm p h w d  recejmbies. 

Note 4: Property, Plant and Eqdpment 
The components of property. plant and equipment are as fdlows: 

December 31, 

Depreciable 
uves 

Land 
Buildings 
communiEatioos e&mqein 
Other network equipment 
~ p u r p s e c w n p u t c r s a n d o t h e r  
Conshution in progress 

T~rnerty,PImtmdWiPest 

mPwtY, Plant aquipm-t 

L a :  accumulated depreciation 

NIA 
15-40 years 
8-10  year^ 
8-50 years 
3-11 years 
NIA 

24M 24w 

(Dollam In millioms) 
$ 1w $ 107 

3,486 3,588 
19,505 19,346 
19,964 19355 
2,686 2,w 

209 188 

45954 45,428 
(30,386) (28,575) 

$ 15,568 $ 16,853 
7 - 

Asset impairments recognized for property, plant and equipmentand internal use s o h a r e  projects for the years endad December 31,2005,2004 and 2003 
were $0 million, $ 1  13 million, and $230 million, respectively. 
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During 2004, in conjunction with our effottto sell certain ass& we determined that the carrying mounts were in excess of our -4 sales price, 
2884 A&iiks 

which indicated that OUT investments in these aggets: m y  have been impaired at that date. As a result of such efforts and p u m t  to SFAS No. 144 “Accounting 
for the Irn@rment or Disposal of h n r l i v e d  Assets” (“SFAS No. 144’3, we worded the following impairment charge: 

Impairment charges totaling $67 million to reduce the carrying value of network supplies held for sale to their estimated fair value based on recent 
selling prices for comparable assets. 

Impairment chargw totaling $46 million for hosting wets sold in conjunction with sub-leasing a network faciliiy, a reduction in the carrying value of 
payphone assets to their estimated fair value and far variow long-term network capacity leases that were abandoned. 

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the estimated fair value of the i r n w  assets bewmes the new h i s  for acoounting purposes. As such, approximately 
in comecfion with the accounting for these impaiirments. The $122 million in aocumulated depreciation was eliminated agaimt the cost of these impaired 

i m p 3  of the impairments is not material to our deprecialim expense. 

2003 A & h  

decrease in usage of our own wireless network following the transition of our customers onto the third-party provider’s network, we determined, in the third 
quarter of 2003, that certain asset groups were not expected to be recovered through future projected arsh flows and morded an impairment charge of 
$230 rnitlion. 

In Augusi 2003, we entered into a services agreement with 3 fiir+pariy wireles provider that allowed us to ell wireless senices. Due to the anticipated 

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the fair value of the impaired assets became the new basis for accounting purposes. As such, approximately $25 million 
in a~~~rrtulated depreciation was eliminated in connection with the accounting for tk impairment. “his impairment reduoed our annual m i o n  and 
amortization expense by approximately $40 miltion effective O c W r  1,2003. 

hetRdi?ement Ob&&m 
As dkused in Note 2Summary  of Significant AccoUnting Policies, we adopted SFAS No. 143 on January 1,2003, and we adopted FIN 47 on 

December 3 I ,  2005. At December 3 1,2005, WT asset retirement obIigations primarily related to the costs of removing circuit equipment h m  l e d  properties 
when leases expire, and the costs of properly digposing of &estos and other hazardow materials when we m d e l  or demolish buildings we own. Asset 
retirement obligations are included in other long-term liabilities on our consoIidated balance sheets. During 2005, we sold or disposed of our wireless towen 
and, in com&on with that sale, the re lad asset retirement obligations w u e  transferred to the buyer. See Note L A m e f g  Held for Sale Including Discontinued 
Operations for additional informalion. The foilowing is a recanciliation of our asset retirement obligations for the per ids indicatd 

hset retirement M i g a t i w  January 1 
Accretion expense 
Liiiities incurid, including adoption of FIN 47 
Liabilities settled and o h r  
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Note 5 Intangible Assets 

million, respectively, and ~ c u m u l a ~  amortktion of $1,267 million and $1,336 million, respectively. We also had bademarks and tra& names with an 
approximate carrying value of $ 4 1  million as of Deoember 31,2005 and $40 million as of December 3 1,2004 that have indefinite lives. 

to amortization, the estimated amortization for each of the succeeding 5 years is as follows: 

As of December 31,2005 and 2004, we had intangible assets with finite Ii~a of between 1.5 and 5 years with carrying costs of $2.233 million and $2,475 

We recorded amortization expense of $453 million in 2005 for intangible assets with finite lives. Based on the current balance of intangibte assets subject 

2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 

Total 

(Dd lan  
b millions) 

$ 405 
248 
I 72 
9R 
43 

$ 9 6 6  

Note 6: Assets Held for W e  Including Msconthued Operntions 

operations for the year ended December 3 1,2003, related to our discontinued operations in that year. These results primarily relate to OUT directory publishing 
businas. 

In the years &d December 31,2005 and 2004, we did not have any discontinued operations. The following table presents the su . XI results Of 

(Dollars la 

m l l l h )  

Revenue 
Casts and expenses: 

cost of SdeS 
Selling general and administrative 

h m e f r n m o p e d m  

othtr expense 
Gain on sale of directory publishing business 

I n o o m t ~ k o m e t a x e s  
Income tax provision 

Income from and gin M d e  of disoontinued operations $ 2,619 

Dkconhued ~ C & I Y  P~bhki t tg  B u s h a s  

Dex operations in the s t a h  of Colorado, Iowa. Minnesota, Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota and South Dakota rDex East’? for a cash sates price of 
$2.75 billion. We 

On November S. 2002, we completd the first stage of the sale (the “Dex Sale’? of our directory publishing Wness (“Dex”), which involved the sale of 
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recognized a gain of $1.6 billion (net of %I .O billion in taxes) from tht Dex East sale. Tbe sale of Dex in the remaining stab of Arizona, Idaho, Montana. 
Oregon, Ubh, Washington and Wyoming rDwc West”) was mnpleted in September 2003. We received approximately M.3 billion in gross cash prooeeds and 
recognu.& a gain of $2.5 billion (net of $1.6 billion in taxes) from W Dex W& d e .  

Awe@ Hdd fw Suk 
On July I ,  2004, we enterod into an agreement with V-n WireIess (Verkm’’) under which it agreed to acquire dl of ow personal communications 

services, or PCS, l icenw and substantially all of our related wirelegs network assets in our local service area (including e l l  sites and wireless network 
infrastructure. site leases, and mmiated network equipment). This sale c t d  in the first quarter of 2005, and Vcrizon paid us $41 8 million to purchase these 
itssets. As of December 31,2004, $1 60 million of the related assets were classified aq held for sale. We reoorded a gain of $263 million from this d e  and other 
dispositions of wireless ass&& during the year ended December 3 1,2005. 

Note 7: Investments 
The fotlowing table summarizes the carrying value of our investments as of December 31,2005 a d  2004: 

Sh- publicly traded marlcerable debt d t k s  
Non-cumnt inveshnents: 

Publicly traded m d d a b l e  debt d t i e s  and other invaln~ents 

Total investments 

The following table summdzes information related to ow investments in debt and equity wwities for the years ended December 31,2005.2oW and 
2003. 

p u b w  
Traded 

M S t e  

compamy Tohi 

&tanre as of December 31, 
Additions 

W m l i z e d  mark-@market gains 
Othu-thm-temporary declines in value and rnark-tomarket djwtment of 

Dispapitions 

Warrafits 

Bdance ns of December 31,200j 
Additions 

Other-than-tempwary declines in value and marl-& adjustment and 
Dkpwitiws 

write downs 

Balance as of December 31,2004 
Additions 
Dippositions 
0th-thm-teanpomy declines in value and mk-tomarket adjustment and 

write downs 

Balance as of Decembw 31,2005 $ 101 % -  
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Debt SecmMes 
As of Decetnbm 3 I ,  2005 and 2004, our pwtfolio of pubIicly tmkd securities consisted of U.S. government agency debt secUritk, which we intend to 

hold to malurity, and auction rate securities that are available for sale. We wrete the discount o f  the hold-to-maauity bonds and recognk interest income in 
our consolidated statement of operations over the term of the notes using the effective intmst rate method The auction rate securities are r e p o d  on our h ? m e  
sheet Bt par value, which equals fair value. as these gacurifiea have liquidity provisions that Specify interest rate reset claw, typicaliy evwy 7,28 or 35 days. 
Short-term bonds of $41 million and $145 miltion and auction rate s m r i t i ~  of $60 million and $619 million are included in short-term investments in our 
co~ l idated  balance sheets as of December 31,2005 and 2004, respectively. Nowcurrent bonds o f w  million and $44 million are included in nowcurrent other 
a- on our consolidated balance shmts as ofDecember 31,2005 and 2004, respectively. 

Note 8: Borrowings 

Idmummi 

cumnt Borrmuings 
As of December 3 I ,  2005 and 2004, our current borrowings consisted of: 

December 31, 

Current portion of long-term borrowings 
Current portion of capitat lease obligations and other 

Total current borrowing 
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uzbuamb 

L0n-m Borrowings 

amount oCthe notes and the uaamortizwl discount or premium are prem‘ed separately): 
As of December 31,2005 and 2004, long-term hrrowings consisted of the following (for dI notes with unamortized discouni or premium, the face 

Qw& lcorporation C Q r ) :  
Notes with various raw ranging h o r n  5.50% to 9.0% including LIBOR* + 4.75% and maturities from 2007 to 2043 
W I I a m ~ e d  Biscount 
Capital lease obligations 
h:cumntportion 

Qwest Servim Corporation (‘QSC‘): 
Notes with various Fatw ranging from 13.000,4 Po 14.00% and mahn-ities frwn 2007 to 2014 
Unamortized premium 

7.25% Senior Notes due 2007 
Ummortiaed diwount and othw 
Capital lease obligations and other 

Q,ve& Communications Copration C’pcC’): 

Less: currellt portion 
Qwest Capital Funding (“QCF’): 

Unamortkd discount 
Nobas With ~ O U S  -ranging h m  6.2% ta 7.93% a n d m  Ibm2006 to 2031 

Le@:ament portion 
@est Communications International Inc.: 

Senior now With vmitna rates ranging Erom 3.50% M 9.47% including LIBOR+ 3 . 5 0 ’ % a a d ~ t ~  h m  2Qw to 2025 
Unamortized discount and other 
Note payable to AnschQ Digital M d h ,  k. (Note l&Relatd FuIy Transactions) 
L e s :  current portion 

Capital lease obligations 
Less: current portion 

mer: 

Total long-tmn borrowings 
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our lonrierm borrowings had the following interest rates and mah~rities at Decemkr 31,2005: 

u p  to 5% 
Above 5% to 6Yo 
Above 6% to T o  
Above 7% to 8% 
Above 8% to 9% 
Above %to 10% 
Above 10% 

%- 
6 

485 
1 

3 

s 495 

- 

- 

- 

-- 

f -  
77 
90 

3 14 
1 

51 1 
3 - 

$996 

2w m 2010 --- 
(DOllPrs In m i l l h s )  

328 - 
171 562 500 
71 750 403 
22 - 

$ -  t - %- - 

- 
- - - 

3 3 2 4  

3595 $ 1,315 $927 
--- 

TberPlirer Total 

$ 1J45 

1,591 
6,643 
1,750 

15 

- 

- 

$ 1265 
41 1 

2,914 
8,666 

51 1 
51 

1,774 

$ 11,264 $ 15.592 --- 

$ 14968 

QC Notes 
C#WWlB 
The indentures goveming the QC notes contain &in mvenants including, but not limited to: (i) a prohibition on certain liens on the assets of QC and 

(ii) a limitation on mergers or sales ofall, or substantially all, of the assets of QC, which limitation rquires that a sucoessor assume the obligation with regard to 
these notes. ’Ihese indentures do not conbin any cross-dehlt provisions. We were in compliance wit3 all of the covenants at December 31,2005. 

New Issues 
On June 17,2005, QC issued a total of $ 1 .  I5 billion aggregate principl amount of new debt consisting of $750 million of Floating Rate Motes due 201 3 

with interest at LIBOR plus 3.25% (7.74% as of December 31,2005) and $400 million of 7.62SxNotes due 2015. 

On November 23, Z W ,  QC issued $2SO million aggregate principal mount of its 7.875% Notes due 201 I .  

On August 19,2004, QC issued an aggrepte of $575 million o f  7.875% Notes due 201 I .  

The aggregate net pweeds h o r n  the above offerings have been or will be used for general corporate purposes, including funding or refinancing our 

Tender Onem and R e i d  Pqyrnmh ut Matnri@ 
On June 7,2005, QC wmmenced the following cash tender offen: 

investments in telecommunication assets. 

QC offered to purchase up to $250 million aggregate principal amount of its 6 ’/a% Notes due 2005 (the “QC 6 ’18%Notes”). We received and 
aocepted tenders of approximately $21 1 million face amount of these n06e for $212 mitlion. On September 15,2005, QC paid the remaining $39 
million of these notes that matured on that date. 
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- 
QC OM to purchase up to $150 million aggregate principal mount of its 6 ‘ P A  Notes due November 15,2005 (the “QC 6 ‘/g% Notes’?. We 
receivad and accepted tenders of approximately $129 million face amount for $130 million. On November 15,2005, QC paid the remaining $21 
million of thee notes that matured on that date. 

On August 1 I,  2004, QC commenced a cash tender offer for up to $750 million aggregate principal amount of its 7.20% Notes due November I ,  2004. gc 
received and accepted tenders of approximately $569 million face amount for $574 million in cash. On November I ,  2004, QC paid the remaining $18 I million 
of these notes that matured on that date. 

p w a Y = ~  
On June 20 and June 23,2005, QC p r e p i d  an aggregate of $750 million face amount of the $1.25 billion floating rate tranche of its senior term IMII that 

Redemp&wi 
On May 1,2004, QC redeemed the entire $100 million outstanding principal on its 5.65% Notes dueNovember 1,2004 and the entire $41 million 

R e g k d  Exchange Ogem 
On May 27,2005, QC commenced registwed exchange offers for its 7.875% Notes due 201 I (the ‘201 1 QC Notes’? and its S ’1% Notes due 20 12 (the 

“201 2 QC Notes”) pursuant to the registration rights agreements that it entered into in connation with the issuance of thwe notes. Qc oornp1ek.d the registered 
exchange offers for the 201 1 QC N W  and 2012 QC Notes on July 5,2005. 

QSC NOW 

matures in June 2007 for $773 million. 

outstanding principl amount MI its 3%- 5.5% debenlures due June 1,2005 at par and all related interest ceased to B C C N ~ .  

T&r Offers 
On December 1,2005, QSC completed cash tender offers (the “QSC Tender 0ffa“h 4 accepted tendas, for the following notes: 

- Approximately $52 million outstanding principal amount of its 13.00% Senior Subordinated Secllrad Notes due 2007 (the “2007 QSC Notes,”) for 
$56 million. 

- Approximately $2.21 1 billion of the approximately $2.232 billion outstanding principal ammt of its 13.50% Senior Subordinated S e w e d  Nota due 
201 0 (the “2010 QSC Nota’? for $2.548 billion. 

Approximatety $64 1 million outstanding principal amount of its 14.00% Senior Subordinated Secured Notes due 2014 (the “20 I4 QSC Notes”) for 
$794 million. 

These har~sw~ons resulted in a ioss of $426 million. 

In mtmection with i+te QSC Tender Offer, QSC also received consents from a majority in aggregiw principal amount of all holders of the above note3 
agreein5to remove or modify substantially dl of the d c t i v e  covenants in the indenture governing m e  notw (the “Covenant Amendment Consent”) and 
from 66 /3% in aggregate principal amount of all holders of the above notes to release all collateral securing these notes a d  the collateral securing tk 
guarantees thereof by QCII (the ‘Yhllated Release Consent”). Concurrent with the Collateral Release Consent, d l  liens seclning n o b  issued by QCII and 
QSC’s g u m t e e s  of notes issued by 
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- 
QCII were also released. Upon completion of the QSC Tender Offer and in accordance with the applicable indentures, the subordination provisions ofthe QSC 
guarantees of debt securities of QCIl were terminated. The QSC guarantees of QClI debt securities now rank pari pssu in right of payment with all existing and 
future senior unsecured obligations of  QSC (including QSC‘s guarantee of !he 2009,201 I and 2014 QCIl Now (as defined below)) and rank senior in right Of 
payment to all existing and future obligations of QSC that are expressly subordinated to such QSC guamnkes. As of December 3 1,2005. no publicty held debt Of 
QCIl and its subsidiaries was s e c d .  

On June 7,2005. we wmmencd B cash tender offer for the purchase of $504 million aggregate principal amount of the 2007 QSC Notes. We mxived and 

Reg&& Exchange Wers 
On May I 1,2005, we commenced a registered exchange offer for the 2010 QSC Notes and the 2014 QSC Notes p m m t  to the r e g k ~ o n  tights 

accepted tendem of approximately $452 million face amount for $500 million, resulting in a Iws of $1 8 million. 

srgreements that we entered into in connection with the issuance of these notes. We completed the registered exchange offer for these notes on h e  17,2005. 

QSC Credit Facility 

Facility (the ‘7!005 QSC Credit Facility”), which is currently undrawn. If drawn, the 2005 QSC Credit Facility would, at our election, bear interest at a rate of 
adjusted LIBOR or a base rate, in each case plus an applicable margin. Such margin varies based upon the credit ratings of the facility and is currently 2.0% for 
LIBOR ksed borrowings and 1.0% for base rate borrowings. The 2005 QSC Credit Facility is paranked by QCli and is secured by ti senior lien on the stock of 
QC. The 2005 QSC Credit Facility will mature on October 2I,2010. 

October 21,2005, QSC replaced its pre-existing threeyear $754 million revolving credit facility with a new fiveyear $850 million revoIving credit 

COWtZ#t& 

The 2005 QSC Credit Facifity contains certain other covenants including, but not limited to, limitations on: 

incumme of indebteines (suspended while the 2005 QSC Credit Faciliw remains undrawn); 

restricted payments; 

using any pmeeds to pay settlemenls or judgments relating to investigations and securitia actions discussed in Note 17--Commitmmts and 
Contingencies: 

dividend and other payments; 

mergers, msoIidations and asset sales; 

liens (suspended while the 2005 QSC Credit Facility m a i n s  undrawn). 

In the event of certain changes of control, each lender under the 2005 QSC Credit Facility may terminate its oommitment thereunder and declare any 
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The 2005 QSC Credit Facility makes available io us $850 miliion of borrowing capacity subjeEt to Certain restrictions as descrikd &low, and i s  Currently 
undrawn. The 2005 QSC Credit Facility contains financial covenants that (i) require Qwest and i t s  consolidated subsidiaries to maintain a debetrroonsolidated 
EBITDA ratio of not more thm 6 to I and (ii) require QC arrd its msoljdated subsidiaries to maintain a deb-osoIiW EBITDA ratio of not more than 
2.5 to 1. Consolidated EBITDA as defined in the 2005 QSC Credit Facility mwm our net income (106s) adjusted for taxes, interest and non-ash and cerhin 
non-recurring items. Compliance with these fi-id covenants i s  not requmd while the 2005 QSC Credit Facility remains undrawn. 

This facility has a cms payment default provision, and this facility and certain other debt i s m  also have c m s  acoehtion provkions. When present 
such pmvisions could have a greatex impct on liquidity than might ofhenvise mke from a default or acceleration of a single debt instrument. Thee p t ’ & o n S  
generally provide that a cross default under these debt instruments could occur if: 

we fail to pay m y  indebkdness when due in an aggregate principal amount greater than $100 miilion; 

any indebtednws is m e l e m t d  in an aggregate principal amount greater than $100 million ($25 million in the case of one of the debt instruments); or 

judicial proceedings are commenced to foreclose on any of our assets that secure indeb- in an aggregate principal mount greater than $100 
million. 

Upon such a crow default, the creditors of a material amount of our debt may elect to declare that a defauit has oocurred under their debt insbwnents and 
to accelerate the principal mounts due such creditors. Cross acceleration provisions are similar to cms default provisions, but permit a default in a second debt 
instrument to be declared only if in addition to adeefitult occurring under the first debt instrument. the indebtednas due under the first debt instrument is achally 
accelerated. Under certain ci~umstances described in the 2005 QSC C d t  Facility, QCII may become a substitute borrower under such facility. 

pCC Notm 
Cownut& 
The indentm governing the outstanding QCC notes contains certain covenants including, but not limited to: (i) a prohibition om certain liens on assets of 

QCC and (ii) a limitation on mergers or d e s  oFall, or substantially all, of the assets of QCC, which requires that a successor assume the obligation with regard 
to these notes. This indenture contains provisions accelerating payment of the notes upon m acoelemtion of any other debt obligations of QCC in the aggregate in 
excess of $25 million. We were in compliance with all of the indenture covenants as of Deoember 31, ZOOS. 

QCP Notes 
C0-u 
The QCF noW are guaranteed by QCII on a senior unsecured basis. The indentures governing these QCF notes contain certain covenanfs including, but 

not limited to: (0 a prohibition on certain liens on the ass& of QCF and (ii) i limitation on mergers or des o f  all, or substantially all. of the am& of QCF or us, 
which limitation requires that a suDces$or assume the obligation witb regard to these notcs. These indentures do not contain any crosde.fauIt provisions. We 
were in compliance with all of the covenants as of December 3 I ,  2005. 
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I&bmnmk 

Ten& O ! m  
On February 26,2004, we completed a cash tender offer for the purchase of up io $963 million aggregate principal amount of QCF’s 5.875% Notes due 

August 2004. W e  received and accepted tenders of approximately $92 1 million in total principal amount of the QCF notes for $939 million. resulting in a loss of 
$21 million. 

Rqmyment 
On July 15,2005. we paid the remaining $179 million of QCF’s 6 ‘14% N o h  due July 1 5.2005 that maturd on that date. 

etchmge offers 
During the year ended December 3 1,2005, we exchanged appmximaiely $167 million of existing QCF notes for appmxinmte.ly 38 million s h m  of Ow 

coinmom stock with an aggregate value of $145 million at the time of issuance. The effective share price for the exchange tm~saction~ m g d  from M.03 per 
share to $4.98 per share (principal and mrued intwcst divided by the number of shares issued). The trading prim for OUT s h a m  at the time  at the e x c b g e  
tmmctions were mnsummated ranged from $3.53 per share to $4.09 p r  share. As a result, we rwxlrdierl a gain of $23 miltion on debt extingujshments. 

During the YWU ended Deccmbw 3 I ,  2004, we exchanged $169 million face amouni of existing QCF notes for 36.4 million shares of ow o~nmw stock 
with am aggregate d u e  off144 million and effective share prices ranging from $4.01 to $5.32. The trading prices for our shares at the t h e  the exchmge 
trandohs were consummated ranged from $3.60 per share to $4.39 pw share. As a result, a gain of $25 million was m r d e d  on the debt extinguhhments. 

These gains we included in other e x p e  ( i n m e )  in ow consolidated statements of operations. 

Qcir Notes 
COveRM& 
The 2004 QClI nom are guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by QSC and QCF. The indenture governing these notes limits QCII’s and its subsidiaria’ 

ability to: 

- incur or guarantee additional debt or issue preferred stock; 

pay dividends or distributions on or redeem or repurchase capital stock; 

- make invesmrents and other resbicted pyments; 

- issue or sell capital stock of restricted subsidiaries; 

- msolidate or merge or eansfer all or substantially all of our assets.; and 

- enter into transactions with affiliates. 

If the notes w i v e  investment gade ratings, most of the covenants with respect to the notes will be subject to suspension or termination. Under the 

SI 

indenhwe governing these notes, we must repurchage the notes upon 
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certain changes of coniml. This indenture also mtains provisions for cros acceleration relating to any of our other debt obligations and the debt obligations Of 
ourreshictd subsidhits in an aggregate mount in excw of $100 million. We were in compliance with all of the covenants as of December 31,2005. 

New Issues 
On June 17,2005. QCIi issued $600 million of 7 'IZX Senior Notes due 2016SerieS B. On June 23,2005. QCll issued an additional $200 million 

aggrqpte principal amount of such notes. W n g  the total principl amount outstanding to $SO0 million. The aggregate net proceeds from these offering have 
b or will be used for general mrporate purposes, irpcluding repayment of indebtedness, and funding or refinancing our investments in tetecwnmundion 
assets, 

interest at LIBOR plus 3.WA (7.84% as of December 31,2005), $525 m i h n  in 7 'A% Senior Notes due 201 I ,  and 5500 miilion in 7 ID% Senior Notes due 
2014. These notes are guaranteed by Q C F  and QSC. The guarantees by QCF and QSC are on a senior unsecured basis. Upon completion ofthe QSC l b d e r  
Offer and in accordance with the applicable indentures, the subordination provisions of the QSC guarantees of debt securities of QCII were tminated. The net 
proceeds from this note offering were used for general corporate purposes, itxluding repayment of indebtedness. 

On February 5,2004, QClI issued a total of $1.775 billion of senior notes, which consisted of $750 million in Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2004 with 

R@& Ekcftange UgPm 
On May 1 I ,  2005, we commenced a registered exchange offer for QCll's Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2009.7 '/4% Senior Nom due 201 1,  and 7 'e% 

Senior Notes due 2014 (collectively, the "2009,201 I and 2014 QCIf Notes") pursuant to the regismtion rights agreement that we entered into in connection with 
the issuance ofthese outstanding notes. We completed the registered exchange offer for these notes on June 16,2005. 

Q U I  Convertible Senlor Notes 
New Issnes 
On November 8,2005, QCIl cornpletwl am offkring of $1.265 billion aggregate principal amount of 3.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025. The 

conversion value of tho notes may be cdculated prior to maturity by using an initial oonvwsion mte of 169.4341 per $1 ,ooO in principal amount of the notes or an 
initial conversion price of $5.90, subject to ceriain conditions as de%ribed in the indenture governing the notes (the "lndenime~). 

mnditiofis to am exercise of the conversion right provided uncbx the Indenture are satisfied, the following Rypotbetid examples would apply: 

surrendered for conversion, the holder will receive the following: 

AS a general matter, assuming no adjustment to the initial conversion rate or price is made or reqmed Wer the terms of &e Indenture and the requisite 

(I) If the price of our common stock ex& $5.90 per share when the notes are converted, then, for every $1,000 in principal amount of the notes 

$ I  ,OOO in cash. and 

the amount by which the conversion value (catculated as the product of tho initial conversion rate and the average of the closing sale prices of the 
common stock during the convecsion w + o d  as described in the Idenftue) exceeds $l+OOO, which amount the Indenture defines 11s the "residual value 
shares". At our option, we may elect to pay all or a portion of the residual d u e  shares, calculated as provided in the Indenhre, in cash or in a number 
of shares of our common stock. 

s2 
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(2) If the prim Of QUI common stock i s  at or below $5.90 per share when the notes are converted, then, for every $I ,OOO in principal amount of the notes 
surrendered for conversion. the holder will receive the laser of: 

. $1,000 in msh,or 

- the conversion value in cash. 

COveRaRB 

The indenture governing the 3.50% Senior Notes contains certain covenants including, but not limited to, a limitation on mergers or sales of all, or 
substantially all, o f  the assets of Q C I I ,  which quires that isucoessoT -me the obligation with reprd to these notes. The indenture contains provisions 
requiring acceleration of payment of the notes upon an accelemtim of any other debt obIigatims of QCII in an aggregate amount in mcms of $100 million. We 
were in compliance with all of the indenture covenants as of December 3 1,2005. 

Interest Rate S m p  Aciiv&x 

swnp agreements were designated as fah-value hedges, which effectively converted the related hed-mte debt !o floating rate t h u @  the receipt of fmed-rate 
amounts in exchange for floatingrate intemt payments. While the mxture ofthe swaps did not change, we determined in the first quartwof 2005 that 
agreements with notional amounts totaling %575 million did not m e t  all the requirements to be treated as firvalue hedges. As a result of this change, the 
changes in the fair value of the swap agreements were included in other expse-net in OUT consolidated statements of opemtions. Had we applied this m e  
accounting trealmmt to the swap agreements in 2004, the impact would have been less than $1 million in our 20W financial statements. 

In the second quarter of 2005, we terminated all of these interest rate s w q  agreements. We paid $3 million to terminate the agreements that were not 
Wtd ag fa iwa lut  h-, and we received $6 million from the termination of the interest rate swap agreement that was treated as a fairvalue hedge. For the 
a-ts that were not treated as fairvalue hedges the changes in fair value prior to tamination resulted in a net %3 million non-operating loss in 2005, which 
amount IS included in other expense--net in our consolidated statements of operations. For the interest rate swap agreement thai  was treated as a fairvalue 
hedge, we are amortizing the $8 million of proceeds as a reduction in interest expense overthe remaining six years until the hedged notes mature. 

IRlW& 

In 2004 we entered into interest rate swap agreements with notional amounts totaling $825 miltion. We previously disclosed that aU these interest rate 

The following table presents the amount of gmss interest expense, capitalized interest and a s h  paid for interest during 2005,2004 and 2003: 

Yesrs Ended Dswmber 31, 
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Note 9 Realignment and Restructuring Chargesr 
During 2004 and previous years, as part of our ongoing effort to evaluate our operating costs, we established restructuring programs, which included 

workforce reductions, cmsolidation of m s  facilities, and restructuring of certain business functions. The restruCtUring meme balances d i s c u s d  below are 
included in our consolidated balance sheets in the category ofaccrued expenses and other current liabilities for the c m t  portion and other long-term liabilities 
for the long-term portion. Charges and reversals discussed bzlow are included in our consolidated statement of opemtions in sellin& general and adminismiive 
expenses. As of December 31.2005 artd 2004, the mounts included as current liabilities were $62 million and $146 million. respdvely, and the no-rrent 
portions are $366 million and $374 million, respctivdy. 

payments on abandoned operating 1~2x3, as of December 3 1,2005. These fume net payments for lease obligations are also induded in our commitments table 
in Note 17P-mmhnents and Contingencies: 

The following table summarizes the activity related to the remaining liability for restructuring costs discussed below, wrnprkd primarily ofhture net 

Deoemhr 31,2002 B a b e  
Pm v is i o n s 
Utilimim 
Reversals 

December 31, tw13 Maace 
Provisions 
Utilizatiw 
Reversals 

December 31,2804 Balance 
Provisions 
Utilization 
aeVerSalS 

December 31, MJS Balance 

Total 

S 428 -- 

2 0 w m m ~ ~ ~  fi 
M n g  the year ended December 3 1,2004, as part of an ongoing effort of evaluating costs of opwations, we reviewed employee levels in certain areas Of 

our busiiess. We identified appmximatety 4,000 employee4 from various f u n ~ i i o ~ l  areas to be terminated as part of tbis 2 W  reshwiuring plan. As a Fesult, we 
established a m e  and recorded a charge to our 2004 consolidated statement of operations for $179 million for sevemnce benefits pursuant to established 
severance policies. Through December 3 I, 2004 we had utili& $95 million of this merue for severance payments and adjustcd our estirnakd p-ts by 
$6 million. 

During the year ended December 3 1,2005, we d l i d  $55 million of the 2004 reshucturing plan resews for employee severance payments and throw 
Ileaember 3 I ,  2005 we had twminated 3,900 employees. As the 2004 e m p l o p  reduction plan was essentially complete and actual mts were less than 
originally estimkd we rev& $12 million of severance benefits during the year ended Deoember 3 1,2005. The remaining 2004 
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- 
reserve includes $ I  I million for severance payments, the majority of which we expect to 
next several years. 

u t i l i  during 2006 with some utilization for oulplaoement o w  h e  

2083 R e m n c r u ~  PIan 
During the year ended December 3 1,2003, as part of an ongoing effort of evaluating costs of opmtions, we reviewed employee levels in certain areas of 

our businm. As a result, we mblished a reserve and Feoorded a $131 million charge to our 2003 consolidated statement o f  operations comprised of 
$107 million for severance benefjfs pursuant to establish4 severance policies and $24 million for real estate exit obligations, which primarily include astimated 
future net payments on akmdoned operating I-. We identified approximately 2,240 employees from various functional areas to k terminated 88 p ’ 4  of this 
restructuing. The real estate exit costs include the net present value of rentd pyments due over the remaining term of the I-, net of estimated sublease 
rentals and wtimated costs to terminate the leasw. Through December 31,2003 we had utilized $12 million of the 2003 restructuring reserves for severance 
payments and $2 million for real estate exit costs. 

During the year ended December 31,20M. we utilized $54 million of the 2003 restnrcturing plan rem= for employee severance payments and 
$3 million for real estate exikrelated payments. Through December 31,20(34, we had terminated 2,230 employees. As the 2003 employee reduc!ion plan was 
ewntially complete and actual wsts were less than originally estimated. we reversed $17 million of severance benefits during the year ended December 3 I... 
2004. We also updated our remining real estate reserves for completed transactions and our current assessment of remaining exit costs, resulting in an add~tlonal 
net reduction O f  the reserve of $9 million. 

During the year ended December 3 I ,  2005 we updated ow remaining real estate reserves for oompleted tFansactions and our current assessment of 
remaining exit costs, utilizing $9 milIion of the 2003 restructuring 
costs had been paid, we reversed an additional $9 million of severance accrual. The remainii 
is for real estate exit costs which we expect to u t i l i  over the remaining term of the I-. 

3WZ and Prior Rest?nc~ri%g f i n s  
We had identified I 1,500 employees to be terminated as part of the 2002 restructuring and prior plans and as of December 3 1,2003, these employee 

reductions were complete. As the employee reduction portion of the 2002 restructuring and prior plans were complete and acluat costs were less than originally 
estimated, we r e v d  $1 8 million of the restruc~ng w r v e  during the year endad December 31,2003. During the y a r  ended h e m &  3 1,2003, we utilked 
$47 million ofthe resew= for  employ^ sevmce  payments, 553 million for real &ate exit-related payments and the remaining regewe related to OUT merger 
with U S WEST. Inc. (the “Merger’) in the amount of $22 million. 

During the year ended December 3 I .  2004, we utilized $50 million of the 2002 and prior restructuring plan reserves for abandoned real estate exit-related 
PaYmentS. AS there were no remaining unpaid employeerelated benefits, we reversed the remaining estimaied severanoe tesesves of $7 million. We 
reevaluated our exit cmts for completed I 4  ml estate bglnsactiotu and r e d  the remaining $1 3 million. Additionally, we re-evaluakd our estimated real 
estate costs for incomplete transactim and increased our reserve by $67 million. The increase in the d m a t e d  costs for real estate exit-relatd m s r ~  was caused 
pnmnly by continued oversupply of available telecomrnuniWions and data center hosting swce in certain mi&&. We h d  our djustnaent on a c m t  

and increasing the meme by $4 million. As the majority of the severance related 
‘ng reserye for the 2003 restnrcturing plm of $24 million 

’ assessment of market conditions. 
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Ihning the year ended December 31,2005 we updated our real estate reserves for completed transactions resulting in adecrwlse of $37 million to the 2002 
and prior restrwturhg reserve and we re-evaluated our estimated real estate costs for non-comptete trmactim resulting in a net i n m e  in OUT reserve Of 
$26 million. The increase in the estimatedcosts for real estate exibrelated costs was caused primarily by continued oversupply of available telecommunimtiom 
and dah center hosting spm in certain mark& and greater than anticipted increases in lease related costs in 2005. We basad our djustment on a Current 
assessment of market conditions. The remajnhg restructUnng reserve for the 2002 and prior restructuring plan of $393 million is for real Mate exit casts. The 
real estate exit accrual is expected to be utilized over approximately the next 20 years. 

During 2005 we incurred charges of $1 14 million related to Severance and exiting of operating leases in the normal course o f  business. These dignment 
charges, which are included in our wnwlidated statements of operations in selling, general and administrative expenses, wwe the result of ongoing management 
of our workforce in our competitive industry. 

Segment Information 

for 2005,2004 and 2003, respectively. No amounts were racorded for our wireless senices segment for my paiods prewnted. The 2005,2004 and 2003 
amounts for our other services segment was $25 million, $94 million, and $44 million, respectively. 

cumuhtiw Plan utifimson 

The restmchuing provisions less reversals for the plans discussed above for our wireline services segment are ($16) million, $104 million, and $69 million 

The following table outlines our cumulative utiliiation of the 2004,2003,2002 and prior reshuchring plans through December 31, ZOOS. 

2004 re&mfwing plan 
2003 restructuring plan 
2002 restwhumg and priorplans 

Total o u m u l a t i v e u t i ~  

SevenMe 
a d  Related 

$ 150 
67 

l,llO 

$1.327 - 

R e d  Estpte 
Exit and 

Rehied T d  - 
(DoUUS in m l l h s )  

$ -  t 150 
13 SO 

2,411 - 1,361 

$ $5701 - - 
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Note 10: Other Financial Inform&n 
AccrrrwI Ekpemm and &her Current -i&s 

Aocrued expenses and other current liabilities consist of the following: 

Deccmkr 31, 

A o c r v e d i ~  
Employee compensation 
&&property andothwtaxs 
Accrued facilities mts 
Current portion of state regulatory and h e r  legal reservez 
Restructuring and realignment ~ w e s  
Other 

Total ItcMuBd expenses and other m t  liabilities 

2005 2084 

@ O W  
ia lalrlbns) 

$ 2 9 @  $ 2 8 6  
429 483 
328 350 
43 1 440 
291 189 
117 147 
43 1 295 

$ 2,317 $ ZJW 

- -  

- -  
- -  

Other Long.Tem LihbnQiliLieS 
Other long-tmm liabilities include principally restructuring and realignment Iiabitities and reserves for Oontingwcies and litigation- Rm!mAuring 

h b i l i t k  are disclrsxd in Note 9 - b h c ~ 1  -ng C h a m  md other significant items are d i m a d  below and in Note 1 7 4 m m i M t s  and Contingencies. 

AS of December 3 1,2005 and 2004, we had liabiiities of $124 million and $235 million, respectively, of which $0 million and $1 3 1 million. respectively, 
WBS long term, related to the hination of our Wpoint LLC (‘CaIpoin~ services agreertaent, We entered into a senicts agreement with Calpoint in 2001. In 
connection with this arrangement, we also agreed to pay monthly smvioes fees d i d y  to the that serves as a paying agent on debt inslrumenb issued by 
special purpose entities sponsored by Calpoint. This unconditional purchase obligation required us to pay at lead 75% of the monthly service fees for tho entire 
tetm of the agrement, regardless of whether Calpoint provided us mice. In Septemkr 2003, we terminated our seMces arrangement with Calpoint. We paid 
to terminate the services agreemenL but will continue to make payments to a trustez reW to the unconditional purchase obligation. As a result of this 
bansaction, in Septembzr 2003, we recorded a liability of $346 million for the net present value of the remaining obligation that will be paid through 2006. 

In November 2005, we entered into a settlement agreement with KMC Telecom L E  and several of its related parent or subsidiary companies 
(collectively, “KhlC”) and one of KMC’s lenders, General Elecbic Capital Corpomtion (‘‘GECCn), to settle several disputes and obligations between the parties. 
Under tk twms of the settlement, we pad $98 million in order to resolve all outstanding disputes and obligations between and among us, KMC and GECC. In 
connection with the resolution of this matter, we reduced ow preexisting deferred credit and other Iiabilitics related to the matter resulting in a net $4 million 
gain related to this settlement, which is included as a reduction of cost of sales. 

Prepaid and &rA& 

respectively. 
m d  and other assets contained $1 86 million and $192 million of deferred activaiion and installation charges as of December 3 1,2005 and 20W, 
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Note 1 I : Employee Benefits 
Pen.&& Post-rdwmmt a d  odker Post-eq&yment BemeFLp 

ernployem. In addition to this tm qdif ied Pension Plan we also maintain a non-qdified pension plan for certain highly compensated emplo~eerr and 
executives (the ‘Won-Qualified Pension Plan’). We maintain post-reljrement benefit plans that provide hdhca re  and life insurance benefits for eligible 
mmagement and m p t i o n a l  retirees. We also provide pwrt-empIoymmt benefits for other eligible former employees. AS of Decemh 3 1,2005 and 2004, 
shares of our common stock and ownership of our debt munted for less than 0.5% of the assets held in the pension and post-retk-t benefit plans. 

mupationai (union) employm, and management employees that had reached 20 yeass ofservice by December 31,2000 or who would b service pension 
eligible by D-mber 3 1,2003. The cash hitance program covers management empIoyees hired after D-kr 3 I ,  2000 and managmmt employees who did 
not have 20 years of service by December 3 1,2000 or who would not be sewice pension eligible by December 3 1,2003. Future b e f i t s  in the cash balm= plan 
are based on 3% of pay while actively employed plus an investment return. The investment return an employee’s cash balance plan account ears in a given year 
is k e d  upon the average 30 year Treasury interest rate in effect during August-kemberof the prior year and the employee’s mount balance at the 
kginning o f  the ywr. 

obligations, are accrued currently. prior service costs and crde resulting from changes in plan h f i t s  are amortized over the average remaining service period 
of the employees expaEted to receive hefits  or, for changes associated with OUT 2005 collective bargaining agreement, over the three year term of the 
agreement. Costs for the pension and post-retirement plans are mgnW over the period in which the employee rendem sewices and bmrnes eligible to 
receive benefits as determined using the projected unit credii method, 

estimated based on the term of our wriwn plan as negotiated with our employes’ unions as well as numerous assumptions, estimates and judgments, including 
but not limited to, healthwe cost trend rates and mortality wend rates. In the third quarter of 2005, we negotiated new three-year oollective bargaining 
agreements covwing approximately 23.000 unionizd employees. These new agreements reflect changes for the accupational pos-1990 retirees, including: 
(i) retims will begin contributing to the cost of healthcare benefits in e x m s  of specified timits on the company-funded portion of refiree healthcare COSU (also 
referwd to as “caps”) hepinning January 1,2009, rather than January 1,2006, the previous effective date ofthe caps: (ii)  retirees will receive a reduced life 
insurance h e f i t  starting January 1.2006; and (iii) retirees will pay increased out of pocket costs through plan design changes starting January I ,  2006. These 
changes have been consided in the determination of the A B 0  for our occuptional (union) employee benefits under the plan. The additional costs to us of 
deferring the enforcement of the c a p  by three years were substantialIy offset in negotiation by the additional benefit to LLS of the reduction in life insurance 
benefits. As a result of this exchange of benefits with the affected p h  participnts (the re t im in this case), we have determined that the caps provision 
beginning Jmq 1,2009 is suktantive. If the caps were not considered to be substantive in our determination of the ABO. our C u m t  calculation of the AB0 
would increase by appmKimately $2.3 billion. The collective bargaining agreemmts with our employees’ unions contain caps that are effective January 1,2009, 
and we currently intend to enforce these healthalre caps beginning on that date in wder to maintain our healthcare costs at competitive levels. 

We sponsora noncontributmy &finad benefit pension p h  (the “Pension Plan’) for substandally all management (nmunion) and occupational (union) 

The Pension Plan features a traditional s e r v i c p b d  program BS well as a cash W m p r o g m .  Participants in the semi-based program include all 

Pension and post-retirement healthcare and life insurance benefits amibuted to employee service during the year, as well aa interash on projected benefit 

The t~ccumulated post-retirement benefit obligation (“ABO”) for our occupational (union) hdthcare and life i n s m e  post-retirement plan benefits is 
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The terms of the pkretirement life and healthcare arrangement between us and our management employees and our we1 990 management retirees are- 
established by us and are subject to change at our discretion. We have a past pmtice of sharing some of the cost of providing healthcare benefits with OUT 
management employees and post-l980 management rehrees. The AB0 for the management postdrement healthcare M i s  is based on the terms of the 
c m t  written plan documents and i s  adjusted for anticipated continued mt sharing with management employees and p e l 9 9 0  management retimes. 
Management employees who retain retiree healthre hefits  and retired after kcember 3 1, I990 began paying contributions toward the COst of their rethe 
healthcare benefits effective January 1,2004. Post-1990 management retirees made contributio~~ to the Company for their healthcare benefits of $26 million and 
$20 million for the years ended Dacember 3 1.2005 and 2004. respectively. 

Our funding policy for the pension plan is to make contributions with the objective of accumulating sufficient assets to pay all qualified pension benefits 
when due under the terms of the plan. No pension contribution was q u i d  in 2005 or 2004 and as of December 31,2005 and 2OW. the fair value o f  the assets 
in the qualifid pension trust exceeded the AB0 of the qualified Pension Plan. During 2005 and 2004. we made contributions of $6 rnitlion and $14 million, 
respectively to the post-retirement occupational (union) healthcare trust+ In addition, we received reimbursements for healthcare claims incurred by oocupational 
(union) retirees from the post-retirement occupational (union) healthcare trust of $206 million and $185 million in 2005 and 20W, respectively. During 2004 we 
also received St5 million as a final reimbursement hrn the lik insurance t n ~ t  for life insurance premiums incurred by retirees. We made payments of 
$383 million and $391 million directly to halthcarebenefit providers and life insllrers in 2005 and 2004 respectively. 

Expctkd Cash Flows 

plan 
The pension, non-qualified pension and post-retirement benefit paymenix, which include expected future services, are expected to be paid by us and from 

and the estimated future Medicare Part 0 subsidy receipts are as follows: 

2006 
2007 
2008 
2009 
2010 
201 1-2015 

Pension Plan 

$ 735 
744 
752 
756 
758 

$ 3,729 

Nom-QualiiIed Pos*R&irement 

h s h  Plan 6 e m e f k  Plans 

(Dollars i m  milllor@ 
$ 3 $ 439 

5 474 
5 505 

14 43 1 
9 438 

s 19 f 2,177 

Medicare Part I) 

Snbddy Receipts 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED PINANCtAL S T A T E M E ~ C o u ~ n u e d )  

For tbe Years Ended December 31,2005,2004 ~d too3 

The components of the pension benefit expense (credit), non-qualified pension benefit expense md p t d r e m e n t  benefit expme are BS foltowS: 

Pension CoU (Credit) 
Papt-Retirement 

BeneRt cost 

Years E d  
December 31, 

zoos 

 cost 
Interest cost 
Expected return MI pIm Its=$ 
Amortization of transition asset 
Atnortization of prior service oost 
Reoognid  net actuarial (gain) loss 

Net (credit) cost included in current earnings (loss) $ 28 -- 

2003 

Years Ended 
December 31, 

1005 2ow 2083 - - -  
$ 20 $ 21 $ 23 

310 354 389 
(131) (131) (135) - - - 

The pension, non-qualified pension and post-retirement benefit expense (credit) is allmated between cost of sales and selling, general and administrative 

The measurement dates used to determine pension, non-qualified pension and other pcst-retirement h d t h m r e  and life insuranoe bmfi t  measurements 

expense in the con~llidated statements of operatim. 

for the plans are kcember 31,2005,2004 and 2003. The actuarial assumptions USHI to compute the net pension e x p e  (credit), non-qualified pension benefit 
expense and posFrelirement benefit expense are based upon information available ms of the beginning of the year, as presented in the following table. 

pemmll Ex*petlae (Credit) 

Beginning of the y w .  
Discolmt rate 5.75% 
Rate of cmgensatian iacFease 4.65% 
E x p d  long-term rate of r e b  on plan assets 8.50% 

N/A 
NIA 
NIA 

6.25% 
4.65 X 
8.50% 

MIA 
NIA 
M A  

6.7S% 
4.55% 
9.00% 

N/A 
NIA 
NIA 

5.75% 
4.65% 
NIA 

NIA 
NIA 
NIA 

2004 2003 - 

6.25% 6.75% 
4.65% 4.65% 
NIA NfA 

NIA NIA 
NIA NIA 
NIA NfA 

5.75% 6.25% 
NfA N/h 
8.50% 8.50% 

lam% 10.00% 
5.00% 5.00% 
2010 2014 

6.75% 
N1h 
9.00% 

lO.Wh 
5.00% 
2013’ 

N/A-rtot applicable 



QWEST COMMUNlCATIOHS INTERNATIONAL [NC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FlNANClAL STATEMENTS-(Cwtinned) 

For the Years Ended December 31, ZOOS, 2004 and 2003 

Following is an analysis of the change in the projected benefit obligation for the pension, non-qualified pension and post-retirernent benefit plans for 

u!&mamh 

the years ended Dember  3 1,2005 and 2004: 

Nos-QaJfied P*-ent 
h d o m  Plan Femlon Plan mem Piams 

Years Ended Yeus  Ended Years Ended 

December 31, Wrnber 31, December 31, 

Benefit O b h p t i ~  accrued at beginning of year 
Service cost 
Interest cost 
Actuarial loss (gain) 
Planamendments 
Special terminahon benefits 
Benefits paid 

Benefia Obli@hon aoaued at end O f y m  

AccnmdaM benefit obligation 

$8,957 

$ 8,752 

- $8,929 

0 8,658 
- 

2005 2w 

(Mlars In mllllons) 
$ 59 $ 48 

3 2 
3 3 

10 (4) 

(5) (4) 

- -  

- - 
- - 

-- - 
$ 56 $ 59 

$ 51 $ 53 

3- - $ 5,420 

$ 5,420 

- 3 5,798 

f 5,m 

The actuarial asmptions used to compute the funded (unfunded) status for the plans are b a d  upon information available as of the end of the respective 
year and are as follows: 

E n d o f t h e y e  * 

Discount rate 
Rate of mmpwation iacreagt 
Initial healthare cost trend rate 
Ultimate healthcam cast trend rate 
Year ultimate trend rate is reached 

5 . a %  5.75% 5.64% 5.75% 5.60% 5.75% 
4h5% 4.65% 4.65% 4.65% WA NlA 
NIA NIA NIA N/A 10.00% 10.00% 
NIA NIA NIA NIA S.M% 5.00% 
NIA NIA NfA NIA 2011 2010 

N/A--not applicable 

The plan wets of the pension plan are currently used for tho payment of pension benefits. The plan assets of the poskretirement benefit plan are only used 
for the pyment of healthcare h e f i t s  for oocupational (union) plan participants. Following is an analysis of the change in the fair value of plan ass& for the 
pension, non-qualified pension and pos-irement benefit plans for the years endad Decernh 3 1,2005 and 2M)4: 

Fair value of plan mtr at Beginning of year 
Actual gain on plan assets 
Net contributions to trust and benefit p v i b  
Benefits paid 

Fair value o f p h  aSMt3 1l ycar cnd 

2w5 2084 - 
$9,133 $9,010 

1,055 1,079 

(MO) (956) 

- $9248 $9,133 

<- - 
- 

- - 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOT= TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Couluued) 

For the Years Ended December 31, ZOOS, 2004 and 2003 

- 
The following table pments the funded statw of the pension. non-qualitid pension and poseretirement benefit plans as of December 3 1,2005 and 2004: 

W O t d ! d l f l C d  PssE-Retlrsmeat 
Pea&m man Pension fin Benefit Fiam 

Years Emded Yews Ended Ymrs Ended 
December 31, D+rrmber 31, Dsfemkr 31, 

F~~ded(~mfmddjstatus 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 
0- prior serviEe cart m t )  
Unrecognized transition (asset) obligalion 

Prepaid benefit ( w d  cost) 

20115 20114 - -  
$ 391 $ 2011 

818 1,037 
(49) 
- 

(W - 
- -  
$1,165 $1,192 - -  

The accrued cost of the non-qualified pension plan and the accrued cost for the post-retirement benefit plans are included in pt-retirement benefit 
obliga!ions on ourcomsolidated balance sheet. Also included in that line 
a c c d s .  

post-employment long-term disability insurance and workers wmpensatim benefits 

The weighted-average asci alloCations for the benefit p h s  at December 31,2005 and 2W by asset category are as follows: 

Pede .  Plm 
NorrpualiRed 
PemsSan Plaa 

Ymln Ended 
December 31, 

Ycprs Ended 
December 31, 

Yeam Euled 
December 31, 

egruty securities 
Debt Securities 
Real Estate 
Other 

Total 

2005 2004 - - 
60% 62% 
22% 23% 

8% 7% 
10% 8% - - 

100% 100% - - 
NIA-not applicable 

The inveslment objective hr both the pension and pt-retirernent benefit plans is a0 provide an atbadive risk-adjwkd reftun that will ensure the 
payment of h e f i t s  and protect against the riskof substantial investment losses. Investment risk is managed by broadly diversifying plan assets across numerous 
simtegia with differing expected returns, volatilities and aorrelations. Derivative instnrments (primarily exchnge-traded futures. forwards and options) are used 
to reduce risk as well as enhance return. 

The asset mix, or the percent of the trust held in each asset class, takes into account benefit obligations, riswretum requirements and the outlook for the 
financial markets. Given the long+m~ nature of our benefit obligations, the benefit plans have a significant weighting to equities, which have a higher expected 
return. As of year-end, the actual m e t  mix is within the 5op/,7oO/p policy allocation range for equities and the 30%50-50$0 policy allocation range for 
non-equitiw (debt, real estate and other). 

expected salary and wage incream, discount rate, expected rate 
In computing the pension and posb-mtirement benefit oosts, we must make numerous assumptions about such things as employee mortality and turnover, 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLlDATED FINANCIAL STATEMEmCooliaued) 

For the Years Ended December 31, ZOOS, 2004 and 2003 

of return on plan assets, expected future cost increases, health care claims experience and changes in our collective bargaining agreements. These items generally 
have the most significant impact on the level ofcmt: ( 1 )  discount rate, (2) expected rate of return on plan assets and (3) the terms of our post-retirement Plan 
benefits c o v d  by collective bargaining agreements as negotiatedwith our employees’ unions. 

upon the yields on high-quality fixed-income investments available at the measurement date and expected to be available during the period to maturity ofthe 
peasion and other pst-retiment benefits. In making this determination we we a sirnpte average of four specific indices of high quality wrporated bond gielk 
that would generate the necessary cash flows to pay our projected hef i t s  when due. 

The expected rate of return on plan assets is the long-tern rate of mrn we ex@ to e m  om trust assets. The rate of return i s  determined by the 
investment compsitim of the plan assets and the loog-tem risk and return f m t  for w h  asset catepory. The forecasts for each asset class me e d  
using historical information as WPU as an analysis of current and expected market mnditions. The expected risk and EWII characteristics for each asset C ~ S  are 
reviewed annually and rev id ,  as necessary, to reflect changes in the financial marketr. 

of the pension plan assets and to the fair value of the post-retirement plan apsets. The mark&-related asset value i s  a computed value that 
fair value of pian equiv assets over a period of time, not to ex& five years. The five year weighted average gains and losses related to the equity assets are 
added to the fair value of bonds and other assets at yea- to arrive at tbe markekrelated asset vaiue. This method has the effect of reducing the impact on 
expense fmm annual market volatility that may be experienced from year to year. As 3 result, our expected return is not significantly impacted by the actual 
return on pension plan assets experienaed in any given year. For the yean ended December 31,2005 and 2004, the investment program p d u d  an actual return 
on pension and postledrememt plan assets which exceeded the expected reiurn by $422 million and $355 million, respectively. The annual returns on plan assets 
will almost always k different from the expected long-term returns, and could include net losm, due primarity to the volatility occurring in the debt and equity 
markeb during any given year. 

The estimate of tk ABO for our occupational (union) pt-retirement plan hefits is based on the terms of our written plan as negotiated with OW 
employees’ unim.  In making thig determination we msider the exchange of b e d $  between IIS and o w  employees that o o c ~  as part of the negotiations. 

A change of DM percent in the assumed initial healthwe cost trend rate would have had the following effects in 2005: 

The discount rate enables us to state expected future cash flows at II present value on the measurement date. Annually, we set our discount rat= based 

To compute the expected retum on pension and pt-retirement benefit plan ass& we apply an expected rate of return to the market-related %set viilue 
h g e S  in 

Increase newusl? 

(Dolhrs to mllllona) 
Effect on the aggregate of the m i c e  and interest cost components of net periodic post-retirnent benefit 

Effect om A B 0  (balance sheet) $ 268 S (231) 
EOBt (statement o f  operations) $ 18 t (15) 

Our poskretirement mt for occupational post-i 990 retirees is capped at a set dollar amount beginning January 1,2009 and, therefore., is not subject to 
hcalthcare &ends after the m p p d  cost is  attained. Therefore, a 1% change in these actual treslds subsequent to January 1,2009 would not have a fignificant 
i m p t  on the AB0 at December 3 1,2005 or 2006 benefit expense for this group of participants. 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
mklEuw& 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS+Continued) 
For the Years Ended December 31,2005,2004 and 2003 

M&m Prescriphn Drug, Impmwment m d  M&miziu&m AH of 2003 

The Mediare Act introduced a prescriptim drug h e f i t  under Medicare as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree hedtbcm benefit p h S  that 
benefit W t  is at l e s t  aclmrially equivalent to the M e d i m  benefit. We sponsor a post-rdremmtt healthcare plan with several benefit o p h s  that provides 
prescription drug benefits, which we deem acbmially equivalent to M e d i m  Part D. We recogwed the impact of the federal subsidy on the calculation Of Our 
ABO and net po$t-rehmmt benefit costs. In accordance with FASB S W  Position No. 106-2, “Accountkg and Disclosure RequiremWts Relaled io the 
Medicare k r i p t i o n  Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003,” we recognized a $235 million duction of our A30 using our Deownber 3 1,2003 
-ent date. The effect of the subsidy r e d d  our net periodic pos-retirement benefit cost by $38 million and $33 million for the years ended 
December 31,2005 and 2004 respectively. During 2005, the Center for Medicare and Medicaid SeMm issued and clarified rules for implementing the 
Medicare Act. We have revised ow actuarial attimate offhe federa[ subsidy and using our December 31,2005 measurement date, the tobl wduction in our AB0 
was $510 million. This redudon was recorded as an unrecognized actuarial gain which will be amortized to expense. The issuance and clarifiation ofthe rules 
for implementing the Medicare Act during 2005 are expected to further reduce our prescription benefit cost in 2006. 

Other Benefit PIanS 
Healthcare and Life Insurance 

We provide healthcare and life insurance h e f i t s  to essentially all of our active -I-. Tbe Company is largely self-insured for the cost of 
healthcare plan. Our 2005 active healthme benefit expense of $28 1 million declined from the 2004 expense of $31 5 million. Occupational (union) employees 
are provided benefits based on the negotiated labor contract and currently thae cosis are largely hndd by the Company other than out of pocket amounts. 
Managemat employees are required to prtklly fund the healthcare hefits provided by the Compny. The management participant contributions of $35 
million for 2005 and $30 million for 2004 lire in addition to out of pocket costs. The basic group life insurance plan is fully insured and the premiums me paid by 
the Company. 

401(k) Plan 
We sponsor iqualified defined contribution benefit pian covering substantially all management and occupational (union) employees. Undw this plan. 

employees may contribute a percentage of their annual wmpensation to the plan up to certain maximums, as defined by the plan and by the Intwnal Revenue 
Service (“Iks’). Currenuy, we match a pmentage of employee conhibutions in cash. Prior to May 2004 we matched this percentage in shares of our common 
stock. As of Decemkr 3 1,2005 and 2004. the assets of the plan included approximately 65 million and 77 million shares, respectively, of our common stock as a 
result ofthe combination ofwr employer match and parlicipant directed oontributions. We made cash contributions in connection with our 401(k) plan of $69 
million in 2 0 5  and $44 million in 2004. In addition, we made contributions of our common stock valued at $33 million in 2004. 

Deferred Cornpensah Plana 

and highly compensated employees. Certain of these plans are open to new participants. Participants in these plans may, at their discretion invest their deferred 
compensahn in various inatment choices including OUT common stmk. 

In December 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (“the Medicart Act”) became Irw in the united states. 
a 

We sponsor several non-qualified unfunded deferred compensation plans For various groups that include certain of our curren! and former management 
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QWEST COMMUNICATfONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
- 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL S T A T E M E ~ C o n i h u e d )  
For the YEWS Ended December 31,2005,2004 and 2003 

administrative expenses, changes in investment values and increases or WreasB in the defend compensation linbility resulting from changes in the invesiment 
values are recorded in our consolidated statement of opmtions. The deferred w m p d o n  liability as of December 3 1,2005 and 2004 was $20 million and 
$21 million, respectively. The valw ofthe deferred compensation p i m '  assets was $10 million and $1 1 million at k m h  31,2005 and 2004, respdvdy, 
and is included in other long-tm assets in our consolidated balance sheets. Sham of our common stock owned by rabbi busts, such 88 those &fished for our 
deferred compensation plans, are treated as treasury s ~ k  and are included lit cost iis treasury stock on ourconsolidatcd balance sheet 

Deferred Compensation Plan for Nm-employee Directors 

at their discretion, elm to defer all or my portion ofthe directors' fees for the upcoming year for servica they perform as dimtors of the Company. The 
Cornpsny no longer provides a match for d e f d  fe%s for the members of the current Board, however, we previously matched 5G% of the fees that were 
contributed to the plan. Participants in the plan are fully vested in both their deferred fees and the matching contribution. Subject to the term of the plan, 
participants can suspend or change their election to defer fees to be earned and pid in f u t m  calendar years. 

to one share of our common stock and is subject to adjustment for cash dividends payable to ow stwkholders ns well as stmk dividends and splits, consolidations 
and the like that affect shares of our common stock outstanding. At December 31,2005, the de- oompslition plan for norremployee directors hdd 
appmximtely 807,tWO phantom units of Qwest common stock Subject to the terms of the p h .  each dimtot's account will be ultimately distributed at the time 
e k M  in advance by the director or upon fernination of the plan and in a form elected in advance by the dire.ctm, which may be in: (i) 3 lump-sum payment; 
(ii) annual cash installments over pzriods up to I O  yean; or (iii) some other form selected by our Executive Vice Presidenehief  Human Rwourcw Officer (or 
his or her designee). A change in our stock price of one dollar would not result in a significant expense impact to our consolidated financial statements. 

Investment earnings, adminisidve expenses, changes in investment values and i n w e s  or dexeasw in the deferred compensation liability resulting 
from changes in the value of our common stock are recorded in our consolidated statement of operations. The defend cornpensation liability as of Dwrnber 31, 
2005 for the pian was $4 million and the expense associated with this plan was not significant during 2005 and 2004. However, depending on the extent of 
appreciation in the value of our common stock, expenses i n c u d  under this plan muld bewme significant in subsequent years. 

Note 12: Stock Incentive Plans 
Stock adom 

On June 23,1997, pre-Merger Qwcst adopted the Equity incentive Plan. This plan was mst m t l y  amended and restated on October 4,2000 and 
permits the grmt ofnorr-qualified stack options, incentive stock options, stwk appreciatim rights, reslricted stock stock units and other stock grants. The 
maximum number of sham of our common stock that may be issued under the Equity Incentive Plm at any time pursuant to awards is equal to 10% of the 
awegate n u m h  of our common shares issued and outstanding reduced by the aggregate number of options and other awards then owtanding under the Equity 
Incentive Plan or otherwise. Issued and outstanding shares are determined as of the close oftmdingon the New York Stock Exchange on the p m d i n g  
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL WC, 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED PWANClAL STATEMENTs-(Conted) 

For the Years Ended DBcember 31,2005,2004 and 2003 

trading day. S i n e  the Merger, dl option grants have been iaued from this plan. As of December 3 1,2005, the maximum number of shares of our common stock 
available for issuance under the Equity Incentive Ptan was I87 million, with 137 million shares underlying outstanding options and 50 million shares available 
for issuance pursuant to new awards. 

The Compensation and Humm h u r c e s  Committee of our Board, or its delegate, approves the exercise price for each option. Stock options generally 
have an exercise price that is at least equal to the fair market value of the common stock on the date the stack option is granted, subject to certain restrictions. 
Stock option awards g d l y  vest in qual increments over the vesting period of the granted option (generally three to five years). Unless otherwise provided 
the Compensation and Human Resources Committee, our Equity Incentive Plan provides that, on a “change in contmi,” all awards granted under the Equity 
Incentive Plan will vest immediately. Options that we granted to our employees h m  June 1939 to September 2W2 typically provide fotacoelerattd vesting i f  
the option= is terminatad without cause following a change in control. Since September2002, options that we grant to our exemdive off im (vice president 
level and abve)  typically provide for accelerated vesting and an extendad exercise period upon a change of controt and options that we grant to dl Other 
wnployees typically provide for acceleratad vesting if the opaionee is terminatad without cause following i change in cmbol. Options p t e d  in 2005,2004 and 
2003 have ten-year terms. 

Our StOEk incentive plans me accounted for using the intrinsimalue method under which no cornpmsahn expense i s  recognized for optiom granted to 
mployees when the strike price of those options equals or exceeds tho value of the underlying security on the me~wre~ent date. Any excess of the stock price 
on the measurement date over the ercercie price is recorded as deferred compensation and amortized over the service perid during which the stock option award 
yes&, using the accelerated method described in FIN No. 28. As a resuit of using the accelerated method, we must oocasionally reverse expense fiously 
recorded for options that are forfeited prior to vsting, but after expense has been recorded. This practice has resulted in a net benefit of $2 million for stock 
compensation in the year end& Decembr 31, 2004, which is a prtial reversal of the stock option-based compensation e x p m e  of $6 million and $ 1  8 million 
we recorded in the years ended December 3 I ,  2003 and 2002, respectively. 

Summarized below is the activity of our stock option plam for the three years ended December 3 1,2005: 

Number of 
Shares 

Ontstmdlng D m n ~ l w  31,2002 
Granted 
Exercised 
Canceled or expired 

(in tbommds) 
112,320 
3 1,549 

(18,145) 
- 

$ 19.81 
3-60 

18-13 
- 

OabEandfng December 31,2093 
Granted 
Exercised 
Canceled or expired 

Oubtandhg December 31,2884 
Granted 
WWifHl 
Canceled or expired 

OuMandhg December 31,2005 

$ 15.98 
4.61 
2.81 

11.63 

126,974 
32,142 
@,a31 

(17,493) 

$ 14.65 
4.01 
3.86 

17.87 

134,946 $ 12.23 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENwContinued) 

For the Years Ended December 31,2005,2004 and 2003 

Options to purchase 124.5 million, 74.5 million and 54.0 million shares of Qwest common stock at weighted-average exercise prices of $ 1  2.97, $21 -31 

The outstanding options at D m k r  31,2005 have the following charactwistiEs (shares in thousands): 

and $25.38 were exercisable at Decem& 3 I ,  2005,2W and 2003, tespectively. 

Raw of Exercim Prtce 

$ 0 . 0 1 4  5.00 
$ 5.01-$10.0(1 
$10.0 1420.00 
$20.01430.00 
%30.01-Wl.00 
W.OI--iEM1.M) 

Number 
O U t ~ d n g  

68,924 
23,741 
10,682 
9,700 
13,407 
8,476 

Weighted A m p  
Exercise PrIm 

Number 
Exercfsable 

Weighted 
Exerelse Mer 

8.10 
5.30 
2.07 
2.35 
3 5 2  
4.10 

6x12 

s 3.65 
5.23 

17.19 
26.80 
33.29 
42.95 

t 1223 

58546 
23.737 
10,682 
9,700 

13,407 
8,476 

$ 4.06 
5.23 

17.19 
26.80 
33.29 
42.95 

124,548 s 1297 

As r equ id  by SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stmk-based Compensation-Transitioition and Disclosure--an Amendment of FASB 
Statement No. la”, we have disclosed in Noie 2-Summary of Si@ican! h u n t i n g  Policies the pro forma amounts as if the fair value methd ofaccounting 
had been used. These pro forma amounts may not be tepresentative of the effects on reported net income M loss in future years because the number of future 
sham to be issued under t h ~  plans is not known and the assumptions used to determine the fair value can vary significantly. 

On August 18,200S. the Cornpeasation and Human Resources Committee of our Board of Directors accelerated the vesting of all outstanding and 
unvested stock options that have an exercise price equal to or greater than $3.79. wbich was the closing market price of our common stock on such date. As 3 
result of the accelemtion, 9 . 4  miIlion shck option% of which 10.5 million stock options were held by ow executive officers, became exercisable on August 18, 
2005. Aside from the amelemtion of the vesting date, the terms and conditions of the stock option agreements governing the underlying stock options remain 
unchanged. 

NO. 123R SFAS No. I23R sets forth accounting requirements for ‘‘sfmebased” Compsatim to employees and quires companies to mgnk in their 
income statements the p t - d a t e  fair value of stock options and other equitybased cornpation. We extimate that future ownpensation expense will be 
reduced by approximately $80 million over the remaining vesting period of the options as a d t  of the acceleration. 

The purpose of the sEcelemtion was to avoid recogniaing fuiure cornpermtion wtpense associated with the mlented options upon the adoption of SFAS 

Following are the weighied-avemge assumptions used with the BIaclrScholes option-pricing model to estimate the fair value of options granted in 2005, 
2004 and 2003: 

Years Ended h m b e r 3 1 ,  

m e 5  2M)4 m3 - - - 
Riskbintawtmte  3.8% 28% 2.7% 
Expectad dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 
ExpwAed option life -1 4.4 4.3 4.4 
Expscted stcck priOe volatility 88% 88% 88% 
Weighted-wmgegmtltdak fjtirvarw 8 2.74 s 3.10 $ 2 3  

Two ofthe more significant assumptions used in this estimate are the ex- option life and the e x d  volatility, both o f  which we estimated based on 
historical information. 
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mk2EQ&& 

ReshietedStocR 

stock under the Equity Incentive Plan. l3ad MI prior grants, compensation expense of $ 1  million, $ 1  million and $2 million was mp+ for restricted stmk 
grants in 2005,2004 and 2003, respecUvely. 

Emplop? Stbck P u r c k  plarn 
We have an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) under which we are authorized to issue shares of our common stock to eligible employes. As a 

result of our failure to file with the SEC, various of our quarterly reports on Form 1 (+Q and our failure to fite our AnnuaI Report on Form IO-K for the year 
ended December 31,2Ml2, we temporarily suspended the ESPP in August 2002. In December 2003, an amended and restated ESPP was apprOved by the 
shareholders. Under the amended plan, we are authorized to issue 27 million shares of our common stock to eligible mployees. Enrollment in the amended 
ESPP plan began in January 2004 and the first distribution of stwk o d  during the first week of March 2004. Under the t e rn  of the ESPP, eligible 
employees may authorize payroll deductions of up to 15% of their base compensation, as defined, to purchase our common stock at a prim of 85% of the fair 
market value of our common stock on the last trading day of the month in which our oommon stock is purchased. In the ym-s ended Deoembw 3 1,2005 and 
2004 approximately 2,064,000 shares and 2,257,000 shares, respectively, were p h a s e d  under this plan at weighted-average purchase prices of $3.46 and $3.23 
per share respectively. NO shares were purclmed under this plan in the year en&d December 3 1,2003 due to the suspension. in aocordance with APB No. 25, 
we do not mgnize compensation expense for the difference between the employees’ purchase price and the fair market value of the stock. 

N o t  13: SboEkholders’ Equlty 
Common Swck pa01 jmr wke} 

1.867 billion and 1.817 billion shares issued and 1.866 billion and 1.816 billion shares outstanding, respectively. 

hfmt-edSkwk (Si.OOpar value) 

(2) issue shares of preferred siwk in such class OF series up to the maximum number of shares ofthe retwant c f w  or series of preferrd stock authorized and 
(3) determine the preferences, rights. privileges and restrictions of any such class or series, including the dividend rights, voting rights, the rights and terms of 
h p t i o n ,  the rights and terms of conversion, liquidstion preferences. the number of s h m  constituting any such class or series and the designation of such 
class or series. One of the e&& of authorized but unissued and unreserved shw of capital stwk may be to render more difficult or discowage am aUcmpt by a 
potential acquker to obtain control of us by means of a merger, tender offer, proxy contest or ofierwise and &ereby pro!ect the continuity of our management. 
’Ihe issuance of such ~~ of capital stock may have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change in conhd of us without any further action by our 
StaEkholderS. We have no present intention to adopt a st&Ider righ$ plan, but could do so without stockholder approval at any future time. 

In 2005 1,704,000 shares of restricted stock were granted under the E@@ Incentive Plan. In  2004 and 2003, we did not grant my Of restricted 

We are authorized to issue up to 5.0 billion shares of m o m  stock, pat value $0.01 per share. As of December 3 I ,  2005 and 2004, there were 

Under our charter, our Board has the authority, without stdholder approval, to (1) create one or more ctases or series within a class of preferred s-k, 

As of December 3 1,2005,2004 and 2003, there were 200 million shares of preferred stock authorized but no shares issued or outstanding. 
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TreaswySkwk 
Debt for Q u i Q  Exchanges 

$144 million and $202 million, respectively, in exchange For certain outstanding debt. 

Deferred Compensati+Rabbi Trust 

stock that i t  held. At December 3 I, 2005 and 2004, the mbbi trusts held approximately 62,000 and 168,OOO sham of our common stock with a cost of $3 million 
and $8 million, respectively. S h e s  of our common stock held by the rabbi tlus$ are accounted for as treasury st&, but are cortsidesed outstmdhg for I@ 
Purpos-. 

hm*ngs Per Share 

2003 was 1.836 billion, 1.801 billion and 1.739 billion, respectively. For the years ended December 3 I ,  2005,2004 and 2003, the effect of approximately 
135 million. 127 million and 126 million, respectively, of outstanding stock options was excIuded from the &lation of diluted income (loss) per shtlre because 
the e f k t  was anti-ditutivc. As described in Note 8 Borrowings, in November 2005 we i s s d  3.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025. h e  to the twms Of 
conversion in the Indenture, any hypothetical conversion during 2005 would not have resulted in the issuance of shares o f  our common stock. Therefore, there is 
no impact of potential conversion of these 3.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2025 on the dcuiation of the weightedaverage number of shares for 2005. 

Vividen& 

During 2005,2004 and 2003. we issued 38.3 million, 36.4 million and 52.5 million shares of our commn stock with an aggregate value of $145 million, 

Rabbi trusts were established for two of our deferred compensation plans. During 2005 one of the rabbi trusts liquidated all of the shares of our common 

The weightd-average n m k r  of sham used in computing basic and diluted income ow) per share for the years ended December 31,2005,2004 and 

We did not declare any dividends during 2005,2004 and 2003. 

We are currently generating net operating loss cmyforwards for tax puqmses. The $88 million expense we m g n i z d  in 2004 is p h l y  re.l&d to the 
Note 14: Income Taxes 

adjustment Ofour md for uncertain tax positions or strategies (“Uncertain Tax Positions”), including $158 million related to the Contested Liability 
Acceleration Strategy (‘‘CLAS’) ofkt  by Feductiorts in the estimated liabilities for other Uncertain Tax PoQitim. We do not expect to recognize income tax 
benefits for future net operating losses until we germate taxable income. An income tax provision will continue to be recognized for changes in our e s t i d  
liability for Uncertain Tax Positions. 

In 2004, we recopBed income tax expense of $1 58 million related to a change in the expeded timing of deductions related to our tax strategy. referred to BS 
CLAS. which we implemented in 2000. CLAS is 3 strategy that sets aside assets to provide for the satistiction of asserted liabilities associated wi!h litigation in a 
tax efficient manner. CLAS acce1mted deductions for contested liabilities by placing me& for potential litigation 1iabiIith out of the control o f  the Company 
and into h s t s  managed by a third-party trustee. In 2004, we were f o d l y  notifml by the IRS that it waa contesting tk CLAS tax strategy. A h  in 2004, as a 
result ofa series of notices on CLAS s-dtegies issued by tk IRS a d  the receipt of legal advice with respect thereto, we adjusted our accounting for CLAS as 
r e q u i d  by SFAS No. 109. “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS No. IW?. The change in expected timing of deductions caused an increase in our liability 
for uncertain tax positions and a 
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corresponding inererise in our net operating loss carry-forwards (“NOLsn), Because we are not currently fomsting future taxable income suficient to mliire 
the benefits of this increase in our NOLs, we recorded an m e  in our valuation allowance on d e f d  tax wts as required by SFAS NO. 109. AdditionalIy, 
in 2004 the IRS proposed a penalty of $37 million on this strategy. The Company believes that the imposition of a pnalty is not appropriate 88 it acted in g d  
faith in implementing this tax strategv in reliance on two wntemporaneous tax opinions and adequately disclosed this transaction to the IRS in its initial and 
subsequent tax r e m s .  We intend to vigor~usly defend our position on this and other tax matters. 

In 2004, the IRS billad us for additional taxes due for past years. This billing relates to the preparation of a carrybwk claim from the ye= ZOOO, and 
resulted in additional Alternative Minimum Tax (“AMT’) due. The payment of this AMT liability results in AMT Credit carryforwards the majority of which We 
expect to realize 
for interest, for this matter. 

a reduction in any payments we make against our liabilities for uncertain tax positions. In 2004, we paid $186 million, including $16 million 

The components of the income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations are as follows: 

Years Ended December31. 

2#s 2003 

% -  
6 

6 
_- 
-- 

s ( I )  
3 

2 - 100 Total current tax provision 

Deferred tax (benefit) provision: 
Federal 
State and local 

Total d e f d  tax benefit 

The effective tsrx rate for our continuing o’perations differs from the statutory tax rate as follows: 

201s zow 2003 

Federal statutory inwme tax mix 
State income tax-et of federal effect and tax h e f t t  of losses not recognized 
Nm-deductible Securities and ExchmgecOminigion SettlemeAt 
Medicare subsidy 
U~intaxpositionchanges 
OthU 
Faderal tax benefit- loss not rewgnhi 

35.0% 
0. I 

1.9 
02 
0.1 

(369) 

- 
35.0% 

2.8 
I 

I 

0.1 
(9.61 

0.4% - 28.3% 
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The components ofthe defefied tax and liabilities are as follows: 

Net operating loss Eanyfonvards 
Postretirement benefits and pensions 
State deferred taxeS--net of federal effect 
other 

Valuation allowance on deferred tax assets 

 prop^, plant and equipmnt and intangible as- 
D e f e d  revenue 
State deferred taxes--net of federal effect 
mer 

Tdtal deferred ta liabilities 

We received $5 million and $67 million in net income tax refunds in 2005 and 2003. We pad $164 million tn net income tax in 2004. 

As of December 3 I ,  2005, we had net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $6 billion that may expire between 2008 and 2025. Less than $100 
million of the net operating loss carryforward expires before 2016. A valuation allowance has been established for the net opemting loss carryforwards because 
we cannot determine that it is more likely than not that we will ever realize these carryforwards. Although no net Operating Ius4 carryforward expired in 2005, we 
recorded a $1 billion reduction in our reported net operating 
valuation allowance 88 a result of our current analysis of the sustainability of a particular tax position. 

connection with the completion of these filings, we completed the tnre-up of the deferred income tax balances that were reported at December 3 1,2004 in the 
above tabie as fallows. We increased our totid deferred tax liabilities by $649 million and our total deferred tax assets by $560 million resulting in a reduction in 
our net deferred tax asset of $89 million with a oorresponding reduction in the valuation allowance. The true-up to our defwred tax as& includes an increase in 
other defwred h x  wets of $277 million, an increase in the tax benefit of ow net operating 10s carryforward of $297 million and a dwrease m deferred tax assets 
related to postretirement benefits and pensions of $1 I8 million and an increase in state deferred tmeq net of kderal effect of $104 million. The trump to our 
deferred tax liabilities includes an increage in property, plant and equipment and intangible of $557 million, an increase in &fend reyenue of $231 million 
Off& by a decrease in other deferred tax tiabilih of%207 million and an increase of state deferred && net of fedwal effect of $68 million. These entries have 
no impaEL on wr previously reported net d e f d t a x  assets, income tax benefit (expense), net (I-) in- stockholdtrs’ ddci t  or cash flows. 

carryforward and, at the same time, we recorded a wrresponding reduction in the related 

During 2005. we completd filing amended tax documents associated wit4 the 2000 and 2001 restatements ofour consolidated financia[ statements. In 
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In 2004, we changed ow state tax rate bsd on a review of our state apport.iment factors and the current tax rate of the states where we conduct 

We had unamortized investment tax d i t s  of $7 1 million and $79 million as of Deoember 3 I ,  2005 and 2004, respectively. included in other long-term 

business. The change resulted in a $26 million state deferred tax benefit, which was offsei by a corresponding increase in our valuation d h m ~ e .  

Iiabilities on our cml idated balance sheets. These investment tax credits are amortized over the lives of he related assets. At the end of 2005 we a h  have 
$69 million ($45 million net of federal income tax) of state investment tax credit carryforwards that will expire between 2008 and 2019, if not utilized. 

Note 15: Segment information 
Our three segments are ( I )  wireline pewices, (2) wireless services and (3) other services. Until September 2003, we o p d  a fourth segment, OUT 

directory publishing business, which, as described in Note &Assets Held for Sale including Disoontinued Operations, has been clmified as discontinued 
operations md accordingly is not presented in our segment &ts below. Our chiefoperating decision maker (“CODM”) regularly reviews the results of 
opmiions at a xgment level to evaluate the pesfomce of each segment and allocate capital 

Segment income consists of each segment’s revenue and direct expenses. Segment revenue is based on the types of products and services of‘fmd as 
d m r i b d  below. Segment expenses include employeerelatad costs, facility costs, network expenses and ~ n - e m p l ~ y e e  related costs such as customer support, 
collections and marketing. We manage indirect administrative swvioes c&s such as finance, information technology, real estate and leg1 mtrally; 
consequently, these costs are assigned to the other services segment. We manage depreciation, amortization, interest expense, interest income and other income 
(expense) on a total company bsis. As a result, these charges are not included in any segment. 

Our wireline services segment includes revenue from the provision of voice services and data and Internet services. Voice services consist of local voice 
sewices (such as basic local exchange services), long-distance voice services (such as IntraLATA long-distance services and InterLATA long-distance 
services) and other voice services (such as operator services, public telephone service, enhanced voice sewices, CPE and collocation xrvioes). Voice servioes 
revenue is also generated on a wholesale basis from network transport and billing setvicm wholesale lonrdistance se.rvico revenue (included in long-distance 
senices revenue.) and wholwale access revenlae (included in b d  voice services revenue). Data and Internet services include data services (such as traditional 
private lines, wholesale private lines, h e  relay, asphronous bnsfer rnde  and related CPE) and Internet services (such BS high-speed Internet, dedicated 
Internet access (“DIAn), virtual private network (“VW), Internet dial access, web hosting, professional services and related CPE). Rwenue f h n  optical 
capacity transactions is dso hcludad in rwenue from data ssrvices. Depending on the product OT service purchased, a customer may pay anup-front fee, a 
monthly fee, 8 usge charge or a combination of these fees and charges. 

agreement with a third-party provider that allows us to m l l  wireless senices, including access to the t h d - j m q  provider’s nationwide perxmal 
communications service wireiess network. to mas markets and business customers primarily within our IocaI service area. We began offering these Services 
under our brand name in March 2004. 

Our other services segment consists of revenue and expenses from other operations and our centrally managed departments. Other senices revenue is 

based on segment income as defined below. 

Our wireless services are provided through our wholly owned subsidiary, Qwest Wirelas. In August 2003, %est Wireless entered into a services 

predominately derived from subkaszs of some of our unwed 
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real estate assets, such as s p e  in our ofice buildings, warehoum and other properties. Our other services segment expenses include unallocated corporate 
expenses for functions such as fmance. information technology, tegal, marketing services and human resources, which we centrally manage. 

shown klow for each segment is derived kom bansactions with external customers. Internally, we do not separately track the total ass& of our wireline services 
or other services segments. 

Segment i n f o d o n  for the three years ended DeEwnber 31,2005 is summatized in the following tabIe. We have revised the segment expenses and 
segment i n m e  amounts praented for 2004 and 2003 to conform to the way the segment information is currently presented to our CODM. 

other than as already describad herein, the accounting principles used are the same as those used in ow consolidated financial statements. Tho revenue 

Years Ended December 31, 

opesating rcvenut: 
Wiretine services 
W i W  sewice4 
other services 

Total revenw 

-g-: 
Wireline services 
Wireless services 
Other senices 

21105 2004 

(Doltan in millioas) 

$1 3,335 
527 
41 

$1 3,903 - 
$ 6,600 

598 
2,785 

Total segment expenses 

Segment income (looss): 
Wireline services 
wirehs servioes 
M e r  services 

Capital expndiialres: 
Wireline servioes 
Wirelas services 
Other services 

$ 3,920 - 
$ 1,248 

2 
363 

T d  cash capital expendiium $ 1,613 

$13J55 
514 
40 

$1 3,809 - 
$ 6,993 

501 
3.367 

$10.861 

_- 
- 
$ 6,262 

13 
(3.327) 

$ 2,948 
- 
- 
$ 1,351 

5 
375 

$ 1,731 

2003 

$13,647 
598 
43 

$14,288 - 
$ 7,826 

35 1 
2,968 

$11,145 - 
$ 5,821 

247 
(2,925) 

S 3,143 - 
$ 1,562 

13 
513 

$2,088 - 
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The following table reconciles segment income to net loss for each of the y m s  ended D t x e r n h  31,2005,2004 and 2003: 

Yarn Endsd Daember 31, 

Segment income 
Depreciation 
Capitalized sohare and 0 t h  intangible assets m~aization 
Asset impairment charges 
T 0 t a l o t k e x p e - d  
Income tax bendit (expense) 
Income and gain h n  sale of diswWud & m ~ c t  of taxes 
Cumulative effect of accounting c h a n g m  oftaxes 

Net (h) k c m e  

ms 2003 

Set forth below is revenue information for the years ended December 3 1,2005.2004 and 2003 for revenue derived from external cusiornecs for our 
products and services. 

Ymrs E d d d  December 31. 

~ l q w m u e :  
Wireline voice services 
Wireline dab and Internet smites 
Wire.less services 
otherswvices 

Total o p d n g  revenue 

$ 9,239 $ 9,423 $ 9,882 
4,w 3,832 3,765 

527 514 598 
41 40 43 

$13,N3 $13,809 $14,288 

- - -- 
- - -- 

We provide B variety of telecommunications servics on a domestic and international basis to business, government, m s  market and wholesale 

We do not have any single major customer that provides more than ten percent of the total of our revenue derived from external customers. 

In &tobar 1H9, we a@ to purchase d n  telephonylelatea assets and all of the stock of Precision Syams. Inc., a telecommunications solutions 

CUStwnerS. 

Note 16: Related Party Transactions 

provider, from Amhutz Digital Media, IILE., a subsidiary ofAnnschutz Company (which is our largest stockholder), in exchange for apromissory note in the 
mount O f  $34 million. The note bears interest at W o  annually with s d a n n d  interest payments and annual principal payments due through 2008. During 
2005,2004 and 2003, we paid $2 million, $2 million and $4 mitlion in interest, respectively, and $S million, $4 million and$3 million in principal, respedvely, 
on the note. At December 3 1,2005, the outstanding accrued interest on the note was approximately $250,000 and the outstanding principal Wance m the note 
was $21.4 million. 
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Note 17: Commitments and Contlngeocles 
c # m k m r s  
Future Contractual Obligtltiws 

The Collowing table summark our future contractual cash obligations as of December 31,20I)$: 

Comtmctualtbbtigahts:~) 
Long-term debt 

Capital lease and other obligations 
Operating Ime3 

Inswest on deBt(2) 

subtotal 
Purchase commitment obllgatlons:(3) (5) 

TeI-~ons commitments (4) 
IRU operating and maintenance obligations 
Advertising and pmnmtion 
Servicm 

$ 495 $ 996 
1,114 l,M7 

35 33 
2 H  261 

1,933 2,337 

166 87 
17 17 
37 32 
12 10 

232 146 

$2,165 $2,483 

-- - 

-- - 

-- - 

-- 

man zw 2010 --- 
(Dollars in milllO*S) 

$ 595 
r,w 

30 
233 

1,859 

66 
17 
31 
6 

- 

120 

$ t,974 
"- 

$1,315 $ 927 
9617 847 
21 8 
213 182 

2,456 1.964 
-- -- 

10 - 
17 17 
31 31 

1 1 

59 49 

$2,515 $2,013 

-- -- 

-- -- 

-- - 

2011 .IPd 
Thererhr T0t.l 

$ 11J64 
6 m  

45 
1,125 

$15,592 
11,804 

172 
2,303 

19,322 

I 

I 95 
174 
I 

29,871 

329 
280 
336 
30 

369 975 

$ 19,691 $30,846 - 
The table does not include: 

our open purchase orders as of Deoernber 3 I ,  2005. These purchase orders are generally at fair value, are generally cancelable without penalty and are 
part of nonnal operations; 

acoounts pyable of $773 million, a c x r d  expease and other current liabilities of $2.3 billion, and other long-term liabilities of $1 .S billion. all of 
which are recorded on our December 31,2005 consolidated balance sheet; and 

- any amounts related to the tegal mtingenciw described herein. 

Interat expense in all years may differ due to frrture refinancing of debt. Interest on ow floating rate debt was calculakd for all years using the rates 
effective as of December 3 I, 2005. 

We have various loneterm, non-cmaelable purchase commitments for advertising and promotion services, including advertising and marketing at sports 
arenas and other venues and wentg. We dm have service related commitments with various vendors for data processing, technical and software support. 
Future payments under certain services contracts wiIl v w y  depending MI our actual usage. In the table above we estimated payments for these service 
c~ntracts based on the lwsl of services we e x p d  to receive. 
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In the ordinnary murse of business and in order to optimize our cost structure, we mm into contractual obligations to utilize network facilities from Iml 
exchange carriers with twms greater than one year. Since the mnmts generally havono minimum volume requirements and are based on an 
interrelationship of volumes and discounted rates, we assessed o w  minimum commitment based on the termination fees to exit the contracts, assuming we 
exited the conhacts on December 31,2005. At December 31,2005 the termination fees that would have been i n d  to exit alf such contracts would have 
been approximately $382 million. These termination fees are excluded h m  the above table as the fees would not be paid in way year and the timing of 
such payments, if  any, is uncertain. We believe that the payment of these fees is m t e  in the future under n o d  business conditions. 

We calculated the minimum obligation for certain agreements to purchase goods or services based on termination fees that may have IO be p i d  to exit the 
contract. If we elect to exit these contracts, termination fees for all such conhcts cwld be approximakIy $228 million in 2006. These termination fees are 
excluded from the above table as the fees would not b paid in every year and the timing of such payments, if any, is uncertain. We believe that the 
payment of these fees is remote in the future under normal business wnditions. 

Capital Leasrs. We lease certain ofice facilities and equipment under various capital lease arrangements. Assets acquired through capital leases during 
2005,2004 and 2003 were $SO million, $56 million and $36 million, respectively. Assets recorded under mpitltlized lease agreements included in property, p h t  
and equipment consisted of $208 million, $174 million and $183 million of wt less accumutatd amMtization of $55 million, $50 million and $80 million at 
December 31,2005,2004 and 2003, respectively. 

The filum minimum payments under capital leases as of December 3 1,2005 are raconciled to our o o n s o l i  balance sheet as follows: 

Total minimum payments 
Less: amount representing interest and executory casts 

Present value of minimum payments 
Less: current portion 

(Dollars in 
miilinm) 

$ 172 
(60) 

112 
(19) 

tong-terrnportion $ 93 

Operating Lermes. Certain office facilities, real estate and equipment are subject to operating lases. We ais0 have easement (or right-of-way) agreements 
with railroads and public transportation authorities that are acoounted for as operating leases. Rent expense under tbwe operating leases was $455 million, 
M05 million and $479 million during 2 0 0 5 , 2 W  and 2003, respectively, net of sublease rentals of $35 million, $36 million and $33 miIlion, respectively. Future 
contractual obligations for operating leases as reported in the table above have not been r e d d  by minimum sublerlse rentals of $197 million we expect to bz 
rd ized under no-celable subleases. 

EmpIoyee @em# Plans. W e  offer pension, non-qualifid psh-etirernent healthcare and life insurance benefits to certain current and future retirees, 
some of which are due under contractual agreements. Pmsion and certain occupational post-retimment benefits are paid through trust8 and therefore are not 
included in this lable as we are not able to reliably estimate future required contributions to the trusts. As of December 31,2005, our qualified defined benefit 
pension plan was fully funded. As of D-ber 3 1,2005, we had a liability recorded on 
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our balsnce sheet of $3.459 billion for non-qualifiad pension, posf-retirement healthcare and life insurance and other post-employment benefit obligrltions. The 
liability is impacted by various achmial assumptions and will differ from the sum of the fuWe value of achmialIy estimated paymen$. See further discussion of 
our benefit plans in Note 1 I-Employee Bene% 

Lertws of Credit and Guarantees 

outstanding was $144 million. 

obligations of other Qwest entitiw. 

contiage* 

- 
We maintain leiter of credit arrangements with various financial institutions for up to $147 million. At December 31,2005, the amount of letters of credit 

As described further in Note 1 Winmial Staternen$ of G u m t o n ,  certain @est entities have guaranteed the payment of debt, leases or lettef of credit 

Throughout this note, when we refer to aclass action as "putative" it is because a class has bem alleged, but no? certified in that matter. Until and unless a 
class has been certified by the oourt, it has not been established hat the named plaintiffs represent the class of plaintiffs they purport to represent. To the extent 
appropriate, we have provided reserves for each of the matters described below. 

Settlement of Consolidated Securities Action 
Twelve putative class actions purprtedly brought on behalf of purchasers ofour publicly haded securities between May 24,1999 and Febmty 14,2002 

have been consolidated into a consolidated &ties action pending in federal district court in Colorado. The first of these actions was filed on July 27,2001. 
Plaintiffs akge, mong other things, that btodants issued false and misleading financial results and made false statements about our business and investments, 
including making materially false statmnmts io certain of our registration stmttements. Tbe most recent complaint in this m % n ~  seeks unspecified oompenrdoty 
damages and other relief. However, counsel for plaintiffs indicated that the putative class would seek d q a  in the tens of billions of dollars. The SPA action 
h c r i k d  below has a h  been consolidated with the ConsoIidaaed securities action. 

On November 23,2005. we, cedain other defendants, and the putative class representatives entered into and filed with the federal district court in COlo~ado 
a Stipulation of Partial Settlement that, if implementad, will settle the consolidated securitk action against us and c a i n  other defendmts. On January 5,2006, 
the Federal district court in Colorado issued an order (I)  preliminarily approving the proposed settlement, (2) setting a hearing for May 19,2006 to consider find 
approval of thc proposed settlement, and (3) certifying a class, for settlement purposes only, on behalf of purchasers of our publicly haded securities between 
May 24. 1999 and July 28,2002. 

Under the prowed setff ement agreement, we would pay a total of $4QO million in cash4100 million of which was paid 30 days after preiiminary 
approval of the proposed s e t t l m t  by the federal districi court in Colorado, $100 million of which would be @30 days af€er final approval of the settlement 
by the court, and $200 million of which would be paid on January 15,2007, plus interest at 3.75% per annum on the $200 million htwm the date of final 
approval by the court and the date of payment. 

Ifapproved, the proposed sdement  agreement will settle the individual cMms of the class mpresentativa and the claims of the class they represent 
against us and all defendants in the consolidated securities action, except Joseph Nacchio. our former chief executive officer, an8 Robert Woodruff, OUT former 
chief financial offcer. (The non-class action brought by SPA that i s  consolidated for certain purpc*scs with the consolidated 
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securities action is not part of the settle men^) As part of the proposed &tlement, we would reoeive $10 million from Arthur A n h  LLP, which would also be 
released by the class representatives and the class they represent, which will offset $10 million of the $400 million that would bc payhle by US. 

The propwd Wtlernent agreement i s  subject to a n u m b  of conditions and fumre contingencies. Among others, it (i) requires Anal murt approval; 
(ii) provides plaintiffs with the right to terminak the settlement if the $250 million we previously paid to the SEC in settlement of its investigation against us is 
not distributed to the class members; (iii) provides us with the right to terminate the settlement if class members representing more than a spified amount of 
alleged securities losses elect to opt out of the settlement; (iv) provides us with the right to terminate the settlement if we do not receive adequate protections for 
claims relating to substantive liabilities of rmnsettling defendants; and (v) is subject to review on appeal even if the district court w m  finally to approve it. A V  
lawsuits that may be brought by parties opting out of the settlement will be vigornusty defended regardless of whether the settlement dwribed herein is 
consummated No prties h i t  any wrongdoing as part of ttre proposed settlement. 

DOJ Iovcstlgatlon and Remainlag Securities Actions 

nature of the re$tamnmts of our consolidated financial statements for 2001 and Ztxto, which are &scrim in our previously issued cmsolidatad financial 
statements for the year ended December 3 I, 2002, or our 2002 Financial Statements, affect the risks presented by this investidon 4 these aclcfions, as thm 
maUem involve, among other things, our prior acEounting practices and related disclosures. Plaintiffs in certain of the securitb d o n s  have alleged our 
restatement of items in support of their claims. We can give no a s s u ~ ~ n c e  as to the impacts on our financial results or financial ormdition that may ultimately 
mi from all of these matters. 

- 

The Deprimmt of Justice, or DOJ. investigation and the smrities d o n s  described below preseot material and significant risks to US. The she, wpe and 

We have a merve morded in our financial statements of approximately $105 million relating io the remaining securities actions described below, which 
amount represents the minimum estimated amount of loss we believe is probable with respect to these matters. We have recorded our estimate of the minimum 
liability of these matfers because no estimate of probable loss for these matters is 3 better estimate than any other amount. If h e  recorded reserve is insufficient to 
mver these miters, we will need to record additional charges to our consolidated statement of o p t i o n s  in future periods. Addilionally, we 3w unable at this 
time to provide a reasonable estimate of the upper end of the range of loss associated with these maffers due to their complex naiure and current statu% and, as a 
muk the amount we have reserved for these matters is our estimate of the lowest end of the pssible range of 1 0 s .  The ultimate outoomes of these matters are 
stili uncertain and the amount of lo= we may ultimately incur could be substanPally more than the reserue we have provided. 

We believe that it is probable that a portion of the reoMded reserye for the remaining securities d o n s  d m r i b d  below and the consolidated securitks 
action described above will be recoverable from a portion of the insurance proceeds tbai were plaoed in a trust to cover our losses and the losses of individual 
insureds following our November 2003 xttlement of d q u b s  with certain of our insurance &em relatd fo, among other things, the DOJ investigation and 
securities actions. lke insurance pKIoeeds are subject to claims by us and other inrmrads Cor, among other things, the msts of defending certain mattas and, as a 
result, such p b  arc being depleted oyer time. In any event, the terms and conditions of applicabIe bylaws, certificates or articles of incorporation, 
agreements or applicable law may obligate us to indemnify our current mi former directors, officers and employees with respect to certain liabilities, and we 
have twen advancing legal fees and costs to many current and former directors, officers and employees in connection with !he DO1 investigation, securities 
actions and certain other matters. 
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We continue to defend against the securities actions described below vigorously and are curren~y unable to provide any estimate as to he timing of the 
resolution of these d o n s .  Any settlement of or judgment in one or more of these actions substantially in excm of our record4 reserves could have a significant 
impact on us, and we can give no wsurmce that we will have the resources available to pay any such judgment The magnitude of any settlement or judgment 
resulting from these d o n s  could materially and adversely affect our ability to meet our debt obligations and our financial condition, potentially impacting Our 
credit ratings, our ability to access capital markets and our compliance with debt oovenmts. In addition, the magnitude of any such setrlement or judgment may 
cause us to draw down significantly on ow cash balances, which might force us to obtain additional financing or explore other methods to genwate cash. SUA 
methods could include issuing additional securities or selling assets. 

DOJ Im@$m 

U.S. Attorney's Office has investigated various matters &at include tmnwtions reW to the various adjustments and restatements described in our 2002 
Financial Statements, transactions between us and certain of our vendors and certain investments in the securities of those vendors by individuals associated with 
us, and certain prior disclosures made by us. We are continuing in ow efforts to cooperate fulIy with the U.S. Attorney's Office in i ts  investiphon. However, we 
C 3 ~ 1 0 t  predict tho outoorne of this investigation or the timing of its resolution. 

Rentrairrilrg & c u r b  Acrions 

and state securities laws, engaged in fraud, civil conspiracy and negligent misrepresentation, and breached fiduciary duties owed to invators and current and 
fomr employe~s. Other defendants in one or more of these actions include current and former directors of Qwesc former omllers and ernploym of (?west, 
Arthur Andersen LLP, Certain invatment banks and others. 

On July 9,2002, we were informed by the U.S. Attorney's Office for the District of Colorado of a criminal inveStigation of our bushess. We Mieve the 

We are adefendant in the securities actions described below. Plaintiffs in k s e  actions have variously alleged, among other things, that we violated fadera1 

ERISA actions. Seven putative class actions purportedly brought on behalf of all prticipants and beneficiaries of tbe Qwest Savings and I n v m e n t  
Plan and pwkmsor plans, or the Plan, from March 7, I999 until January 12,2004 have b x n  consolidated into a consolidated action in federal 
district court in Colorado. T h m  suits also purport to s& relief on bhalf of the Plan. The first of W e  actions was 61ed in Mmh 2002. Plaintiffs 
ltssert breach of fiduciary duty claims agaimt us and others under the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, alleging, 
among other things, various improprieties in managing holdings of our stwk in the Plan. Plaintiffs seek damages, equiiable and declaratoly relief, 
along with attorneys' fees and costs and restilution. Counsel for plaintiffs has indicated that the putative class will seek billions of dollars of damages. 
A nom5ass action alleging similar claims was fled in the federal district court in Montana in June 2003 and was later transferred to Federal district 
court in Colorrmdo. 

- Colorado action. A putative class action purportedly brought MI W f  of purchasers of our stock between lune 25,2000 and June 27,2002 and 
owners of U S WEST, Inc. stmk om June 28,2000 is pending in Colorado in the District Court for the County of Boulder. This action was fiied on 
June 27,2002. Plaintiffs allege, among other things. that the defendants issued fake and misleading statwnents and engagad in improper mounting 
p d c e s  in order to accomplish the Merger, to make us appear succmfut and to inflate the value of our stwk Plaintiffs seek unspecified monetary 
damages, disgorgement of illegal gains and other relief. 
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. New Jersey action. An action by the State of New l e v  (Treasury Department, Division of Investment), or New Jerscy, is pending in the New 
Jersey Superior Court, Mercer County. This action was fiM on November 27,2002. New Jersey alleges, among other things, that defendants =.used 
our stock to trade at artificially indated prices by empioying improper acmunting practices and by issuing false statements about our business, 
revenue and profits, and contends that it incurred hundreds of millions of dollars in losses. Among other requested relief, New Jersey seeks fmn the 
defendants, jointiy and severally, oompensatory, consequential, iwidental and punitive h a p s .  

CalURS action. An action by the Calibmia State Teacken’ Retirement System, or CdSTRS, is pending in the Superior Court of the State of 
California in and for the County of San Francisco. This action was filed on December 10,2002. CalSTRS alleges, among other things, that defendants 
engaged in a scheme that falmly inflated our revenues and decreased our expenses so that we would appear more succegsful than we actually were 
during the perid in which CalSTRS purchased our securities, and CaISTRS asserts that defendants’ actions caused it to lose in excess of $150 million 
i n v d  in our equity and debt securities. Plaintiff seeks cornpenstory, special and punitive damages, restitution, prejudgment intetest and casts. 

- SURSI action. An action by the State Universities Retirement System of Illinois, or SURSI, k pending in the Circuit Court of Cook county, Illinois. 
This action was filed on January 10,2003. SURSI alleges, among other things, that defendants engaged in a scheme to falsely inflate OUT revenue and 
demase our expens= by improper conduct related to m d o n s  with wiow cugtomers and suppliers and claims that its lows from investments in 
OUT eecurities are in excess of 512.5 million. SUR91 seeks, among other things. compensatory and punitive damages, co&, equitable relief, including 
an injunction to freae or prevent disposition of the defendants’ ansets, and dqprgwnent. 

SPA action. An action by Stichting Pensimfonds ABF, or SPA, is pending in federal district court in Colorado. This action was filed on February 9, 
2004. SPA alleges, among other things, that defendants created a false perception of ow revenue and growth prospects and that its losses from 
investments in our securities are in excess of $100 million. SPA seeks, among other things, compensatory and punitive damages, miss ion  or 
rescissionary damages. prejudgment interest, attorneys’ fees and costs. 

SHC adion. An action by Shr im Hmpihl for Children, or SHC, is pending in federal district court in Colorado. This d o n  was filed on March 22, 
2004. SHC alleges, among other things, that defendants issued h k  and misleading financial reports about us. SHC alleges compensatory damages of 
approximately $17 million. SHC seeks compensatory and punitive damagea, interest, costs and attorneys’ fees. 

TRSL action. An action by the T&m’ Retirement System of Louisiana, or TRSL, is pending in federal district court in Colorado. This action was 
filed on or about March 30,2004. TRSL alleges, among other things, that defendants issued false and misleading financial repwts about US. T M L  
alleges compensatory damages of approximately $23 million. TRSL seeks compmnsatory and punitive damages, interest, costs and attorneys’ fees. 

NYC Funds action. An action by B number of New York City pension and retirement funds, or NYC Funds, is pending in federal district court in 
Colorado. ’Ihis action was filed on September 22,2004. NYC Funds allege, among other things, that defendants crwted a false perception of our 
revenue and growth p”spec$ and that their lossw from invdments in our securities are in excess of $300 million. NYC Funds seek. among other 
things, mmpensatwy and punitive damages, rescission or missionary damagwr, pre-judgment interest, attorneys’ fees and costs. 

110 



QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL MC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Conblnned)) 

For the Yeam Ended December 31,2005,2#04 and M03 

KPNQwest LWationflnvestigai3an 

also on the supervisory board of KPNQwest, N.V. (ofwhich we were a major shareholder), and others. This lawsuit was initially filed on OEtoba4,2002. The 
c m n t  complaint alleges, on behalf of certain purchasers OfKPNQwwt securities, that, among other thin@, defendants engaged in a fraudulent scheme and 
deceptive course ofbusinas in ordm to inflate KPNQwest's revenue and the value of KPNQwest securities. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages a d o r  
rescission as appropriate against defendants, as well as an award of plaintiffs' ammeys' fees and costs. On February 3,2006, we, certain other defendants and 
the putative class representative in this action executed an agreement to settle the cage against us and certain other defendants. Under the seUIernent weement, 
we will pay $5.5 million in cash to the settlement fimdno later than 30 days following preliminary court approval, arad M later than 30 days following fid 
approval by the oourt, we will issue sham of our stock to the settlement fund then w l u d  at $5.5 million as additional consideration for the settlement. The 
settlement agreement would settle the individual claims of tho putative class representative and the clmtims of the class he purports to represent agnpt  US and all 
defendants except Konhklijke KF'N N.V. &a Royal KPN N.V., Willun Ackermans, Eelco Blok, Joop Drechsel, Martin Pieters, and Rh& Williams. The 
settlement agrement is subject to a number of conditions and f u b ~ ~  contingencies. Among o h % ,  it (i) requires both preliminary and final court a p w v a  
(ii) provides us with the right to ferninate the seU1-t if class mwnbm representing more than a spacifd amount of alleged secur i tk~  losses elect to Opt Out 

of the settlement; (iii) providar us with the right to terminate the settlement if we do not receive adequate protactions for claims relating to substantive liabilities 
of non-seUiing defendants; and (iv) is subject to review on appeal even if the district courf were finaily to approve it. Any lawsuits that may be brought by 
p d e s  opting out of the settlement will be vigorously defended regardla of whetha the settlement described herein is m s u m m a ~ .  NO partias admit 
wrongdoing as a part of the settlement agrement. 

On October 31,2002, Richard and Marcia Grand, co-bustees of the R.M. Grand Revocabie Living Tmst, dated January 25, 1991, filed a lawsuit in 
A h  Superiw Court which, as amended, alleges, among other things, that the defendants violated state and fsderal securities laws and breached their fiduciary 
duty in oonnection with investments by plaintiffs in SeEuriliw of KPNQwest We are a defendant in this lawsuit along with @est B.V. (one of our subsidiaria), 
Joseph Nacchio, our former Chairman and Chief Executive Ofticer, and John McMaster, the fonnet President and Chief Executive Officer of KPNQwesL 
Plaintiffs claim to have lost approximately $10 million in their investments kt KPNQwest. T L  cowl granted defendants' motion for prt~al summary judgment 
with "spect to a substantial portion of plaintiffs' claims. The court entered judgment for defendants on thwe dahs and dismissed the remaining claims without 
prejudice. We have e n t d  into a tolling agreement with plaintiffs that allows them to w f i l e  these remaining chms following their appeal of the court's order 
granting 

A putative class action is pending in the federal district court for the Southern District ofNew York agabut us, ceriain of our former e x W t i V B  who were 

judgment to defendants on a sutx3tantial portion of plaintiffs' claims. Plaintiffi have filed such an a p p l  with the Arkma Court of Appeals. 

On JUW 25,20W, J.C. ApeBown and E.T. Mkjer, in their capcities as trustees in the Dutch bankruptcy p m e d n g  for KPNQwM, filed a complaint 
the federal district mUFt for the District of New Jersey alleging violations of the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, and brwtch of tiduchy 

duty and mismanagement under DUM law. We are a defendant in this lawsuit along with Joseph Nmhio, Robert S. W M ,  our formachief Financial 
Officer, and John McM&. Plaintiffs allege, among other things, that defendants' actions were a muse of the bankruptcy of KPNQwest and the bankruptcy 
deficit ofm@veSt was in excm of $3 billion. Plaintiffs seek Oornpensatnry, treble and punitive &ma= as well as an award of plaintiffs' attorneys' fees and 
costs. 

On June 17,2005, Appaloosa Investment Limited Partnership I, Palomino Fund Lid., and A p p a l m  Management L.P. filed a complaint in the federal 
district court for the Southcm District of New York against us, 
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Joseph N w h i o ,  John McMaster and Koninklijke KPN N.V., or KPN. The complaint alleges that defendants violated federal securities laws in connection with 
the purchase by plaintiffs of certain KPNQwest debt securities. Plaintiffs seek compensatory damages, as well as an a w d  of plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Various former lenders to KPNQwest or their aspignew, including Citibnk, N.A., Deutsche Bank AG London and others, have notified us of their intent 
fo file legal claim in connection with the origination of a credit facility and subsequent borrowings made by IWNQwest of approximately €300 million under 
that facility. They have indicated that we would be a defendant in this threatened lawsuit along with Joseph Naccbio, John McMaster, D d e  Tempest, our former 
General Counsel, KPN and other formes employee4 of Qwest, KPN or KPNQwest. 

On August 23,2005, the Dutch Shareholders Associatica (Vereniging yan EfWknWtters, or VEB) filed a petition for inquiry with the E n w i s e  
Chamber of the Amsterdam Court oFAppeals, located in the Netherlands, with regard to KFNQwe-st. VEB seeks an inquiry into the polick and course of 
businm at KpMQwest tbat are alleged to have caused the bmhptcy of KPNQwest in May 2002, and an inves~gation into alleged rnkmanagment of 
KPNQwest by its  executive management, supervisory bard members, joint venture entities (us and KPN), and KPWQwest’s oueide auditors and tlccoun!mts. 

Other than the putative class action in which we have entered into a p w d  d e m e n t  (and for which we have reoorded a reserve of $I  I million in 
conndon with the proposed settlement), we will continue to defend against the pending KPNQwest litigation matters vigorously and will likewise defend 
against any claims asserted by KPNQwest’s former lenders if litigation is filed. 

Regulatory Matter 

meet a commitment that we made in 2001 to invest in comrnunidons in- in New Mexico through March 2006 pursuant to an Alternative Form of 
Regulation plan, or AFOR. The AFOR says, in part, that Qvest commits to devote a substantiat budget to infrastructure investment, with the god of achieving 
the p u p m a  of this Plan. Specifically, Qwest will make capital expendim of not less than $788 million over the term of this Plan. This level of i n v h e n t  i s  
necesgary to meet the commitments made in this Plan io increase Qwest’s investment and improve its senice quality in New Mexico.” Multiple prth 61ed 
mnments in that -ding and variously argued h a t  we should ke subjEt to a range of requirements including an exrow account for  capital spending new 
inveshnent obligations, and customer c d i s  or price reductions. 

On April 14.2005, the Commission issued its Final Order in connection with this investigation. In this Final Order, the Commission ruled that the 
evidence in the record indicata we will not be in compliance with the invahnent commitment at the conclusion of the AFOR in March 2006, and if the current 
trend in our capital apwhturcs continues, there will be a shortfall of $200 million or more by the end of the AFOR. The Commission a h  concluded that we 
have an unoonditional commitment to invest $788 million over the life of the AFOR Finally, the Commission ruled that if we fail to Satisfy this investment 
commitmenL any shortfall must be credikd or refunded to our New Mexico customers. The Commission also opened an enforcement and implementation docket 
to review our investments and consider the stmcl~re and size ofany refunds or credits to be issued to customers. On May 12 and 13,2005, we filed appeals in 
federal district court and in the New Mmiw State Supreme Court, respectively, challenging the lawfutness ofthe Commission’s Final Order. On May 31,2005. 
the Commission issued an order, in response to a report we filed on May 20,2005, designating a 

On July 15,2004, the New Mexico state regulatory commission open& aproceeding to investigate whether we are in compliance with or are likely to 
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hearing examiner to conduct proceedings addrasing whether customer credits and refunds should be imposed on us based on OUT investment levels as of June 30, 
2005, and prior to the expiration of the AFOR m March 2006. 

we have met all se.rvk quality and b c e  deployment obligations under the MOR; that, in light of this, we should not be held to a specific amount of 
investment; a d  that the Commission has failed IO include all eligible invesments in the calculation of how much we have a c t d y  i n v d  Nevertheless, we 
believe it is unlikely the Commission will reverse its determination that we have an unmnditiod obligation to invest $788 million. In addition, we have argud, 
and will continue to q u e ,  that customer credits or refun& are an impermissible and illegal form of relief for the Commission to order in the went k r e  is an 
inmhnent shortfall. On January 30,2006, %est filed with the New Mexico Commission an Offer of SettIement and to Revise AFOR. This Offer pmpo&e~ to 
extend the time period for Qwest to complete $788 million in investments to three years following the approval of the Offer. Under the Offer, Qwest has included 
within the $788 million of total investments a pmposal to invest $85 million in projects approved by the Commission. In an order dated February 7,2006, the 
Commission rejected tho Offer on technical grounds, ruling that it was improper as io brm. In this order, the Cornrniwion also enmuraged Qwesi and the other 
parties io continue seWment negotiations. 

we would otherwise make in the n o d  course of business. These e x p e n d i m  or payments could take the form of one or more of the following: penalti- 
capital investment, basic wvice rate reductions and customer refunds or credits. At this time, however, we arc not able to reasonably estimale the amount of 
these expenditurea or payments and, accordingly, bvc not reserved any amount for such potential liability. Any final resolution of this matter could be material. 

Other Matters 

various dates and in various courts in California. Colorado, Georgia, Illinoiq 1- Kansas, Mississippi Missouri, North Carolina, Oregon, South Carolina, 
Tennessee and Texas. For the most part, the cornplaints challenge our right to install our fiber optic cable in raiimad righb-ofway. Complaints in Colorado, 
lllinois and Texas, also challenge our right to install Bhooptic cable in utility and pipeline righ@eoEway. The complaints Jlege hat the railroads, utitities and 
pipebe companies own a limited property right-ofway that did not include the right to permit us to install our fiber optic cable in the righ-ofway without the 
Plaintiffs’ consent. Most actim (California, Colorado, Georgia, Kansas. Louisiana, Mississippi, Missouri, Worth Carolina. Oregon, South Carolina, Tennessee 
and TWS) purport to be brought on behalf of stste-wide classsas in the named plaintiffs’ rapective states. Seveml actions purport to be brought on behalf o f  
multi-state classes. The Illinois stak court action pwpotts to be on behalf of landowners in Illinois, lowa, Kentucky, Michigan, Minnesota, Nebraska, Ohio and 
Wisconsin. The Illinois federal court action purports to be on behalf of landowners in Arkahfas, California, Florida, Illinois. Indiana, Missouri, Nevada, New 
Mexico, MonIana and Oregon. The Indiana action purpwts to be on W € o f  a national class of landowners adjacent to railPoad righteof-way over which our 
network passes. The complain& seek damaga on thewics of tmps and unjust enriEhmenl, %s welt as punitive damages. 

The IRS pro@ a tax adjustment for tax y m  1994 through 1996. The principal issue involves the allocation of casts beFxeen l o n e  contracts with 
customers for the installation of conduit or fiber optic cabte and additional conduit or fiber optic cable retained by us. The IRS disputes the allocation of the costs 
between us and third parties. Similar claims have been asserted against us with regpect to tRc 1997 to 1998 and the I998 to 

113 

We have vigorousIy argued, among other things, that the ~ndwlying purpow of the investmen! commitment set forth in the AFOR have ken met in that 

We believe there i s  a suktanhl l i k e l i h d  that the ultimate outcome of this matter will result in us having to mak expenditures or payments beyond those 

Several p d v e  class actions relating to the installation of fiber optic cable in certain rights-hay w m  filed against us on behalf of landowners on 
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2001 audit periods. The 1994-1996 claim is currently king litigated in &e Tax Glut, and we do not believe the IRS will be sucmsful, although the ultimate 
outcome is uncerhin. If we were to lose this issue for tho tax years 1994 through 19998, we estimate that we would have to p y  approximately $57 million in tax 
plus approximateiy $43 million in interest pursuant to tax sharing agreements with the Anschub C o m p y  relating to those time periods. 

the Contested Liability Acceleration Strategy, or CLAS, which we implemented in 2000. CLAS is a strategy that sets aside assets to provide for the satisfaction 
of asserted liabilities associated with titigation in a tax efficient manna. CLAS acccleleratd deductions for contestd liabilities by placing assets for potential 
litigation liabitities out of the control of &e company and into trusts managd by a third-party trustee. In 2004. we were formally notified by the IRS that it was 
contesting the CLAS tax strategy. Also in 2004 as a result of a series of notices on CLAS strategies issued by the IRS and the receipt of legal advice with respect 
thehereto, we adjusted our accounting for CLAS as required by SFAS No. 109. The change io expected timing of deductiorts mwed an increase in our liability for 
uncertain tax pitions and a corresponding increase in our net operating loss carry-forwads, or NOLs. &awe we are not currently forecasting future MxabIe 
income sufficient to realize the hef i t s  o f  this increase in our N o h ,  we d e d  an increase in our valuation allowance on deferred tax mets as required by 
SFAS No. 109. Additionally, in 2 W  the IRS proposed 3 penalty of $37 million on this strategy. We blieve that the imposition of a penalty i s  not appropriate as 
we acted in good faith in implementing t l i s  tax in reliance on two contemporaneous tax opinions and w e l y  disclosed this transaction to the IRS in 
our initial and subsqumt tax returns. We intend to v igowly  defend OUT position on this and other tax matten. 

adequately provided for these matters. 

Note I S  Quarterly financial Data (Unaudited) 

In 2004, we recorded income tax expense of $158 million related to a change in the expected timing of deductions related to our tax strategy, referred to 8 8  

We have other fax related mttws pending sgains! us, certain of which, in addition to CMS, are M e  the Appeak Office of the RS. We believe we Rave 

2005 
Operating revenue 
Income (lorn) from Gontinuing opcdmss 
Cumulative effect of c h q e s  in aooounting principlenet 
Net h e  oms) 
Basic and diluted warnings (loss) per share: 

I imme (loss) from mntiming operatiws 
Net income (loss) 

2004 
Operating revenue 
LDss from continuing operations 
Net loss 
Basic and diluted loss per sbare: 

Loss from continuing operations 
Net loss 

Quarterly Finmclal Data 

$3,449 $3,470 $3,504 $3,480 $13,903 
57 (W (144) (96) (757) 

(22) (22) 
57 (154) W 4  W S l  (779) 

0.03 (0.09) (0.08) (0.27') (0.41) 
0.03 (0.09) (0.08) (0.28) (0.42) 

- - - 

$3,481 $3,442 $3,449 $3,437 $13.809 
(310) (776) (569) (139) (1,794) 
(310) (776) (S69) (139) (1,794) 

(0.17) (0.43) (0.3 I )  (0.09) (1 .OO) 
(0.17) (0.43) (0.31) (0.09) (1.00) 

114 



QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-(Continned) 

For the Years Ended December 31,2005,2004 and 2003 

Fourth Quarter 2005 

afh-lax charge of $22 million resulting from FIN 47. relating to acoounting for d i t i o n a l  asset retirement ObIigations. 

Third Quarter 2005 

Included in net lass is an after-tax loss of $430 million on the early retirement of debt, $74 million in realignment costs and severan~e costs and an 

Included in net Ims is an afh-tax charge of $26 million for reaiipnent and severance costs. 

Second Quarter 2005 
Included in net loss is an aftertax loss of $43 million on the early retirement of debt. 

First Quarter 2005 

Fourth Quarter 2004 

the allowmce against deferred t8x wets; and afk-tax m e t  impairment charges of $36 million. 

Third Quarter 2OW 

%set impah=-nt charges of $34 million; and a tax benefit of $16 million relating to a change in the valuation allowance. 

Second Quarter 2004 

allowmce against deferred tax assets; an after-tax charge of $128 million resulting fpom aplanned workfom reduction; an aRer trw hpirment charge of 
$43 million relating to the payphone business and certain network supplies; and an afler tax benefit of $SO million relating to a Favorable customer bankruptcy 
settlement. 

Note 19: Financial Statements of Guarantors 
In February 2004, Q C l I  issued a total of $1.775 billion of senior notes, which wnsisted of $750 million o f  Floating Raie Senior Noies due 2009 with 

interest at LIBORPIUS 3.50"/0, $525 million of 7 '14% Senior Nota due 201 1,  and $500 million of 7 '/Z% Senior Notes due 2014. and in June 2005 QCll issued 
$800 million of 7 1% Senior Notes due 2014-SerieS B (collectively, the "QCII Guaranteed Notes"). In addition, over the period from Dacember 2002 to 
April 2003, we executed exchanges of approximatety $5.8 bitlion in total face amount of QCF notes for approximately $3.7 billion of QSC notes consisting of 
13.CWo Senior Subordinated Senrred Notes due 2007. 13.50% Senior Subordinated Secured Notas due 2010 and 14.00% Senior Subordinated Secured Notes due 
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I ~ l u d e d  in net loss is an after-tax gain of $257 million in connection with wireless asset sales of PCS licenses and related wireless network assets. 

Included in net losr is a reversal of the $36 million charge for tax penalties recorded in the third quarter; B tax benefit of $27 million relating to a change in 

Included in net Im is an after-tax charge of $250 million to increase litiphon reserves; a charge of $38 million for aced of tax penalties; after-bx 

Included in net loss is an afh-tax charge of $300 million to increase titigation mme6; a tax charge of $136 million relating to a change in the valuation 



QWST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATlONAL INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS+Cm~ttued) 

For the Years Ended December 31,2005,2004 nod 2oOj 

2014 (collectively, the UQSC Guaranteed Notes’). Between December 2003 and December2005, QSC purchased or redeemed an aggregate of $3.7 billion face 
amount of the QSC Guaranteed Notes. As a r e d t ,  as of Wember 31,2005, the outstanding QSC OUamnW Notes totalad $22 million. The Q c I I  Guaranteed 
N&s me guaranteed by QCF and QSC. The QSC Guarauteed Noies are guaranteed by QCF and QCII on a senior u n m e d  h i s .  Each series of QCF’s 
outstanding notes (the “QCF Guaranteed Notes’’) totaling approximately 13.5 billion are a h  guaranteed on a senior unsecured basis by QCII. 

The gwmtees are full and unconditional, and joint and s e d .  A significant mmt of QCII’s and QSC‘s income and cash flow are g e n d  by their 
subsidiaries. As a result, funds necessary to meet each issuer’s debt service obligations are provided in large part by dhbutions or advances from their 
subsidiaries. Under certain circumstances, contractual and legal restrictions, as well as our and our subsidiaries’ financial condition and operating requirements. 
could limit each issuer’s ability to obtain cash for the purpose of meeting its debt senice obligations including the payment of principl and in-t on its notes. 

In Septemkr 2005 and December 2005. Q C l I  entered in a guaranty in the amount of $94 million with a bank that issued 3 letter of credit for QSC. QCll 
unconditionalIy guaranteed fult and punctual payment and perfonnance of QSC’s obligations. 

QClI has also guaranteed the pyments of nine mal estate leases where QSC or one of its subsidiaries is the tenant. Under the guarantees, QClI became 
secandarily liable for the 1 e . a ~ ~ ~  if the tenant entity fajails to make its lease pymmts. The maximum potential amount of future payments QClI could be required 
to d e  under these guarantees is $55 million for QSC and $235 million for QSC subsidiaries. The leases are all classified as operating leases and are included in 
the Future Contractual Obligations table shown in Note 17: Commibnents and Contingencies. 

of operations for the years ended amember 31,2005,204 and 2003 and our wnsolidathg statements of cash flows for the years ended Dxmkr 31,2005, 
2004 and 2003. The information for QClI, QSC and QCF is presented for each entity on a stand-alone basis, including that entity’s investments in all of itr 
sukidiaries, if any, under the equity method. The direct subsidiaries of QCn that are not guarantors of the QCII Guaranteed Notes or the QSC Guaranteed Notes 

presented on a combined basis. The suhidiaries of QSC that are not guamtnn of the QCIl Guaranteed Notes or the QSC ciuaranteed Notes are presentad on 
a combined basis. Both QSC and QCF are IWO owned by QCII. Othw than as a l d y  dtscnied herein, the aocounting principles used are the same as those 
used in our consolidated financial statements. 

The following inforrnalon sets forth OUT consolidating balance sl~eets as of December 3 1,2005 and D-k 3 I, 20W md our consolidating statements 

We utilize lines of E d i t  between cwtah of our entities, other intercompany obligations, capital contributions and dividends (including pahership 
distributions) to manage OW cash. Amounts outstanding under these intercompany l i n e  of credit and intercompany obl ipt im m a y  vary materially over time. 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL WC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2005 

opwatlngrevm 

operathg expenses: 
Operating revenue-af€iliatas 

cost of eale3 (exclusive of depreciation 
and amortization) 

cost of sales-amiatts 
Selling, general and admin?rative 
Selling wed and 

h i t t i ~ v e - a K l i a &  
Depreciation 
CapitalizeasofhareHnda&hw 

mtangibte assets Bmortimtion 

% -  
I,343 

I.114 
194 - 
- 

3 

- 

8 
37 

$ 13,895 
156 

5,804 
95 

2,916 

1 3 7  
2,609 

453 

Total o p t i n g  expenses 105 1.31 1 44 13,124 

Other expense-net: 
Interest expense-net 
Lntwest expeme-affiliates 
Interest incom-f?iliah 
Lm6 (gain) on earIy retirtmemt of 

Gain on sale of ansets 
c x k w  
h s  from equiiy investments in 

debt-net 

subsidimies 

Total other e x p e n ~ d  

(Loss) income before income Saxas md 
cumulative effect of changes in 
acwunthg principle 

Income tax benefit (expense) 

w) irwome bfom cumulative efFect of 

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting 
chmges in accmting principle 

prhciple, net of taxes 

Net (bs) inowre 

Wiminatiomr 

1,454 (377) (4) 1,616 

(1,4221 
544 

377 
(143) 

1,892 
I 

f L3,W3 - 

5.836 

4.147 
- 

- 
2.612 

453 

13,048 

1,483 
+ 

- 

- 

1,615 

234 

- 
3 

- 
1,892 

- 

$ 234 s 3 $ (779) 

( I )  QCII is the issuer of tho QCII Guaranteed Notes and i s  a guarantor of the QSC Guarantead Notes and the QCF Gumteed Notes. 
(2)  QSC is a guarantor of ihe QCII Guaranteed Nota4 and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed N o h .  
(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QClI GuarantEed Not= and the QSC Guaranteed Notes. 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING mATEMENTS OF OPERATlONS 

FOR THE YEAK ENDED DECEM3ER 31,2004 

@a- 
qperat irrgws:  
O p h g  revenue-affiliates 

amortization) 
Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation and 

cost of sales-afilliates 
Seliing, general and administrative 
Selling. general and administrarive-aftiliates 
Depreciation 
Capiealized software and other intangible assets 

Asset impairment charges 
amortizatiw 

Total operating expenses 

o&erexpen=+lek 
Interest expen-et 
Iniemt expense-aflliats 
Interest ( i i c o m e ~ d i a t e g  

Qain on sale of assetf 
Other i n w  
Loss from equity investments in subsidiaries 

Loss (gain) w early retimmnt of deb&net 

Total other expense (income) 

(Loss) income before in- taxes 
Income tax benefit (expense) 

Mer&ss)inoDme 

s -  
1,380 

% -  
(1,570) 

5,890 

4,97 1 

2,626 

- 
- 

1,135 
l# 

- 5,868 
- 87 
36 3201 
- 1 395 
- 2,624 

- 497 
- 113 

36 13,685 

- 
62 1 - - 

2 

497 
113 

621 1,325 14,097 

488 118 

(201 
2,546 

1,188 1,823 (53) 1,418 2,139 

3,677 - 

o (1,794) $ 3  $ 3,677 

( I )  
(2) 
(3) 

Q c I I  is the issuer of the QCH Gumteed Notes and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF Guaranteed Notes. 
QSC is a guarantor of the QCll Guanrnteed Notes and is the issuer ofthe QSC Guaranteed Notes. 
QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Motes and the QSC Guaranaeed Notes. 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

FUR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2003 

operatingrevmue 

operating expenses: 
operating revmue-aEliates 

Cost of sales (exclusive of depreciation snd 

Cost of s a l ~ f i l i a t e s  
Selling, general and administrative 
Selling, general and adminimzdiv~f i l ia tes  
Dqmxation 
Caphalized sohare and other intmgibk assets 

Agset impairmen! charges 

amortization) 

amolrtization 

Total o p d n g  expensas 

othwexpse--net: 
lnterest expense-net 
Illtaxst expEw-amiates 
Interest (income)-afTliates 
Loss (sain) on early retirement of debt-net 
other income-net 
Income from equity investments in subsidiaries 

' s o t a l o t h e r ~ i n c o t n e ~ ~ ~  

~ ~ w e ~ o f ~ i n a e c o u n t i n g  
ptrldph 

lnoornt(loss)beforetaK,~ saontirmedOp€.E&tiODSand 

Income tax benefit (expense) 

Income (low) h m  &wing operations 
Income from and gain on d e  ofdiscontinued 

operations net of taxes 

Income (loss) Wore cumulative efFect o f c h n g ~  in 

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, 
a c c ~ ~ n t i n g  principle 

net of taxes 

% -  
1.533 

1,307 
178 
- 

- 
I 

- 
- 

I74 1,486 36 

73 (5781 

1.293 
219 

358 

- 

1,512 

- 

Net income $ 1,512 

2 

- 

2 

- 

$ 2 

$ 1.4284 
148 

6,411 
92 

3,2 17 
1,446 
2,738 

428 
230 

14362 

606 
1,342 
- 

(4) 
(11 1 )  - 

1,833 

(1,963) 
(729) 

(73) 

206 

$ 133 

(1) 
(2) 
(3) 

Q U I  is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed No& and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed N o t ~  and tho QCF Guaranteed Notes. 
QSC is a gwmntor of the Q C I I  Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guanrnteed Notes. 
QCF is a guarantor of both the QcrI Ciuaranid Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Notes. 
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QWT COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL mc. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDA’ITNG BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31,2005 

- - -  
(Dollars m millions) 

5 563 
n 
10 

428 
28 

4,728 
19 
38 - 

$ 216 
15 

1.512 
21 - 
- 
99 
375 
37 

$ 846 
101 

1,525 

118 
537 
37 

3,164 
15,568 
1.007 -. 
- 

1,165 
593 

173 

41 
1.143 

- 

- 
I 

111 

W 1  
6 

(12.1 12) 
1,791 

- 
a275 

15,562 
966 

- 
1.070 

410 
95 
58 

s 1.468 - $ 202 s 20.283 $ 2L497 

$ -  

3a 
- 

34 
I92 

s 21 
14.479 

731 
248 

1.539 

239 
145 
A33 

16s 
4 I_ 

9 
81 

30 
2 

264 
22 

506 
- 
I 

14.5 

5,379 
2,986 

122 
I 

1 k035 
8.07b 

4235 

3,459 
40 

522 
1.4do 

14.968 

2,953 
1.881 

522 
928 

184 

18 

32395 

(12.1 12) 

w.5 

6,333 

f 14.698 

24Jl4 

(3217) 

$ 21.497 

~ 

$ (4,271) S 

(1) WlI is the issuer o f  rhr pCIl G m t e d N & s d  is aguwantorof the QSC GuanmtetdNotesand the QCFGuarrmteed Motes. 
(2) QSC is a g m t o r  offhe QCll Guaranteed Notes and is h e  issuer of the QSC Guaranteed NOW. 
(3) QCF ir a g w t o r  of borh rhe QCll Ciuatmd Nc&s and m e  QSC G u m t e e d  Note& 
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QWEST COMMUNlCATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING BALANCE SHEETS 

DECEMBER 31,2004 

(Dollars in rniUiow) 

s m  
421 

13 
466 
227 

13,986 

3R 
- 
- 

s 509 
313 

1237 
84 - 
I 

111 
452 
160 

3,ZM 
16.848 

1.140 - - 
1.096 
468 

4218 
16.853 

1.179 

38 
1.192 

844 

- 

S' IM s 193 s 194 s 22,7$8 

e -  
31 

2 

334 

65 

- 

- 

432 
3.528 

460 - 
I 

218 

5 5% 

73 I 
_. 

2.290 

- 

669 

$ 5  
126 
3 

-. 

I74 

17 
I 

s 179 
13.976 
- 
- 
123 

I39 - 

325 
1.884 

- 
34 

497 
- 

14,417 
3.637 

- 
- 
- 
9HI 

4,638 -- 
(4.439) 

179 40,764 19,m 

3,158 €5  (18.006) 

$ 130 s 194 5 22,758 



QWeST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL MC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2805 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Expenditam for properly, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets 
Proceeds h r n  d e  of property, plant and 

equipment 
Frocmds from sales of inveshnent 

F’wcbs of investment d t i e g  
Ne4 pmoeeds (pmchms) of inveents 

Cash inf&ion to submdmm 
Net d m a s e  ( incrwe)  in short-term 

Principal colIectd on lon@um f i hk  

Dividends received from subsidiaries 
other 

securities 

managedb~QSC.  . , 

affiliate lcms 

h S  

Cash (used for) provided by investing 
activities 

l33lANCING AC-S 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 
Repapwtisoflmg-tmmbormwings, 

inclding fmreld matutitie8 
Net (repayments of) p m &  from 

Payments of LT hmwkgs-af€iliate3 
Rooaeds from issuances of common and 

trfwuy stock 
Equity infusion from p m t  
Dividends paid to parent 
Debt isrmance costs 
Early retiremeni o f  debt costs 

ShQ- afifbk bOWOWhgS 

CAW AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
Incme (dec-) in cash and cash 

equivalents 
&ginning balance 

Ending balance 

2,028 

33 
34 

$ 67 

( I  ) QcU is the issuer of the Q c I t  Guaranteed Notes and is t guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF Guaranteed Notes. 
(2) QSC is a guarantor of the Q C I I  Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer of the QSC Guaranteed Notes. 
(3) QZF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guarantd  Notes and the QSC Guaranteed Nom. 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, MC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2004 

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY 
OPERATlNG ACTIVITIES 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Expendihres for properiy, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets 
Plweeds frwl =le of property, plant and 

esuipnaent 
Proceds h m  ala of invesbnent securities 
Netproceedsfmm(gauchaSeso~ 

invatmen& managed by QSC 
Cash infusion to subsidiaries 
Net d- [hA-) in &ort+qm 

ami& loans 
Long-term Imm made to affiliates 
Principal collected on long-tcrm affiliate 

loans 
Purchases o f  investment sexrities 
Dividends meived from subsjdiark 
0th 

2,312 

c a s h d f m i n v c s ~ g a & ~ e s  

FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Proceeds from l w t e r m  borrowings 
Repayments of long-term horrowhgs 

inchding c-t rndurities 
Praceeds fmm long-temt affiliates 

borrowings 
Repayments of longterm a f f i l h a  

hwiw 
Net (repayments 09 proceeds from 

short-term affiliate borrowings 
~ d s f r o m ~ e s o f c o m m o n a n d  

inxsury stock 
Equity infusion from parent 
Dividends paid to parent 
Debt issuance Eo& 

838 2,601 

(2Ji4) 

1,885 - 

1,109 tw 
CASH AND CASW EQUIVALENTS 

Incmse (decrease) in cash 
BegirminsMame 

Ending balance 

34 
- 

(359) 
868 

$ 509 $ 3 4  - -- 
( I )  QCII is the issuer of the QClI Guaranteed Notas and is a guarantor of the QSC Guaranteed N O ~  and the QCF Guaranteed Notes. 
(2) QSC is a g u m t o r  of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is the issuer ofthe QSC Guaranteed Notes. 
(3) QCF is a guarantor of both the QCII Guaranteed Notas and the QSC (haranted Notes. 

123 



QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
CORDENSED CONSOLIDATING STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOW 

FORTHE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2003 

CASH (USED FOR) PROVIDED BY 
OPERATING ACTIWiES 

INvEsTlNG ACTIVUIES: 
Expenditures for p'operty, plant and 

equipment and infangible assets 
Pmceeds from sale of property, plant and 

equipment 
Proceeds from sales of investment secunties 
Net pmaaeds from (purchases of) 

invtsh-mts managed by QSC 
Purchases of investment securities 
Net (increase) decrease in sbofiterm 

affiliate loans 
Principal mllected on long-term affiliate 

1- 
Dividends raceived from subsidiaries 
Other 

Cash provided by (used in) investing activitia 

FmANCWG ACTIVITIE3 
Proceeds from long-tem brmwinp 

of long-term borrowings 
including ammt maturities 

Net repyments o f  short-term borrowings 
Repayments of long-term aMiliates 

Net proceeds h r n  (repayments 00 
short-term affiliate borrowings 

brrowings 

beds from k S m  QfCOll lUWl Wld 
imswystack 

Dividendspidtoparmt 
Debt igsuance costs 

Cashprovided by (wed far) financing activities 

CASH AND CASH EQUrVAtEwrS 
Increase (decrease) in cash 
Net cash g e n d  by discontinued 

opmtions (operating activities) 
Proceeds from sale of directory business 

(investing actjviv) 
Beginning balance 

Q W Z )  

$ 315 

EliiiarHons 

$ 715 

(3,8901 2,241 (32333 

(5,411) 

234 

4390 
2,253 

Endingbalance % -  $ 461 % -  $ 37 s 868 % -  $ 1,366 

( 1) QCII is the issuer of the QCII Guaranteed Notes and is a gu%rantor of the QSC Guaranteed Notes and the QCF Gumanted Notes. 
(2) QSC is a guarantor of the QCII Goarantwd NOW and is the issuer of the QSC Guamnked Notes. 
(f) QCF is a guarantm of both the Q c r I  hacanteed Notas and the QSC Guaranteed Notes. 

124 



Report o f  Independent Rqisted Pabllc Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
Qwest Communications International Inc.: 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Mmagement’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting dmt Q w a t  
Communications Intematiod Inc. maintained effective internal mtrol over financial reporting as of December 3 1,2005, Lsed on c r i b  established in 
Internal Contro&Integrated Framework issued by the CommiUee of Sponsoring OrganiZations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Qw& Communicatioas 
International Inc.’s management is resprmsiile for maintaining effective intend control over financial reporting and for its assessment ofthe effectivems of 
internal control over financiat reporting. Our responsibility i s  to exm au opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the efFEctiveness Of the 
Company’s internal contro1 over financial reporting b d  on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in acwrdan~ with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
thd we plm and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control oyer financial reporting was d n t a i n e d  in all material 
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal mtml over financial reporting, evaluating mngement’s assessment, testing and evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we mns ihed  necessary in the circumstances. We believe 
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a pracess designed io provide reasonable ssurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external p”p0ses in accordance with genemlly awepted mccounting principles. A company’s internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies a n d p r m d m s  that (1) pertain to the maintenance of mrds that. in reasonable &hl, ac~umtely and fairly reflect the 
btansactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assumnce that transactions am m r d e d  as necessary to permit prepration of 
financial statements in accordance with generaIly accepted accounting principles, d that meipts and e x p e n d i m  of the Company are being made only in 
aoCordmce with mthriations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assumme regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unmtuthofized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s wets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In  our opinion, management’s assmment that w e s t  Communications International Inc. maintained effective intern! control oyer financial reporting as 
of December 31,2005, is fairiy stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in internal Contro&Integrated Frmework issued by the Commitkc 
ofsponsoring Organidons of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, west Communications International Inc. maintained. in ail material 
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 3 I ,  2005, based on critda established in Internal Coniml-lntegratd Framework 
isued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated balance 
sheets of West Communications Intwnational Inc. and subsidiaries as of aeoember 3 1.2005 and 2004, and the related wnsolidated statements of operations, 
stockholders’ deficit, and cwh flows for each of the y m  in the t h e y e a r  period ended December 31,2005, and our report dated F e b w  16,2006 expressed 
an unqualified opinion on thm consolidated financial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, intern1 control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect rnktahnents. Also, projections of my evaluation of 

KPMG LLP 

Denver, Colorado 
February 16,2006 
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- 
ITEM 9. CHANGES M AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND mmcrfi DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 
C0dus.b Regadng the E@&vmms of Dklosure CQnlrds and h c & m  

designing, implementing and emluating the mntrols and proaedum, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future wmts, and the inability to 
eliminate misconduct completely. As a result, there can be no assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures will detect all errors or hud. By heir nature, 
our, or any system of disclosure controls and procedures can provide only reasonable assurance regarding management’s control objectives. 

design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-I5(e) and 15d-I5(e) of the Securities Exchange Act Of 1934, or the 
“Exchange Act”) as of December 31,2005. On the bmis of this review, our management, including our Chief Executive OfFioer and Chief Financial OffiCM, 
concluded that OUT disclosure controls and p&s are hifled, and are effective, to give reasonable assurance that the information required to k dmIoxd 
by us in reports that we file under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summatized and r e p r t d  within the time periods specified in h e  rules and forms of 
the SEC and to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports fld or submitted under the Exchange Act is acmmulatd and communicakd to 
our management, including our ChidExwtive Officer and ChiefFirurncial Oficm, in a m-r that allows timely decisiotu regardkg &disclosure. 

reasonably likely to materially affet, our i n t d  control over financial reprting. 

Matmgment’s R q r t  on InlerrssI Control Owr Finurnid Xeportirrg 

Act Rule 13a-lS(fl. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principl executive officer and principal financial officer. 
we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Con/ro&hWgmted 
Frummork issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on OUT evaluation under the framework in lnlerncll 
Control-hkgrutd Fmrpaework, ow management m l u d e d  that our iratema1 control over financial reporting was effective BS of December 3 1,2005. 

LLP, an indqxndent registered public acmunting fum, as stated in their report which is incIuded herein. 

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

The efktivmess of our or any system of disclosure conmls and procedures is subject to certain lirni&tions, inchding the exercise ofjudpent in 

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and ChieFFinanckl Officer, we evaluated the 

A h ,  there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurid in the fourth quarter of 2005 that materially afT&, or are 

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining dequate intemat control ovw financial reporting, as such term i s  defined in Exchange 

Our managemwt’s assessment of the offdveness of our internal mntml over financial repwting ag of December 31,2005 has been audited by KPMG 

NOnP. 



PART III 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTlVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 

Annual Meeting of Stmkholders, or our 2006 Proxy Statement, anticipted to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of 
D-ber 31,2005 under the headings “Proposal No. 143ection of Directors,””Executive Officers and Management.” “Audil Committee" and 
“Section 1 qa )  Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” and to Item 1 of this annual report on Form IO-K under the heading “Website Access.” 

lTEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

with the SeEllrities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of D x e m k  3 1,2005 under the headings ‘Director Compensation,” “ E x d v e  Compensation;” 
“Stock Option Cjrants,’’ -Option Exercises and Holdings;” Tension Plans,” “Ernploy~~~ent Conlmc! and Termidon of Employment and Chang~7IrrcO1ltrOl 
Arrangements” and ‘’Compensation Committee InteFlocks and Insider Participation.” 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

The information required by Item 10 of this annual report on Form IO-K i s  incorporated by reference to our definitive pmxy statement for ow 2006 

The i n f o d m  rqW by Item 1 1  of this annual report on Form 10-K is inaoqxifated by reference to our 2006 Proxy Statement anticipated to be filed 

The information required by Item I2 of th is  annual report on Fom I 0-K is incorporated by reference to our 2 0 6  Proxy Statement anticipatd to be filed 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 1 20 days of Deaember 3 1,2005 under the hading “Beneficial Ownemhip of Shares of Common Stock.” 

Qu@ Cwupnsdon Pian Informahn 

OUT h u i q  Incentive Plan; our Employee Stock Purchase Plan; our Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan and o w  Equify Compensation Plan for 
Non-Employee Dimtors. Our Equity Incentive Plan and Employee Stock Purchase Plan have been approved by our stwkholders. Our NonqualiRBd Employee 
Stock Purchm Plan and our Equity Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directws, each of which is described in more detail below, have not been approved 
by OUT ~tockhldeee~. The following labte provides information as of December 3 1,2005 abollt outstanding options and shares reserved for future issuance under 

We currently maintain four compcnsation plans under which shares of our common stock are authorized for issuance to employees and non-ernployees: 

these plans: 

P1.0 catqwy 

Equity compensation plans approved 
by s e x r i q  holders 

Equity compnsation plans not 
approvd by security R o l h  

134,940,049 $ 12.23 66,184,778(2) 

Total 

- 10,083,267(3) 

1223 76,268,045 

( I )  I n d h  29,154,855 shares issuable u p  the exercise of outstanding options we assumed in c o n d o n  with acquisitions, including the Merger. The 
weighledaverage exercise price of these options is $30.16. We do nof intend to grant any new options under the plans pursuant to which these options 
were originatly granted. 
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(2) Includes 50,015,992 shares available for future issuance under our Qwty Incentive Plan and 16,168,786 shares available Ear future issuance under our 

Employee Stmk Purchase Plan. The n u m h  of shares available for future issuance under WT Equity Inmtive Plan is btwd on a formula. our Equity 
Incentive Plan provides that the maximum total number of shares that may be issued under our Equity Incentive Plan at my time b €~pd to 10% Oftk 
total number of shares that are issued and outstanding at such time (determined as of the dose of Mi on the New York Sbck Exchange ou the Ming 
day imrr.diately preceding such time), reduced by the number of shares mrbjact to outstanding awards granted undw the Equity incentive Plan and 
outstandmg *oris granted under any other plan or arrangement of Qwest or a subsidiary of @est (excluding the Employee Stock 
time. 
Includes 10,000,000 &res available for future igsuance under our Nonqualified Employee Stock Fkchase Plan and 83,267 shares available for fkure 
isuance under our Equity Cornpolsation Plan for Non-Employee Directors. 

In 1997, our Board of Directors adopted an Equity Cornpensition Plan for Non-Employee Directors, mder which diectors who are not officers or 

Plan) at SUCR 

(3) 

employees of Qw& may receive shares of our m m o n  stock. Under the plan, eligible dimtors may elect on a quarterly basis to receive any or all of their 
annual and meeting fees for that quarter in shares of ow common stock. With respect to each quarter for which an election is made, the total number of shares 
@anted to the electing director equals tho amount of the director’s total annual and meeting fees divided by the fair market value of our common stock on the last 
businesg day of that quarter. Sham issued under the plan are to be issued as soon as pmchcable after the end of each quarter. 

In 2002. our Board of Djrectors adopted a Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan; however, we have not c o m m d  any offers nor issued any 
s h m s  of our m m m  stock under tht plan. If used, any employee of Q w a  or my employee of a subsidmy of Qwest that adopts the plan with Qwest’s 
consent, Will be entitled to paFticipte in the plan. The Nonqualified Employw Stock Purchase Plan will provide eligible employ= with an opportunity to 
purchase shares of our common s h k .  The maximum number of shares of common stock that may be purchased lmder the Nonqualifid Emptoyee Stock 
Purchase Plan is, in the w e g a t e ,  lO.OoO,ooO. Under the p h ,  offers to purchase common stock will be made on the first day of a h  dendar month and last for 
a period ofone tale month, unless otherwkz ddwmined by the Compensation artd Human Resources Cornmime of our Board of Directors. An eligible 
employee may partinpte in any oFer under the plan by authorizing payroll deductions of up to 15% of his or her base salary and commissions paid per pay 
perid. Amounts withheld will be held for the d i t  of the participant as part of our gened funds and will not accrue interest. On the last day of each calendar 
month. the entire account balance of a prticipating employee will be applied to purchase shares of our common stock at a purchase price qual to 85% of the fair 
market value of the common stock on the last trading day of that month. In no event, however, will an employee be permitted to purchase more than 20,000 
shares of common stock through the plan in any single offer. Participants may not transfer shares of common stock purchased under the plan until after the last 
day of the sixth month following the month in which the shares were purchased. We have the right to terminate or amend the plan at any time. If not previously 
terminakd by our Board of Directon, the plan will terminate on the date 88 ofwhich participants have purchased a number of shares equal toor greater than the 
number of shares then subject to the plan. 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 

with the S e w h  and Exchange Commission within 120 days of k m k r  3 I ,  2005 under the headings Twtain Tmct ions  and Legal Prooaedings” and 
“Cmpsation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation.” 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES 

with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days of December 3 1,2005 under the heading ‘%dependent Regisled Public Accounting Firm.” 

The information required by item 13 of this annual report on Form IO-K is insorprated by reference ta our 2006 Pmxy Statement anticipated to be filed 

The infoFmation required by Item 14 of this annual repwt on Form 1 k K  is incorporated by reference to our 2006 Proxy Statement anticiptd to be filed 
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PART 1V 
w&!fam& 

ITEM 15. EXEIIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCfIEDULES 
(a) Documents filed as part of this report: 

J 
Financial Statements covered by the Keport of Independent Registered Public Amounting Firm: 

Consolidated Statements oFCas h Flows for the years en-- n Z  

BD& to the Conaolidaled Financial S - m J e x r n h e  r 31.2005- 
Scbdule for the years ended Demnhr  3 I, 2005,2004 and 2003: 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 
Schedule 11-Valuation and Qdi&ing Accounts 

59 

60 
61 
62 
83 
64 

s- 1 
5-2 

(a) (3) and (b) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K 
Exhibits identified in parentheses below are on file with the SEC and are incorporated herein by reference. All othw exhibits are provided as part of this 

electronic submission. 

Exhibii 

Number -m. 
(2.1) 

(3.1) 

(3.2) 

(3.3) 

- 
Agraement and Plm of Merger, dated as of July 18, I999 between U S WEST, Inc. and @est Communimtions International Inc. (inoorporated 
by referewe to Qwat  Communications International Inc.’s Form S 4 A  filed on August 13,1999, File No. 333-81 149). 

Restated Certifimte of Incorporation of Qwest Communications International Inc. (inowporatad by reference to Qwest Communications 
International h . ’ s  Regiseation Statement on Form W A ,  filed September 17,1999, File No. 333-SI 149). 

Certificate of Amendment of Restated Certificate of Inoorponuion of Qwest Communications International inc. (incorporated by reference to 
Qwest Communic~ons International Inc.’s Qumierly Repwt on Form 1 O-Q for the quarter ended June 30,2004, File No. 00 1-1 5577). 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of Qwest Communications International IN., adopted BS of JuIy 1,2002 and amended as of May 25,200rl 
(incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications I n t e m a t i ~ ~ l  Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 1O-Q for the quarter endcd lune 30,2004, 
File No. 001-15577). 

Indenture, dated as of April IS, r994 by and between Mountain States Tefeptrone and Telegraph Company and The First National Bank of 
Chicago (incorporakd by reference to West Conporation’s Annual Report on Form 1 e K  for the year ended December 3 1,2002, F i b  
No. 001-03040). 

(4.1) 

(4.2) First Supplemental IndeneJre, dated as of April 16,1991, by and between U S WEST Communications, Inc. and T k  First National Bank of 
Chicago (incorporated by reference to Qwest Corporation’s Annual Report on Form I*K for the year ended Decernh 31,2002. File 
No. 001-03040). 
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Exhibit 

Number 

(4.3) 

(4.4) 

(4.5) 

(4.6) 

(4.7) 

(4.8) 

(4.91 

(4.10) 

(4. I I )  

(4.12) 

Indenture, dated as of J a n w  29, 1998, with B m b  Trust Company (including form of Qwem Communications International Inc.’s 8.29% 
Senior Discount Notes due 2008 and 8.29%, Series B Senior Di6count Notes due 2008 as an exhibit thereto) (incorporatad by referenoe to %est 
COmmuniCations International Ina’s AMWI Report on Form 1 @K for the year ended December 3 1,1997, File NO. -22609). 

IndmUre, dated 86 of November4,1998, with Bankws Trust Company (including f m  of Qwest Communications International Inc.’s 7SG?h 
Senior Disoount Notes due 2008 and 7.5Wo Series B Senior Discount Notes due 2008 BS an exhibit thereto) (incorporated by reference to @est 
ComrnUniCations International Inc.’s Regislmtim Statement on Form 54, filed Febnrary 2,1999, File No. 333-71603). 

Indeniwe, dated as ofNovember 27,1998. with Bankers Trust Company (including fom of Qwest COmmuniCations Intemationd Inc.’s 7.25% 
Senior Discount Notes due 2008 and 7.25% Series B Senior Dimunt Notes d w  2008 as an exhibit t h e m )  ( i n m p a t e d  by reference to 
Communications International Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S 4 ,  filed February 2, 1999, File No. 333-71603). 

Indenture, dated 85 of June 23, 1997, between LCI International, Inc. and First Trust National Asmiation. as trustee, providng for the issuanoe 
of Senior Debt Securities, including Rwlutions ofthe Pricing Committee of the Board of Directors establishing the terms of the 7.25% Senior 
Notes due June 15,2007 (incorporated by reference to E l ’ s  Current Report on Form 8-K, dated June 23, t997, File NO. 001-12683). 

indenbm, dated as of June 29, 1998, by and among U S WEST Capital Fundin& lnc., U S WEST, Inc., and The First National Bank of Chicago 
(now known BS Bank One Trust Company, N. A), as !- (incorporated by reference to U S WEST’S Current Report ~1 Form 8% dated 
November IS, 1998, File No. 001 -14087). 

Indenture, dated as of October 15, 1999, by and between Qwest Corjmatim and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., as tnrstee ( i n c o r p o d  by 
reference to Qwest Corporatiofi’s Annual Report on Form IO-K for !he year ended December 31,1999, File No. 00143WO). 

First Supplemental Indenlure, datedas of June 30,2000, by and among U S WEST Capital Funding, Inc., U S WEST, Inc., Q w M  
Communications International Inc., and Bank One Tnrst Compny, as trustee (incorporated by reference to Q w s t  Communications International 
Inc.’s Qumtedy Report on Form l0-Q for the q&r ended June 3 4  2O00, File No. 001-15577). 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 16,2001, to the Indenture, dated as of January 29,19%, with Banlten T W  Company 
(including form of Qwest Communications Lntemational Inc.’s 8.29% Senior Discount Notes due 2008 and 8.29% Series B Senior Discount 
Notes due 2008 BS an exhibit thereto) (inoorporaM by reference to Qwesc Communications Intwnational Inc.’s Quatterly Report on F m  1 0 4  
forthequarterendedMarch31.2001.FilePio.001-15577). 

Officer’s Certificate of Qwest Corporation, dated March 12,2002 (including forms of 8 7/8% n o t a  due March 15,2012) (incorporated by 
reference to %est Corporation’s Form S-4, File No. 333-1 151 19). 

Indentum, dated as of December 26,2002. between @est Communications Iotmational Inc., @est Services Corpomtion, Qwest Capital 
Funding, Inc. and Bank One Trust Company, N.A., ns 
Report on Form 8-K filed on Jmuary 10,2003, File No. 001-IS577). 

(incorporated by r e f e m  to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current 
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Exblblt 
Number 

(4.13) 

(4.14) 

(4.15) 

(4.16) 

(4.17) 

(4.18) 

(4.19) 

(4.20) 

(4.21) 

( 4 . 2 )  

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 26,2002, by and among Qwest Communications international Inc., Qwest Services 
Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and Deutsche Bank Tmt Company Amerim (formerly known 88 Bankers Trust &mpw), 
supp~uncnting the Indenture, dated as of November 4,1998, with Bankers Trust Company (incarporated by refwenoe to west communications 
Intemationmrl Inc.’s Annual RepoFt on Form IO-K for the year ended December 3 I ,  2003, as originally filed on March 1 I ,  2004, File 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 26,2002, by and among Q w a  Communications Intedonal Inc., 
Corporation, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas (formerly known as Bankers Trust COmpW), 
supplementing the Indenture, dated as of November 27,1998, with Bankers Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Qwest 
Communicatiorts International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 1 C+K for the year endad December 3 1,2003,as originally filed on March 1 1,  
2004, File No, 001-15577). 

Second Supplemental Indenlure, dated as of Dacember4,2003, by and among Qwest ComuniCations Interdona1 Im., %est Services 
Corporation, @vest Cqiial Fundin& Inc. and b n k  One Trust Company, N.A. (as succes8or in interest to Bankers Trust Company), 
supplementing the Indenture, dated as ofNovember4,1998, with Bankers Trust Company (hmrpratd by referenoe lo m e s t  Communications 
Intemational hc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2003, as originally filed on March 1 I ,  2004, File 
NO. 001-15577). 

Seoond Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 4,2003, by and among Qwest Comunidons  Intwnatiod Im.. sewices 
Corpomiion, Qwest Capital Funding, Inc. and Bank One Trust Company, N.A. (as successor in interest to Bankm Trust Company), 
supplementing the Indenture, dated as of November 27,19998, with Bankers Trust Company (incorporated by reference to Qwest’s Annual 
Report on Fonn 1&K for the year ended December 3 1,2003, a originally filed on March I 1,2004. File No. 001 - 15577). 

Indenture. dated 81s of February 5,2004, among Qwwt Communications International Inc., @est Services Corporation, Qwest Capital 
Funding, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Trust Company (incorporatad by reference to @est Communications International Inc.‘s Annual Repon on 
Form 10-K for the year ended kcembw 3 1,2003, as originally fild on March 11,2004, File No. 001-15577). 

First Supplemental Inden- daled as of August 19,2004, by and behvm Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association 
(incorporatad by reference to Qwe& Communiclttions International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 1 0 4  for the quarter ended Septcmbw 30, 
2004, File No. 00-15577). 

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated November 23,2004, by and between Qwest Corporation and U.S. Bank National Assmiation 
(~no~rporated by reference to Qwesf Corpodon’s Current Report on F m  8-K filed on November 23,2004, File No. 00143040). 

First Supplemental Indenture., d&=d June 17,2005, among Qwst Communications International Inc., Qwest Services Corporation, west 
Capital Funding, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated by reference to west Communications International k.’s  Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on June 23,2005, File No. 001-15577). 

Third Supplemental Indenture. dated as of June 17,2005, by and between west Corpomtion and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporated 
by reference to Qwest Communicaiions International Inc.’s Current R e p l  on Form 8-K filed on June 23,2005, File No. 001-15577). 

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated June 23,2005, among Qwast Communications International Inc., Qwest Services Corpmtion, Qwcst 
Capital Funding h c .  andU.S. Bank National Amciation (inwrprated by reference to Qwest Communications lntematimaf Inc.’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on June 23,2005, File No. 001-15577). 

131 

NO. 001-15577). 

S W h  



EXblbY 
Number 

(4.23) 

(4.24) 

(4.25) 

(10.1) 

10.2 

(10.3) 

(10.4) 

(10.5) 

(10.6) 

(10.7) 

(10.8) 

( 10.9) 

( 1  0. IO) 

(10.11) 

Dmription 

Indenture, dated as of November 8,2005, by and between @est Communications International Inc. and U.S. h k  National Association 
(incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International lnc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 14.2005, File No. 
001-15577). 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 8,2005, by and between Qwest Communications International lnc. and U.S. Bank National 
AssoEMon (incorporated by reference to Qwest Cormnunications lntemational Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 14,2005. 
File No. 001- I557T). 

First Supplemental Indenlure, daded a of November 16.2005, by and among west ServiEw Corporation, %est Commun~doos International 
Inc., Qwest Capital Funding Inc. and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, N.A. as s w w r  to Bank One Trust C o m v y ,  NA. (incorporated by 
reference io Qwegt Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 21,2005, File NO. 001-15577). 

Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, including forms of option and restricted stock agrmWntS (incorporatd by referen% to @est 
Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on Octokr 24,2005, File No. 00 1-1 5S77).* 

Additiod forms of option and restricted siock agreements used under Equity Incentive Plan, as mended.* 

Employe Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to %est Communications International Inc.’s 2003 Proxy Statement for the Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders).* 

Nonqualified Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communiwlions International Inc.’s Annual Report on 
Form l+K fortheyear ended Dmernber31,2002, FileNo. 001-15577).* 

Deferred Cornpendon Plan (incorporated by reference to mest CommunMons Intemstional Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 1 &K for the 
year ended D-ber 3 I, 1998, File No. 000- 22609).* 

Equity Compensation Plan for Nw-Employee Directors (inmrporatd by reference to west Commmhtions International he.% Annual 
Report on Form 1&K for the year ended D e c u n h  31 ,197 ,  File No. MO-22609).* 

D e w  Compensation Plan for Nonemployee Directors, as amended and restated (imrpomtd by reference to w e s t  Communications 
In te~mt iod  Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 16,2005, File No. 001-15577).* 

Qwest Savin@ & InveSment Plan. as amended and restated (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Form S-8 
614 on January 15,2004. File No. 333-1 19W).* 

2006 %est Management Bonus Plan Summary (incorporatad by reference to Qwest Communications International ITLE.’S Current Report on 
Form 8-K, filed December 16.2005, File No. 001-15577): 

Summary Sheet Dmribing the Compensation Package for Qwest CommUniEatiom Interna!iond Inc.’s Non-employee Directors (incorporated 
by referenoe to *est Communications l n t e d o n a l  Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on October 24,2005, File No. 001 -1 5577).* 

RegiShtion Rlghis Agreement, dated 85 of April 18,1999, with AnsEhutz Company and Artschutz Family lnveshnent Company LLC 
(incorpmted by refercwe to Qwest’s Current Report on Form 8-WA, filed April 28,1999, File No. 000-22609). 
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ExhiKt 
Number 

(1 0.12) 

(10.13) 

(10.14) 

(10.1 5)  

(10.1 6) 

(10.17) 

(10.18) 

(1 0.19) 

( 10.20) 

(10.21) 

10.22 

(10.23) 

Employee Matters Agreement Ween Mediaone Gmup and II S WEST, dated June 5,1998 (incorporated by reference to U S WEST’S Current 
Repm on Form 8- KIA, dated June 26, 1998, File No. 001-14087). 

Tax Sharing Agreement between Media01-1~ cfroup and U S WEST. dated June 5,1998 (incorporated by reference to U S WEST’S Current 
R e m  on Fonn 8-KIA, da!ed June 26,1998, File No. 001-14087). 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated August 19.2004, among %est Corpomtion and the initial purcharers listed therein (incorporated by 
reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the quarter d d  Sepembcr 30,2004, File 
NO. 001-15577). 

Registration Rights Agreement, dated Novembx 23,2004. by andamong Qwest Corporation and the initial purchasers listed therein 
(incorporated by reference to Qwest Corporation’s Cumnt Report on Form 8-K dated November 18,2004, Fila No. 001-03040). 

Regisintion Rights Agreement, dated June 17,2005, among Qwat Communications International Inc., west Services Corporation, @est 
Capital Funding, Inc. and the initial purchasers listed therein ( imorpmtd by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Currenl 
Report on Form 8-K f i l d  on June 23,2005, File No. 001-15577). 

Registmhn Rights Agreement, dated June 17,2005, by and among Qwest Corporation and the initid purchasers listed therein ( m m p m M  by 
reference to Qwest Communications International hc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 23,2005, File No. 001-15577). 

Reghation Rights Agreement, dated June 23,2005, among Qwcst Communications International Inc., m e s t  Services CorpOratiOn, 
Capital Funding, Inc. and the initial purchasers listed therein (incmporated by ref- to %est Communications International Inc.’~ Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on June 23,2005, File No. 00-15Sn). 

Amended and Rmtated Employment Agwement, dated August 19,2004, by and Mwem Richard C. N o t b r t  and %est setvices Corporation 
(incorpoiated by reference to Qwest Communications Intwnational hc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 1&Q for the quarter ended S e p t m h  30, 
2004, File No. 001-15577).* 

Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated Octobw 2 1,2005, by and between Richard C. Notebaert and Owest 
Services Corporation (incorporated by reference to Qwesf Communications Intwnational Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
October 24,2005, File No. 001-1$577).+ 

Form of Amndment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement by and b e e n  Qwest Services Corp&on and Richard C. Ndebaert 
(hcorporated by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 16,2005. File No. 

Aircraft T h e  Sharing Agreement, dated February 14,2006, by and betwaen Qwest Business Resources, Inc. and Richard C. Notck.rt. 

Amended and Reslated EmpIoyment Agreetnmt, dated August 19, Z W ,  by and beween Oren G. S M e r  and Qw& Service!- CorpWation 
{incorporated by reference to Qwcst Communkations International hc.’s Quarterly Repmt on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 
2004, File No. 001-15577).* 

001 -1 5577): 
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(I 0.24) 

(10.25) 

10.26 

(1 0.27) 

(10.28) 

(10.29) 

(10.30) 

(10.3 1) 

(10.32) 

(10.33) 

10.34 

(10.35) 

(10.36) 

(10.37) 

Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated October 2 1,2005, by and between Oren G. S h d k  and west Services 
Corporation (inmrpomtd by reference to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s C m t  Report on Form 8-K filed on October 24,2005, 
File No. 00-15577).* 

Form of Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agrment by and between Qwest Services Corporation and Oren G. Shafkr 
(incorporated by reference to @est Communications International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on k m b ~  16,2005, File No. 
00 1-1 5577).* 

Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement, dated February 14,2006, by and between Qwest Business Resources, Inc. and Oren G. Sharer. 

Retention Agreement dated May 8,2002, by and between west Services Corporation and Richard N. l3aw ( incorpora by referenoe to Qwest 
Chrnrnunimtions International Ina’s Annuat Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2002, File No. 001-15577).* 

Severance Agreement. dated July 21,2003, by and between Qwest ServiEes Corpation and Richsrd N. Baer (incorporated by reference to 
Qwest ComrnuniEatiws Inknational Inc.’s Anml Report on Form 1 F K  for the year ended December 31,2002, File No. 001-15577).* 
Severance Agreement, dated April 4,2005, by and W e e n  Qwest Services Corpwation and Thomas E. Richards (inoorpoiateil by refereme to 
Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Quartwly Report on Form 1w for the quarterended September 30,2005, File No. 001-15577).* 

Letter Agreement, dated August 20,2003, by and between Qwest Swvices  Cowration imd Paula Kruger (incorpomkl by reference to west  
Communications International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form IO-K for the year ended Dexmber 31,2002, File No. 001-15577).* 

Severance Agreement, dated September 8,2003, by and betwm Qwest Services Corporation and Paula Kruger (incorporated by reference to 
@est Communications lntrma~onal Inc.’s Annual Report on Form IO-K for the year ended December 31,2002, File No. 001-15577).* 

Letter Agrmnenl dated August 19.2004, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and Paula Knrger (incorporated by reference lo @vest’s 
Quarterly Repott on Form lw for the quarter ended September 30,2004, File No. 001-15577).* 

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datd August 19,2004 by and between Barry K. Allen and west Services Carpomtion 
(~mrporated by reference to Qwest Communicatims Intemtional Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended September 30. 
2004, File No. 001-15577).* 

Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement, dated February 14,2006, by and between Qwwt Businm Resouroes, Inc. and Barry Allen. 

Letter Agreement, dated March 27,2003, by and bmvm %est Services Corpomion and John W. Richardson (incorpomted by reference to 
Qwast Communications International Inc.’s Registration Shtemmt on Form S-4, File No. 333-1 1 S 1 1 S).* 

Severance Agreement, dated as of July 28,2003, by and between Qwest Services Corporation and John W. Richardson (inoorporakd by 
reference to Qwest Cmmunicatims International Inc.’s Annual Report on F o n  10-K for the year ended December 31,2004, File No. 
001 -15577).* 

Form of Amendment to Severance Agreement between Qwest Services Copration and each of Richard N. Baer, Paula Kruger and Thomas E. 
Richards (incorporated by reference to Qwest Communications international 1nc.k Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 16.2005. 
File No. 001-15577).* 
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Exhibit 
Number 

(10.38) 

( 10.39) 

12 

21 

23 

24 

31.1 

31.2 

32 

99. I 

99.2 

(99.3) 

Private Label PCS Services Agrement between Sprint Spectrum L.P. and Qwest Wireless LLC dated August 3,2003 (inoorpomkd by reference 
to Qwest Communications International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form l0-Q for the quarter ended September 30,2004, File NO. 1-15577).t 

Stipulation of Partial Settlement, dated as of November 21,2005, by and among Qwest Cornmuniwtions lnternaliond lnc., the other settling 
defendants, and the Lead Plaintiffs in In m @est Corplrrmrsicufiom Intermtionol Inc. Securities Litigutim on behalf of themselves and each Of 
the class members (incorporated by reference to Qweat Communications International tnc.’s C m t  Report on Form 8-WA filed on December 
6,2005, File No. 001-15577). 

Calculation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chargm. 

Subsidiaries of Qwest Communications IntenrationaI Irtc. 

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

Power of Attorney. 

Chief Executive Officer Certification pursuant to SeEtion 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002. 

Chief Financial Officer Certifidm pursuant to Section 302 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act oF2002. 

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Setion 1350, as adopted pursuant to Seclion 906 ofthe Sarbnes+ley Act of 2002. 

Quarterly Operating Revenue. 

Quarterly Condensed Consolidated Statement of Opedom. 

Credit Agreement, dated as of October 2 1,2005, among Qwest Senices Corporation, mest Communications IntedonaI IN., the Lenders 
party thcreto from time to time, and Wachovk 
reference to Qwest Communications IntemationaI hc.’s QuwterIy Report on Form 1(FQ for the quwtertnded September 30,2005, File No. 
MI 1 -I 5577). 

N d o d  Association, 85 Administrative Agent and Issuing Lender (incorpomtd by 

( ) Previously filed. 

Executive Compensation P h n s  and Arrangements. 

Application has been made to the Securities and Exchange Commission to eek confidential treatment of certain provisions. Omitted material for which 
confidential treatment has been requested has been filed separately with the Commission. 

In accordance with Item M)l@)($)(iiiMA) of Regulation S-K, copies of certain instnrments definingthe rights of holders of certain of our Iong-term debt 
are not filed herewith. Pursuant to this regulation, we hereby agree to furnish atopy of any such instrument to the Securities and Exchange Commission u p  
request- 
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SIGNATURES 
mduummz 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15Id) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regishaant has duly caused this report to be sign4 on its 
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authori28d. in the City of Denver, State of Colorado, on February 16,2006. 

QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC, 
A DELAWARE CORPORATION 

By: /s/ JOHN W. I(lc~nnOs0N 

Johm W. Illcbardsw 
Couwol&raml&nbr V7epresdBem 

(Bu5 A u h ~ O @ e r u n d P ~ I  
Amsrm~w Of l i r )  

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of he registrant 
and in the c a p i t i s  indicated on the 16th day of February 2006. 

Signature ntlp 

oren c. slI.flev 

Dimtor, Chairman and Chief Executive Oficer 
(Principal E x h v e  Officer) 

Vice Chairman and Cltief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial Officer) 

Director 

Limda G Alvardn 

* Dimtor 

Chvles L. Bigp 

K. Daw Bmoksher 

* 

Cmnm Y. Harvey 

* 

Peber S. Hellmnr 

R David Hwver  

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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* 

Patrick J. Martin 

* 

Wayne W. Mardy 

* 

3arnes A. Unrnh 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Direcfor 

137 



Report of Independent RegIWd Public Accounting Ftrm 
nbbuam& 

The Board of Dimtors and Stockholders 
Q w a t  Communidms International Inc.: 

Under date of February 16,2006, we reported on the consolidatad balance sheets of Qwest Communications Intwnational Inc. and subsidiaries l l ~  Of 
Dacember 3 I ,  2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ deficit, and cash flows for each of the years in the threeyear 
period ended December 3 I ,  2005, as contained in the DeEembw 3 I, 2005 annual repor! on Form IO-K. In m e c t i o n  with our audits of the aforementioned 
consolidated financial statements, we a h  audited the related consolidated financial statement schedule. Schedule 11-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. This 
financial statement schedule is the responsibility ofthe Compmy’s management. Our responsibility is fo express an opinion on this financial statement s~hdule  
based on our audits. 

In out opinion, such financial statement schedule, when considered in retation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents 
fairly, in all material respects, the i n f o d i m  set forth therein. 

KPMG LLP 
Denver. Colorado 
February 16,2006 
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QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 

(DOLLARS IN MILLIONS) 
SCHEDULE 11-VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 

3 178 S 173 $ 184 $ 167 
280 194 2% 178 
360 304 384 280 
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Exhibit 10.2 

NOWQUALIFIED STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT 

This Option Agreement (the “Agreemenf’) is made as of the day of 
Corpomtion (the “Campany”), and (the “Optionee”). 

WHEREAS, p m m t  to ae Qwest Communications International hc. Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), the Company desires to afford the Optionee the 
opportunity to purchase shares of Company Common Stock par value $.Ol per share (the Tommon Shares”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in connection with the m u d  covenants hereinafter set forth and for other good and valuable wnsidwation, the receipt and a d q u w  of 
which is hereby acknowlalged, the parties ttereto agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS: CONFLICTS. 
Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given thereto in the Plan. The terms and provisions of the Plan are i n c o w o w  
herein by reference. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms and provisions of the Plan and the t e rn  and provisions of this Agceement, 
terms and provisions of the Plan shall govern and control. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the ferns and conditions of this A v a t  and any 
agreement bemeen Optionee and U S WEST, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries, the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall govern and control. In the event ofa 
conflict or inconsistency between the terms and wnditims of this A p m e n t  and any employment agreement between Company and Optionee (other than 
a m t  between the Optionee and U S WEST, W. and/or its subsidiaries), such employment agreement shall govern. 

2. CRAW OF OPTIONS. 
The Company hereby grants to the Ophonee the right and option (the “Option” or “options”) to p h a s e  up to, but not exceeding in the w t e ,  
Common S h e s .  on the terms and conditions herein sei forth. 

3. PURCHASE PRICE. 

, M e e n  west Commmicaiions International IN., a Delaware 

The purchase price of wach Common Share covered by the Option shall be (the “Purchase Pricen). 

4. TERM OF OPTIONS. 
The term of the Option shall be ten ( I O )  years from the date hereof, subject to earlier termination 11s provided in Sections 6 and 8 h e r d  



5. VESTING OF OPTIONS. 
The Option, subject to the terms, conditiohs and limitations contained hwein, shall vest and become exmisable with respect to the Common Sham in 
instalIments of % one year from the date hereof and in additional installments of o/o on each subsequent anniversary thereafter; provided that with 
respea to each such installment. the Optionee has remained in continuous employment with the &rnpany from the date hereof through the date such installment 
is d&gnated to vest. 

Notwithstanding the vesting schdule set forth above, the Options will vest and became immediately exmisable in the event of the Optionee’s death or 
Dkbility (as defined in the Plan) and under the circumstances described in SBction 7 below. 

6. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT. 

(a) Termination of Employment for M o n s  other than Death, h b i b i y ,  Retirement or Cause, In the event the Optionee’s employment with the 
C o m F y  terminates for m o n s  other than Optionee’s death, Disability, Retiremat or Cause, the Option shall main exercisable for a period of up 
to three months after Ophon~’s tmmination of employment (but not beyond the terra of the w o n ) ,  to the extcnt vested and exercisable at the time 
of Optionee’s termination of employmenl. 

(b) Termination of Employment Because Optionee Dim, Becomes Disabled or Retlrer In the went Optionee’s employment with the Company 
terminates because Optionee dies. becomes Disabled (as defined in the Plan) or Retis.  t k  Option shall remain exercisable for two years after 
Optionee’s termination of employment (but nut beyond the term of the Option), to the extent vested and exercisable at the time Optionee’s 
employment terminated. For purposes of this Agreement, the terms “Retire” and “Retirement” shdl meant that, at the time of Optionee’s 
termination of employment, Optionee has one of the following age and service combinations: 

Regrement Age 
Any- 
5&54 
55-59 
6- 
65 and oldpa 

Term of Employment 
at lcast 3Uyears 
at least 25 years 
atleast2Oym 
at least 15 y w s  
atleaQtlOyaR3 

(c) Termination of Employment for Cause In the event Optionee’s employment with the Company is terminated by the Company for Cause, the 
Option shall be forfeited as of the date of such termination, whether or not otherwise vested or exercisable on such date. For purposes of this 
Agreement, “cause” shall mean: 

(I) Commissim of an a c i d e n d  by the h p y  in its sole discretion to be sn act of dishonesty, fraud, misrepresentation or other act of 
moral turpitde that would reflect negatively upon Qwest or compromise the effective performance of Optimw’s duties; 
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(2) Unlawful oonduct resulting that would reflect negatively upon Qwest or cornpmmise the effective performance of Optionee’s duties, as 

(3) Conviction of (or pleading nolo WMendeFe to) any felony or a misdemeanor involving moral aapitde; 
(4) Continued failure to substantially pwform Optionee’s duties to the satisfaction of his or her supervisor ( d e r  than such failure resulting 

from Optionee’s incapacity due to physical or mental illness) aftw the deIivery of written notice to Optionee specifically identifying the manner in 
which Opnonee has %led to substantially perform his or her duties and Optionee has keen affwded a reasonable opportunity to substantially 
perform his or hw dutie9; or 

effective prfomance of Optionee’s duties, as determined by the C a m p y  in I sole discretion. 

determined by the Company in its soIe discretion; 

(5 )  A wdlful violaim of the Qwwt Code of Conduct or other Qwest policies that would reflect negatively upon Q w t  or compromise the 

(d) Unwsted Opttons Forfeited Upon T~I-~I~IM~Mu of Employment. Any portion of the Option that has not vegkd as of the date Optionee’s 
employment terminates shall be forfeited immediateiy upon termination of Optionee’s employment with the Company, unless such termination 
MXUCS b m x  Optionee dies or becomes Disabled. 

7. CHANGE OF CONTROL. 
Unless otherwise provided in an employment agreement between Optionee and Company, in the event there is a hth a Change in Control, and a subsequent 
termination of Optionee’s employment by the h p a n y  for a m n  other than Cause in a two-year pesiod after the date of such Change of Control. the W o n  
shall vest in full and trecOme immediately exercisable on the date of such termination, and shall m a i n  vcsted and exercisable during !he remaining term thereof. 

8. FORFEITURE OF OPTION. 

(a) Performance for Competitors. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement. Optionee shalI immediately forfeit all rights under the 
Option, if, during the 18 month perid bcpnning on the date of Optionee’s termination of employment, Optionee owns more than 2% of the 
cmmm si%& of, or is employed by, advises, represents or assists in any other way any person or entity that competm with, or intends to compete 
with the Company or any other Qwcsi entity with respm to any product soldor service performed by the Company or any other Qwest 
state or country in which the Company or any other @est entity sells such products or performs such services, and if the Committee, in its sole 
discretion, deteminas that such actions by Option= are detrimental to the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Optionee is an attorney. 

in my 
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Optionee may. subject to the applicable d e 8  of ethics and the nondisclosure provisiom k i n ,  pwform s e w k s  solely in his or her capacity as an 
outside attorney on behalf of any permu or entity, even if such person or entity o o m m  with Qwest or sells goods or senices similar to those 
Qwest sells. 

(b) Won-mlkltalon of Emphyees. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Optionee shall immediately forfeit all rights under the 
Option, if, during the w e a r  period beginning on the date of Optionee’s termination or employment, Optionee induces any employee of @est to 
leave @est’s employmeat. and i f  the Committee, in its sole discretion. determines that such actions by Optionee are delrimenhl to the Company. 

(c) Nondbchsure. Optionee will not disclose outside of the Company or to any person within the Company who does not have a legitimate business 
need to know, any Confidential Infortnation (as defined below) during Optionee’s employment with the Company. Optionee will not disclose to 
anyone or make any use of any Confidential hformation of the Company after Optionee’s employment with the Company ends for any reason, 
except as required by law aftw timeIy notice i s  given by Optime to the C a m p y .  This agreement not to disclose or use ConMential lnformation 
means, among other things, that Optionee, for a pcriod of 18 months beginning on the effective date of ik termination Of OptiOnCe’S employment 
with the Company or any ofher Qwest entity for any reason, may not take or perform a job whose mpnsibilities would likely lead Optionee to 
disclose or use Confidential Information. Optionee acknowledges and agrees that the asslrmption and performanct of such responsibilities, in that 
situation, would likeeiy resuit in the disclosure or use of Confidential Information and would likely result in irreparable injury to the Company. 
Moreover, during Optionee’s employment with the Company, Optionee shall not disclose or use for the benefit of the Company, himself or any 
other person or entity any confidential or trade secret information belonging to any former employw or other person or entity to which Optionee 
owes a duty of confidence or nondisclcmre of such information. If a mud determines that this provision is too broad, Optionee and Company agree 
that the mud slid[ modify the provision to the extent (but not more than is) necessary to make the provision enforceable. ‘Confidential Information” 
is my oral Of m&en information not generafly known outside ofthe Company, including without limitation, trade secrets, intellectual property, 
Software and documentation, customer information (including, without limitation, customer lists), company policies, practices and codes of conduct, 
internal analyses, analyses of competitive pmducts, strategies, merger and acquisition plans, marketing plans, corporate financial information, 
information related to negotiations with third prties, information protected by the Company’s privileges (such ag the attorney-client privilege), 
internal audit reports, conhucts and sales proposals, training materials, employment and pmonnel rwsords, performance evaluations. and other 
sensitive information. This agrement does not relieve Optionee of any obligations w o n =  has to the Company under law. If Optionee fails to 
Comply with the proisions of this paragraph, Optionee shall immediately forfeit dl rights under the Option. Nothing in this paragraph shall prevent 
or limit Optione’s hili@ to provide truthful responses to legitimate iqltiria from govmmentai agencies. 
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(d) PoBHemina%n fiodhg of Cause Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Optionee shall immediately forfeit all nghts under the 
Award and shalt repay to Company all proceeds from the vesting or lapsing of the Award OOcUrring after ophonee’s termination of employment, if, 
within the two-year period beginning on Optionee’s termination date, the Committee determines that Optionee, while employ& by Company. 
engaged in conduct constituting Cause (as defined by any employment agreement between Company and Optionee, or if there is no employment 
agreement, as defined by the Plan). Consistent with applicable law, any repayments shall include an interest factor qual io the applicable federal 
short tern interest rate pursuant to Internal Rwenue Code section 1274. Inkrest shall begin to accrue on the 3 1 st day after Option= (or. if 
applicable, Optionee’s estate or beneficiary) received Compsny’s written notifidon of its determination that such Cause exists M existed, and shall 
continue to accrue until complete repayment is made to Campany. This provision MI not be affective aftwa Change in Control. 

9. TRANSFERABILITY OF O m O N .  
Except to the extent permitted by the Committee in accordance with the provisim of the Plan, the Optionee m y  noi voluntarily or involmtarily pledge, 
hypothecate, assign, sell or oaherwise mnsfer the Option except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, and during the Ophonee’s lifetime. the Option 
shall be exercisable only by !he Optionee. 

10. NO RIGHTS AS A SHAREHOLDER 
The Optionee shall have no rights as a sharehoIderwith respect io my Common Shares until the date of issuance to the Optionee of B oertificate evidencing swh 
Common Shares. No adjustments, other !ha as provided in Article IV of the Plan, shall be made for dividends (ordinary or extraordinary, whether in cash, 
securities of other property) or distributions for which the record date is prior to the date the certificate for such Common Shares is issued. 

11. REGHTRATION: GOVERNMENTAL APPROVAL. 
The Option granted hereunder is subject to the requirement that, if at my time the Cornmiti% determines, in its discretion, that the listing, registration, or 
qdifimtions ofCommon Shares imable upon exercise of the Option is required by my muritia exchange or under any state or Federal law, rule or 
regulation, or the consent or approval of any governmental re@tory M y  or other person is neoessary or desirable as a condition of, or in conmtion with, the 
issuance of Common Sham, no Common Sham shall be kucd, in whole or in part, unless such listing regishiion, qualification, consent or approval has been 
effected or obtained free of any conditions or with such conditions as are acceptable to the Committee. 

12 METHOD OF EXERCISING OPTION. 
subject to the twms and conditions of this Agreement, the Option may k exercised by contacting the stock broker designated by the Company from time to time 
and h l l h n g  such broker’s instructions. Alternatively, if Optionee wishes to use his or her personal stock broker. Opt~onee may provide written notice to the 
Company, Attention: Manager. Stock 
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Administration. Such notice shall state the et&im to exercise the w o n  and the nurnkr of Common Shares in respect of which the Option is being e x w k d ,  
shall be signed by the p a w n  or p e m s  so exercising the Option and shall be a m p n i e d  by payment in MI of the Purchase Price for such Common shares. 

Payment of such Purchase Price shall be madc in U n M  States dol l l~s  by certified check or batik cashier’s check payable to the order of the C o m p l y  or by wire 
hnsfer to such s c w t  as may be specified by the Company for this purpse. Subject to such procedures and rulw as may be adopted from time to time by the 
Commitbee, the Optionee may also pay such hmhase Rice by (i) tendering io the Company Common Sham with an aggregate Fair Market VaIue on the date of 
exercise equal to such Purchase Price provided that such Common Sham must have been held by !he Optionee for more than six (6) months, (ii) delivery to the 
Company of a copy of irrevocable instructions to a stackhoh to sell Common Sham or to authorize a loan from the stockbroker to the Optiom and to deliver 
promptly to the Company an amount sufficient to pay such Purchase price, or (iii) any combination of the methods of payment described in clauses (i) and 
(ii) and in the preoeding sentence. The certificate for Common S W  as to which the Option shall have been so exercised shall be registered in the name of the 
perm or persons SI] exercising the Option. All Common Shares purchased upon the exercise of the Option as provided herein shall be fully paid and 
nowmessable. 

The Company’s Insider Trading Policy I 10 requires that all Insiders must preclear with the Law Department all proposed transactions in @est Securities prior 
to transaction. 

13. INCOME TAX WITHHOLDING. 
The Company may make such provisions and take such steps as it may deem monably  m e s s y  or appropriate €or the withholding ofall federal, state, local 
and other taws requited by law to be witbk.ld with respect to the exercise of the Option and the issuance of h Common Shares, including, but not limited to, 
deducting the mount of any such withholding taxes from any other amount then or h f i e r  pyable to the Optionee, or requiring the Optionee, or the 
beoeficiary or legal representative of the Optionee, to pay to the Company the amount required to be withheid or to e x a t e  such documents as the Comjmy 
deems necessary or hirable to enable it to satisfy its withhoIding obligatiom. 

14. COMMITTEE DISCRETION. 
Any decision, interpretation or other action made or taken in good faith by the Committee arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, the Plan or the 
Option shall be final, binding and mclusive on the Company, Optionee and any r e s p t i v e  heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign. 

15. PION-QUALIFIED STOCK OPTION. 
The Option granted hereunder is not intemkd to be an “incentive stmk option” within the meaning of Section 422 of the Code. 
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16. WAIVER OF RIGHT TOJURY. 
Ry signing this Agreement, Optionee volunbrily, knowingly and intelligently waives any right he or she may have to ajury trial for all clakns relating to thk 
Agreement and any other claim retating to Optionee’s employment with Company. The Company also hereby voluntarily, knowingly, and inteIligentIy waives 
any nght it might otherwise have to ajury h a )  for all claims relating Io this Agreement and my other claim relating to wonee’s employment with the 
Company. 

17. GOVERNCNG LAW. 
This Agreement shall & construed and interpretea in a c d a n c e  with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions of any 
state. Any action to enforce this Agreement shall be brought in Colorado state or federal district court and the parties waive any objection to the jurisdiction or 
venue of such courts. 

la HEADINGS. 
Headings are for the convenience of the parties and are not deemed to be part of this Agrtemwt 

19. EXECUTION. 
This Agreemmt is voidable by the Company if the Optionee does not execute the Agreement w i h  30 days of execution by the Company. 

1N WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties h e m  have executed this Agre-eemen! rn of the date and year first written above. 

QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 

Date 
By: 

EVP-Chief Human Resources Officer 

OPTIONEE: 

Date 
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RESTRlCTED STOCK AGREEMENT 

This RstricteB Stock Agrmnent (“Agrement”) is made BS of the 
Delaware corporation (the  company^, and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Qwest Communications International Inc. Equity Incentive Plan (he “Plan”), the Compaoy desim to grant shares Of Cmmm~ 
Stock, par value $0.01 per share, of the Company (“Common Smk? to the Grantee subject to the resirictim and on the terms and conditions Specified below. 

NOW THEREFORE, in connection with the mutual covenants hereinafter set forth and for other g o d  and duable oonsideration, the receipt and * u a ~ y  of 
which is hereby acknowledge$. the @es hereto agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS: CONFLICTS. 

day of ,ZOO-, between Qwest Communications International Inc., a 
, (the uGrantee’3. 

Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings given thereto in the Plan. The terms and provisions of the Plan are 
incorporated herein by reference. In the event of a conflict or inconsistetrcy between the terms and provisions o f  the Plan and the terms and provisims of 
this Agreement, the terms and provisions of the Plan shall govern and controi. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency Mween the terms and conditions 
of this Agreement and any apmmt between Grantee and U S WEST, Inc. andlor its subsidiaries, the terms md conditions of  this Agrement shall 
govem and mtrol. In the event of a conflict or inconsistency between the terms and conditions of this Agreement and any employment agrement 
between Company and Grantee (other than an agreement between &e Grantee and U S WEST, Inc. and/or its subsidiaries), such employment agrement 
shall govern. 

2. GRANT OF RESTRICTED STOCK. 
The Company hereby grants to the Grantee shares (the *Shares’? of Common Stock (the ‘Xestricted Stock”), effective 86 of (he 
“Transfer We=). After the Grantee b m e s  the holder of mrd with respect to the Stock, the Grantee shall be treated as the beneficial owner ofthe 
Skxk and shalt have the right to receive all amounts, includmg cash and property of any kind, distributed with respect to the Stock. 

The Graniee shall not sell, assign, transfer by gift or otherwise, pledge, hypothecate, or othetwise dispose oc by o p t i o n  of law or otherwise, any of the 
Shares for the period commencing on the Transfer Date and ending on the E x p h i o n  Date (as defined in Section 4 beIow), except as otherwis~ provided in 
Section 4 or Section 5 OF as otherwise permitted by this Agreement or !he terms of the Plan. 

3. RESTRJCTIONS. 



If any transfer of Shies is made or attempded to be made contrary to the term of this Agreement, the Company shall have the i # t  to 
account, without the payment of any cOrtsi&mtion therefor, such Shares from thc ownwthrmf or his transferee, at my time before 
prohibited transfer. In addition to any other I@ or equitable rem- it may have, the Company may enforce its rights to specific P e F f o m ~ e  to the 
extent pmirted by law and may exercise such other equitable remedies then available to it. The Company may refuse for any purpw to mwize 
transferee who m i v e s  Shares 0onh;lFy to the provisions of th is  Agreement 98 a stdholder of the Company and may & and/or w v e r  all dividends 
on such Shares that were paid or payable subsequent to the date on which the prohibitd transfer was made or attempted. 

for its Own 
a h  such 

4. VESTING; LAPSE OF RE!3TlUCTIONS. 
Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the Shares of Restricted Stock shall vest in installments of 3 one year from the date hereof and in 
additional installments of -% on each subsequent anniversary thereafter; provided that, with respect to each installment, the Grantee has remained in 
continuous employment with the Company from the date hereof through the date such installment is designed to vest. 

The Restricted Stock shall be fully v d  and this Agrewnent shalt terminate on the last date set forth (the “Fxphtion DMe”). Shares that have become 
vested and 11s to which the reshictions have lapsed shall be r e f e d  to BS Vested Shares. Shares that have not b m e  vwted and as to which the 
restrictions have not lapsed shall ix referred to as Unvestad Shares. 

Wotwith$tandig the Vesting schedule set forth above, the Unvested Shares wilt bmme Vested Shares in the went of tho Grante’s death DF Disability (a 
Mid in the Plan). 

The Grantee may, at Grantee’s discrelon and subject fo he policies of the C o m p y ,  sell, assign, transfer by gift or otherwise, hypothecate, or otherwise 
dispose of, by operation o f  law or otherwise, my of thc Vested Sharcs not Withheld by the Company for tax withholding purposes pursumrnt to Section 9. 

5. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT; FORFEITURE OF UNVESTED SHARES. 
In the event the Grantee’s employment with the Company is twminated for any r e m n  other than due IO death or Disability, all Unvested Shares shall be 
forfeited and the Grantee shall immediately transfer and assign to the Company, without the requirement of consideration, all Unvested Shares, which shall 
promptly b tendered to the Company by the delivery of certificates, if any, for such Unvested Shares, duly endorsed in blank by the Grantee or the 
Grantee’s representative or with stock powers attached thereto duly endor6Bd, at the Company’s principal offices, all in form suitable for the transfer of 
such Shares to tbe Company without the payment of any consideration therefor by the Company. After the time at which any such Shares lilf: requirad to 
be delivered to the Company for transfer to the Company, the Company shall not p y  m y  dividend to the Gm& on mount of such Sham or permit the 
Grantee to exercise any of the privileges 
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or rights of a stockholder with respect to swb Shares, but shall, in so far as permitted by law, treat the Company 89 the owner of such S h m .  

6. ADJUSTMENT OF THE SHARES. 
Upon the occurrence of an event described in Article I V  of the Plan, the Shares shall be adjusted in accordance with Article IV. 

7. FORFEITURE OF UNVEmED SHARES. 

Peflormmw for Competitor& Nofwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Grantee shall immediately forfeit all rights under the 
Restticted Stock A W N  if, during the I8 month h o d  beginning on the date of Grantee’s termination of employment, Grantee owns more than 2% 
of the common stock of, or is employed by, advises, repreams orlrssists in any other way any person or entity that competes with, or intends to 
compete with the Company or any other Qwest entity with respect to any product sold of service performed by the Company or any other Q w e t  
entity in any state or country in which the Company or any o!her Qwcst entity sells such products or performs such services, and if the Commik, 
in its sole discretion, determines that such actions by CrranW. arc deetrimental to the Cmpmy.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, if Grantee is an 
attorney, Grantee m y ,  subject to the applicabIe r u h  of ethics and the nondisclosure provisions berein, perform services solely in his or her capacity 
ap am outside attorney on behalf of any person or entity, men if such person OF entity compGtes with @est or sells go& or services similar to those 
West sells. 

Non-~oliatation of Employees Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, Grantee shall immediately forfeit all rights under the 
Resbicted Stwk Award, if, during the w a r  pried beginning on the date of Grantee’s termination or employment, Grantee induces any 
employee of Owest to leave west’s employment. and if the Committee, in its sole discretion, determines that such actions by Grantee are 
detrimental to the Company. 

NoadIsclosure. Grantee will not dklose outside of the Compny or to any person within h e  Company who does not have n legitimate business 
need to know, any Confidential Information (as defined below) during Grantee’s employment with fhe Company. Grantee will not disclose to 
myme or make any use of any Confidential Information of the Company after Grantee’s employment with the Company ends for any reason, 
except as required by law after timely notice is given by Grantee to the Company. This agrement not to disclose or we Confidential 1n-m 
m a s ,  among ofher things, that Grantee, foF a perid of IS months kginning on the effective date of the termination of Grantee’s employment with 
the Company or any other Qwest entity for any reason, may not take or perform a job whose mponsibilities would likely lead -tee to disclose or 
use Confidential Information. G m W  acknowledges and agrees that the assumption and performance of such responsibilities, in that situation, 
would likely result in the disclosure or use of Confidential lnfwmation and would likely 
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result in irreparable injury to the Company. Moreover, during Grantee’s employment with the Company, Grantee shail nof disclose or use for the 
bznefit of the Company, himself or m y  other peeson or entity any confidential or trade secret information belonging to any former employer or other 
person or entity to which Grantee owes a duty of oonfidence or nondisclosure of such information. If a oourt determines *is provision is toc) 
broad, Grantae and Company agree that the court shall modify the provision to the extent @ut not more ahan is) necwary to make the provision 
enforceable. Tonfidmtid Information” is any oral or written information not generally known outside of the Company, including without 
limitation, bxde secrets, intelle~hral pmperiy, software and documentation, customw information (including, without limitation, customer lists), 
company policiw, practices and codes of wnduct, internal analyses, analyses of competitive products, strategies, me.rger and acquisition plans, 
marketing plms, c~pomte financial information, information related to negotiations with third parties, information protected by the Company’s 
privileges (such as the rlttorn-tient privilege), internal audit reports, contracts and sales proposals, training materials, employment and peFgonneI 
records, perfwmance evaluations, and other sensitive i n f d o n .  This agreement does not relieve Grantee of any obligations Grantee ha6 to the 
Company under law. If Grantee fails to comply with the provisions of this paragraph, Grantee shall immediately forfeit all rights mder the 
Restricted Stock Award. Nothing in this paragrrlph shall prevent or limit Grantee’s ability to provide truthful responses to legitimate inquiries from 
governmental agencies. 

(d) Post-temimtion flndhg of Cause. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement. G m w  shall immediately forfeit all rights under the 
Restricted Stock Award and shall repay to Company all proceeds from the vesting or lapsing of the Award occurring after Grantee’s termination of 
employment, if, within the twoyear period beginning on Grantee’s terminalion date, the Cormnittee determines that Grantee. while employed by 
Company, engaged in conduct constituting Cause (as defined by any employment agreement between Company and Grantee, or if there is no 
employment agreement, as M n e d  by the Fh). Consistent with appticable law, any qayments shall iwlude an interest factor equal to the 
applicable federal short twm interest rate pursuant to htwnal Revenue Code section 1274. Interest shall begin to accrue on the 3 1 st day after 
Grsmtee (or. ifapplicable, Grantee’s estate oi beneficiary) received Company’s writkn notification of its determiruttion that such Cause exists or 
existed, and shall continue to accrue until complete repayment is made to Campy.  This provision shall not be e f f d v e  after a Change in Control. 

8. ENFORCEMENT OF RESTRICTIONS. 
If a certificate or certificah representing Shares i s  issued. it shall bear the following legend 

‘The Sham of stock represented by this firtificate are subject to all ofthe terms of a Restricted Stock Agreement between mt 
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Communications Internalionat Inc. and the registered mer of this certificate (the “Agreement? and to the toms of the @est Communications 
I n t d 0 ~ 1  Inc. Equity Incentive Plan. Copies of the Agrement and the Plm are on fde at the office of the Company. The Agreement, among 
other things, limits the right of the Owner to transfer the Shares represented hereby and provide in certain Cimstances  that all or a poFtion of the 
Shmes must be returned to the Company.” 

The Company m y ,  in its sole discretion, require he Grantee to keep the certificate., if any, representing the Unvwted Shares, duly endomd, in the 
custody of the Company while the Unvested Shares are subject to the restrictions contained in section 2. The Company may, in its S O ~ P  dimtion, w i r e  
that the certificate, if any, representing the Unv& Shares, duly endorsed, be held in the custody of a third prly while the Unvested Shares &re subject to 
the restrictions contained in Section 3. 
The Company’s lnsider Trading Policy 1 IO requires that all lnsiders must preclear with the Law Department all proposed transactions in Owest 
Securities prior to transaction. 

9. TAX WITHHOLDING. 
Notwithstanding my Plan provision to the contrary, upon the vesting of any portion of the Sham, the Company shall withhold from the V@ Shares a 
number of Shares having 3 value equal to the minimum amount mired to be withheld under applicable federal, state and local income and other tax laws 
(collectively, “Withholding Taxes”). In such case, the value of the Shares to be withheld shall t barsd on the closing price of the Comgany’s common 
stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange on the date the mount of the Withholding Taxes is determind (the Tax W”). 

10.8IlI)tNG EFFECT. 
This Agreement shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, adminishators and sucoessors of ihe parties hereto. 

11. WAIVER OF RIGHT TO JURY. 
By Signing this Agreement, Grantee voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently waives any right he or she may have to a jmy trial for all claims relating to 
this Agreement and any other claim relating to Grantee’s employment with Company. The Cornpny also hereby voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently 
waives any right it might otherwise have to ajury trial for alI claims relating to this Agreement and any other claim relating to Grantee’s employment with 
the Company. 

12. GOVERNING LAW. 
This Agremwt shali be conshued and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to the conflict of laws provisions 
of any state. Any 
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action to enforce this Agreement shall be brought in Colorado state or federal district c w r t  and the parties waive any o b j d o n  to the juridictiom or venue 
ofsuch courts. 

13, HEADINGS. 
Headings are for the convenience of the Wies and are not deemed to be part of this Agreement. 

This Agreement is voidable by the Company if the Grantee does not execute the A p m e n t  within thirty (30) days of execution by the Campy. 
id EXECUTION. 

M WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agrtement on the dates set forth opposite their signahrres to be effective as of the date and year 
fmt mitten above. 

QWEST COMMUMCATIONS INTERNATIONAL MC. 

Date: By: 
EVP - Chief Human Rwurces Officer 

GRANTEE: 

Date: 
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Enbibit 10.22 
QWEST BUSlNESS RESOURCES, INC. 

C AGREE= 

This Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement (“Agrement“) by and behem west Businm Rwources, Inc. (“Lessor”), a Colorado oorporat i~ whme ddress 
is I801 California Street, Denver, Colorado 80202 Md Richard C. Notebaert (“ks~%”), w k  addrass is I06 South University hdevard ,  N u m b 3  12, &nVer, 
Colorado 80209 (collectively the “parties”), is effective Februa~y 14,200B and shall terminate on December 3 1,2008, lmles~  ttrminated S o o n t r  by itha partr 
m u a n t  to Article 1 blow. 

Sharing Agreement athched hereto and made a part h m f ,  as Exhibit A; 

Subject to the Time Sharing Agreement auached hereto and made a part hereof, as Exhibit B; 

WHEREAS, LRsstrr is legal owner of an a i d  (“Aimfk”),  equipped with mgjna and Mmponmb as b r i b e d  in the Aircraft SuWd to the Time 

WHEREAS, Lessor has the right of possession of an aircraft (“Aircrafl”), equipped with engines and components as described in !h Wed Aircraft 

WHEREAS, Lessor has conhacted for a fully qualified flight CIW to operate the Aircraft: and 

WHEREAS, L e w r  Besires to provide to Lessee, and h s e e  desires IO have the use of said Aircraft with flight crew om a non-exclusive time shaflflg basis 
as defined in Section 9 1 .SO I (c)( I )  of the Fedeml Aviation Regulations (“FAR”); 
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WHEREAS, this Agrement sets forth the understanding of the Parties as to the terms under which Lessor Will provide Lessee with the uw, on a periodic 

WHEREAS, the use of the Aircraft will at all times be pursuant to and in full compli~~~~nce with the reqU;rements of Federal Aviation ReguMons C'FAR") 

NOW, THEREFORE. in consideration of the mutual covenan& and agreements herein contained, the Parties agree as follows: 

basis, of the Aircraft as desmikd in Exhibits A and B hereto, m t l y  owned or o p e d 4  by Lessor. 

91 .SO1 (b)(6), 91.501 (c)(l), and 9 1 .SO1 (d); 

1. Termination. 
Either party may terminate this Agreement for any reason upon written notice to the other, such termination to beoorne effective ten ( I  0) days from the date of 
the notice; provided that this Agreunent may be terminated on such shorter notice as may be required to comply with applicable lam, regulations, the 
requirements of m y  financial institution with a security or other interest in dw Aircraft, insurance requirements M in the event the insurance required hereunder is 
not in full force and effect. 

2. Use of Aircraft, 
(a) Lessee may use the A h &  from time to time, with the permission and approval of Lessor's Flight O p t i o n s  Depatbnent, for any and dl p u m a  allowed 
by FAR 91.501 (b)(6) at such times as the Lessor does not require the use 

Page2of18 



of the Aircraft for the business purposes of Lessor or an affiliate.. Lessee’s use shall include the w of the Aircraft by h i s  Spouse or related family member 
(including children or grandchildren) (“Related Family”) if they accompany him on the flight. 

(5) Lessee represents, wanants and covenants U, L m r  t h a t  

I .  Lessee will use each Aircraft for and on his own account only and will not use m y  Aircraft for the purposes of providing transportation of 
passengers or cargo in air ~lmmerce for cornpertsation or hire: 

2.  Lessee shall re6ain from incurring any mehanics lien or other lien in connection with inspection, preventathe maintenance, maintenarm 
or sdorage of the Aircraft, whether permissible or impermissibie d e r  this Agreement, and Lessee shall not attempt to convey, mortgage. 
&gn, lease or any way alienate the Aircraft or crefde any kind of lien or d t y  interast involving the Aircraft or do anything M take 
action that might mature into such a lien; 

3. During the term of this Agreement, Lessee will abide by and conform to all such laws, governmental, and airport orders, rules, and 
regulations as shall from time to time te in effect relating in any way to the operation and use of the Aircraft by a timesharing Lessee; 
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(c) Lessee shall provide Lessor’s Flight Operations Department with notice of his desire to use the Akraftand pm-d flight schedules as far in advance Ofmy 
given flight as p i b l e ,  and in any caw., at least fortyeight (48) hours in advance of L m ’ s  planned departure. RBquests for flight time shall be in a form, 
whetfier wrim or oral, mutually convenient to, and agreed upon by the Mes. In addition to the proposed schedules and flight times Lessee shall provide at 
least the following i n f o d o n  for each proposed flight ai some time prior to shtduled departure as r q w d  by the h r  or Lessor’s flight crew: 

1. proposed departure point; 

2. destination; 

3. 

4. 

5.  

6. 

7. 

date and time of flight; 

the number and identiiy of anticipated passengers and relationship to the Lessee; 

the nature and extent of hggage d o r  cargo to be carrid; 

the date and time of return flight, if any; and 

any other information concerning the propwed flight that may be pertinent or required by Lwsor or Lessor’s flight crew. 

(c) h s o r  shall notify L a s e  as to whether or not the requested use of the Aired cam be accommodated and, if not, the Parties shall discuss alternatives. 

(d) Lesor’s prior p h n e d  utilization of the Aircraft will take precdmce over Lessee’s use. Additionally, any maintenance and inspection of the A i m f i  Eakw 
precedence Over scheduling of the A i d  unless such maintenance or inspection can be safely deferred in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and 
within the sound &scretian of the PiloHn-Command. 
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(e) Lessor shall have sole and exclusive authriiy ovec the scheduling of the AircmfL including which Aim& is used for any @c& flight. 

(f) Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee or any other person for loss, injury, or damage wzasioned by the delay or failure to furnish the Aircraft and crew PmUSnt 
to this Agreement for any reason. 

3. TirnHbaring Arrangement. 
It is intended that this Agrement wiil meet the quimmts of a 'Time Sharing Agreement" as that term is defined in FAR Part 91.501(cH 1) whereby Lessor 
will Iase its Aircraft and fiight c m  to Lessee. 

4. Cast  of Use of Aircraft. 
(a) In exchange for use of the Aircraft, Lessee shall pay the dired o m g  mts of the Aircraft permitted p m n t  to FAR 9 1.501 for any flight conducted 
under this Agreement or a lesser amount as mutually agreed to by the Parties. Pursuant to FAR 91.501@), those direct operating co& shall be limited to the 
following expemes for each use o f  the Aircraft: 

( I )  Twice the cast of fuel, oil, lubricants and other additives; 

(2) Travel expenses of the crew, inchding food, ldgmg, and ground trrrrtsportation. 

(3) Hangar and tie-down costs when the Aircraft is required by the Lessee to be away from the Aircraft's base ofoperation. 
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(4) 

(5) 

Insurance obtained for the specific flight. 

Landing fees, airport tares, and similar assessments. 

(6) Customs, foreign permit, and similar h directly relate4 to the flight. 

(7) In flight hd and b e v a g a .  

(8) Passenger ground transportation. 

(9) Flight planning and weaiher conkact services. 

@) Lessor Will invoice, and Lessee will pay, for all appropriate charges. 

(c) In addition to the rental rate referenoadin Saction 4(a) above, Lesm shall alw be m w d  the Federal Excise Taxes 88 imposed under Section 4261 of the 
Internal Revenue Code, and any segment and hding fees associated with such fligllqs). 

5, Invoicing and Payment. 
All payments to be made to Lessor by Lessee hereunder &all be paid in the manner xi forth in this h g m p h  5 .  Lessor will pay to suppliers, employees, 
contractors and government entiti= all expenses related to the operations of the Aircraft hereunder in the ordinary course. As to each flight operated hereunder, 
Lessor shall provide to Lessee an invoice for the charges specified in F-h 4 ofthis Agreement (plus domestic or international ah transportation Excise 
Taxa, as applicable, imposed by the lnternal Revenue Code and collected by h o r ) ,  such invoice to be issued within thirty (30) days after the completion of 
each such night. Le%= shall pay Lessor the full m m t  of such invoice upon receipt of the invoice. In the event Lessor has not received a supplier invoice for 
reimbursable 
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charges relating to such flight prior to such invoicing, Lessor shall isue a supplcrnental invoioe for such charges to Lessee within thirty (30) dap of the date of 
m i p t  of the supplier invoice and Lessee shall p y  such supplwnental invoice mmt upon receipt thereof. All such invoices shall sepmtely itemize fhe 
expenses in itern8 ( I )  through (9) of paragraph 4(a) for each f l i t  included in that invoice. Delinquent pymmts, defined as payments received more than thirty 
(30) days after invoice, to Lessor by Lessee hereunder shall bear interest at the rate of ten percenf (10%) per mum from the due date Until the date 0fp-L  
Lessee shall further pay al1 c o ~ t s  incurred by Lessor m collecting any amounts due from Lessee pursuant to the provisions of this Paragraph S after de l inqu~y ,  
including court costs and reasonably attorneys‘ fees. 

6. Insurance and Limltation of UabIllty. 
Lemr repments that the flight operations for the Aircraff as mtemplated in this Agreement will be covered by h e  Lessor’s aircrafi all-risk physical damage 
insurance (hull Coverage), aircraft bddily injury and property damage liability insurance, passenger, pilot and crew voluntary settlement insurance and statutory 
workers compensation and employer’s liability insurance. 

(a) Insurance. 

1 .  Lessor will maintain or caw to be maintained in full force and effect throughout the term of this Agreement aircraft liability insurance in MpeCt of 
the Aircraft in an amount at 1- equal io $100 million wmbmed single limit for bodily injury to or death of p e m s  (including passengers) and 
property damage liability. k s u r  will r&n dl rights and bemfits with respect to the proceeds pyable under plicies of hull insurance maintained 
by Lemr that may be pyable as a rcsult of my incident or wmrence while an Aircraft is being opmatd on bebalf of Lessee under this 
Agreement. 



~ ~~ 

2. Lwor shall use beat efforts to p m r e  such additional insuranoe coverage as Lessee may request naming Lasee 88 am additional insured: provided, 
that the cost of such additional insurance shall be h e  by le= pursuant to Paragmph 4(a)(4) hereof. 

(b) Limitation of Liability. Lessee agrees that the insurance specifid in pragraph Ha) shall provide its sole remum for all claims, losses, liabilities, obligations, 
demands, suits, judgments or causes of action, penalties. fines, costs and expensw of any nature whatever ,  including attorneys’ fees and expenses for or on 
account of or arising out of, w in any way c o n n m d  with the use of the Aircrafi by Lessee or its guests, including injury to or death of any persons, including 
Lessee and its guests which may result from or arise out of the use or operation ofthe Aircraft during the term of this Agrement (“‘Claim’). This Section 6 shall 
survive termination of this Agreement. 

(c) Lessee a m  that when, in the reasonable view of h r ’ s  Flight Operations Deparbnent or the pilots of the AircrztA, safety may be oompromised, Lessor or 
the pilob m y  terminate a flight, refuse to commmcx. a flight, or take other action necessitated by such safety considerations without liability for loss, injury, 
damage. or delay. 

(4 In no event shall Lessor be liable to Lesm or his employpes, agents, representatives, guests, or invitees for any claims or liabilities, including property 
damage or injury and death, and expenses. including attomy’s fees, in e x m s  of the amount piid by Lessor’s insurance carrier in the event o f  such loss. 
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(e) LESSOR SHALL IN NO EVENT BE LIABLE TO LESSEE OR HIS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, GUESTS, OR INVITEES FOR 
ANY MDIRECT, SPECIAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES AND/OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES OF ANY KIND OR NATURE UNDER ANY 
CIRCUMSTANCES OR FOR ANY REASON INCLUDING ANY DELAY OK FAILURE TU FURNISH THE AIRCRAFT OR CAUSED OR OCCASIONED 
BY THE PERFORMANCE OR NON-PERFORMANCE OF ANY SERVICES COVERED BY THIS AGREEMENT. 

7, Covensots Regarding Aircraff Maintenensma 
The Aircraft has been inspectea and maintained in the twelye-mnfh period preceding the date heereof in Bcoordance with the provisions of FAR Part 91. Lessor 
shall, at h own expense, inspect, maintain, senice, repair, overhaul, and test the Aimaft in acoMdaTLce with FAR Part 91. The Aircraft will remain in god 
operating oonditim and in a Conditim consistent with its airwdiwss certification, including dl FAA-hued airworthiness directives and mandatory service 
bulletins. In the event that any norstandard maintenance i s  requird during any applicabje lease term. L w o r ,  or Mor’s pilot-In-Command, shall 
immed*Iy notify Lmee of  the maintenance requid, the effect on the ability to comply with Lessee’s dispatch requirements and the manner in which the 
Parties will proceed with the performance of such maintenam and d u c t  of the balance of the planned flighqs). 
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8. No Warraoty. 
NEIITIER LESSOR (NOR ITS AFFILIATES) MAKES, HAS MADE OR SHALL BE DEEMED TO MAKE OR HAVE MADE ANY WARRANTY OR 
REPRESENTATION, ElTHER EXPRESS OR IMPLED, WR1T"IEN OR ORAL, WITH RESPECT TO ANY AlRCRAFT TO BE USED HEREUNDER OR 
ANY ENGWE OR COMPONENT THEREOF INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY WARRANTY AS TO DESIGN, COMPLIANCE WITH 
SPECIFICATIONS, QUALITY OF MATERIALS OR WORKMANSHIP, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR ANY PURPOSE, USE OR OPERATION, 
AIRWORTHINESS, SAFETY, PATENT, TRADEMARK OR COPYRIGHT fNFRINOEMENT OR TITLE. 

9. Operatioad Control. 
Lesor  shall be responsible for the physical and technical operation of the Aircraft and the safe performance of all flights and shall retain full authority and 
control, including exclusive o p e m t i ~ ~ l  control, and p o ~ s s i o n  of the Aircraft at all tims during the term of this Agreement. In accordance with applicable 
FARs, the qualified flight crew provided by Lessor will exercise all required a d o r  appropriate duiies and responsibilities in regard to the safety of each flight 
m d w t e d  hereunder. The PilokIn-Command shall have absolute discretion in all matters concerning the preparation of the Aircrad for flight and the flight 
i k l f ,  the load carried and its distribution, the decision whether or nota flight shall be undwtaken, the mute i o  be flown, the p h e  where landings shall be made 
and all other matters relating to operation of the Aircraft. Lessee specifically agrees that the flight crew shall have final and complete authority to deIay or cancel 
any flight for any reason M condition which, in sole judgment of the Pilot-Idommand. 
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couId compromise the safety of the flight and to take any other action which, in the sole judgment of the Pilot-IrrCommand, is necessitated by considemtions of 
safely. No such action of the Pib-In4ommand shall crwrte or suppon any liability to Lessee or my other person for loss, injury, damages or &lay. The parties 
further agree that Lessor shdl not be liable for delay or failure to frrmish the Aircraft and crew pursuant to this Agreement which such failure is caused by 
government regulation or authority, mechanical dimculty or brakdown, war, civil commotion, strikes or labor disputes. weather conditions, acts of God or other 
c h m & m e s  beyond Lessor’s reasonable control. Lessee agrees that Lessor’s opwation of aircraft is within the operation guidelines of the Lessor’s Flight 
Operations Deparkmnt manual and the E- are Fesponsible to operate within the guidelines of FAR 91 and the Lessor’s Fhght Operations Department manual. 

10, Governleg Law. 
The Parties hereto Itchwledge that this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in all respects in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado. 

This Agreement may be executed in one or more counkrprk each of which wit1 be deemed an original, all ofwhich togethex shall oonstitute one and the same 
agreement. 

12. Entire Agreement 
This Time Sharing Agreement constihrtes the entire understanding among the Parties with respect to its subject matter, and there are no repmentation% 
warranties, rights, obljgations. liabilities. conditions, covenanis, or agreemenk 

11. counterparts. 
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other h n  BS exprw~ly set forth herein. This Time Sharing Agreement shall supersede any prior Time Sharing Agreement between the parties, and this 
Agreement shall govern any question or ism that m y  arise from a flight conducted or to have been cmduckd under a prior agreement 

13. Notices and Communications. 
All notices, requests, demands and other mmmunications requid or desired to be given herwrnder shall be in writing (except as permitied p w m t  to Paragfaph 
I(c)) and shall be de.med to be given: (i) if personally delived, upon such delivery; (ii) if mild by certified mail, return receipt reqtmted, wtage p p a d ,  
addmsd as follows (to the extent applimble for mailing), upon &e earlier to occur of actual receipt, refusal IO accept receipt or thm (3) days after such miling; 
(iii) if sent by regularly scheduled overnight delivery mrrierwith delivery fees either prepaid or an arrangement, satishctory with such Carrier, made for the 
payment of such fees, addressad (to the extent applicable for overnight delivery) as foilows. upon the earlier to occur of actual m i p t  or h e  next “Business Day” 
(a hereafter defined) after being sent by such delivery; or (iv) upon actual receipt when sent by fax, mailgram, telegram or telex: 

If to LESSOR: 

QWEST BUSiNESS RESOURCES, INC. 
I801 California Street 
Denver. Colorado 80202 

u@ppt Legal DeFarttnmt 
1801 California Street, IOth Floor 
Denver. Colorado 80202 
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- _  . . . -. . 

If to LESSEE: 

Richard C. Nokbaert 
106 South University Boulevard, Number 12 
Denver, Col& 80209 

N0tict-s given by other means shall Ix deemed to be given only upon actual meipt. Addresses may be changed by written notice given as provided herein and 
signed by the party giving the notice. 

14. Further Acts. 
LESSOR and LESSEE shall from time to time perform such other and further acts Md execute m h  other and further instruments as may be required by law or 
may be reasonably necessary to: (i) cany out the intent and purpose of ibis Agreemmc and (ii) establish, maintain and protect the respective rights and ferndies 

15. Snccewm and Assigns. 
Neither this Agreement nor any W ’ s  interest herein shal1 be assignable io any other party whatsoever, except that Lessor may assign its interest hereunder to 
an a f f k t e  without the consent of the Lessee. This Agrement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Parties hereto, their heirs, repremktiveS and 

I& SeverabiIity. 
In the event that any one or more of the provisions of the Agreement shall for any reason be held to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, those provisions shall be 
replaced by provisions acceptable to both Parties to this Agreement 
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17. Plight Crew. 
Lessor is responsible for providing D qualified fligbt crew for all flight operations under this Agreement. The Lessor will furnish two experienced and competent 
pilots who shall be under the direction and control of the LWM at all times. 

18. Bnse of Operations. 
For purposes of this Agreement, the base of operation of the Aircraft is Centennial Airport, Denver, Colorado; provided, that such h e  may be changed 
permmentiy upon noCce from lessor to Lasee. 

19. T a m .  
The Parties acknowledge that reimbwmnmt of all items specified in Paragraph 4, except for subsections (7) and (8) thereof, are subject to tho Federal Excise 
Tax imposed under Intwnal Revenue Code 4261 (the "Commercial Transportation Tax"). Lessee d d l  pay to k s w  (for payment to the appropn'ate 
governmental agency) any Commercial Transportation Tax applicat~le to flights of the A i m R  conducted hereunder. Cesw shall indemnify Lessor for any 
claims related to the Commercial Transportation Tax to the extent that Lessee has paid Lemr !he amounts necessary to pay such taxes. 

20. Tltle and Right of P w e d o n .  
Legal title to the AircraA in Exhibit A shall remain in the Lessor at all times. Lessor has the right of possession to the Aircraft in Exhibit B pursuant io an Aircraft 
Lme Agreement. Nothing herein shall wnstitute a t m f w o f  ksor ' s  possessory rights to the A i d  
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21. Truth-in-Leasing 
The Lessor shall mail a copy of this Agreement for and on behalf of both Parties to: Flight Standards Technical Division, P.O. Box 25724, Oklahoma city, 
Oklahoma 73 125, within twenty-four (24) hours of its execution, as provided by FAR 9 1.23(c)(l). Additionally, Lessor &grees to oomply with the notification 
requirements of FAR Section 9 1.23 by notiQmg by telephone or in person the Rocky Mountain FAA F l a t  Standardg District OfFioe ai least forty-eight 
(48) hours priw to the first flight under this Agraement. 

THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISlONS OF PART 91 OF THE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS AND 
THAT ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AIRCRAFT’S MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION THEREUNDER WILL BE MET AND ARE 
VALID FOR THE OPERATIONS TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT DURING THE DURATION OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

(b) LESSOR, WHOSE ADDRESS APPEARS IN PARAGRAPH 13 ABOVE AND WHOSE AUTHORZED SIGNATURE APPEARS BELOW. 
AGREES, CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT WHENEVERTHE AIRCRAFT IS OPERATED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, LESSOR SHALL 
BE KNOWN AS, CONSIDERED AND SHALL IN FACT BE THE OPERATOR OF THE AIRCRAFT AND THAT LESSOR UNDERSTANDS ITS 
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL AVIATION RECIULATIONS. 

(a) LESSOR CERTIFIES THAT THE AIRCRAFT HAS BEEN INSPECTED AND MALNTAINED WITHIN THE 12-MONTH PERIOD PRECEDlNG 
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(c) THE PARTIES UNDERSTAND THAT AN EXPLANATION OF FACTORS AND PERTINENT FEDERAL AVIATION RuiuLAnONS 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, &e Parties hereto have each ClUlsBd this Agreement to be duly executed on February 14,2006. 

SEARING ON OPl3ATiONAL CONTROL CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE NEAREST FAA FLIGHT STANDARDS DISTRICT OFFICE. 

LESSOR 

Qwest Business Resources, hc. 

By: 

Its: 

LESSEE: 

Richard C. Notebaert 
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EXHIBIT A 
west Business Resources, Inti. 

Alrqrsfl Subject to Time Sharhg Agreement 

Each of the undersigned is a party to the Time Sharing A@’eement dated Febnrary 14,2006, by and between Qwest Business Res-=. h~. (‘‘bsor), and 
Richard C. Notebaert (7,essee”) ( c o l l ~ ~ e l y  the “Parties’?, and agm that from and after February 14,2006, until this Exhibit A shall be Supers& and 
replaced through wemeat of the Parties or h e  Time Sharing Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to its tm, the Aircraft dfsnhed below shall constitute 
the “Aircraft” b r i b e d  in and subject to ih terms of the Time Sharing A p m m t  in addition to the aircraft described in Exhibit B. 
1996 Dassault Falcon Jet Cop. Falcon 2000 

Manu-rer’s Serial Number 044 

FAA Registration Number N623QW 

Engine Model CFE731-1-IB, Serial Numbers P105145, PI05140 

Datad: February 14,2006 

LESSOR: 

Qwest Business Resouroes, Inc. 

By: 

Its: 

LESSEE: 

Richard C. Notebed 
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EXHIBIT B 
Qwst Business Reswms, h c .  

Leased A h r a i l  Subject to Time Sharhg Agreement 

Each of the undersigned is a pa@ to the Time Sharing Agreement dated February 14,2006, by and between west Business Rmas, lnc. (“Lessof‘), md 
Richard C. Notebaert (“Lessee”) (oolbctively the ‘Twties”), and a5- that from and after F e w  I4,2006, until this Exhibit B shall be supemded and 
replaced through -mat of the Parties or the Time Sharing Agreement shall be tesminated pursuant to its tenns, UIC Aircraft described below s h d  constitute 
the “Airuaff described in and subje3 to the terms of the Time Sharing Agreement in addition to t k  aimaft described in Exbibit A. 

2001 Dassault F a h  Jet Cwp. Falcon 2000 

ManufaEturer’s Serial Number 134 

FAA Registration Number N622QW 

Engine Model CFE 738-1-1B, Serial Numbers PI0541 1, PI05461 

Dated: February 14,2006 

LESSOR 

By: 

Its: 

LESSEE: 

Richard C. Note- 
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Exhlbit 10.26 
QWESF BUSINESS RESOURCE!& INC. 

AIRCRAFT TIME. W G  ACRE E M E U  

is 1801 California Street, Denver, Colorado 80202 and Oren G. Shaffw (*Lmid'), whose d r e s s  is 2409 Fifth Street, Boulder, Colorado 80304 (collectively the 
"Parties"), is effective February 14.2008 and shall terminate on December 31,2008, unless terminated m e r  by either party pursuant to Article I below. 

WHEREAS, Lessor is legal owner of an aircraft ("AircrafIn), quipped with engines and components as described in the Aircraft Subject to the Time 
Sharing Agreement attached hereto and made a part hereof, as Exhibit A; 

WHEREAS, Lessor has the right of possession of an aircmft (uAircraW9, equipped with engines and components as dewribed in the Leased Aircraft 
Subject io the T i m  Sharing Agreement attached hereto and made a prt hereof, as Exhibit B; 

WHEREAS, Lessor has conbscted for a fully qualified flight crew to operate the Aimaft; and 

WHEREAS, h s o r  d e s k  to provide to &, and Lessee desires to have the use of said Aircraft with fligbt crew on a noraxclusive time s&g a i s  

This Aimaft Time Sharing Agreement ("Agreemefif") by and ktwcen Qwest Business Resources, Inc. ("ksor),  a Colorado mqmm!hn whose address 

as defined in Section BI.SOl(c)( 1) of the Federal Aviation Regulations ("FAR"); 
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~~ - ~~ 

WHEREAS, this Agreement sets forth the understanding of the Parties 3s to the terms under which Lessor will provide Lessee with the use, ~1 B periodic 

WHEREAS, the use of the Aircraft will at dl times be pursuant to and in full compliance with the requjremcnts of Federal Aviation kphi0nS (“FAR”) 

NOW. THEREFORE, in w n s i d d o n  of the rnuhudl covenants and merits hereifi mtained, the Parties agree as follows: 

basis, of the Aimaft as de3cribe.d in Exhibits A and B hereto, currently owned or operated by Lessor. 

91.501(%)(6), 91.501(c)(l), and Bl.SOl(d); 

1. Tednatiom. 
Either party may terminate this Agreement for any reason upon mitten notice to the other, such terminahion to bemme effective ten (1 0) days from the date Of 
the notice; provided that this Agrement may be terminated on such shorter notice 89 may be q u i d  to comply With applicable laws, Wations, the 
requirements of my financial institution with a security or other interest in the Aircraft, insurance requirements or in the  eve^ the insurance required hereunder i s  
not in full f m  and effecL 

2, Use of Aircraft, 
(a) L~WXC may use the Aircraft from time to time, with the permission and approval of Lwsor’s Flight Operations Department, for any and all put’pses allowed 
by FAR 91.501@#6) at such times as the L m r  does not require the use ofthe A i m f l  for the busines purposes of Lessor or an affiliate. Lessee’s use 
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shall include the u8e of the Aircraft by his Spouse or related family member (including children or grandchildren) (“Related Family”) if they accompany him on 
the flight. 

(b) Legsee represznts, warmnCs and c o v m n h  to Lessor that: 

1. Lessee will use each Aircrafi for and on his own mount only and wiil not use any Aircraft for the purposes of providing hawportation of 
passengers or cargo in dr  commerce for compensation M hire.; 

2. Lessee shall refrain from incurring my mechanics lien or other lien in oonndon with inspection, preventative maintenance. maintenance 
or storage of the Aircmfl, whether permissible or impermissible under this Agreement, and Lessee shall not attempt to convey. mortgage, 
assign, lease or any way alienate the Aimaft or create any kind of lien or s & d t y  interest involving the Aircraft or do anything or take any 
action that might mature into such a lien; 

3. During the krm of this Agrement, Lessee will abide by and confonn to all such laws, gavemmmntal, and airport orders, rules, and 
regulahons as shall from time to time be in effect relating in any way to the operation and use of the Aircrafi by a rimesharing Lapsee; 

(C) Lessee shall provide Lessor’s Plight Operations Department with notice of hi desire to use the Aircmft and proposed fligbt schedule3 as far in advance of my 
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given flight as possible, and in any case, at least forty-eight (48) hours in advance of Lessee’s planned depture. Requests for flight time shall be in a fom, 
whether wn‘tten or oral, mutually convenient to, and agreed upon by the Parties. In addition to tho p r o p o d  schedules and flight times Lassee shalt provide at 
least the following information for each proposed flight at some time prior to scheduled depanure as required by the Lmor or Lessor’s flight crew: 

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

5. 

8. 

7. 

proposed departure point; 

destination; 

date and time of flight 

the number and identiiy of anticipated passengers and relationship to the Lessee; 

the nature and extent of luggage a d o r  cargo to be carried; 

the date and time of return flight, if any; and 

my other information d n g  the proposed flight that may be patinent or required by Lessor or Lessor’s flight crew. 

IC) Lessor shall notify Lessee BS to whether or not the quested u8e of the Aircraft can be accommodated and, if not, the pam‘es shall discuss d t e d v e s .  

(d) Lassor’s prior planned utilization of the Aircraft will take precedence over Lessee’s w. Additionally, any maintenance and inspection ofthe Aircraft iake 
p m h e  OW scheduling of the Aircraft unless such maintenance or inspection can be safely deferred in BcOOrdanEe with applimble laws and regulations and 
within the sound discretion of the PilotIn-Command. 
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~ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  ~ 

(e) Lessor shall have sole and exclusive authority o w  the szhduling of the Aircraft, including which Aircraft is used for any particular flight 

(9 Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee or any orher person for loss, injilry, or damage occasionad by the delay or failure to h i s b  the Aircrafi and crew pursuant 
to this Agreement for any reason. 

3, Tlmd3harlng Arrangement. 
It is intended that this Agreement will meet the requirements of a Time Sharing Agreement” as that term i s  defined in FAR Part 9LSOI(c)( 1) whereby Lessor 
will lease its Aircraft and flight crew to Lessee. 

4. h u t  of Use of h a f t .  
(a) In exchange for use of the Aircraft, L m e e  shall p y  the direct operating cmts of the Aircraft permined pursuant to FAR 91.501 for any flight conducted 
under this Agrement or a lesser amounf as mutually agreed to by the Parties. Pursuant to FAR 91.501(d), those direct operating costs shall be l~mited to the 
folldng expenses for each use of the Aimaft 

(1)  Twice the cost of fuel, oil, lubricants and other additives; 

(2) Travel expenses of the crew, including food, l&ng, and ground transportation. 

(3) Hangar and t i edown wests when the Airciafi is required by the Lessee to be away from the Aircrrmft‘s base of o p d o n .  

(4) Insurance obtained for the specific flight. 

(5) Landing few, airport taxes, and similar asesmenk. 
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(6) Customs, foreign permit. and similar fees directly related to the flight. 

(7) In flight food and beverages. 

(8) Pasenger &round transportation. 

(9) Flight planning and w&m contraict services. 

(b) Lessor will invoice, and Lessee will pay, for all appropriate charges. 

(C) In addition to the rental rate referenced in Section 4(a) above, Lessee shall a h  be assessed the Fadera1 Excise Taxes as imposed under Section 4261 of the 
Internal Revenue Code, and any segment and landing fees associated with such flight(s). 

5. Invoking and Payment. 
All payments to be made to Lessor by Lwee hereunder shall be paid in the manner set forth in this hagraph S. Lessor will pay to suppliers, employms, 
conbactors and government entities all expenses related to the operations of the AiPcmfl hereunder in the ordinary couFse. As to each flight operated hereunder, 
Lessor shall provide to Lessee an invoice for the charges specified in Paragraph 4 of this Agreemwt @Ius domestic or international air trrlnsprtatim Excise 
Taxes, as applicable, i m p d  by the Internal Revenue Code and colIwted by Lessor), such invoice to be issued within thirty (30) days after the completion of 
each such flight. Lessee shall pay Lessor the full mount of such invoice upon reoeipt of the invoice. In the event Lessor has not received rt supplier invoice fw 
reimbursable charges relating to such flight prior to such invoicing, Lessw shall ismre a supplemental invoice for such charges to Lessee within thirty (30) dwS 
of the date of receipt of the supplier invok and Lessee shall pay such suppiemental invoice 
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mount upon receiptthemf. All such invoicm shall separately itemize the expenses in items (1) through (9) of paragraph +a) for each flight included in thal 
inv&ce. Deliiquent payments, defined as payments received more than thirty (30) days after invoice, to Lessor by Lessee kur tder  shall b a r  interest at the rate 
of ten percent (10%) per mum front the due date until the date of payment b e e  shall &her pay all costs incurred by Lessor in wllechng my amounts due 
from b e  pursuant to the provisions of this Paragraph 5 after dehquency, including court cos& and reasonably attorneys’ fees. 

6. Insurance and Limttntion of Liability. 
Lessor represents that the flight operations for the Aircraft as contemplated in this Agrement will k covered by the Lessor’s aircraft alt-risk physical damage 
insurance (hull Coverage), aircraft bodily injury and property damage liability insurance, passenger, pilot and crew voluntary settlement i n m c e  and statutory 
workers compensation and employer’s liability insurance. 

(a) Insurance. 

1. Lessor will d n t a i n  or cause to k mainfainad in full force and effed throughout the term of this Agreement aircraft liability insurance in respect of 
the Aircraft in m amount at least equal to $100 milion combined single limit for W i l y  injury to or death of persans (including passengers) and 
prom damage liability. Lessor will retain all tights and benefits with respec! to tbe proceeds payable under poiicies of hull insurance maintained 
by Lessor that may be pyable as a result of any incident or murrence while an Aircraft is being operated on behalfofksee undw this 
Agreement. 
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2. Cesser shall use best efforts to procure such additional insurance coverage as mee may request naming Lessee as an additional insured; provided, 
that the cost of such additional insurance shall be borne by Lesee pursuant to Paragraph 4(a)(4) hereof. 

(b) Limitation of Liability. Lessee agrees tfiat the insurance specified in paragraph 6(a) shall provide its sole recourse for all claims. losses, liabilities, obligations, 
demands. suits,judgments or causes of action, penalties, fines, mts and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including a-s’ fees and expenses for or on 
account of or arising out of, or in any way connacted with the use ofthe Aircraft by Lmsx or its guests, including injury to or death of  any pelsons. including 
Lmee and its guests which may m l t  from M arise out of the use or operation ofthe Aircraft during the term of this Agreemnt (‘Chim’’). This Section 6 shall 
survive termination of this Agreement. 

(c) k s e e  a m  that when, in the reasonable view of Lessor’s Flight Operations Deparhnm! or the pilots of the Aircraft, safety may be compmiSd,  Lessor or 
the pilots may ierminate a flight, refme to commence a fli& or take other action ne~essitated by such safety considerations without liability for loss, injury, 
damage, or delay. 

(d) In no event shall Lessor be liable io L m  or his employees, agents, representatives, pats, or invites for any claims or liabilities, including property 
damage or injury and death, and oxpses,  including attorney’s fees, in excess of the amount p i d  by Lessor’s insurance carrier in the event of such loss. 

Page 8 of 18 



(e) LESSOR SHALL IN NO EVENT BE LIABLE TO LESSEE OR HIS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, GUESTS, OR lNVlTEES FOR 
ANY INDIRECT, SPWIAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES AND/OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES OF ANY KIND OR N A W  UNDER ANY 
CIRCUMSTANCES OR FOR ANY REASON INCLUDING ANY DELAY OR FAILURE TO FURNISH THE ARCRAFT OR CAUSED OR O c c A s I o N ~  
BY THE PERFORMANCE OR PION-PERFORMANCE OF ANY SERVICES COVERED BY THIS AGREEMENT. 

7. Coveniois Regarding Aircraft Maintenance. 
The Aircraft has been inspected and maintained in the twelvemonth period preceding the date hermf in mrdance with the provisions of FAR Part 91. Lessor 
shall, at its own expense, inspact, maintain, service, repair, overhaul, and test the Aimaft in accordance wi!h FAR Part 9 1. Tbe Aim& will remain in good 
operating condition and in I condition consistent with its airworthiness certificaLion, including all FAA-issued airworthinas directives and mdatOry Setv ice  
bulletins. In the event that any non-standard maintenance is required during any applicable lease tarn, Lessor, or Lessor’s Pilot-In-Commmd, shall 
immediately notify Lessee of the maintenance q u i 1 4  the effect on the ability to m p I y  with Lesee’s  dispatch requirements and the manner in which the 
Parties will proceed with the performance of such maintenance and conduct of the balance of the planned flighhys). 

8. No Warranty. 
NEITHER LESSOR (NOR ITS AFFILIATES) MAKES, HAS MADE OR SHALL BE DEEMED TO MAKE OR HAVE MADE ANY WARRANTY OR 
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REPRESENTATION. EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLED, WRITTEN OR ORAL, WITH RESPECT TO ANY AIRCRAFT TO BE USED HEREUNDER OR 
ANY ENGINE OR COMPONENT THERulF INCLUDING, WITHOUT LlMlTATION, ANY WARRANTY AS TO DESIGN, COMPLIANCE WITH 
SPECIFICATIONS, QUALITY OF MATERIALS OR WORKMANSHIP, MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR ANY PURPOSE, USE OR OPERATION, 
AIRWORTHINESS, SAFETY, PATENT, TRADEMARK OR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT OR TITLE. 

9. Operational Control. 
Lassor shall be responsible for the physicat and technical operation ofthe Aimaft and the safe performmanoe of all flights and shall retain full authority and 
control, including exclusive operational control, and possession of the Aircraft at all t ima during the term of this Agreement. In accordance with applicable 
FAR& the qtlatified flight crew provided by Lessor will exercise all required andlwapppopriate duties and responsibilities in regard b the safety ofeach flight 
c o n d u d  hereunder. The Pilot-idommand shall have a h l u t e  discretion in all matters concerning the preparation of the Aircrafl for flight and the flight 
itself, the load carried and its diskhution, tbe decision whether or noi a f l i t  shall be u n d e m  the route to be flown, the place where landings shall be made 
and d l  other matters relating 10 operation ofthe Aircraft Lmee specifically agrees that the flight crew shall have final and mmplete authority to delay or cancel 
any flight for any mason or canditim which, in sole judgment of the Pilot-in-Comnu*rd, could compromise the safev of the flight and to take any other action 
which, in the sole judgment of the PilotAn-Command, is necessitated by cwsideraijons o f  safety. No such action of the PilokIn-Command shdl crate or 
support any liability 
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to L,esse.e or any other person for loss, injury, damages or delay. The Parties further a m  that Lessor shall not be liable for delay or failure to furnish the Aircraft 
and crew pursuant io this Agreement which such failure is mused by government regulation or authority, machanical difficulty or breakdown, war, civil 
commotion, strikes or labor disputes, weatherconditions, acts of God or other circmstances beyond Lassor’s reasonable control. Lesm agrees that LessOr’S 
operation of aircraft is w M n  the opmtion guidelines of the Lessor’s Flight Opmdons lkparlment manual and the crews are responsible to operate within the 
guidelines of FAR 91 and the Lessor’s Flight Opemiions Deprhnent maowl. 

10. Governing Law. 
The Parties hereto acknowledge that this Agreement shall bz governed by and construed in all re- in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado. 

11. Counterparts. 
This Agreement may be executed in one or more counteqarts each of which will be deemed an original, all of which together shall oonstimte one and the same 
ageement. 

12. Entire Agreement. 
This Time Sharing Agmment constitutes the entire understanding among the Parties with rwp~ct  to its subject matter, and there are no repmentations, 
warranties, rights, obligations, liabilities. conditions. covenants, or agreements other than as expressly set forth herein. This Time Sharing Agwement shall 
supewde any prior Time Sharing A g e m n t  between the parties, and this Agreement shall govern any question or issue that may arise from a flight conducted 
or to have been conducted under a prior agremmt. 
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13. Nofim and Communkations. 
All notices, requesb, demands and other communications required or desired to be given hereunder shall b in writing (wrcept as permitted p u s w t  to P m p p h  
Z(c)) and shall be deemed to be given: (i) if personally delivered, upon such delivery; (ii) if mailed by certified mail, return receipt reqwsted, postage p e p l d ,  
&sed as follows (to the extent applicable for mailing), upon the earlier to occur of actual receipt. rehsal to aooept receipt or three (3) &ys a f h  wch mailing; 
(iii) if sent by regularly scheduled overnight delivery carrier with delivery f e s  either prepaid or an mmgement, satisfactory with such carrier, made for the 
payment of such k s ,  addressed (to the extent applicable for overnight delivery) as foHlows, upon the earlier to occur of actual receipt or the next "Busimss Day'' 
(as hereafter defined) d e r  being sent by such detivery; or (iv) upon actual receipt when sent by fax, mailgram, telegram or telex: 

If to LESSOR: 

QWEST BUSlNESS RESOURCES, INC. 
1801 California Street 
Denver. Colorado 80202 

-t Legal Department 
1801 California Street, 10"' Floor 
Dmver, Colorado 80202 
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I f  to LESSEE 

Oren G. Shaffer 
2409 Fiflh Streef 
Boulder, Colorado 80304 

Notices given by other means shall be deemed to be given only upon actuiil meipt. Addregges may be changed by written notice @vm as pmvidad herein and 
signed by the party giving the notice. 

14. Further Acts. 
LESSOR and LESSEE shall from time to time perform such other and M e r  acts and execute such oaer and further insh-uments as m y  be required by law or 
may be reasonably necessary to: (i) carry out the intent and pwpose of this Agreement; and (ii) establish, maintain and protect the W d v e  Wts and remedies 

15. S u ~ ~ r s  and h i p s .  
Neither this Agreement nor any p&y’s interest herein shall be assignabie to any other party whatsoever, except that Lessor may assign its interest hereunder to 
an affiliate without the consent of the Lessee. This Agreeanent shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the hhes hereto, their heirs, representatives and 

16. SwerablHq. 
In  the event that my one M more of the provisions of the Agreement shall for any mson be held to be hmlid, illegal, or unenforceable, thme provisions shalI lx 
replaced by provisions acceptable to h t h  Parties to this Agreement. 

oftheofherparty. 

s u c ce8 so rs . 
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17. Flight Crew. 
Lessor is responsible for providing a qualified fligbt crew for all flight options under this Agreement. The Lessor wilt furnish two experiewad and competent 
pilots who shall bz under the direction and control of the Lessor at ail times. 

18. h e  of Operations. 
For purpmes of this Agreement, the base of operation of the Aircrafi is Centennial Airport, Denver, Colorado; provided, that such base may be changed 
permanently upon notice from Lessor to Lessee. 

19. Tares. 
The Parties aclmowledge thal reimbursement of all items s p i f i d  in h p p h  4, except for subsections (7) and (8) thereof, are subject to the Federal Excise 
Tax imposed under Internal Rwenue Code 4261 (the “CornmercU TranspWion Tax”). Lessee MI pay to h s o r  (for payment to the appmprjate 
govemmwtal agency) any Commercial Transp~rtation Tax applicable to flights of the Areraft conducted hereunder. Lessae shall indemniFy Lessor for any 
claims related to the Commercial TransportatiOn Tax to the extent that Lessee has paid Leswr the amounts necessary to pay such taxes. 

20. Title and Right of Possession. 
L e p l  title to the Aircraft in Exhibit A shall remain in the Lessor at all times. Le% has the right of p s e s i o n  to the Aircraft in Exhibit 3 pursuant to an Aircraft 
Lease Agreement. Nothing herein shall constimte a transfer of Lessor’s possessory rights to the Aircraft. 
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21. Troth-iu-kasiiog 
The Lessor shall mail acopy of this Agreement Ear and on behalf of lmth Parties to: Flight Standards Technical Division, P.O. Box 257.24, Oklahoma City, 
Oklahoma 73125, within twenty-four (24) hours of its execuiion, as provided by FAR 91.23(~3(1). Additionally, Lesor  agrees to comply with the notification 
requirements of FAR Section 91.23 by RotifYlILg by telephone or in person the Rocky Mountain FAA Flight Standards District ofice at least forty-eight 
(48) hours prior to the fitst flight under this Agreamt. 

THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT IN AC(30RDANCE WlTH THE PROVISIONS OF PART 91 OF THE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS AND 
THAT ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AIRCRAFT'S MAlNTENANCE AND INSPECTION THEREUNDER WILL BE MET AND ARE 
VALID FOR THE OPERATIONS TO BE CONDUCTED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT DURING THE DURATION OF THIS AGREE=. 

(a) LESSOR CERTIFIES THAT THE AIRCRAIT HAS B E N  INSPECTED AND UAINTALNED WITHIN THE 12-MONTH PERIOD PRECmlNG 

fi) LESSOR, WHOSE ADDRESS APPEARS IN PARAGRAPH 13 ABOVE AND W O S E  AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE APPEARS BELOW, 
AGREES, CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT WHENEVER THE AIRCRAFT IS OPERATED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT, LESSOR SHALL 
BE KNOWN AS, CONSIDERED AND SHALL W FACT BE THE OPERATOR OF THE AIRCRAFT AND THAT LESSOR UNDERSTANDS ITS 
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR COMPLIANCE WlTH APPLlCABLE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS. 
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(E) THE PARTIES UNDERSTAND THAT AN EXPLANAnON OF FACTORS AND PERTINENT FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS 

IN WITNESS WHERWF, the Parties hereto have each causedthis Agreewneot to be duly executEd on February 14,2006. 

BEARING ON OPERATIONAL CONTROL CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE NEAREST FAA FLIGHT STANDARDS DISTRICT OFFICE. 

LESSOR: 

Qwest Business Resouma, Inc. 

By: 

LESSEE 

Oren G. Shffer 
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EXHIBIT A 
Qwest Buslness Resour- Inc 

Aircraft Subject to Time Sharing Agreement 

Each of the undersigned is a party to the The Sharing Agraement dated Febnrary 14,2006. by and between Qw& Businass Resources, Inc. C‘LeSssof), and 
Oren G. Shaffer (‘Lessee”) (collectively the ‘Tarti&’), and agrees that From and after Februaty 14,2006, until this Exhibit A shall be superseded and replaoed 
through agreement of the Parties or the Time Sharing Agreement shall be terminaid pursuant to its terms, the Aircraft described bdow shall constitute the 
“Aircraft” described in and subject to the terms of the Time Sharing Agreement in addition to the aircraft described in Exhibit B. 

J 9% Dassault Falcon Jet Cop. Falcon 2000 

Manufacturer’s Serial Number 044 

FAA Registration Numkr N623QW 

Engine M d e l  CFE 731-1-16, SerialNumbers P105145, PI05140 

Dated February 14.2006 

LESSOR 

Qwest Business Resources, Inc. 

By: 

Its: 

LESSEE 

Oren G. Shaffer 
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EXHIBIT B 
Qwest Business Resou- Ioc 

Leased Aircraft Snbject to T h e  Sharing Agreement 

Each of the urrdersigned is a party to !he Time Sharing Agrement dated February 14,2006, by and b e e n  west Bushes Resources, Inc. (-lessor), and 
Ortn G. Shacfer (uLt8s&) (collectively the ‘‘Parti#), and agrees W from and after February 14,2006, until this Exhibit B shall be 
through agreement of the Parties or the Time Sharing Agrement shall be terminated pursuant to its terms, the Aircraft described Below shall constitute the 
-Airuaft’’ described in and subject to the terms o f  the Time Sharing Agreement in addition to the aircraft described in Fxhibit A. 

and replaced 

2001 Dassault Faloon Jet Cop. Falcon 2000 

Manufacturer’s Serial Number 134 

FAA Registration N u m h  N622QW 

Engine M k l  CFE 738-1-1B, Serial N m k m  PlOS41 I ,  PI05461 

Dated February 14,2006 

LESSOR 

Qwest Business Resources, Inc. 

By: 

Its: 

LESSEE 

oren 0.. shaffer 
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Exbiblt 1034 
Q W S T  BUSINESS RESOURCE$, WC. 

This Aircraft Time Sharing Agreement (“Agreement‘) by and between QweS Business Rmources, Inc. (%%or’*). a Colorado corporbon whose addm 
is 1801 California Street. Denver, Colondo 80202 and Barry Allen (“LesSeen), whose a d d m  is 256 Cook Streed, Denver, Color& 8MO6 (colle~tively the 
‘Parties’), is effeEtive February 14,2006 and shall terminate on December 3 1,2008, unless terminated sooner by eiiher party pursuant to Article 1 below. 

WHEREAS, Lessor is legal owner of an aircraft (“Aircraft”), equipped with engines and mmponents as described in the Aircraft Subject to the Time 
Sharing Agreement 3ttachd hereto and made a part hereof, as Exhibit A; 

WHEREAS, Lessor has the right of pogsession of an aircraft (“Aircraft”), quipped with engines and components as &scribed in the Leasad Aimaft 
Sub& to the Time Sharing Agreement athchd h e m  and made a part hweof, as Exhibit B; 

WHEREAS, h r  Ius contracted for  a filly qualified fight crew to operate the Aimaft; and 

WHEREAS, Lessor desires to p m d e  to Le=, and Lessee d e s k  to have the use of said Aircraft with flight crew on a mn-exclw-ve time sharing basis 
as defined in Section 91.501(~)(1) ofthe Federal Aviation Regdatjons C‘FAR”); 
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WHEREAS, this Agreement sets forth the understanding of the Parties as to the terms under which Lwor will provide L e s e  with the we, on a periodic 

WHEREAS, the use of the Aircraft will at all times be pursuant to and in full compliance with the requirwnen6 of Federal Aviation Reguulations (“FAR’? 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenan& and agreementr herein contained, the P a r k  agree as follows: 

basis, of the Aircraft as dmribed in Exhibits A and B hereto, currently owned or opuated by Lessor. 

91.501(b)(6), 41.501(cHI), and 91.501(d); 

I. Termination. 
Either party may terminate this Agrement for any reason upon written notioe to the other, such termination to become effective ten (10) days from the date of 
the notice: provided that this Agreement may be terminated on such shorter notice as may be q w e d  to m p l y  with applicable law, regulations. the 
requirements of any financial instihtion with B security or other interest in the AircraR inrmme requirements or in the event the insurance required hereunder is 
not in full force and effect 

2. Use of Aircraft. 
(a) Lessee may use the Aircraft from time to time, with the permission and approval of Lessor’s Flight Operations Depattment, for any and all purposes allowed 
by FAR 91 S O  l(bH6) at such times as the Lessor does not require the use of the A i m R  for the businw purpoxs of L e m  or an affiliate. Lessee’s use 
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shall include the use ofthe Aircraft by his Spouse or related family member (including children or gmdchildren) (%elated Fmdy’Y if they ncmmpany him On 
the flight. 

(b) Lessee represents, warcants and covenants to Lessor hat: 

1. Lsssee will use each Aircraft for and on his own account only and will not use any Aircmfi for the purposes of providing transprhtion Of 
passengem or cargo in air commerce for compensation or hire; 

2. Lessee shall refrain from incurring any mechanics lien or other lien in oormection with inspection, preventative maintenance, maintenance 
or storage of the Aircraft, whether p i a i b l e  or impermissible under this Agreement, and Lessee shall not attempt to convey, mortgage, 
assign, kase or any way alienate the A k m R  or create any kind of lien or Security interest involving the Aircraft or do anyhng or take any 
action that might matuw into such a lien; 

3. %ng the term of this Agrement, L e e  will abide by and conform to all such laws, governmental, and airportorders, ruIes, and 
regulations 88 shall from rime to time be in tfftct relating in any way to the operation and use of the Aimaft by a time-sharing Lessee; 

(c) Lessee shall provide Lesmor’s Flight Operations Department with nolice of his desire to use the Aircraft and proposed flight schedules as far in advance of any 
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given flight as possible, and in any case, at least fortyeight (48) hours in advance of Lessee’s planned deprture. R q w t s  for flight time shall be in a fom. 
whether written or oral, mutually oonvenient to, and 
least the following information for each proposed flight at some time prior to scheduled departure as required by the Lessor or Lessor’s flight crew: 

upon by the Parties. In addition to the proposed schedules and flight times Lessee shall provide at 

1 .  

2. 

3. 

4. 

5 .  

6 .  

7. 

prowed departure point; 

destination; 

date and time of flight: 

the number and identity of anticipated passengers and relationship to the Lessee; 

the nature and extent of luggage maor cargo to be carried; 

the date and time of rehm flight, if any; and 

any other information concerning the proposed flight that may be pertinent or required by Lessor or Lessor’s flight crew. 

(c) Lessor shall notify Lessee as to whether or not the quested use of the Aircraft can be acoommodated and, if not the Mes shall discuss dtmnatives. 

(d) Lessor’s prior p h n e d  utilization of the Aircraft will take precedence over k m ’ s  use. Additionally, any maintenance and inspection of the Aircraft takes 
p d n c e  over scheduling of the Aircrafi unless such mainknance or inspection can be safely deferred in accordance with applicable laws and regulations and 
within the sound discdon of the Pilot-lti4mmand. 
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~ _ _ _ _ _ _ ~ ~  ~~ 

(e) Lesor shall have sole and exclusive authority wet the schdding of the AircraR including which Ai& is used for any ~ d a r  flight. 

(9 Lessor shall not be liable to Lessee M my other person for loa, injury, or damage occasioned by the dehy or failure to furniih the Aimaft and crew pursuant 
to this Agreement for any reason. 

3. Time-sharing Arrangement. 
It is intended that this Agrement will meet the requiremen& ofa T i e  Sharing Agreement”as that term is Mu14 in FAR Part 91.501(~)(1) whereby Lessor 
will lease its Aircraft and flight crew to Lessee. 

4. Cost of Use of Aircraft. 
(a) In exchange for use of the Aircraft, b e e  shall pay the direct operating oosts of the Aircraft permitted pursuant to FAR 91 .SO1 for any flight conducted 
under this Agrement or a lesser amount as mutually agreed to by the Parties. Pursuant to FAR 91.501(d), those direct operating costs shall be limited to the 
fotowing expenses for each w e  of the Aircraft 

Twice the cost of fuel, oil, lubrirrlnts and othm additives; 

Travel expenses of the crew, including food, lodging and pd tnmsportstim. 

Hangar and tiedown costs when the AircraR is r equ id  by the Lessee to lx away h the Aircraft’s base of operation. 

Insurance obtained for the specific flight. 

Landing fees, airport iaxes, and similar asse.ssments. 
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(6) Customs, foreign permit, and similar fees directly related to the flight. 

(7) In flight food and beverages. 

(8) Passenger ground transportation. 

(9) Flight planning and w e a k r  contract services. 

(b) Lessor will invoice, and Less= will pay, for alt appropriate charges. 

(c) In addition to the rental rate refe.rend in Section 4(a) above, Lessee sMl also be a s s e s 4  the Fedesal Excise Taxa 85 imposed under S d o n  426 1 of the 
Intern1 Revenue Code, and any segment and landing fees assaciated wih such flighqs). 

5. lnvoidng and Payment 
All payments to be made to Lessor by Lessee hereunder shall be p i d  in the manner set forth in this Paragraph 5. Lessor will pay to suppliers, employees, 
mnhactors and government entities all expenses related to the operations of the Aircdl  hereunder in the ordinary come. As to each flight operated hereunder, 
Lessor shall provide t~ Lessee an invoice for the chargas specified in Paragraph 4 ofthis Agreement {plm domatic or international air transportation Excise 
Taxes, BS applicable, imposed by the Intend Revenue Code and oollacted by Lmor), such invoice to be issued within thirty (30) days after !h completion of 
e&~ such flight. Lessee M I  pay Lessor the full amount of such invoice upon raceipt of the invoice. In the went Lessor has not received a supplier invoice for 
reimbursable charges relating to such fight prior to such invoicing, Lessor shall issue a suppIwnen!al invoice for such charges to Lessee within thw (30) days 
of the date of receipt of the supplier invoice and Lessee shall pay such supplemenlal invoice 
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amount upon receipt theraof. All such invoioes MI separately itemize the expenses in items ( I )  through (9) ofparagraph 4(a) for each flight included in that 
invoice. Delinquent payments, defined 85 pmts received more than thirty (30) days aRer invoice, to M o r  by Lessee hereunder shalt bear interest at the rate 
of ten percent (10%) per annum fmm the due date until the date of pyment. Lessee shall further pay all costs incurred by Lessor in collecting any mounts dwe 
from Lessee pursuant to the provisions of this Pamgmph 5 after delinquency, including court costs and reasonably aUomeys’ fees. 

6. Inwrance and LIrnhiioa of Llablllty. 
Lessor represents h t  the flight operations for the Aircmfi as mtemplated in this Agreement will be covered by the Lessor’s airuafi all-risk physical damage 
insurance (hull Coverage), bodily injury and property damage liability insurance, passenger, pilot and crew vohmtary settlement insurance and StatUaOry 
workers compensation and employer’s liability insurance. 

(a) Insurance. 

1. Lessor Will maintain or cause to be maintained in full force and effect throughout the term of this Agreement aircraft liability insunrnce 
the Aircraft in m amount at least qual to $100 million combined single limit for bodily injury to or death of persons (including passengers) and 
p m ~ ~  damage liability. Lessor will retain dl Fights and betiefits with respect to the proceeds payable under policies of hull hsurance maintained 
by Lessor that may be payable as a result of any incident or o~currencx while an Aircraft is being operated on behalf of Lessee under this 
Agreanent. 

respect Of 
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2.  tessor W use best efforts to procure such additional insurance coverage as Lessee may request naming Lessee as an ildditional insured; provided, 
that the cast of such additional insurance shall be h e  by Lessee pursuant ta Paragraph 4(a)(4) hereof. 

(b) Limitation of Liabiliiy. Lessee agrees that the insurance specified in paragraph 6(a) shall provide its sole m a w e  for all claims, Iosses, Iiabiiities, obligations, 
demands. suits, judgments or causes of action, penalties, fines, mts and expenses of any nature whatsoever, including attorneys’ fees and expens= for or on 
account of or arising out of, or in any way connected with the use of the Aimaft by Lessee or its guests, including injury to or death of any persons, including 
Lessee and its guests which may m u l t  from or arise out of the use or operation of ihe Aircraft during the term of this Agreement (‘Chims’’). This Section 6 shall 
s w i v c  termination of this Agreement. 

(c) Lessee a g r m  that when, in the reasonable view of Lessor’s Flight Operations Deparbnent or the pilots of the Aircmfi, safety may be compromised, Lwsor or 
the pilots may terminate B flight, refuse to mrnmenoe a flight, or take othw action necessitated by such &ety considerations without iiability for loss. injury, 
damage, or delay. 

(d) In no went shall Lesor be liable to Lessee or his employees, agents, representatives. guests, or invitee5 for any claims or liabilities, including property 
damage or injury and death, and expenses, including attorney’s fees, in exms of the amount paid by Lessor’s insurance carrier in !he event of such loss. 
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(e) LESSOR SHALL W NO EVENT BE LIABLE TO LESSEE OR HIS EMPLOYEES, AGENTS, REPRESENTATIVES, GUESTS, OR INVITEES FOR 
ANY INDIRECT, SPECIAL, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES AND/OR PuNmVE DAMAGES OF ANY 
CIRCUMSTANCES OR FOR ANY WASOM INCLUDING ANY DELAY OR FAILURE TO FURNISH THE AIRCRPSf OR CAUSED OR OCCASI~NED 
BY THE PERFORMANCE OR NON-PERFORMANCE OF ANY SERVlCES COVERED BY THIS AGREE=. 

7. Covenma Regarding Aircraft Maintenance. 
The Aircraft has been inspected and maintained in the twelve-month perid preceding the date hereof in accordance with the provisions of FAR M 91. Lessor 
shall, at its own expense, ins- maintain, seruice, repair, overhaul, and txst the Aircraft in accordance with FAR Pm 91. The A i m R  will mnah in g o d  
operating condition and in B condition consistent with its airwwthims certification, including all FAAIssued airworthiness directivB and mandatory %Wim 
bulletins. In the event that any non-standard maintenance is required during any applicable lease term, Lesur, or Lessor’s Pilot-In-Command, shall 
immediately notify Lessee of the maintenance required, the sffed on the ability to comply with Lessee’s dispatch requirements and the manner in which the 
Parties will proceed with the p e r f o w e  of such maintenance and conduct of the balance of the planned flighqs). 

8. No Warranty. 
NEITHER LESSOR (NOR ITS AFFILIATES) MAKES, HAS MADE OR SHALL BE DEEMED TO MAKE OR HAVE MADE ANY WARRANTY OR 

OR NATURE UNDER ANY 
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REPRESENTATION, EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, WRITTEN OR ORAL, WITH RESPECT TO ANY AIRCRAFT TO BE USED HEREUNDER OR 
ANY ENGINE OR COMPONENT THEREOF INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY WARRANTY AS TO DESIGN, COMPLIANCE WITH 
SPWIFICATIONS, QUALlTY OF MATERIALS OR WORKMANSHIP, MERCHANTABILlTY, FITNESS FOR ANY PURPOSE, USE OR OPERATION, 
AIRWORTHINESS, SAFETY, PATENT, TRADEMARK OR COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT OR TITLE. 

9. Operational Control. 
Lessor shall be responsible for the physical and technical opemtim of the Aircraft and the safe performance of all flights and shall rekh full authority a d  
Control, including exclusive operational control, and psession of the A i m f t a t  dl times during the term of this Agrement. In accordance with applicable 
FARs. the qualified flight crew provided by L m r  will exercise all required and/or appropriate duties and responsibilities in regard to the safety of each flight 
conducted hereunder. The Pilot-In-cOmmand shall have absolute discretion in all matters concerning the prepadion ofthe Aircraft for figbt and h e  flight 
itself, the load c;trried and its distribution, the decision whether or not a f l i  shall be undertalren, h e  mute to be flown, the place where landings shall be macle 
and all other manerS relating to operation of the Aircrab. Lessee specifically agrees that the flight crew shall have final and complete authority to delay or cancel 
any flight for any reason or condition which, in sole judgment of the F i l o t - I n ~ m m d ,  could compromise the sllfedy of the flight aod to take any other action 
which, in the sole judgment of the Pilot-In~mmand, is necessitated by considerations of safety. No such action of the Pilot-Idommand shall create or 
support any liability 
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to Lessee or any other person for loss, injury, damages or delay. The Parties further agree that Lessor shall not be liable fix delay or faiIure to furnish the Aircraft 
and crew pursuant to this Agrement which such failure is CBUsBd by government replation or authority, mechanical difficutty or breakdown, war, civil 
commotion, strikes or labor disputes, weather oonditions, acts of God ob other circumstances beyond L e m ’ s  reasonable control. Lessee agrees that Lessor’s 
operation of aircraft is within the operatiom guidelines of the Lmor’s Plight Operations Department manual and the crews m qonsible  to operate within the 
guidelines of FAR 91 and the Lessor’s Flight Operations Department manual. 

IO. Governing Law. 
The Parties hereto acknowledge that this Agreement shall be g o v m d  by and construed in dl respects in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado. 

11. Counterparts. 
This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts each of which will be deemed an original, all of which together shall constitute one and the same 
agreement. 

It. Entire Agreement. 
This Time Shm’ng A g m t  constitutes the entire mdmtanding among the parties with respect to its subject matter, and there are no representations, 
WamtieS,  tights, obligatim, liabilities, conditions, covenants, w agreements other than as expressly set forth herein. This Time Sharing Agreement shall 
supmede any prior Time Sharing Agreement behveen the parties, and this Agreement shall govern any question or issue that may arise from a flight conducted 
or to have been codW under I prior agreetnent. 
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13. Notices and Communicstionsr. 
At1 notices, requests, demands and other wnunmications q u i d  or desired to be given h m d e r  shall be in writing (except as permitted pursuant to Paragraph 
Z(C)) and hai l  be deemed to be given: (i) if pwsonally delivered, upon such delive-ry; (ii) if mailed by certified mail, return receipt requwted, pmtage prepaid, 
addressed follows (to the extent applicable for mailing), upon the earlier to occur of actual receipt, refusal to accept receipt or three (3) days after such mailing; 
(iii) if sent by reg~larly scheduled overnigh! delivery carrier with delivery fees either prepaid or an arrangement, satisfactory with such mrrier, made for the 
p a p a t  ofsuch fees, a d d r e d  (to the extent applicable for overnight delivery) as fotlows, upon the earlierto occur of actual receipt or the next "Business Day" 
(as hereafter defined) aRer being sent by such delivery; or (iv) upon actual receipt when mt by fax, mailgram, telegram or telex: 

If to LESSOR: 

QWEST BUSINESS RESOURCES, INC. 
I801 California Street 
Denver, Colorsdo 80202 

@ppI Legal Departmerit 
1801 California Street, toth Floor 
Denver, Colorado 80202 
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I f  to LESSEE 

Barry AIlen 
256 Cook Street 
Denver, Colorado 80206 

N d c e s  given by other m m s  shall be deemed to be given only upon actual meipt. Addresses may k changed by written notice @vw as provided herein and 
signed by the party giving the notice. 

14. Further Act& 
LESSOR and LESSEE shall from time to time perform such other and further act4 and execute such other and further instruments as may be required by law or 
may be reasonably necessary to: (i) any  out the intent and purpose of this Agreement; and (ii) &ablish, maintain and protect the respective rights and remedies 
of the other party. 

15. Succemrs snd Assign& 
Neithcr this Agreement nor my party’s interest Rerein shall lx sssjgnabie to any other party whlitsoever, except that Lessor may assign its interest hereunder to 
an a f f ~  without the consent of the Lessee. This Agreement shall hure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Partis herelo, theu heirs, r e ~ r e S a h t k S  and 

16. Severability. 
In the event that any one or more of the provisions of the Agreement shall for any reas~n be hetd to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable, those provisions shall be 
replaced by provisions acceptabte to both hrh to this Agreement 
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17. Wght Crew. 
Lessor is responsible for providing B qualified flight m w  for all flight operations under this Agreement. The Lessor will furnish h o  experknced and competent 
pilots who shall be under the direction and control of the Lessor at all times. 

1% Bnse of Operntioor 
For purposes of this Agreement, the base of operation of the Aircraft is Centennial Airport, Denver, Colorado; provided, that such base may be c h a w 4  
permanently upon notice from Lessor to Lessee. 

19. Taxes. 
The Parties acknowledge that reimbursement of all items specified in Paragraph 4, except for subsections (7) and (8) thereof, are subjed to the Federal Excise 
Tax imposed under Internal Revenue C d e  4261 (the “Commercial TransporMon Tax”). Lessee shall py to k s o r  (for payment to the appropriate 
govenunentd agency) any Commercial Transportation Tax applicable to flights of the AiErafi m d u &  hereunder. LRSSCP shall indemnify Lessor for any 
claims telatd to the Commercial Tmnspmtion Tax to the extent that Lessee has paid h s o r  the mounts necessary to pay such taxes. 

20. Title and €tight of Posmsjion. 
Legal title to the Aircraft in Exhibit A shall remain in the Lessor at all times. Lessor has the right of possession to the Aircraft in Exhibit B pursuant to 
b e  Agreement. Nothing herein shall constitute a transfer of Lessor’s possessoty rights to the Aircraft. 

Aircraft 
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21. Trntbin-Lensitlg. 
The Lessor shall mail a copy of this Agremnent fbr and on behalf of both Parties to: Flight Standards Technical Division, P.O. Box 25724, Oklahoma city, 
Oklahoma 73125, within twenefour (24) hours of its exemtion, as provided by FAR 9123(cHl). Additionally, Lessor a m  to compiy with the notification 
requirements of FAR Section 91.23 by notifying by telephone or in person the Rocky Mountain FAA nit Standards District Office a# lewA forQ-&ht 
(48) hours prior to the first Right under this Agreement. 

(a) LESSOR CERTIFIES THAT THE AlRCRAFT HAS BEEN INSPECTED AND MAINTAINED WITHM THE 12-MONTH PERIOD PRECEDLNG 
THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF PART 91 OF THE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS AND 
THAT ALL APPLICABLE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE AIRCRAFT’S MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION THEREUNDER WILL BE MET AND ARE 
VALID FOR THE OPERATlONS TO 3E CONDUCTED UNDER THIS AGREEMENT DURING THE DURATION OF THIS AGREEMENT. 

fi) LESSOR, WHOSE ADDRESS APPEARS IN PARAGRAPH 13 ABOVE AND WHOSE AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE APPEARS BELOW, 
AGREES, CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT WHENEVER THE A I R C R A ~  IS OPERATED UNDER mrs AGREEMENT, LESSOR SHALL 
BE KNOWN AS, CONSIDERED AND SHALL IN FACT BE THE OPERATOR OF THE AlRcRAFT AND THAT LESSOR UNDERSTANDS ITS 
FSSPONSlBlLITIES FOR COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE FEDERAL AVIATION REGULATIONS. 
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(c) THE PARTIES UNDERSTAND THAT AM EXPLANATION OF F A a O E  AND PERTINENT FEDERAL AVIATION REGUJATIO~S 

1N WlTNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto hive each caused this Agreement to be duly exexted on February 14,2006. 

B M N G  ON OPERATIONAL CONTROL CAN BE OBTAINED FROM THE NEAREST FAA FLIGHT STANDARDS DISTRICT OFFICE. 

LESSOR 

Qwcst Business Resources, Inc. 

By: 

LESSEE 

Barry Allen 
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EXHIBIT A 
%est B~siaess Resources, Inc. 

Aimraft Subject to T h e  Sharlng Agreement 

Each of the undersigned is a party to the Time Sharing Agrement dated February 14,2006, by and between Qwest B ~ i n e s s  Resoums, Inc. r k w r ’ ? ,  and 
Barry Allen (“Lessee”) (0ollEctively the “Parties”)), and agrees that from and aRw February 14,2006, until this Exhibit A shall be e and r e p l d  
through agreement of the M a  or the Time Sharing Agreement shall be terminated pursuant to its terms, the Aircraft &&bed below shall constitute the 
“Aircraft” described in and subjwict to the t m s  of the Time Sharing Agreement in addition to the aircraft described in Exhibit B. 

1996 Dassault F a b  Jet Cop. Faicon 2000 

Manufacturw’s Serial Number W4 

FAA RegisIration Number N623QW 

Engine Model CFE 731-1-1B. Serial Numbers P105145, PI05140 

Dated: February 14,2006 

LESSOR: 

Qwest Business Resources, Inc. 

By: 

Ita: 

LESSEE: 

Barry AlIen 
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EXHIBIT 13 
Qwest Business Resources, Inc. 

Leased Aircraft Sub]ect to Time Sharing Agreement 

Each of the undersigned is a party to the Time Sharing Agreement dated February 14,2006, by and between Qwest Business Resources, Inc. ( “ L m r ” ) ,  and 
Bany Allen (“Lmsee’) (oollectively the “Parties”), and a m  that from and after February 14,2006, until this Exhibit B shall be superseded and 
through agreement of the P h e s  of the Time Sharing Agreement shall be temktkd pursuant to its terms, the AircrafI d m i b d  below shall constitute the 
‘‘Aircraft” described in mdsubjd to the terms of the Time Sbaring Agreement in addition to the aircraft desribed in Exhibit A. 

2001 Dassault Falcon Jet Cow. Falcon Zoo0 

Manufaclwefs Serial Number 134 

FAA Begimion Numkr N622QW 

Engine Model CFE 738-1-13, Serial Numbers PI0541 1, PI05461 

Dated: February 14,2006 

LESSOR: 

Qwest Business Resoum, Inc. 

LESSEE: 

Barry Allen 
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Exhibit I2 

QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
CALCULATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO PIXED CHARGES 

@dim In MillJOos) 
(Unnndited) 

Low from continuing operations before income taxes, dimntinued olxrations and 
cumulative e k t  of changes in wmting princjples 

Add: estimated fixed charges 
Add: estimated morkmioo of Eapitalized interest 
Less: interest capitalid 

Total wnings availablefor fixed chugs 
Estimate of intwest factor on rentals 
Interest 
Cv& 

Interest capitalized 

hclllding amc&mth of p m i ~ d k o l m f s  aaddebtimmce 

Total fixed clarga 

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges 
Additional income needed for earnings to cover total fwed charges 

f (1,706) $ (1,832) 
1,678 13 I .936 14 

(12) (19) 

9 
1M) 

(27) 
135 

- -- 

133531 12 3.75 19 7 

- -  
$ 1,678 S 1,936 

nm nm 
$ 1,705 S 1,837 

- -- 
- --, 

$ (20.1 15) $ (7,362) 
1,998 1,856 

(18,1431 (5,678) 
16s 232 

1,789 1 A37 
41 187 

$ 1,998 $ 1,856 

nm nm 
$ 20,141 $ 7,534 
7- 

m o t  meaningful 



Exhibit 21 

Subsidiary 01 Qwat Commuiinttons Imternmttond I n f  Jurisdiction 01 tncorporatlon(Format0U 

Qwest Cslpltal Funding, Inc. 

Qwest Communications Coqmmtion 
*est corpwatjw 
Qw& Senices Corpodon 
Qwest N. Limited Partnership 

Colorado 
Delaware 

Colorado 
Colorado 
Delaware 

* The names of certain subsidiaria have been omitted in accordance with Item 601@)(21) of Regulation S-K. 



EKbibit 23 
Consent of Independent Regktered PubUe Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors 
Qw& Communications International Inc.: 

We cansent to tbe incorporatiom by reference in the registration statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-30123,333-40050,333-50061,333-56323, 
333-61725,333-65345,333-74622,333-84877,333-87246,333-91424,333-111923. and 333-11 1924) and the regiseation statement on Form S-3 
(333-130426) of Qwest Communications International Inc. of our reports dated February 16,2006, with respect b the consolidated balance sheets of Qwest 
Communications Intwnational lnc. as of December 31,2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of operations, smkbolden’ deficit, and cash 
flows for a c h  of the years in the threpyear per id  ended December 3 I, 2005,and the related consolidated financial statement schedule, Schedule 11- Vduation 
and Qualifylng Accounts, management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,2005 and the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of December 3 1,2005. which reports a p p w  in the December 3 1,2005 annuai report ~1 Form 1 b K  
of Qwest Communications Iotemationd 1nc. 

2005 and the adoption of Statement of Finmcial Accounting Standards No. 143, Accountingfor Asset Retirement Obligations on January I ,  2003. 
Our reports refer to the Company’s adoption of FASB InterpRtation No. 47, Accountingfir Conditionul Asset Relimnenl Obligations as of Decembea 3 I ,  

KPMG LLP 

Denver, Colorado 
February 16,2006 



Ehbibit 34 

POWER OF ATTORNEY 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints Richard C. Nokbaert, 
Oren G. Sbaffer and Stephen E. Brilz, or my one of them, as his M her attorney-in-fact and agent, with full power of substitution, for him or her in any and all 
-cities, hereby giving and granting to said attorney-in-fact and agent full power and authority to do and p e r f m  all and every act and thing whatsoever 
requisite and necessary to be done in and abut the p m k a  as Illy,  to all intents and purposes, as he might or could do if personally p m t  at the doing 
thereof, hereby ratifying and confmmg all that said attorney-in-fact and agent may or shall lawfully do, or cause to be done, in connection with the proposed 
filing by @est Communications International Im., a Delaware corpmtion, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, under the provisions of the 
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, of an annual report on Form IO-K for the fiscal year ended December 3 1,2005, inctuding but not limited to, such 
full powamd autficd-ity to do the following: (i) ex& and file such annual report; (ii) execute and file my amendment or mendmmb thereto; (iii) receive and 
respond to comments from the SBcUritieS and Exchange Commission related in any way to such annual report or any amendment or amen&nents -to; and 
(iv) execute and deliver any and dl certificates, instruments or other documents related to the matten enumerated above, as the attorney-in-fact in his sole 
discretion Beems apprcpiate. 

This power of attorney has h e n  duly executed klow by the following p e m s  in the capcities indicated on this 16 Ih day of February, 2006. 

PI CANNON Y. HARvFy 

Camno. Y. Hmrvey 
Director 

Philip F. Aaschaa 
Direstor 

Peter S Hdlmui 
Mrector 

1st WAYNE W. MURDY 

W a r n  W. Murdy 
Direetsr 

Isl JAMES A. UNRUH 



Exhibit 31.1 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIW OFHCER 

I, Richard C. NoteherI, certify that: 
1 .  I have reviewed this annual repwton Form 10-K of Qwest Communications lntedmal Inc.; 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a m a t e d  fact necessary to make the 

3. Based on my howledge, the financial statements, and other financial infomation jnctuded in this report, fairly present in all material resw the 

4. The registrant’s othw certifying officer@) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure contmls and p r o d u r n  ( i ts  defined in 

statements d e ,  in llght of the circums~ances under which such statements were made, not misleading with r c s p t  to the period covered by this report; 

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, d for, the p e r i d  presented in this report; 

Excbange Act Rules 13a-I5(e) and 15d-lSIe)) and internal conbol over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13&-15(f) and IS&lS(f)) 
for the regiskmt and have: 

3) Designed such disclosure controls and pmedures, or caused swh disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, 
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, inchding its wnsolidated subsidiaries, is made known to US by others within those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over finmncial rqmrting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed unda OUT 
mrpenisicm, to provide reawnable assurance regardig the reliability of financial reporting and the prepation of financial statements for external 
purposa in BcoMdBnce with gen- aocepaed mounting princjples; 

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and prooedum, as of the end of the period covered by this rqmt based on such evaluation; and 

recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth iiscal quarter in the case of m annual report) that has materialiy affacted, or is w s o d l y  likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal conml over financial reporting; and 
5. The registrant’s other certifying officds) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting. to 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakmses in the design or opetation of internal mtrol over financial reporting which are 

b) Any h u d ,  whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal 

c) Evaluated the effwtivmess of the repistrant’s disclosure conh-ols and procdum and presented in this report our mclusions about the 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regismt’s internal conhot over financial reporting that murred during the registrant’s most 

the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee o f  the registrant’s bard of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

monably likeky to adversely affect the registrant’s abiiity to record, process, summarize and report fmancial information; and 

control over financial repofling. 

Date: Febnrary 16,2006 

Id Richard C. Notebaert 

chairman and Chief Executive OffiEer 



Exbibit 31.2 
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

1 .  I have reviewed this m u d  report on Form IO-K of Qwest Communications International Inc.; 
2. Based on my howledge, this repon does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to siate 3 material fact neoessary to m k e  the 

3. Based on my howladge, the financial st&men!s, andother financial i n f d m  i n c W  in this repo& fairly present in all materid respects the 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officds) and I are responsible For establishing and rnakitainingdisclosure mrrOls and pmadures (ils &fined in 

I, O m  G. Shaffer, certify that 

statements made, in light of the circmtitmces under which such statements were ma&., not misleading with respect to the period covered by this wort: 

financial condition, RsuItS of operations and cash flows of the regisb?mt %s of, and for, tbe pr im% presented in this report; 

Emhange Act Rules 13a-l5(e) and 15d-l5(e)) and intend control over financial reporting (a definsd in Exchange Act Rules 13&15(Q and lSt+lS(t)) 
for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure con@ols and procedures, or caused such disclosure c o n ~ l s  and prooedures to be designed under OUT superrision, 
tn ensure that material information refating to the regktmnt, inciuding its msolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by otherswithin those 
entities, particularly during the period in which this report i s  being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control o w  financial reporting, or caused such internal cmttol over financial reporting to be daigned under OW 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the prepsratiOn of financial statements for external 
purposes in acxxlrdance with genemlly accepted accounting principles: 

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report b a d  on such evaluation; and 

recent f i d  quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) thu has materially affwed, or is m n a b l y  likely to 
materially affect, the registrant’s internal conbol over financial reporting; and 
5. The regkhmt’s other d f y i  offioer(s) and 1 have disclosed, b a d  on ow most recent evaluation of intend control over financial reporting, to 

a) All significant deficiencies and material wcakmgses in the design or o p d o n  of internal contml over fimcial reporting which are 

b) Any fraud, whethw or not material, that involves management or other employem who have a significant role in the regibt ’s  internal 

c) Evaluatad the effectivena of the registrant’s disclosure conirols and procedures and presented in this report OUT conclusions about the 

6) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intwraal control over f m i a l  reporting that occurred during the registrant’s m a t  

the registrant’s auditors and the audit OMnmittee of thc mgistrant’s hard of direztom (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

~ a ~ ~ n a b l y  likely to adversely aff& the registrant’s ability to reoord, proms, summrize and report financial information; and 

control over financial reporting. 

Date: February 16,2006 

Vice Chairman and Chief Financial Officer 



Exhibit 32 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFlCER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFlCER CERTIFICATION 

Each of the dmigned hereby certifies, for the purposes of section 1350 of chapter 63 of title 18 of the United States Code, as adopted pursuant to 
Section 906 of the S a r b a n d x l e y  Act of 2002, in his capacity as an officer of Qwest CommuniEations International Inc. (“Qwest”), that, to his knowledge, tbe 
Annual Rqmri of @vest on Form I C+K for the year ended December 31,2005, fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934 and that the i d d o n  contained in such report fairly presents, in dl materia! re-, the financial condition and results of opemtion of Qwest 
This written statement is being furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission as an exhibit to such Form IO-K A s iwd original of this statement has 
been provided to Qwest and will be retained by west and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its shfFupon request 

Dated: February 16,2006 

Dated February 16,2006 

Id Richard C. Notebaert 
Ru- -, - 

Rkbard C. Ncdebnrd 
CWntun and Chief Emutlve Omcer 

Id 0renG.Shaffer 
try: 



EXHIBIT 99.1 

Teal voice services 
Dah and Internet 

Topll voice sei-vims 
Data and l n m  

Tbml voice saviees 
Data and Intunet 

QWEST COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL INC. 
QUARTERLY OPERATING WVENUE 

(Dollan in millions) 
(Unaudited) 

370 384 
521 565 ".- 
8 9 7 9 4 9  

s 271 
114 - 

385 
505 

890 - 

3 268 $ 281 
114 la6 

1 

382 388 
489 498 

871 886 

- -- 
-- 

-- 

0 2 8 8 $ 2 8 0 $ 2 9 1  
I19 112 113 

1 1 1 

408 393 40s 
482 492 490 

840 885 895 

- -- - 

--- 

--- 

1,119 1.221 1,143 1,144 1,153 1,i60 
181 172 169 168 163 IS5 

2 2 2 2 4 2  - - -- - - - 
1,302 1 3 5  1.310 1,314 1320 1317 

205 1% 177 173 i60 141 

1.507 1.485 1.487 Ip87 1,480 1.4% 

- -- -- - - - 

192 
26a 
179 

639 
313 

952 

-- 

-- 

1.179 
144 

2 

197 204 194 
276 236 242 
166 176 176 

639 616 612 
321 333 315 

960 549 927 

- -- -- 

- -- -- 

- -- -- 

1303 1.329 1373 
144 142 139 

3 4 4  --- 

197 202 207 195 
235 213 219 198 
183 187 178 191 

615 a 602 584 
322 315 338 346 

937 917 540 930 

----- 

---- 
__--- 

3,333 3.361 3.329 3,312 3303 3308 3,303 3,341 3,3B 3 ,W 3,433 3,459 
138 131 132 126 124 133 130 127 138 153 155 152 

P 12 9 1 1  10 a P 13 IO 12 8 13 - - -- - - - -- -- -- - - - 
$3,480 $3504 5 3,470 5 3,449 $3,437 $3,449 $3.442 S 3,481 S 3,498 $3,570 $3196 S 3 . U  



EXHIBIT 99.2 
Q W S T  COMMUNICATIONS INTERNATIONAL IPIC. 

QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
@dIsrs in miilhons) 

(Unaudited) 

2005 2Bo4 m 

649 692 477 674 648 745 476 659 101 1,135 686 691 
4 5 9 7 2 5 9 6 6 6 6 7 3 4 5 7 8 2 8 ~ ~ ~ 8  

390 40s 388 410 3w 426 437 450 468 439 433 
w 3 8  310 m m MI 3~ aa m =a 280 n6 - - - - - - - - - -  ----- 

1,451 J.SI2 i.434 1,439 1,402 1,548 1.4% 1,W 1,343 L%2 I P S  1,475 

43 100 I t 1  99 78 112 115 81 97 114 115 126 
34 27 $3 57 49 39 13 93 62 70 72 la0 
74 26 (1) 15 59 5 132 19 46 37 16 13 

405 401 410 407 413 413 434 469 415 429 472 485 
491 462 472 458 471 692 rn 496 628 455 480 458 - - - - - - - - -  

1,261 1,486 1,154 1.248 1.105 1,155 1.1U 
779 784 777 798 7% 789 784 
3 4 4 -  230 - -- - -- - - -- - - 

3,622 5’9 3385 3,589 4.093 3,419 3,441 - -- - - -- - - 

- - - - - - - -  


